

Studies of the Association of Hepatitis C Virus and Host Lipoproteins *In Vivo* and in Cell Culture

Siti Fairouz Ibrahim

NEWCASTLE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY 209 10624 1 MED THESTS L9841

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Newcastle University Faculty of Medical Sciences School of Clinical and Medical Sciences September / 2009

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for any other degree in any university. All work presented was performed by me at Newcastle University under the supervision of Prof. Geoffrey Toms and Dr. Soren Nielsen.

Siti Fairouz Ibrahim

ii

Abbreviations used in this thesis

A	Adenine	CuCl ₂	Copper (II) chloride
aa	Amino acid	CVID	Common variable immunodeficiency
Ab	Antibody	D	Aspartic acid
ALT	Alanine transaminase	dATP	Deoxyadenosine
AMV-RT	Avian Myeloblastosis Virus	uAII	triphosphate
4	A polipoprotein A 1	dCTP	Deoxycytosine triphosphate
ApoAl	Apolipoprotein A1	DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
АроВ	Apolipoprotein B	dGTP	Deoxyguanosine
ApoC	Apolipoprotein C		triphosphate
АроЕ	Apolipoprotein E	DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
APS	Ammonium	dH ₂ O	Distilled water
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate	DiI	Dioctadecylindocarbo- cyanine
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin	DMEM	Dulbeccos modified eagle medium
С	Cytosine	DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoyide
°C	Degrees celcius	DMSO	Dimetriyi sunoxide
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride	DNA	Deoxyribonucieic acid
CAPS	3-cyclohexylamino-1- propanesulfonic acid	dNTP	Deoxynucleotide triphosphate
cDNA	Complementary DNA	dsRNA	Double stranded RNA
CLDN1	Claudin-1	DTT	Dithiothreitol (Dimercapto butanediol)
cm	Centimetre	dTTP	Deoxythymidine
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide		triphosphate
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte	EDTA	Ethylene-diamine-tetra- acetic acid
СТР	Cytidine triphosphate	EGTA	Ethylene-glycol-bis (2- aminoethylether)-N,N,N',N'-

iii

	tetraacetic acid	HCVcc	HCV cell culture
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay	HCV-LP	Hepatitis C virus – like particle
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay	HCVpp	HCV pseudoviral particle
EMEM	Eagles minimum essential	HDL	High density lipoprotein
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid	HEPES	N-2-Hydroxyethyl piperazine-N'-2-
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum		ethanesuironic aciu
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell	HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
	Corborytfluorescein	hr	hour
FAM	CarboxyIndolescem	HS	Heparan sulphate
FBS	Fetal bovine serum	HVR	Hypervariable region
FCS FITC	Fetal calf serum Fluorescein isothiocyanate	IDL	Intermediate density lipoprotein
FL	Fluorescence	IFN	Interferon
FSC	Forward scatter	IgG	Immunoglobulin G
g	Grams, gravity	IgM	Immunoglobulin M
G	Guanine, Glycine	IRES	Internal ribosome entry site
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan	ISG	IFN-stimulated genes
gp	Glycoprotein	IU	International units
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate	IV	Intravenous
Н	Histidine	JFH1	Japanese fulminant hepatitis
HBSS	Hank's Buffered Salt Solution	kb	* I Kilobase
HCIG	Hepatitis C immune globulin	kbp	Kilobase pair
HCL	Hydrochloric acid	KBr	Potassium bromide
HCV	Hepatitis C virus		

iv

NP-40	Nonidet P-40 (octyl phenoxylpolyethoxylethanol)	RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
NRIg	Normal rabbit	RIG-I	Retinoic acid inducible gene-I
	immunoglobulin	RNA	Ribonucleic acid
NS	Non-structural proteins	RNP	ribonucleoprotein
NTR	Non-translated regions	rpm	Rotation per minute
OA	Oleic acid	RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
OCLN	occludin	RT	Reverse transcriptase
OD	Optical density	RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase –
25-OH	hydroxycholesterol	RTT CR	polymerase chain reaction
ORF	Open reading frame	SAM- FITC	Sheep anti-mouse – fluorescein isothiocyanate
oxLDL	Oxidised LDL	SCID	Severe combined
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel	~	immunodeficiency
DBC	Dhaarbete huffored coline	SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
PBS	Phosphate bullered saline	sec	second
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{f}}$	Svedberg flotation units
pDNA	Plasmid DNA	shRNA	Short interfereing RNA
Pen/Strep	Penicillin/Streptomycin	siRNA	Small interfereing RNA
PES	polyethersulfone	SR-B1	Scavenger receptor class B 1
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulphonyl- fluoride	SSC	Side scatter
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene	Т	Thymidine
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids	TAMRA '	Carboxytetramethyl- rhodamine
PVDF	Polyvinylidene di-fluoride membrane	TE	Tris EDTA
RdRp	RNA dependent RNA polymerase	TEMED	N,N,N,N- tetramethyletylenediamine

vi

TLR3	Toll-like receptor-3
Tm	Melting temperature
Tris HCl	Tris hydrochloride
U	Uracil
UTP	Uridine triphosphate
UV	ultraviolet
v	Voltage
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
VLP	Virus-like particle
WHO	World Health Organisation
w/v	Weight/volume

vii

0

đ

\$

Acknowledgements

My heartfelt thanks to a wonderful supervisor, Prof. Geoffrey Toms. Thank you for all the helpful advice and guidance you gave throughout the course of my PhD programme. Thank you for being very understanding and patient.

I would especially like to thank Dr. Soren Nielsen for your help in the experiments, seemingly endless supply of reagents, and sharing your experience and knowledge on the subject matter.

Thank you Fiona Fenwick for always making me feel very welcome and giving the lab a homely atmosphere; and what would the lab be like without you to manage it? Thank you Rosemary McGuckin for your sense of humour.

Thank you Prof. Margaret Bassendine and Dr. Dermot Neely for the many hours of scientific discussion, Prof. Loranne Agius and Prof. Anne Daly for the advice given during my assessments, Dr. John Mclauchlan for the advice on the recombinant virus work, Dr. Colin Harwoods for the use of his spectrophotometer, Dr. Collin Brooks and Frances Davison for the use of their electroporator.

Thank you Dr. Dan Felmlee, Dr. Simon Bridge and Dr. David Sheridan, my category III compatriots. It was fun wasn't it? Thanks Dan for all your help.

Thank you to my wonderful labmates: Ali, Bo, Cheng Siang, and Sarah and also not forgetting Barney, Caroline, Edna, Mark, and Ruth for making the tough times more bearable and the fun times more fun.

Thank you to the Malaysian government, Wellcome Trust, and Geoff for the financial support.

Thank you very much to my better half, Salim, for your sacrifice and patience and Haneef, my constant source of delight and joy. Thank you to my brothers and sisters: Zakir, Safura, Hisyam, Ratu, Ridha and Deedat for being who you are.

Finally, but most importantly, I would like to thank my parents, Ibrahim Mahli and Sadiah Abang Sapuan, who have always encourage me throughout my life and who have been a constant source of love and support.

viii

Abstract

The purpose of this project has been to investigate the mechanism of hepatitis C virus/lipoprotein complexes or lipo-viro-particles (LVP) derived from liver (LLVP) binding to human hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines. HCV LLVP was derived from transplanted liver macerates of an HCV infected immunodeficient patient (S6b) and density-fractionated from an iodixanol gradient.

Previous studies have indicated that serum derived HCV may bind to hepatocytes via the LDL-receptor (LDLr) or the scavenger receptor SR-B1. The role of these receptors in the uptake of LLVP in HepG2 cells was investigated by comparing LLVP uptake with that of dioctadecylindocarbocyanine-labeled-low density lipoprotein (DiI-LDL) and similarly labeled oxidized LDL (DiI-oxLDL), known to be taken up predominantly via the LDLr and SR-B1 respectively. DiI-LDL and DiI-oxLDL binding resembled that of LLVP in being significantly increased by insulin and LPDS treatment. DiI-LDL but not DiI-oxLDL binding was also decreased by hydroxycholesterol. These results suggest that all three lipoprotein particles may be taken up via the LDLr which binds predominantly via apolipoprotein B100. To confirm this, inhibition of binding studies were conducted. Whilst binding of DiI-LDL was reduced by 98% by pre-incubation with anti-apoB100 antibodies, binding of both LLVP and DiI-oxLDL was enhanced. Using confocal microscopy and FACS analysis, we compared the role of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) in the binding of the three particles types by washing cells with suramine, previously shown to remove GAG bound-LDL. Like LLVP, DiI-LDL bound at 0°C was washed off with suramine but became resistant at 37°C. In contrast, washing of DiI-oxLDL with suramine at both 0°C and 37°C had no significant effect. The binding patterns of LLVP therefore differ from those of DiI-LDL and DiI-oxLDL. To investigate whether such differences might be due to viral glycoprotein E2, the effect of polyclonal antibody to E2 and a monoclonal antibody to the E2-hypervariable region (HVR1) on binding of LLVP to HepG2 cells was assessed. Neither anti-E2 nor anti-HVR1 blocked binding.

As the biological relevance of virus binding studies is questionable, we investigated ways of establishing an infection model in which to investigate LVP uptake. Huh7.5 hepatoma cells and primary hepatocytes were inoculated with LLVP and monitored for infection. No increase in HCV RNA was detected suggesting that this virus is unable to replicate in cell culture. We then set out to reproduce the cell culture model J6/JFH1 HCV (HCVcc) replication system and create 'infectious LVP' capable of producing productive infection in Huh7.5 cells. Upon transfection of the wild-type J6/JFH1 transcripts, there was an increase in HCV RNA output to 7X106IU/ml detectable from day 7. No increase was seen in the transfection of the control mutant J6/JFH1-GND. Culture supernatant from J6/JFH-infected cells inoculated onto naïve Huh7.5 culture at 11U/cell multiplicity of infection resulted in increasing titres of HCV genome in the infected cells peaking at approximately 9X106IU/ml 21 days post-infection. It was postulated that the production of LVP would require HCV replication in hepatocytes actively secreting very low density lipoproteins (VLDL). To stimulate VLDL secretion, Huh7.5 cells were treated with oleic acid in a serum free medium leading to the release of apoB100 and apoE-containing lipoproteins in the density fraction of <1.006g/ml cell culture supernatants detectable by Western blotting and confirmed by mass spectrometry. Upon further fractionation, apoB100 and apoE were found to be in the VLDL-3 fraction. Oleic acid treatment of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells led to an increase in HCVcc production and a decrease in the HCVcc density from 1.146g/ml to 1.135g/ml. Despite the decrease in the density, the particle size as analysed by gel filtration was found to be similar to that of non-oleic treated cells, that is in a VLDL-1 to VLDL-2 size range.

Table of Contents

1	INTR	ODUCTION	.1
	11	HEPATITIS C VIRUS – AN OVERVIEW	. 1
	1.1	LIFE CYCLE OF HCV	. 3
	13	The genome and genotypes of HCV	. 4
	131	Genotypes	. 4
	132	Quasispecies variation	. 5
	1.5.2	HCV PROTEINS	. 6
	141	Structural proteins	. 6
	142	Non-structural proteins	11
	15	HEPATITIS C VIRUS INFECTION	15
	151	Acute hepatitis	17
	1.5.2	Chronic hepatitis	18
	153	HCV-related steatosis	19
	16	EPIDEMIOLOGY	20
	16.1	Prevalence	20
	1.6.2	Transmission	21
	17	DIAGNOSIS	24
	1.8	TREATMENT AND VACCINATION.	25
	1.9	Immunological response to hepatitis C virus	25
	1.9.1	Innate immune respone	26
	1.9.2	Adaptive immune response	27
	1.9.3	Immune escape variants	28
	1.10	HCV MODEL SYSTEMS	30
	1.10.1	HCV in animal model	30
	1.10.2	HCV in tissue culture	31
	1.11	CELLULAR RECEPTORS INVOLVED IN HCV ENTRY INTO CELLS	33
	1.12	BINDING AND ENTRY OF HCV INTO CELLS	38
	1.13	HCV-'LVP' FROM S6B LIVER MACERATE	39
	1.14	HOST SERUM LIPOPROTEINS	40
	1.15	ASSEMBLY OF VLDL	44
	1.16	ASSEMBLY OF HCV	45
	1.17	HCV INTERACTION WITH EXOSOMES	46
	1.17.1	Association of HCV proteins with lipid metabolism	46
	1.17.2	Association of HCV replication with lipid metabolism	47
	1.17.3	Association of HCV with low density or very low density lipoproteins	48
	1.17.4	Association of HCV immune escape variants with lipoproteins	53
	1.18	AIMS OF THE STUDY	54
2	MAT	EDIAL CAND METHODS	EC
-	IVIAI	ERIALS AND METHODS	50
	2.1	CHEMICALS	56
	2.2	Cell culture	56
	2.2.1	Growth medium for HepG2 and Vero cell lines	56
	2.2.2	Growth medium for Huh7 and Huh7.5 cell lines	56
	2.2.3	PBS solution	56
	2.2.4	EDTA/Trypsin	56
	2.2.5	Cell lines	56
	2.3	CRYOPRESERVATION OF CELLS	57
	2.4	PREPARATION AND CULTURE OF PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES	58
	2.5	DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LLVP' FROM LIVER	
	MACERA	TE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES	59
	2.6	PREPARATION OF LIPOPROTEIN DEFICIENT SERUM	61

X

1.0	PREPARATION OF LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN BY SEQUENTIAL FLOATATION	33
2.7	PREPARATION OF LOW BELOT F EN CONTRACTOR STREET	61
ULTRACI	ENTRIFUGATION OF OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN (LOW AGGREGATION PROCEDURE)	63
2.8	PREPARATION OF OXIDIZED LOW DUP	64
2.9	DII LABELLING OF OKIDIZED THE PREPARATION OF HCV LIVER DERIVED LIPOVIROPARTICLES (LLVP)	65
2.10	I UDIAANOL OKADILATI ALIA	65
2.11	A CODECATION TEST FOR LLVP	. 67
2.12	AGGREGATION LEST FOR 22 T	. 68
2.13	DII-LDL/DII-OXLDL AND/OR LLVP UPTAKE ASSAY	. 69
2.14	DIF-LDL/DIF-OXDDD INTERNATED CELLS SORTING (FACS) ANALYSIS	. 70
2.15	PREPARATION OF CELES FOR FACS ANALYSIS	. 72
2.16	PROPIDION IODIDE STATISTICS	. 73
2.17	CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY	. 75
2.18	EITC STAINING OF HEPG2 CELLS FOR FACS	. 76
2.19	DNA EXTRACTION FROM CELL CULTURES	80
2.20	DETERMINATION OF RNA OUANTITY	81
2.21	DEAL TIME POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION	82
2.22	HCV PNA STANDARD SAMPLES FOR RT-PCR CURVE	82
2.23	HCV RNA STANDARD CURVE FROM ORT-PCR	82
2.24	DEDATEDS AND PROBES	84
2.25	DI UTIONS OF RNA FOR RT-PCR	85
2.20	DEVERSE TRANSCRIPTION WITH PRIMER NCR-3	85
2.27	PT PCR WITH PRIMERS NCR-3 + NCR-5 AND PROBE SN1	86
2.20	OPTIMIZATION OF RNA DILUTION TO MINIMIZE THE EFFECT OF RNA INHIBITORS	86
2.29	A MAP OF PFL - I6/JFH1 DNA	90
2.30	EXTRACTION OF PFL-J6/JFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND PLASMIDS FROM A FILTER	90
2.31	COMPETENT BACTERIA PREPARATION	92
2.32	TRANSFORMATION OF E. COLI TG1 WITH J6/JFH1 AND J6/JFH1-GND PDNA	93
2.35	CLONING THE TRANSFORMED E. COLI TG1	95
235	MINI PREP FOR PLASMID PURIFICATION OF TRANSFORMED E. COLI TG1	95
2.36	MAXI PREP FOR PLASMID PURIFICATION OF TRANSFORMED E. COLI TG1	94
2.37	DNA YIELD DETERMINATION	90
2.38	RESTRICTION ENZYME DIGESTIONS OF PFL-J6/JFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND PLASMIDS	97
2.3	8.1 Material 1	07
2.3	8.2 Material 2	07
2.3	88.3 Material 3	ND
2.39	LARGE SCALE RESTRICTION ENZYME DIGESTIONS OF PFL-J6/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H24/0L7	00
PFL-J	16/JFH1-GND PLASMIDS	FH1-
2.40	MUNG BEAN NUCLEASE DIGESTIONS OF PFL-J6/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H24/0L AND PFL-J0/J	100
GND	PLASMIDS	100
2.41	PROTEINASE K AND SDS TREATMENT OF PFL-J6/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H24/0L AND FL-	100
J6/JF	H1-GND PLASMIDS	100
2.42	DNA ELECTROPHORESIS ON AGAROSE GEL	
2.43	PARTIAL SEQUENCING OF PFL-J6/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H24/0L AND PFL-J0/JFHT-GND	101
PLAS	MIDS	104
2.44	PURIFICATION 1-PHENOL-CHLOROFORM EXTRACTION/ETHANOL PRECIPITATION	
2.45	PURIFICATION 2-DOUBLE PHENOL PURIFICATION OF LINEARIZED PLASMID DIVA	108
2.46	IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION	109
2.47	RNA PURIFICATION AND PRECIPITATION	110
2.48	GLYOXAL RNA AGAROSE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS	
2.49	ELECTROPORATION OPTIMIZATION	
2.50	RNA TRANSFECTION BY ELECTROPORATION	114
2.51	INFECTION, PROPAGATION AND HARVEST OF HCVCC	
2.52	INDIRECT IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE ASSAY	
2.	.32.1 Slide preparation	115
2.	.32.2 Indirect immunofluorescence staining for HCvcc	

		EXERCISE OF OF ELC ACID CONCENTRATION ON HUH7.5 CELL GROWTH	16
	2.53	TEFECT OF OLEIC ACID CONCERTION OF OLEIC ACIDS	18
	2.54	TREATMENT OF CELES WITH OLDE PROTOSTIUM BROMIDE SEQUENTIAL	
	2.55	SEPARATION OF VEDE AND EDE BET OTASSIENT DITENTION	18
	ULTRACE	NTRIFUGATION FROM CELL COLLOCKE MEDICAL	19
	2.56	DELIPIDATION / PROTEIN FRECHTIATION ATTION ULTRACENTRIFUGATION WITH SODIUM	
	2.57	PREPARATION OF VLDL 1, 2, AND 5 BT FLOTATION OBTITION TO BE A STREET AND A STREET	19
	CHLORID	E GRADIENT FROM CELL CULTURE MEDIUM	20
	2.58	3%-18% GRADIENT SDS-PAGE	22
	2.59	WESTERN BLOTTING 1	24
	2.60	PROTEIN VISUALIZATION	25
	2.61	STRIPPING THE MEMBRANE	
	2.62	INFECTION AND CULTURE OF THE HCVCC IN HUH7.5 CELLS IN THE PRESENCE OR ABSEINCE OF	25
	OLEIC AC	TD - AN OPTIMIZATION	dand and
	2.63	IODIXANOL GRADIENT PREPARATION OF SUPERNATANT FROM JO/JTTTT HE VCC-INFECTED	
	Нин7.5	126 IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	28
	2.64	GEL FILTRATION PREPARATION OF SUPERNATANT FROM JO/JFHT HCVCC-INFECTED HOH7.5	20
2	RESI	ULTS I 1	130
-		STUDIES ON THE DINDING OF LIVER-DERIVED HCV LVP AND HOST LIPOPROTEINS TO HEPG2	
	3.1	STUDIES ON THE BINDING OF EIVER-DERIVED THE FILE OF	
	CELLS	130	130
	3.2	ANTI-APOB-100 AND AN II-APOE AN IIBODIES DO NOT DECENTION OF LLVP	133
	3.3	IMMUNOPRECIPITATION EXPERIMENT TO TEST FOR AGGREGATION OF DEL	135
	3.4	DII-OXLDL UPTAKE BY HEPO2 CELLS UNDER DIFFERENT DROG IN AND DII-OXLDL	139
	3.5	EFFECT OF ANTI-APOBIOU ANTIBODY ON THE BINDING OF DR EDDERNED DR GOL	142
	3.6	EFFECT. OF SURAMINE WASH ON DII-OX-LDE BOOND TO THE OF CELEFORT TO THE	142
	3.6.1	Assessed by confocal microscopy	145
	3.6.2	Assessed by FACS analysis	148
	3.7	RESULT SUMMARY OF THE LL VP UPTAKE ASSAT	149
	3.8	ANTI-LDLR AND ANTI-SK-BT ANTIBODIES THRATION	R
	3.9	EFFECT OF LPDS PLUS INSULIN AND 2,5 HYDROX TCHOLES TEROL ON THE EXTREMOTION OF 22	151
	AND SR	-B1 ON HEPG2 CELLS	154
	3.10	THE EFFECT OF LPDS PLUS INSULIN ON LDLK AND SK-BT IN NON-THE ATTE CELES INFORMATION OF THE AND SK-BT IN NON-THE ATTE CELES INFORMATION OF THE ATTE OF	
	3.11	EFFECT OF ANTI-E2 HCV ANTIBODY AND ANTI-HVK-I MONOCLONAL ANTIBOD I BECCHART	157
	BINDING	G OF LLVP	1.0
	4 RES	SULTS II	160
	41	DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV LLVP FROM LIVER	
	MACER	ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES	160
	4 2	THE I6/IFH1 SYSTEM	165
	43	PRODUCTION OF HCVCC FROM J6/JFH1 RNA IN HUH7.5 CELL LINE	165
	4.4	RESTRICTION DIGESTS OF PFL-16/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND	
	PLASMI		167
	4 5	PARTIAL SEQUENCING OF PEL-16/JFH1, PEL-J6/JFH1-H2476L AND PEL-J6/JFH1-GND	
	PLASMI		169
	4.6	PURIFICATION OF LINEARIZED PFL-I6/IFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND PLASMIDS FOR IN VITRO)
	TRANS	CRIPTION	. 171
	47	IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION OF LINEARIZED PFL-J6/JFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND PLASMIDS	. 174
	4.8	PUDIEICATION 2	. 175
	4.8	Linearization of nFL-16/1FH1-GND DNA by double digestion with restriction	
	end.	onucleases	. 178
	49	IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION USING DUDIEICATION 2	. 179
	410	OPTIMIZATION OF IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION CONDITIONS	. 180
	4.11	IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION OF LINEARIZED BEL_16/IFH1_PFL_16/IFH1-H2476L AND PFL-	
	16/151	IN VITKO TKANSCKIPTION OF LINEAKIZED PFL-J0/JT 111, FL -J0/JT 111 HE FOL AND FL -	. 181
	4 12	OPPRAID PLASMIDS	. 182
	4.12	OPTIMIZATION OF ELECTROPORATION VARIABLES	. 183
	4.1.	2.1 Optimization of incubation temperature	a artisterit

xii

	1122	Optimization of cuvette size and cell seeding numbers	184
	4.12.2	Optimization of cuvette size and voltage	187
	4.12.5	Summary of the electronoration ontimization results	189
	4.12.4	TRANSFECTION OF 16/1FH1 RNA INTO HUH7 5 CELLS	190
	4.13	TRANSFECTION OF JOJJITH REDUCTION OF JOJJU REDUCTION OF JOJJU REDUCTIONO	191
	4.14	TRANSFECTION OF JOJJITH AND JOJJITH OND RUMO RULO HOUSE SUBS	193
	4.15	INFECTION OF JO/JFHT HCVCC IN NAIVE HOH 7.5 CELES	196
	4.16	EFFECT OF SERUM ON REPLICATION OF HCVCC	197
	4.17	EFFECT OF SEEDING DENSITY ON REPLICATION OF HCVCC	. 197
5	RESU	ULTS III	. 200
-	5.1	PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED	
	WITHOLE	FIC ACID	. 200
	5 2	FEECT OF OLFIC ACID CONCENTRATION ON HUH7.5 CELL GROWTH	. 200
	5.2	WESTERN BLOTS ON LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS FROM HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED	D
	J.J	WESTERN BEOTO ON EGA BELIGHT EL CTATA	. 202
	WITHOLD	Compassie steining of low density linoproteins from HenG2	. 202
	5.3.1	Western blotting of low density incorrections from HenG?	. 203
	5.3.2	Western bioliting of low density lipoproteins from Hub7 5	207
	5.3.3	Coomassie statning of low density inpoproteins from Huh7.5	208
	5.3.4	Western blotting of low density upoproteins from Huh7.5	212
	5.3.5	Western blotting of very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 5 from Hun/ and Hun/.5	. 212
	5.4	INFECTION AND CULTURE OF THE J6/JFH1 HCVCC IN HUH7.5 CELLS IN THE PRESENCE OR	214
	ABSENCE	E OF OLEIC ACID – AN OPTIMIZATION	. 214
	5.5	CHARACTERIZATION OF THE 'LVP' PRODUCTION FROM J6/JFH1 HCVCC INFECTED AND OLE	217
	ACID TRE	eated Huh7.5 cells	. 217
	5.5.1	Density of 'LVP'	. 217
	5.5.2	Size of 'LVP'	. 219
6	DISC	CUSSION	. 221
	6.1	STUDIES ON THE RINDING OF LIVER-DERIVED HCV LVP AND HOST LIPOPROTEINS TO HEPG.	2
	0.1	STUDIES ON THE BINDING OF EIVER-DERIVED THE CELET AND NOOT EN OF ROTEINE TO THE	
	CELLS	AVER FOOD 100 AND ANTH ADOLE ANTHODIES DO NOT BLOCK BINDING OF LLVP	224
	6.2	ANTI-APOB-100 AND ANTI-APOE ANTIBODIES DO NOT BLOCK BINDING OF LEVT	227
	6.3	DII-OXLDL UPTAKE BY HEPG2 CELLS UNDER DIFFERENT DRUG OF DILL DI AND DIL OVI DI	229
	6.4	EFFECT OF ANTI-APOBIOU ANTIBODY ON THE BINDING OF DII-LDL AND DII-OXLDL	
	6.5	EFFECT OF LPDS PLUS INSULIN AND 2,5 HYDROXYCHOLESTEROL ON THE EXPRESSION OF LI	220
	AND SR-	-B1 ON HEPG2 CELLS AND NON-HEPATIC CELLS	229
	6.6	EFFECT OF SURAMINE WASH ON DII-OX-LDL BOUND TO HEPG2 CELL SURFACE	251
	6.7	EFFECT OF ANTI-E2 HCV ANTIBODY AND ANTI-HVR-I MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY BLOCKING	1 222
	BINDINC	CELLVD	
	6 A		252
	6.8	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS	232
	6.8 6.9	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER	232 234 R
	6.8 6.9 MACERA	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES	232 234 R 235
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVE ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM	232 234 235 238
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10 6.11	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVEI ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED	232 234 R 235 238 D
	6.8 6.9 MACER/ 6.10 6.11 WITH OI	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED JEIC ACID	232 234 235 238 D 243
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED LEIC ACID BAND IDENTIFICATION IN VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS 1, 2, AND 3 FROM HUH7 AND	232 234 R 235 238 D 243
	6.8 6.9 MACER4 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED EIC ACID BAND IDENTIFICATION IN VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS 1, 2, AND 3 FROM HUH7 AND 245	232 234 235 238 D 243
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVER ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED EIC ACID BAND IDENTIFICATION IN VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS 1, 2, AND 3 FROM HUH7 AND 245 CHARACTERIZATION OF HCVCC BY DENSITY AND SIZE *	232 234 235 238 D 243
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13 6.13	Conclusions concerning binding of S6 LLVP to HepG2 cells Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LVP' from liver ate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes The J6/JFH1 system Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated EIC acid Band identification in very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and 245 Characterization of HCVcc by density and size	232 234 235 238 238 243 246 nce
	6.8 6.9 MACER/ 6.10 6.11 WITH OL 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13 6.13. 0.13.	Conclusions concerning binding of S6 LLVP to HepG2 cells Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LVP' from livel ate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes The J6/JFH1 system Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated EIC ACID Band identification in very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and 245 Characterization of HCVcc by density and size <i>I Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or abse</i>	232 234 235 238 D 243 246 nce
	6.8 6.9 MACER/ 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13 6.13 0 f old 6.14	CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING BINDING OF S6 LLVP TO HEPG2 CELLS DETERMINATION OF HCV RNA QUANTITY UPON INOCULATION OF HCV 'LVP' FROM LIVEI ATE TO HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES THE J6/JFH1 SYSTEM PRODUCTION OF VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS BY HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELLS TREATED LEIC ACID BAND IDENTIFICATION IN VERY LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEINS 1, 2, AND 3 FROM HUH7 AND 245 CHARACTERIZATION OF HCVCC BY DENSITY AND SIZE <i>I Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or abse</i> <i>eic acid246</i> CONCLUSION	232 234 235 238 D 243 246 nce
	6.8 6.9 MACER/ 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13 <i>6.13</i> <i>6.14</i> 6.14	Conclusions concerning binding of S6 LLVP to HepG2 cells Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LVP' from livei ate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes The J6/JFH1 system Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated Leic acid Band identification in very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and 245 Characterization of HCVcc by density and Size Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or abse eic acid246 CONCLUSION	232 234 R 235 238 D 243 246 mce 247 249
	6.8 6.9 MACERA 6.10 6.11 WITH OI 6.12 HUH7.5 6.13 <i>6.13</i> <i>6.13</i> <i>6.14</i> 6.15	Conclusions concerning binding of S6 LLVP to HepG2 cells Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LVP' from livel ate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes The J6/JFH1 system Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated leic acid Band identification in very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and 245 Characterization of HCVcc by density and Size <i>I Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or abse</i> <i>eic acid246</i> CONCLUSION Future Work	232 234 R 235 238 D 243 246 mce 247 249

xiii

List of Figures

FIGURE 1: A DIAGRAM OF AN HCV RNA ORGANIZATION AND THE TRANSLATED POLYPEPTIDES.	2
FIGURE 2: GLOBAL PREVALENCE OF HEPATITIS C INFECTION, 2002	21
FIGURE 3: OVERVIEW OF HCV CELL ENTRY.	37
FIGURE 4: STRUCTURE OF VLDL MOLECULE.	41
FIGURE 5: HCV REPLICATES ON ER MEMBRANES INVOLVED IN THE ASSEMBLY OF VLDL AND IS SECRETED	D
TOGETHER WITH VLDL.	. 48
FIGURE 6: MODEL OF LVP MOLECULE.	51
FIGURE 7: A. DOT PLOT AND B. HISTOGRAM OF THE POPULATION OF HEPG2 CELLS USED TO ANALYSE	
ENTRY OF DII-LDL.	. 72
FIGURE 8: A. DOT PLOT AND B. HISTOGRAM OF THE POPULATION OF HEPG2 CELLS USED TO ANALYSE	
CELLS TAKING UP PROPIDIUM IODIDE	. 73
FIGURE 9: A. DOT PLOT AND B. HISTOGRAM OF THE POPULATION OF HEPG2 CELLS USED TO ANALYSE	
FITC-CONJUGATED ANTI-SR-B1 FOR STAINING OF CELLS WITH SR-B1.	. 80
FIGURE 10: AMPLIFICATION PLOT OF THE HCV RNA STANDARDS FROM THE QRT-PCR	. 83
FIGURE 11: REAL-TIME PCR STANDARD CURVE FOR HCV RNA.	. 84
FIGURE 12: RT-PCR QUANTIFICATION OF HCV RNA FROM HEPG2 CELLS THAT WERE INFECTED WITH	
LLVP.	. 89
FIGURE 13: RT-PCR QUANTIFICATION OF HCV RNA FROM HCV RNA STANDARDS THAT WERE ADDED T	0
RNA OF UNINFECTED HEPG2 CELLS.	. 89
FIGURE 14: A MAP OF PFL-J6/JFH1 DNA.	. 90
FIGURE 15: A DIAGRAM OF THE LOCATIONS OF SI-1, SI-2, SI-3, SI-4, SI-5, AND SI-6 PRIMERS ON THE HC	V
GENOME	103
FIGURE 16: MEAN HCV RNA FROM LLVP INFECTED HEPG2 CELLS.	133
FIGURE 17: AGGREGATION TEST FOR LLVP.	135
FIGURE 18: MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-LDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS TREATED WITH	
DIFFERENT DRUGS	137
FIGURE 19: MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS TREATED WITH	100
DIFFERENT DRUGS.	138
FIGURE 20: MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-LDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS FOLLOWING	1.40
DIFFERENT ANTIBODY TREATMENT.	140
FIGURE 21: MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS FOLLOWING	1.4.1
DIFFERENT ANTIBODY TREATMENT.	141
FIGURE 22: CONFOCAL PICTURES OF DII-LDL OR DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS AT U C WITH C	JK 144
WITHOUT SURAMINE WASH.	144 OD
FIGURE 23: CONFOCAL PICTURES OF DII-LDL OR DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS AT 37 C WITH	0K
WITHOUT SURAMINE WASH.	145
FIGURE 24: A GRAPH SHOWING THE MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-LDL AND DII-OXLDL TAKE	146
UP BY HEPG2 CELLS AFTER A 3-HOUR-EXPOSURE AT O'C WITHOUT OR AFTER A SURAMINE WASH	140
FIGURE 25: A GRAPH SHOWING THE MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTENSITY OF DII-LDL AND DII-OXLDL TAKE	147
UP BY HEPG2 CELLS AFTER A 3-HOUR-EXPOSURE AT 37°C WITHOUT OR AFTER A SURAMINE WASH.	147
FIGURE 20: OPTIMIZATION OF ANTI-SR-B1 (NB 400-104) ANTIBODY DILUTIONS.	150
FIGURE 27: OPTIMIZATION OF ANTI-LDLR (61099) ANTIBODY DILUTIONS.	150
FIGURE 20: THE REFERENCE ON GP. D.1	101
CELLS	152
FIGURE 20: THE STREET AND N	155
THORKE 30. THE EFFECT ON LDL RECEPTOR EXPRESSION OF DIFFERENT DRUGS TREATMENT IN HEPO2 CE	LLS.
FIGURE 31: THE EFFECT OF LIDDO IN HIGH IN ON THE THE SECOND OF LIDLD ON HERC'S CTURE AND VE	134
CELLS	156
FIGURE 32: THE EFFECT OF LIDDE DUING WALL DU THE THEOREM OF CD. D.L. ON HED CO OF LID AND VE	CRO
CELLS	156
FIGURE 33: MEAN HOV DNA FROM LLVD PROTECTION	150
THEAN THE VIEW A FROM LL VP INFECTED HEPG2 CELLS.	139

FIGURE 34: MEAN HCV RNA FROM LLVP INOCULATED HEPG2 CELLS HARVESTED ON DAY 0, 2, 5 AND 7	3
POST-INFECTION.	
FIGURE 35: THE AMOUNT OF HCV KINA IN LLVF-INOCOLATED FION 7.5 CELES COLFORED IN DIVIDUAL	3
LPDS + INSULIN, OR WILLIAMS E MEDIUM.	
FIGURE 36: THE AMOUNT OF HCV KNA IN LLVP-INOCULATED PRIMART HERATOCTTES COLTARED IN	4
LPDS + INSULIN ONLY, WILLIAMS E ONLY, LPDS + INSULIN + OF, AND WILLIAMS E + OF	7
FIGURE 37: A SUMMARY OF INFECTIVITY ASSAYS OF LLVP IN HUMAN HEPG2 AND HUH7.5 CELL LINES AND	1
IN PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES ON DIFFERENT DAYS POST-INOCULATION.	4 12
FIGURE 38: A 0.7% TBE AGAROSE GEL SHOWING ECOR1, ECOR1 + XBA1, AND KPN1 + XBA1DIGESTIONS OF	F
MAXI-PREP PFL-J6/JFH1, PFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L, AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA.	0
FIGURE 39: J6/JFH1 CLONE 1A DNA SEQUENCE USING THE SI-1 PRIMER.	1
FIGURE 40: A SERIAL DILUTION OF XBAI-DIGESTED, PURIFIED J6/JFH1 DNA RUN ON 0.7% AGAROSE GEL.	0
	2
FIGURE 41: A. COMPARISONS OF UNDIGESTED AND XBAI-DIGESTED PFL-J6/JFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND	
DNA AND B. A SERIAL DILUTION OF XBAI-DIGESTED AND PURIFIED J6/JFH1-GND DNA RUN ON	10
0.7% AGAROSE GEL	3
FIGURE 42: J6/JFH1, J6/JFH1-H2476L, AND J6/JFH1-GND RNA TRANSCRIPTS FROM PLASMID DNA	
PURIFIED USING PURIFICATION 1 METHOD	4
FIGURE 43: UNDIGESTED AND XBAI-DIGESTED PFL-J6/JFH1 AND PFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA ON 0.7% TBE	101
AGAROSE GEL	6
FIGURE 44: PFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA DIGESTED WITH VARYING STRENGTH OF XBAI AND RUN ON 0.7% TBI	E
AGAROSE GEL	17
FIGURE 45: PFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA DIGESTED WITH XBAI FOR 17 HOURS AND RUN ON 0.7% TBE AGAROS	SE
GEL	17
FIGURE 46: PFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA DIGESTED WITH RESTRICTION ENDONUCLEASES ECOR1, XBAI, XMNI	
AND SSPI ALONE OR XMNI + XBAI OR SSPI + XBAI TOGETHER AND RESOLVED ON A 0.7% TBE	
AGAROSE GEL	79
FIGURE 47: DIFFERENT AMOUNT OF J6/JFH1 RNA ON A 1% GLYOXAL AGAROSE GEL	30
FIGURE 48: J6/JFH1, J6/JFH1-H2476L AND J6/JFH1-GND RNA TRANSCRIPTS FROM PLASMID DNA	
PURIFIED USING PURIFICATION 2 METHOD	82
FIGURE 49: A GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF INCUBATION TEMPERATURE ON THE VIABILITY OF HUH7.5	
CELLS POST-ELECTROPORATION	84
FIGURE 50: A GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF 2MM CUVETTE AND CELL SEEDING NUMBERS ON THE	
VIABILITY OF HUH7.5 CELLS POST-ELECTROPORATION	86
FIGURE 51: A GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF 4MM CUVETTE AND CELL SEEDING NUMBERS ON THE	
VIABILITY OF HUH7.5 CELLS POST-ELECTROPORATION	86
FIGURE 52: A GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF 2MM CUVETTE AND VOLTAGE ON THE VIABILITY OF HUH7.5	,
CELLS POST-ELECTROPORATION	88
FIGURE 53: A GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF 4MM CUVETTE AND VOLTAGE ON THE VIABILITY OF HUH7.5	5
CELLS POST-ELECTROPORATION	89
FIGURE 54: HCVCC RNA OUTPUT, OUANTITATED BY REAL-TIME PCR, FROM THE MEDIUM AFTER A	
TRANSFECTION OF J6/JFH1 RNA INTO HUH7.5 CELLS.	90
FIGURE 55: A COMPARISON OF HCVCC RNA OUTPUT FROM THE MEDIUM AFTER A TRANSFECTION OF	
J6/JFH1 AND J6/JFH1-GND RNAS INTO HUH7.5 CELLS UNDER DIFFERENT ELECTROPORATION	
CONDITIONS	92
FIGURE 56: HCVCC RNA OUTPUT ON DAY 2 AND 5 HARVESTED FROM THE MEDIUM AFTER AN INFECTION C	DF
NAÏVE HUH7.5 CELLS WITH SUPERNATANT OF FROZEN, THAWED, AND CENTRIFUGED (1500G)	
SUPERNATANT FROM THE I6/IFH1 RNA-TRANSFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS.	94
FIGURE 57: IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE ASSAY OF NON-INFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS.	95
FIGURE 58: IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE ASSAY OF J6/JFH1 HCVCC-INFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS PROBED WITH	
ANTI-E2 HCV AP33 MAB	95
FIGURE 59: IMMUNOELUORESCENCE ASSAN OF 16/JEH1 HCVCC-INFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS PROBED WITH	
ANTI-CORE HCV d126 ANTIRODY	95
FIGURE 60: HCVCC RNA OUTDUTEROM THE MEDIUM HARVESTED AFTER A 16/IFH1-RNA INFECTION OF	
NAÏVE HUH7 5 CELLS CULTURED IN FITHER 3% FCS DMFM GROWTH MEDIUM OR 10% FCS DMEM	
GROWTH MEDIUM	197

FROM FROM THE MEDIUM HARVESTED AFTER A J6/JFH1-RNA INFECTION OF	
FIGURE 01. HE VEE RITH OFFEDED AT DIFFERENT DENSITIES	99
NAIVE HOW S COMES OF CELL DEATH ANALYSED USING FACS AT TIME 0, 5, 10, AND 20 MINUTES AFTE	ER
FIGURE 02. TERCERTING OF CLEEP 2	201
FIGURE 63: A COOMASSIE-STAINED ACRYLAMIDE GEL SHOWING PROTEIN BANDS OF 550kDA IN SIZE 2 FIGURE 64: A WESTERN BLOT OF <1.063G/ML (LDL) AND ≤1.006G/ML (VLDL) FRACTIONS FROM HUMAN SERUM AND HEPG2 CELL CULTURE SUPERNATANTS THAT WERE PURIFIED VIA POTASSIUM BROMIDE	203
SEQUENTIAL ULTRACENTRIFUGATION AND PROBED WITH AN II-APOE ANTIBOD T. FIGURE 65: A WESTERN BLOT OF <1.063G/ML (LDL) AND ≤1.006G/ML (VLDL) FRACTIONS FROM HUMAN SERUM AND HEPG2 CELL CULTURE SUPERNATANTS THAT WERE PURIFIED VIA POTASSIUM BROMIDE SEQUENTIAL ULTRACENTRIFUGATION AND PROBED WITH ANTI-APOB100 ANTIBODY. FIGURE 66: A COOMASSIE-STAINED ACRYLAMIDE GEL SHOWING PROTEIN BANDS OF 550KDA AND 36KDA	206 1N 208
SIZE	
FIGURE 67: A WESTERN BLOT OF ≤1.000G/ML AND <1.003G/ML PRACTIONS FROM HOLTED CLED CONTROL SUPERNATANTS THAT WERE PURIFIED VIA POTASSIUM BROMIDE SEQUENTIAL ULTRACENTRIFUGATIO	N 210
AND PROBED WITH ANTI-AFOL ANTIBOD TAND STORE AND STORE FROM HUH7.5 CELL CULTURE	3
FIGURE 68: A WESTERN BLOT OF ST. 00000 METHOD STORE BROMIDE SEQUENTIAL ULTRACENTRIFUGATIO	N 211
AND PROBED WITH ANTI-APOB ANTIBODI	j
FIGURE 69: A WESTERN BLOT OF VEDET, VEDE 2, AND VEDET WITH 0.4MM OA PROBED WITH ANTI-APC	OB
CELL CULTURE SUPERINATIANTS ATTER CELES TREATING	213
ANTIBODY.	5
FIGURE 70. A WESTERN BEDT OF VEDE 1, VEDE 2, TREATMENT WITH 0.4MM OA PROBED WITH ANTI-APO	ЭE
ANTERODY	214
FIGURE 71: COMPARISON OF HCVCC RNA OUTPUT AFTER A J6/JFH1-RNA INFECTION OF NAÏVE HUH7.5	5
CELLS CULTURED IN THE DIFFERENT TYPES OF MEDIUM WITH OR WITHOUT OLEIC ACID TREATMENT.	216
EICURE 72: COMPLIATION OF 3 SETS OF SIMILAR EXPERIMENTS DEPICTING HCVCC RNA OUTPUT WHEN	
NATURE HUM 7 5 CELLS WERE INFECTED WITH HCVCC.	217
FIGURE 73: THE DENSITY OF 'LVP' PRODUCED FROM HCVCC INFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS WITH OR WITHOU	JT
OLEIC ACID TREATMENT USING AN IODIXANOL DENSITY GRADIENT.	219
FIGURE 74: THE SIZE OF 'LVP' PRODUCED FROM HCVCC INFECTED HUH7.5 CELLS WITH OR WITHOUT OL	LEIC
A CID TREATMENT LISING A GEL FILTRATION COLUMN.	220

*

+

List of Tables

	40
TABLE 1. PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF LIPOPROTEINS.	74
TABLE 2: ANTIBODIES USED THROUGHOUT THE PROJECT	84
TABLE 3: THE SEQUENCES OF THE RECEIPTION FACTOR FROM THE RNA DILUTIONS OF THE RNA EXTRACTED FROM	88
TABLE 4. CORRESPONDENCE HEPG2 CELLS AND HEPG2 CELLS ALONE.	00
TABLE 5: PERCENTAGE OF LVP HCV RNA IN SUPERNATANT AND PELLET IN A TEST FOR LEVT	134
AGGREGATION BY ANTI-APOB100 POLYCLONAL ANTIBODY.	D
TABLE 6: MEAN INTENSITY AND STANDARD DEVIATION OF DII-LDL OF TAKE INTO THE OF	137
WITH FCS + 25-OH AND LPDS + INSULIN.	
TABLE 7: P VALUE AND PERCENTAGE CHANGE OF THE SAME DE CONTRACT OF THE SAME DE CONTRACT.	138
HEPG2 CELLS TREATED WITH PCS + 25 ON THE DEVIATION OF DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS	120
TABLE 8: MEAN INTENSITY AND UPDS + INSULIN.	139
TREATED WITH FCS + 25 OTHER CHANGE OF THE SAMPLE COMPARISONS OF DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INT	139
HEPG2 CELLS TREATED WITH FCS + 25-OH AND LPDS + INSULIN.	15
TABLE 10: A COMPARISON OF PERCENTAGE DIFFERENCES ON THE MEAN FLUORESCENCE INTERSTITUTE	141
LDL OR DII-OXLDL UPTAKE INTO HEPG2 CELLS FOLLOWING DIFFERENT ANTIBODY TREATMENT	
TABLE 11: A TABLE SHOWING THE NUMBER OF THE COLONIES COUNTED TROM EACH TABLE THE	. 166
EXPERIMENT.	SI-
TABLE 12: A TABLE OF THE LOCATION OF READABLE SEQUENCE CONTROL OF THE LOCATION OF TH	. 170
4 PRIMERS	. 181
TABLE 13: IN VITRO TRANSCRIPTION OF MILLEPOST-ELECTROPORATION IN THE OPTIMIZATION OF CUVETTI	E 190
TABLE 14: PERCENTAGE OF CELE CONTRACT	. 189
SIZE AND VOLTHOE	

\$

+

•

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Hepatitis C Virus – An overview

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a small enveloped virus containing a positive strand RNA which is approximately 9.6kb in size. HCV is classified under the genus *Hepacivirus* in the family *Flaviridae*. There are two other genera in the family *Flaviridae*: the flaviviruses and the pestiviruses (Francki, 1991) and both share a similar genome organization as hepaciviruses (Thomson, 2000). The sequencing of the genomes of HCV recovered from throughout the world has revealed that there are 6 major genotypes, denoted genotype 1 through 6. There is also considerable variation with each genotype. A HCV genome is highly variable due to the lack of proofreading mechanism of the viral polymerases which is a common phenomenon to all RNA viruses.

Until very recently culture of the virus in the laboratory was unsuccessful and characterization of the virus was difficult. The close relationship with the flaviviruses suggested that the particle would be enveloped and this was confirmed as the infectivity of the HCV from the various human samples was inactivated when exposed to chloroform (Thomson, 2000). In another study, the particles of HCV genotype 1b as seen under electron microscope were found in cytoplasmic vacuole possessing lipid bilayer envelopes (Thomson, 2000). The size of the virus in clinical material was estimated to be 30-60nm based on filtration studies (He et al., 1987). Studies of the buoyant density of virus in the blood of chimpanzees showed that the HCV buoyant density was heterogenous with a peak infectivity of 1.10g/ml. The heterogeneity and low density is thought to be because of the association of HCV

particles with serum components such as immunoglobulins and lipoproteins (Lindenbach, 2001, Bartenschlager et al., 2004).

Isolation of the virus genome from clinical material initially and subsequently by RT-PCR allowed determination of the genome organization. The function of the polypeptide encoded by the open reading frame (ORF) was initially inferred from that of similar ORFs in the flaviviridae and subsequently by studies in prokaryotic and eukaryotic expression systems, replicon systems and ultimately permissive infection in cell culture. Figure 1 below shows a diagram of the HCV genome organization, the translated protein products and also the known protein functions.



Figure 1: A diagram of an HCV RNA organization and the translated polypeptides. Adapted from (Anzola, 2003).

The genome comprises a single ORF flanked by a 5' and 3' non-translated regions (NTRs) which are highly conserved. The 5'NTR is about 340 nucleotides in size and is the most highly conserved region of the HCV genome (Major, 1997). The 5'NTR acts as the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) for the initiation of protein translation

whereas the 3'NTR is important for viral replication and translation (Hoofnagle, 2002). The 5'NTR is comprised of residues 1 to 341 (Major, 1997) and the IRES is composed of residues 40-344 (Beales, 2001). Translation starts at the third or fourth AUG start codon which is found within the stem-loop of the 5'NTR. The 3'NTR is basically made up of 3 regions: a variable sequence after the stop codon of the ORF, a poly(U) tract and a 98 nucleotides sequence important for replication (Yanagi, 1999, Blight, 2000).

The ORF translates into one precursor polyprotein of about 3,000 amino acids in length (Major, 1997). The polyprotein is cleaved into ten different proteins: three structural proteins and seven non-structural proteins. The structural proteins include the nucleocapsid core protein (C) and two envelope glycoproteins (E1 and E2). The non-structural proteins include p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B. The translated polyprotein precursor is cleaved into its constituent proteins by host cellular signal peptidases and viral proteases during and after the translation process (Anzola, 2003).

1.2 Life cycle of HCV

The HCV life cycle is entirely cytoplasmic (Wieland and Chisari, 2005). The HCV particle first gains entry into a host cell via receptor mediated endocytosis using most probably CD81 as a secondary receptor and possibly other primary receptors such as SR-B1 and LDLr which will bind to the virus particle's E1/E2 glycoprotein. This is further discussed in section 1.11. HCV replication takes place using a minus-strand intermediate in a membranous compartment in the cytoplasm forming a double-stranded RNA intermediate (Moradpour et al., 2004, Wieland and Chisari, 2005).

Once in the cell, HCV releases its single positive stranded genome which acts as mRNA to direct viral protein synthesis in an IRES dependent manner from the 5' end of the sequence (Tsukiyama-Kohara et al., 1992, Wang et al., 1993). As mentioned in section 1.1, the ORF translates into one precursor polyprotein of about 3,000 amino acids in length (Major, 1997). The non-structural HCV proteins together with host factors form a ribonucleoprotein (RNP) viral replication complex in the rough endoplasmic reticulum which facilitates HCV genome replication (Moradpour et al., 2003). The characterization, processing and functions of HCV proteins are discussed in section 1.4. The genome also acts as a template for the synthesis of the complimentary negative strand which will then act as a template to produce more copies of the positive strands that eventually will be packaged as genomes into new viral protein capsids. Mature viruses will be secreted out of the cell together with a virus modified, host-derived lipid bilayer, and the virus envelope.

1.3 The genome and genotypes of HCV

The genetic diversity of HCV originated from the defective repair mechanism of the RNA dependent RNA polymerase of the virus and compounded by selective pressure. Comparisons made on major sequences of complete genomes obtained in chimpanzee and human studies gave an estimation of the mean frequency of nucleotide mutations ranging from 1.4×10^3 to 1.9×10^3 substitutions per nucleotide per year (Le Guillou-Guillemette et al., 2007, Ogata et al., 1991, Okamoto et al., 1992).

1.3.1 Genotypes

There are six HCV genotypes, genotype 1 to 6 and each of these genotypes are further divided into more than 50 subtypes for example subtype 1a, 1b, 2a, 2b, *etc*

(Hoofnagle, 2002). The 6 genotypes show 31-33% nucleotide sequence variation with each other whereas the subtypes show 20-25% nucleotide sequence variation (Simmonds et al., 2005). The common subtypes found in the Western countries are 1a, 1b, 2a, 2b, 2c, and 3a whereas genotype 2 is predominant in Western Africa, genotypes 1 and 4 are predominant in Central Africa, genotypes 4 and 5 primarily in Middle East and genotypes 3 and 6 are predominant in South and South Eastern Asia (Simmonds et al., 2005, Gottwein and Bukh, 2008). HCV genotype 7a was discovered in patients who may have been infected in Central Africa (Murphy, 2007).

Genotype identification is especially important clinically for drug therapy for example, genotypes 2 and 3 are more sensitive than genotypes 1 and 4 to pegylated interferon- α and ribavirin combination (Hnatyszyn, 2005).

1.3.2 Quasispecies variation

Quasispecies variation is commonly found in HCV-infected patients where a cluster of variant but related viruses has evolved due to mutations over time as a result of the error prone RNA dependent RNA polymerase. HCV quasispecies variability can be defined by two separate components; complexity and diversity within a quasispecies sample. Complexity is the average number of unique quasispecies variants and diversity is the average genetic distance (Martell et al., 1992).

In a study made by Shuhart (Shuhart et al., 2006), it was found that HCV quasispecies variability is decreased with HIV co-infection but is increased with highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). It has been suggested that the HCV variation

confers an advantage on the virus by allowing it to evade the immune response and to persist in an infected patient (Weiner et al., 1992).

1.4 HCV proteins

1.4.1 Structural proteins

The structural proteins of HCV include core protein (C) and envelope glycoproteins (E1 and E2). The structural proteins make up the first section encoded at the 5' end of the genome and at the N terminus of the polyprotein and are important in the architecture of the virion morphology as well as for the attachment and binding of the virus particle.

1.4.1.1 Core protein

The C or core protein is a viral capsid protein located at amino acids 1 to 191 of the polyprotein and it is cleaved from its polyprotein precursor by the host's cellular signal peptidases (Major, 1997). McLauchlan (2002) reported that the size of an immature form of the C protein containing the signal peptide and cleaved by signal peptidase at residue 191 is 21kDa whereas a 19kDa protein is produced when cleaved at the signal peptide by signal peptide peptidase at residue 179. The core protein is highly conserved and it contains some linear B-cell epitopes in the N-terminus and thus, it is immunogenic (Nasoff, 1991). The C-terminus of the C protein of the 21kDa form is hydrophobic but overall it is highly basic in nature (Major, 1997). The hydrophobic C-terminus of C protein acts as a signal for the translocation of protein E1 to the endoplasmic reticulum. The hydrophobic C-terminus is also important for the membrane-dependent processing of the core protein. The N-terminus contains three hydrophilic regions: residues 2-23, 39-74, and 101-121 that are conserved in 52 HCV isolates (Bukh, 1994). It also contains two nuclear localization signals, a DNA-

binding motif (Bukh, 1994) and an RNA binding activity. Hope (2000) reported that the core proteins are found mainly in the cytoplasm bound to the ER or to lipid droplets via the C-terminal hydrophobic region at residues 121-179.

Core protein has an RNA binding activity at the N-terminus; aa 1-75 (Santolini et al., 1994) presumably involved in the encapsidation of the RNA genome by the HCV particle (Major, 1997) forming a nucleocapsid which is the main component of the virion. The core protein is closely associated with lipid droplets as demonstrated in tissue culture by McLauchlan et al. (McLauchlan, 2002). In hepatocytes of HCVinfected chimpanzees, HCV core protein is also associated with cellular lipid droplets (Barba et al., 1997, Moradpour et al., 1996, Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). The association of core proteins with lipid droplets is thought to be important in virus assembly (McLauchlan, 2002). Core protein is also thought to be involved in cellular processes such as apoptosis and cell transformation as well as disrupting host immune response (McLauchlan, 2000, Lai and Ware, 2000). In cells infected with JFH1 HCV, core protein is shown to coat lipid droplets in a time-dependent manner and this coincides with increase rate of virus production (Boulant et al., 2007). Shavinskaya et al (Shavinskaya et al., 2007) demonstrated that the strength of the binding of core in domain D2 for lipid droplets is critical for determining the efficiency of virus assembly. Accumulation of mature core coincides with its localization to lipid droplets and an increase in infectious HCV titre. Mutations in core-E1 signal peptide delay the appearance of signal peptide peptidase-processed core thus affecting the maturation of core (Targett-Adams et al., 2008).

1.4.1.2 Envelope proteins

The E1 (gp31) and E2 (gp70) glycoproteins are viral envelope proteins. The C, E1, and E2 proteins are cleaved by the signal peptidases of the endoplasmic reticulum, and after maturation at this site, the proteins are assembled as part of the progeny virions in the internal membrane compartment (Tellinghuisen and Rice, 2002). The putative envelope proteins contain 190 amino acids from residues 190-380 (Takeuchi, 1990) and are N-glycosylated, E1 at 5 or 6 sites and E2 at 11 sites (Miyamura, 1993). Major (1997) suggested that the hydrophobic C-terminus of the envelope proteins may be important for membrane anchoring of the glycoproteins.

Inefficient cleavage at the p7 site produced two kinds of E2, E2 and E2-p7 with different C-terminal structures (Mizushima, 1994). E2 may inhibit the formation of p7 which functions as an ion channel when bound as an E2-p7 (Lavie et al., 2007). The existence of E2-p7 precursor was postulated to be a means of delaying p7 from being active of its ion-channel function during the maturation of glycoprotein and particle assembly or is a mechanism to prevent the premature fusion of E2 during the budding off of the virus (Carrere-Kremer et al., 2004). There is a suggestion that E2p7 is a component of the HCV virion (Isherwood and Patel, 2005) but this has not been proven. It has been suggested that E1 serves as a fusion protein and E2 for the binding to host-cell receptors (Tellinghuisen and Rice, 2002). It was found using mutational analysis of HCV E1 in HCV pseudoparticle (HCVpp) and HCV cell culture (HCVcc) that an internal hydrophobic domain within EI (aa262-290) of HCV acts as a fusion peptide (Russell et al., 2009).

E1 and E2 are retained in the ER membrane of the infected cells during replication. Many studies have reported that E1 and E2 interact to form a complex of heterodimers that are noncovalently bonded (Major, 1997). The N-terminal ectodomain of E1, jutting into the lumen of ER, is 160aa long and the ectodomain for E2 is 334 aa long. The short transmembrane domains have an ER retention signals (Cocquerel et al., 1998, Cocquerel et al., 1999), have signal sequence function, and are involved in the noncovalent heterodimerization of E1 and E2 (Op De Beeck et al., 2000). The transmembrane domains also acts as anchors (Cocquerel et al., 2001). The correct folding of E1 during heterodimerization process is aided by E2 which itself is assisted by chaperone molecules for example calnexin (Dubuisson and Rice, 1996, Choukhi et al., 1998, Merola et al., 2001).

In the absence of HCV culture system, Semliki Forest virus replicon expressing genes encoding HCV structural proteins that assemble into HCV-like particles (HCV-LP) was used to study HCV morphogenesis. In this system, (Blanchard et al., 2003) showed that the HCV core protein constitutes the budding apparatus of the virus and that for budding to occur, the core must be targeted to the endoplasmic reticulum by means of the signal sequence of E1 protein. In the JFH1 HCVcc system, Miyanari, et al (Miyanari et al., 2007) suggested that infectious HCV particles are produced from LD-associated membranous environment as one of the results showed that spherical virus-like particles reacting with core- and E2-specific antibodies was found around the lipid droplets. A study using E1E2-HIV-SIN lentiviral vector to express HCV E1 and E2 proteins showed that HCV glycoproteins were secreted in association with triglyceride rich lipoprotein and apoB from the human liver cell line HepG2 but not by Huh-7 and Huh-7.5 hepatoma cells (Icard et al., 2009). Glycoprotein variations may play an important role in HCV evasion of the host immune response (Flint and McKeating, 2000). The N-terminus of the E2 protein displays a high degree of amino acid variation (Mizushima, 1994). This hypervariable region, located at residue 1-27 of E2 or residue 384-410 of the polyprotein (Farci et al., 1996), is known as hypervariable region 1 or HVR1 and it is displayed on the virion surface forming a neutralizing epitope (Weiner et al., 1991). Forns *et al* demonstrated that antibodies to HVR1 change throughout the course of an infection suggesting that HCV is subjected to immune pressure (Forns et al., 1999). The second hypervariable region, HVR2, of E2 is found at amino acids 474-482 in the HCV genotype 1 (Yagnik et al., 2000). It has been implicated with CD81 receptor binding (Yagnik et al., 2000, Roccasecca et al., 2003). A third hypervariable region HVR3, aa 431-466, is probably involved in binding and viral entry (Troesch et al., 2006).

1.4.1.3 p7 protein

p7 is a small hydrophobic protein 63 amino acids in size and contains 2 transmembrane alpha helices which are separated by a conserved basic loop (Lin et al., 1994a, Mizushima et al., 1994, Carrere-Kremer et al., 2002). Jones *et al* (Jones et al., 2007) showed that p7 was not needed for RNA replication but played an important role in the early stage of virion formation before the assembly of the infectious virus. p7, however, is not required for HCV entry into new host (Steinmann et al., 2007). Deleting the p7 did not result in any significant difference in RNA replication at various time points post-transfection but when the supernatant of cultures infected with the deletion mutant was used to infect naïve cells, no detectable infectious virus was obtained. However, other studies by Russell (Russell et al., 2008) showed that p7 mutations results in an increase of virus production.

10

Gonzalez and Carrasco (Gonzalez and Carrasco, 2003) showed that p7 belongs to a viral protein group called viroporins which includes the influenza A virus' M2 ion channel. p7, which is probably responsible for the flow of calcium ions from the ER into the cytoplasm as has been observed for other viroporins (Tian et al., 1995, van Kuppeveld et al., 1997), was demonstrated as an ion channel using black lipid membrane conductivity system where fusion protein GST-p7 caused a flow of current across an insulating membrane (Griffin et al., 2003). It is also unknown whether p7 is a structural component of HCV particles. Steinmann *et al* (Steinmann et al., 2007) showed that virus entry is not dependent on p7 because the specific infectivity of virions with a defective p7 released was not affected. Yet, a study by Griffin et al (Griffin et al., 2008) showed that cells cultured in infectious supernatants together with cation channel inhibitors partially inhibited infection implicating p7 as a structural component of the viral particle.

1.4.2 Non-structural proteins

The non-structural proteins of HCV include NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B which make up the remaining portion of the polyprotein. These proteins play important roles as proteases and polymerase.

1.4.2.1 NS2 protein

The NS2 protein (21kDa) is comprised of amino acids 810 to 1026 of the polyprotein (Major, 1997). The NS2 protein together with part of the NS3 serine protease domain form the NS2-3 protease which allows autoproteolytic cleavage to occur at the junction between NS2 and NS3 (Grakoui, 1993). The crystal structure of the catalytic domain of the NS2-3 protease of NS2 has revealed that it functions as a dimer

(Lorenz et al., 2006). This virus-encoded protease requires zinc to function (Hijikata, 1993a). Santolini (1995) showed that NS2 is a transmembrane protein and Dubuisson (1994) showed that cleavage between E2 and NS2 occurs only after the completion of E2 folding. The E2 and NS2 cleavage is mediated by a cellular signal peptidase.

NS2 is not required for genome replication (Lohmann, 1999) although a study using J6/JFH chimeric viruses where NS2 has been deleted completely or partially showed a decrease in virus production (Jones et al., 2007). A study by Yi et al (Yi et al., 2009) showed that substitution of Ser-168 with Ala or Gly impaired the production of infectious virus particles in cells transfected with HJ3-5 chimera RNA and JFH1 RNA. The association of core or NS5A proteins with lipid droplets of host cell and the prevention of the assembly of core into particles with sedimentation and buoyant density properties similar to infectious virus were not changed with S168A mutation showing that NS2 acts subsequent to the core, NS5A, and NS3 involvement in particle assembly (Yi et al., 2009). NS2 is also found to be important for virus assembly probably by bringing HCV glycoproteins and nascent particles together to form infectious HCV virions (Jones and McLauchlan, 2010).

1.4.2.2 NS3 protein

NS3 protein is 70kDa in size and is hydrophilic in nature (Reed, 2000) and it encompasses amino acids 1027 to 1657 (Major, 1997). As mentioned in the paragraph above, part of NS3 and NS2 form the NS2-3 protease that cleaves the NS2 and NS3 junction. NS3 was initially predicted to be a serine protease, nucleotide triphosphatase (NTPase) and RNA helicase based on sequence motifs. Chambers (1990) provided the evidence that the N-terminal domain of NS3 is a serine protease in a flavivirus homologue. The domains between amino acids 1027 until 1207 of NS3 (Lin, 1994) protein are responsible for cleavages at the junctions 3/4A, 4A/4B, 4B/5A, and 5A/5B but these cleavages occur only after the release of the remaining downstream NS protein after the NS 2/3 cleavage (Major, 1997). The other two functions of NS3, NTPase and RNA helicase, are involved in the RNA replication of the virus unwinding the double stranded RNAs resulting from the synthesis of the complementary strand. These activities have been shown for the C-terminal two-thirds of NS3 protein when using synthetic substrates or full-length NS3 *in vitro* (Reed, 2000) and references therein). The functional domain of the NTPase/helicase resides between amino acids 1209 and 1608 of the NS3 protein (Kim, 1997). NS3 with NS4A function as a second viral protease responsible for cleaving four sites downstream within the HCV polyprotein as well as host proteins TRIF and Cardif. TRIF and Cardif play a role in double stranded RNA signaling to induce intracellular antiviral response (Li et al., 2005b, Meylan et al., 2005).

NS3 was shown to play a role in the assembly stage before the assembly of corecontaining particles. In the absence of Q221L mutation, a mutation within subdomain 1 of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3 helicase, NS3 were recruited to core protein on the surface of lipid droplets, but there was no assembly of core into high-density, rapidly sedimenting particles (Ma et al., 2008).

1.4.2.3 NS4A and NS4B proteins

NS4 protein is divided into NS4A and NS4B. NS4A (6kDa) spans amino acids 1658 to 1711 whereas NS4B (27kDa) spans amino acids 1712 to 1972 (Major, 1997). NS4A has a hydrophobic N-terminus and hydrophilic C-terminus (Failla, 1994). NS4A stimulates cleavages *in cis* and *in trans* at the junctions of 3/4A, 4A/4B, 4B/5A, and 5A/5B which are mediated by the NS3 serine protease (Major, 1997) and

references therein). The hydrophobic N-terminus of NS4A helps to anchor NS3 and other replication complex members to the cellular membranes (Hijikata, 1993c, Steer, 1996). NS4B is a hydrophobic protein and has a modular domain organization with the amino- (N) and carboxy- (C) terminal ends being cytoplasmic and a central region inserted in the ER membrane. Carboxy-terminal domain of NS4B is associated to membranes and is important for replication (Liefhebber et al., 2009). NS4B alters the ER to generate a scaffold for the replication complex (Gosert et al., 2003). M6 mutant of JFH1, producing a single amino acid change in NS4B, has a higher viral titers than the wild type but the same mutation in J6-JFH1 did not result in increase virus titers compared to J6/JFH1 with no M6 mutation (Jones et al., 2009). It is then suggested that NS4B interacts with other viral factors to modulate assembly (Jones and McLauchlan, 2010).

1.4.2.4 NS5A and NS5B proteins

NS5A protein is 58kDa in size and it encompasses amino acids 1973 to 2420 (Major, 1997). Earlier studies suggested that NS5A may play a role in causing sensitivity to interferon (Enomoto, 1995, Enomoto, 1996). Otherwise, the function of NS5A is not really clear although Appel et al (Appel et al., 2005) has shown that it is essential for viral replication. Interaction of NS5A with lipid droplets are prevented when mutations are introduced in domain I, one of the three domains of NS5A (Miyanari et al., 2007). Appel *et al* (Appel et al., 2008) showed that core and NS5A colocalize on the lipid droplets which are proposed as an assembly site of HCV particle and deletion in domain III of NS5A disrupts the colocalization abolishing the formation of infectious particle which leads to accumulation of core proteins on the lipid droplets. The substitutions of alanine for a cluster of serine residues in domain III of NS5A disrupts the phosphorylation of NS5A, decreasing NS5A-core interaction, disrupting

the subcellular localization of NS5A and eventually decreasing virion production (Masaki et al., 2008).

NS5B protein (68kDa) is an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase that encompasses amino acids 2421 to 3011 (Major, 1997). RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity *in vitro* has been shown in an NS5B protein expressed in baculovirus system (Behrens, 1996, Lohmann, 1997). There could also be a nucleotidyl transferase activity (Behrens, 1996) but inconsistencies in other reported studies may suggest that this activity is due to contamination by host enzymes (Reed, 2000).

1.5 Hepatitis C virus infection

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) produces an infection of the liver, which is mainly spread by direct contact with human blood. The major causes of HCV infection globally are unscreened blood in blood transfusion and re-utilization of inadequately sterilized needles and syringes (WHO, 1999a). HCV has a narrow host range comprising humans and chimpanzees as the susceptible species (Dubuisson and Rice, 1996). The disease developed in both species is similar.

In 1999, WHO estimated 170 million people worldwide were infected with HCV. In general, acute HCV infection gives rise to a mild, acute illness but 70-80% of acutely infected individuals become chronically infected. Cirrhosis, an end-stage liver disease characterized by an irreversible scarring of the liver, occurs in less than 20% of the hepatitis C infected patients. Individuals with hepatitis C cirrhosis are also at risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma where 1-5% of patients with chronic infection for a period of 20-30 years develop liver cancer (WHO, 1999b). In Asia and

Africa, 15% of hepatocellular carcinoma cases originate from HCV infection (WHO, 1999a).

The major site of HCV replication is the liver but there are other possible replication sites as well such as epithelial cells in the gut (Deforges, 2004), peripheral blood lymphocytes (Lindenbach, 2001), and central nervous system (Forton et al., 2004). It has yet to be determined the percentage of infected cells in the liver or the amount of viral RNA and protein associated with infected cells (Wieland and Chisari, 2005) although a study made by Bigger *et al* (Bigger et al., 2001) estimated using viral RNA measurement that about 10% of chimpanzee hepatocytes support HCV replication in an acute infection.

Chronically infected patients have typical viral loads in the serum ranging $10^3 \cdot 10^7$ genomes/ml estimated by Lindenbach (Lindenbach, 2001) or $2x10^5 - 4x10^7$ genomes/ml estimated by (Adinolfi L, 2001). In a study of mathematical modeling of viral dynamics during treatment with α -interferon, it was found that HCV virion turn over is rapid with a half-life of 3 hours and up to 10^{12} viruses are produced per day in an infected person (Neumann et al., 1998).

HCV, once known as non-A, non-B hepatitis (NANBH), was first definitively identified by screening cDNA expression libraries made from total nucleic acid extracted from a large pool of plasma containing high titer of NANBH agents derived from chimpanzees infected with serum from patients diagnosed clinically with NANBH (Alter et al., 1989a). There have subsequently been studies on gene expression and RNA replication but the mechanism of HCV pathogenicity remains unclear because, not until 2005, has there been a permissive cell culture system in which to study viral attachment, penetration, uncoating, assembly, release and reinfection.

Limited studies on the replication of synthetic replicons and observations of virus recovered from clinical material suggest that certain stages of HCV replication are interconnected with the lipid metabolism processes of the host cell and also that the virus may be complexed in lipo-viro-particles (LVP), and in assembly, release, protection from humoral mediated clearance and reinfection of susceptible hepatocytes, gain from its association with host lipoprotein.

1.5.1 Acute hepatitis

Acute hepatitis C is a short-term illness occurring in the first 6 months period after initial exposure to hepatitis C virus. The incubation period of HCV infection from the initial exposure to the clinical symptoms ranges from 6-8 weeks (Alter et al., 1989a, Barrera et al., 1995). Between 60-70% of the infected individuals is asymptomatic including those who progress to chronic infection. For the minority of those who have acute phase symptoms, the complaints are generally mild and non-specific with fatigue and jaundice as the more common ones. Other symptoms include decreased appetite, abdominal pain, nausea and dark urine.

HCV RNA can be found in the blood plasma as early as a few days after infection and usually peaks 6-8 weeks later (Abe et al., 1992, Beach et al., 1992, Alter et al., 1995). Specific antibodies against HCV can be detected about 7-8 weeks after infection (Pawlotsky, 1999). Serum alanine transaminase (ALT) level, which is commonly used to screen for liver problems, peaks at approximately 2-3 months after infection and this coincides with the decline of HCV RNA (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). ALT level returns to normal level after approximately 3 months. About 80% of the acutely infected individuals progress to the chronic stage.

In a study by Bukh et al (Bukh et al., 2001), infected chimpanzees have viraemia with peak virus titres of 10^5 - 10^7 g.e./ml three to four days after exposure. This is followed by an elevated ALT level indicating the onset of hepatic damage (Abe et al., 1992, Farci et al., 1992b, Shimizu et al., 1990).

1.5.2 Chronic hepatitis

Chronic hepatitis is defined as HCV infection persisting more than 6 months where in the early stage, the symptoms are non-existent or mild (similar to those described in acute hepatitis section). The progression of chronic hepatitis C varies for each infected individuals with variable rates of fibrosis (liver scarring). Cirrhosis develops in 20-30% of chronically infected individuals with raised ALT levels (Di Bisceglie et al., 1991, Takahashi et al., 1993, Yano et al., 1996). Factors that contribute to speed up the progression to cirrhosis include old age, HCV genetic heterogeneity, alcohol consumption, immunodeficiency, viral titre, and HIV co-infection (Takahashi et al., 1993, WHO, 1999a, Yano et al., 1996, Di Bisceglie et al., 1991, Graham et al., 2001). In a Japanese study, the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma was 10.4% in chronic hepatitis C cases which was 2.7 times higher than in hepatitis B cases (Takano et al., 1995). During the chronic phase, HCV RNA can still be detected in the blood (Alter et al., 1989a, Farci et al., 1991, Conry-Cantilena et al., 1996) where most patients have stable viral titres that are 2-3 logs lower than in the acute phase (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). In most patients with chronic infection, ALT levels continue to fluctuate after the initial peak during the acute phase (Rehermann and Nascimbeni, 2005). For most chronic patients who have normal ALT levels, the symptoms are mild or subclinical with little damage occurring to the liver tissue whereas for most who have elevated ALT, they show mild hepatitis (Shindo et al., 1995, Healey et al., 1995).

The end stage liver disease in humans includes fibrosis and cirrhosis. Unlike in humans, no liver fibrosis or cirrhosis are observed in chimpanzees but instead there are changes to the liver morphology and necroinflammatory hepatic lesions which are similar to those found in humans (Alter et al., 1978, Tabor et al., 1978, Shimizu et al., 1979).

1.5.3 HCV-related steatosis

Infection of HCV is mainly restricted to hepatocytes (Huang et al., 2007a) which are the major cells involved in cholesterol homeostasis. Steatosis is a common histological feature in patients with chronic HCV hepatitis (Giusti et al., 1993). Steatosis is a condition where liver becomes a lipid storage space rather than as in otherwise normal conditions, adipocytes. There is an accumulation, in the liver, of neutral lipids (triacylglycerol and cholesterol esters). Other factors such as obesity, high alcohol intake, diabetes type II and hyperlidaemia may also contribute to steatosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. HCV genotype 3 is particularly associated with steatosis.

1.6 Epidemiology

1.6.1 Prevalence

In 1999, WHO estimated prevalence of HCV to be 3% of the world's population (WHO, 1999a). Most of the prevalence studies have used blood donors and may be underestimations as the blood donor population may not be representative of the community at large.

The regions with the highest prevalence rates include Africa and Eastern Mediterranean regions with 5.3% and 4.6% prevalence rate respectively whereas the lowest include Americas and Europe regions with prevalence rates of 1.7% and 1.03% respectively (WHO, 1999a). South-East Asia and Western Pacific regions have prevalence rates of 2.15% and 3.9% respectively (WHO, 1999a). Figure 2 below shows a world map on the global prevalence of Hepatitis C infection in 2002.


Figure 2: Global prevalence of Hepatitis C infection, 2002. Source: World Health Organization (WHO)

Egypt was found to have probably the highest reported seroprevalence rate of 22% (Frank et al., 2000) and in another Egyptian study by (Saeed et al., 1991), the prevalence rate is 28%. The laboratory reports of hepatitis infection in England in the Annual Report of (Health Protection Agency, 2008), UK shows an increase of 12.2% to 7540 cases from the year 2006 to 2007.

1.6.2 Transmission

1.6.2.1 Intravenous drug users

Intravenous drug use is the main route of transmission for HCV infection in the developed world. In a study by (Judd et al., 2005) of 428 intravenous drug users with age below 30 in London, 44% had hepatitis C antibodies compared to 4% with HIV. Intravenous drug use has been the major mode of HCV transmission for more than 30 years accounting for 68% and 80% of current infections in the USA and Australia respectively (Alter, 2002, Dore et al., 2003). The prevalence rate in intravenous drug

users for HCV infection in seven European Union countries was about 80% (Touzet et al., 2000). In Chang Rai, Thailand 90% of the intravenous drug users were found to be positive for HCV (Apichartpiyakul et al., 1999).

1.6.2.2 Therapeutic injections

Unlike in the developed world, most countries in the developing world have limited supplies of sterile syringes in their health care settings. In the year 2000 Global Burden of Disease study by Hauri, *et al.*, it was found that contaminated injections in the health care settings caused about 2 million HCV infections of which most are found in the South-east Asian, Pacific, and Eastern Mediterranean regions (Hauri et al., 2004).

1.6.2.3 Blood Transfusions

In the past, blood transfusion has been the leading cause of HCV transmission in most developed countries but is now overtaken by intravenous drug use largely due to the improved screening method for hepatitis C. In England, cases of infected donations decreased from 1 in 520, 000 from 1993-1998 to 1 in 30 million in 1999 to 2001 when blood donations were tested for HCV RNA (Soldan et al., 2003).

In the developing world, the incidence of hepatitis C contaminated blood transfusion remains higher. WHO estimated that in the developing world, 43% of the donated blood is not adequately screened for transfusion-transmitted infections which include HCV (WHO, 2001). In a study of 147 Chilean chronic hepatitis C patients, the common risk factors include blood transfusion (54%), intravenous drug use (5%), and risky sexual practices (2%) (Soza et al., 2004).

1.6.2.4 Hemodialysis

A study based on data collected for hemodialysis patients from 136 European centres identifies the possible risk factors for virus transmission as failure to disinfect devices between patients, sharing of single-use vials for drug preparation or for infusions, inadequate sterilization technique or cleaning of machines, poor environmental cleanliness, and distance between chairs of less than a metre (Zampieron et al., 2004).

1.6.2.5 Sexual Activity

Non-percutaneous transmission such as sexual transmission of HCV is far less efficient compared to other sexually transmitted viruses. The efficiency of male to female sexual transmission of HCV is less than HIV (Eyster et al., 1991). In a study by Alter (Alter et al., 1989b), sex with infected partner or multiple partners was identified as risk factors for NANB virus transmission. In cases of acute NANB hepatitis intensive surveillance studies conducted by the USA Centers for Disease Control over a 7-year period, it was found that 6% of the patients were sexually exposed and this did not vary over time (Alter et al., 1990). However, the role of sexual activity in the transmission of HCV remains unclear and the increased likelihood of HCV transmissions could be due to high risk sexual practices (eg. promiscuity) or sexually transmitted coinfection (eg. HIV coinfection) or simply high risk activity in the high risk group (eg. intravenous drug use). In a 10-year prospective follow-up Italian study there is little or no risk of sexual transmission of HCV among heterosexual monogamous couples (Vandelli et al., 2004).

1.6.2.6 Vertical transmission

Mother to baby transmission of HCV, another example of non-percutaneous transmission, is uncommon. In a study by Reinus *et al* (1992), it was found that all the babies of anti-HCV positive mothers have anti-HCV antibody themselves but the

antibody disappeared or reduced with time. Vertical transmission is linked to the viremia level of the mother with higher than 10⁶ copies/ml of HCV greatly increasing the probability of the babies being infected (Ohto et al., 1994, Lin et al., 1994b). A number of studies showed an increased likelihood of vertical HCV transmission in babies born to mothers with HCV/HIV coinfection (Ohto et al., 1994, Lin et al., 1994b, Lam et al., 1993, Zanetti et al., 1995).

1.7 Diagnosis

During the acute phase, diagnosis of HCV infection is not generally made as those infected are normally not ill enough to seek medical attention. Infected individuals may be diagnosed based on their medical history such as history of drug abuse, blood transfusion, *etc.* When suspected of HCV infection, infected individuals will normally have their blood tested for anti-HCV antibodies.

Enzyme immunoassay (EIA) is used in serological tests to detect anti-HCV antibodies using recombinant proteins or synthetic peptides of core, NS3, NS4, and NS5 proteins. The third generation enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA3) has a sensitivity of 99% and specificity of 100% in patients with chronic liver disease (Colin et al., 2001). Acute hepatitis which may not be detected by the EIA technique can be detected using a more sensitive technique such as RT-PCR for the detection of HCV RNA.

Diagnostic genotyping assays using simultaneous PCR amplification and direct sequencing (CLIP sequencing) (Ross et al., 2000) and restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) (Davidson, 1998) for HCV RNA based on sequence analysis

24

of the genome normally target the 5' untranslated region because although this region is highly conserved, there are well characterized polymorphisms that are used to predict HCV genotypes.

1.8 Treatment and vaccination

The development of an effective vaccine against HCV has been hampered because of the complexity of the immune response to the virus. Some studies have shown that HCV infection does not prevent reinfection (Farci et al., 1992a, Abe et al., 1992), others, however, indicate that prior immunity may be beneficial (Prince et al., 1992, Bassett et al., 2001, Major et al., 2002).

Passively administered anti-HCV antibodies do not provide protection to HCV infection as seen in the study of liver transplant patients made by Davis (Davis et al., 2005) where neither low dose (75 mg/kg) nor high dose (200 mg/kg) of human hepatitis C Immune Globulin (HCIG) (Civacir), a pooled HCV-positive plasma antibody, decrease serum HCV RNA. In a similar randomized, double-blind, dose escalation study by Schiano (Schiano et al., 2006) using a high-affinity, neutralizing, fully human, anti-E2 monoclonal antibody in liver transplant patients, there is a decrease of HCV RNA detected but the decrease is not sustained. In a study using chimpanzees, HCIG treatment only prolonged the incubation period of HCV infection but did not delay or prevent HCV infection (Krawczynski et al., 1996).

1.9 Immunological response to hepatitis C virus

HCV induces a strong innate immune response but is able to evade both innate and adaptive immune responses. Apart from liver cells, HCV RNA has been reported to

be found in B cells, dendritic cells, monocytes, and lymph node cells (Dustin and Rice, 2007) which are cells involved in the host immune response.

1.9.1 Innate immune respone

In humans, after infection, HCV begins to replicate immediately as viremia can be generally detected 1-2 weeks after exposure (Thimme et al., 2001). Interferon (IFN) production against HCV is rapidly induced by host's innate virus-sensing mechanisms as studies on HCV infected chimpanzee showed only up to 10% of hepatocytes support HCV replication at the peak of viraemia (Bigger et al., 2001) suggesting that an antiviral state, probably IFN mediated, is rapidly induced in most cells of the liver (Dustin and Rice, 2007). Following RNA helicase recognition of HCV dsRNA, RIG-I (retinoic acid inducible gene-I) is activated (Sumpter et al., 2005). TLR3 (Toll-like receptor 3) recognition of dsRNA also induced IFN production (Akira et al., 2006). Host response triggering of RIG-I and TLR3 results in IFN production and IFN-stimulated genes (ISG) expression which could result in resolution of the infection (15-25% of the cases) or attenuation of IFN production and ISG expression resulting in persistent infection (Li et al., 2005a).

In the liver of an acutely-infected chimpanzee, changes in the transcription of IFN- α occurs as early as 2 days after infection and these changes parallels the viral replication kinetics (Alter, 2002, Bigger et al., 2001). However in most cases IFN- α fails to inhibit replication of HCV (Alter, 2002). Treatment with exogenous IFN- α is however effective as it is currently in use for the treatment of chronically infected patients (Pawlotsky, 2003, Zeuzem, 2004).

The activation state of natural killer T (NKT) cells which are one of the many kinds of innate immune cells that can be found in the liver, may be altered during persistent HCV infection (Durante-Mangoni et al., 2004, Lucas et al., 2003).

1.9.2 Adaptive immune response

Among all persistent human viruses, HCV is among the most successful as it persists in nearly 70% of the infected individuals. In HCV infection, virus specific antibodies are usually detectable about 7-8 weeks after exposure (Pawlotsky, 1999). Patients with chronic HCV hepatitis have IgM persisting even after acute infection (Quiroga et al., 1991). In a study made by (Chen et al., 1999) where the humoral response to HCV was evaluated from 60 chronically and 12 acutely infected patients, it was found that except for HCV core antigens, the IgG response was highly restricted to IgG1 isotype, was of relatively low titer, and antibody appearance delayed. In both human and chimpanzee studies, the role of naturally acquired antibodies in HCV infection is limited because they do not prevent reinfection (Farci et al., 1992a, Lai et al., 1994). HCV specific antibodies are also not detected 10-20 years after recovery (Takaki et al., 2000). However, there are is evidences that HCV specific antibodies can influence the course of the infection. HCV clearance in acute self-limiting infections is associated with the production of anti-HVR1 (envelope) antibodies (Zibert et al., 1997). HCV-specific neutralizing antibodies have been found in the plasma of chronically infected patients by in vitro neutralization by the capacity of HCVpositive inocula to infect continuous T-cell lines (Shimizu, 1994) and chimpanzees (Farci, 1994). These antibodies can protect against infection by HCV strains previously present in the patients from which they are derived but fail to neutralize viral strains prevalent in patients at the time the antibodies are detected. The

27

neutralizing antibody response appears to be directed against epitopes located within the highly variable HCV envelope proteins (Chisari, 1997). In a study made by (Allander et al., 2000), antibodies against HCV E1 and E2 were able to modulate HCV RNA levels in vaccinated and rechallenged chimpanzees.

The risk of persistence upon re-exposure of HCV is greatly reduced after the resolution of an acute infection (Bowen and Walker, 2005). In both humans and chimpanzees, expansion of antiviral CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are important for the control of acute primary viral replication (Thimme et al., 2001, Thimme et al., 2002, Cooper et al., 1999). In the blood samples of recovered HCV-infected patients, specific multi-epitope CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are readily detected compared to chronic hepatitis C patients which who tend to have a much more focus T-cell responses (Lechner et al., 2000b, Wedemeyer et al., 2002, Diepolder et al., 1995). In the *in vivo* study using the chimpanzee model, depletion of either CD4+ or CD8+ T cells prevent the clearance of HCV and subsequently recovery from infection (Shoukry et al., 2003, Grakoui et al., 2003). In chronically infected individuals or in the individuals who had initially controlled infection but viraemia recurred, the CD4+ and CD8+ T cells response to the virus is not readily detectable (Gerlach et al., 1999, Thimme et al., 2001, Chang et al., 2001, Lechner et al., 2000a).

1.9.3 Immune escape variants

Immune escape quasispecies variants may arise from or is a result of selection pressure in CD8 cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) epitopes or antibody responses. These immune escape variants will then be able to replicate and predominate in the infected individuals particularly those who progress to the chronic stage. Weiner (Weiner et al., 1992) suggested that E2 hypervariable HCV variants are a result of immune selection of escape mutants. In a study made by (van Doorn et al., 1995), the HVR1 was conserved for 6 years in a chronically HCV-infected chimpanzee and this coincides with no detectable anti-HVR1 but in the following year, anti-HVR1 IgG was produced and this coincides with changes in HVR1 suggesting HCV HVR1 evolution through immune selection. It was found in a 6-year-period study, common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) HCV-infected patients whose humoral immune response are compromised had 0.415 nucleotide substitutions a year compared to 6.954 in the control HCV-infected patients (p < 0.02) suggesting that the reduced humoral immune response pressure resulted in fewer immune escape variants emergence (Booth et al., 1998).

In an acute HCV infection, a strong T-cell immune response is associated with viral clearance but in a chronic HCV infection, a weak or absent T-cell response is associated found. Tsai (Tsai et al., 1998) showed that HVR1 HCV variants with altered peptide ligands with a more capable CTL activity emerged in 2 patients who developed chronic infection but no virus variants was found in 3 patients who recovered. Weiner (Weiner et al., 1995) demonstrated that immune escape variants arising from CTL response was aided by amino acid substitution (aspartic acid to glutamic acid) at position 1449 in all HCV genomes that were analysed.

1.10 HCV Model systems

1.10.1 HCV in animal model

The animal historically and still frequently used in HCV studies which can be infected with HCV is the chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*). In fact it was a large pool of chimpanzees blood plasma containing high titer of what was then known as NANBH agents that led to HCV being identified (Choo et al., 1989). HCV infection in chimpanzees has a similar course as that of humans making it a good animal model for HCV infection giving researchers better understanding on the nature of the innate and adaptive immune responses to HCV (Bukh et al., 2001, Bukh, 2004). HCV infection in chimpanzees is, however, milder because they clear HCV better than humans and persistent infection shows a milder form of the disease (Dustin and Rice, 2007). The disadvantages of using chimpanzees in the study of HCV infection include avaibility of chimpanzee, high maintenance costs and ethical problems regarding their usage.

Other animal like mice, Tamarins (*Saguinis* sp) and tree shrews have also been used in HCV studies. Transgenic mice that could express HCV genes in the liver have been developed but they have limitations as mice do not support HCV infection (Guha et al., 2005). SCID mice have been used to transplant human hepatocyte xenografts which can then be infected with HCV (Bartenschlager et al., 2004, Guha et al., 2005) but for the immunological study using these mice to be useful, they must have human immune cells operating with the same HLA type as the hepatocytes (Dustin and Rice, 2007). Tamarins infected with GB virus B (GBV-B) have been proposed as a surrogate model for HCV infection in humans. GBV-B is closely related to HCV phylogenetically and it has a tropism for hepatocytes (Ohba et al., 1996).

1.10.2 HCV in tissue culture

An early attempt of producing HCV *in vitro* includes the recombinant baculovirus expressing HCV glycoproteins of HCV virus-like particles (VLPs) generated in insect cells which have been used to study the characteristics of mammalian cell-derived soluble truncated E2 proteins (Clayton et al., 2002). It still remains unknown why most clinically isolated HCV is difficult to replicate in tissue culture (Lindenbach et al., 2005) making it difficult to study HCV replication. In an attempt to study the pathogenesis of HCV infection, several infection systems of the cultured cells had been developed. One of these is the development of the replicon system. Cloned virus genome is preferred over HCV-containing patient material because it can be easily manipulated and allows detailed genetic analysis of viral functions. Unlike other positive-strand RNA viruses, the production of HCV from cells transfected with RNA from an *in vitro* transcription of a cDNA copy of the viral genome has been difficult (Bartenschlager, 2000).

Lohmann (1999, Bartenschlager) developed selectable subgenomic HCV RNA molecules that were able to replicate after transfection into the human hepatoma cell line Huh7. The subgenomic HCV RNA contained the HCV 5'NTR, a small segment of the core neomycin phosphotransferase (neo) the gene, а gene, encephalomyocarditis virus IRES (E-1), HCV NS2-5B or NS3-5B and the 3'NTR. Upon transfection into Huh7 cells, only cells that support the replication of the HCV RNA would amplified the *neo* gene and developed resistance to G418 drug. Hence, only these cells survived whereas, the cells that did not support replication were eradicated. However, the original replicons replicated at low level.

Other successful attempts were also made to produce subgenomic replicons that were adapted for efficient replication in Huh7 cell line and other cultured cells (Blight, 2000, Kato, 2003, Bukh, 2004). In every case, successful replicons were shown to possess a number of adaptive mutations essential for high level replication of the replicon. However, full length genomes containing cell culture-adaptive mutations did not produce infectious virus particles in culture (Blight, 2002, Pietschmann, 2002).

The year 2005 had seen an important breakthrough for the study on HCV. Since HCV was first definitively identified by (Alter et al., 1989a), it proved to be difficult to study the mechanism of HCV pathogenicity because of the lack of a permissive cell culture system. In year 2005 three groups; Wakita, Chisari and Rice, have concurrently produced cell culture systems for the modelling of HCV infection and subsequently the production of infectious virus particles (Wakita et al., 2005, Zhong, 2005, Lindenbach et al., 2005).

Infectivity of HCV *in vitro* requires a permissive and robust cell culture system. A subgenomic replicon, JFH1 genotype 2a strain, transfected into a human hepatoma cell line (Huh7) successfully replicated and subsequently viral particles were secreted (Wakita et al., 2005). The strain was initially isolated from a patient with a severe and sudden onset of HCV infection. The replicon constructed was able to replicate efficiently in cell culture and did not require the adaptive mutation which had characterized previous successful replicons.

32

Meanwhile, Rice's group developed a new cell line, Huh7.5, derived from the Huh7 human hepatoma cell line with enhanced ability to support the replication of HCV replicons (Zhong, 2005). Introduction of the JFH1 replicon into Huh7.5 cells resulted in high levels of replication and the release of HCV virions capable of reinfection of naïve cells.

Lindenbach (2005) developed a chimeric genome consisting of JFH1 nonstructural genes with structural genes from J6, another genotype 2a strain which by itself is not infectious in cell culture, resulting in a production of infectious HCV cell culture (HCVcc) capable of more efficient replication than the original JFH strain. This is important for the study on the identification of genetic determinants of pathogenesis.

HCV pseudoviral particles (HCVpp) has provided us a lot of insights on the biology of HCV particularly on the binding and entry of HCV into cells but HCVpp has some shortcomings such as HCVpp are normally made in nonhepatic cells like 293T kidney cells which do not synthesize lipoproteins (Meunier et al., 2008). Most of the components are also non-HCV components for example the HCV proteins may not be folded in the correct way. HCVcc on the other hand, are made in the hepatic cells which are natural hosts of HCV and hence, the particles produced are more like its *in vivo* counterpart. The mechanism of its production would probably also follows the natural pathway (Meunier et al., 2008).

1.11 Cellular receptors involved in HCV entry into cells

There are four systems that have been used for investigating HCV receptors; *in vivo* derived HCV, recombinant viral glycoprotein, HCVpp, and HCVcc. Four putative

receptors have been implicated in the entry of HCV into cells, CD81, SR-B1 receptor, and tight junction molecules Claudin-1(CLDN1) and occludin (OCLN). Glycosaminoglycans (such as heparan sulphate) and LDL-receptor have also been implicated as initial attachment factors. Figure 3 shows the possible receptors / molecules involve in aiding the HCV entry into a cell.

In vivo or serum derived HCV had been used to study HCV binding, association, and internalization of purified materials. By quantifying HCV RNA to represent the amount of bound or internalized virus, Andre et al (Andre et al., 2002) found that there is maximum association with purified LVP when comparing serum, whole-density fraction corresponding to VLDL, the same fraction with depleted LVP, and purified LVP of the serum. There is, however, limitations to using serum-derived HCV because of low level of HCV replication in infected cells, difficulties in differentiating the input and output HCV RNA, the absence/low levels of HCV particles produced, and the heterogeneity of the virus in the serum (Burlone and Budkowska, 2009).

Pseudovirusparticles expressing E1 and E2 glycoproteins have been used in a number of HCV viral entry study (Bartenschlager et al., 2004, Bartosch et al., 2003a, Hsu et al., 2003).

CD81, a 26kDa cell surface protein, is found on a number of cells in human tissue and has many different kinds of functions being involved in cell adhesion, motility, metastasis, and signal transduction (Levy, 1998). It contains four transmembrane domains, two small extracellular loops (SEL), one large extracellular loop (LEL), and N- and C- terminal intracellular domains. (Pileri et al., 1998) Non-hepatic human cells expressing CD81 were also found to be poorly or none permissive to infection (Bartosch et al., 2003a). Non-permissive hepatic cell lines such as HepG2 and HH29 which normally do not express CD81 are not susceptible to HCVcc and HCVpp infection but will become susceptible once they are transduced with and expressed CD81 (Bartosch et al., 2003a, Cormier, 2004, Lavillette et al., 2005, Zhang, 2004). Anti-CD81 monoclonal antibodies prevent the entry of HCV entry into cells (Cormier, 2004). These studies support the importance of CD81 for the entry of HCV into cells. However, there are studies that contradict these findings. Petracca (2000) demonstrate that CD81 has poor capacity to allow viral entry.

Scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-B1/Cla1), 509 aa cell membrane proteins (Acton et al., 1994), are alternative receptors to the LDL receptor for the uptake of cholesterol and lipids. They can be found in many mammalian cells but mostly expressed in liver and steroidogenic tissues. They bind chemically modified lipoproteins such as acetylated and oxidized LDL (Goldstein, 1979). SR-B1, which is 82kDa in size together with its non-protein components (Babitt, 1997), is a high affinity receptor for HDL and it allows the selective uptake of esterified cholesterol from HDL (Rigotti, 1995, Acton, 1996, Liadaki, 2000). SR-B1 can bind both HDL and LDL (Krieger, 2001) and it is found abundantly on hepatocytes (Calvo, 1997). Recombinant HCV E2 has been shown to bind specifically to SR-B1 and the HCV E2 recognition was inhibited by an HVR1-E2 monoclonal antibody (Scarselli et al., 2002). SR-B1 together with CD81 facilitates the entry of HCV. Some study showed that HDL, which is a ligand for SR-B1, enhanced HCVcc infectivity only when CD81 was expressed (Zeisel et al., 2007).

35

Claudin-1 (211 aa) is found in all epithelial tissues but mainly in the liver. In nonhepatic cell lines such as 293T and SW13, it was found that Claudin-1 expression, allows the infection of HCVpp in these cells to occur (Evans et al., 2007). Functional studies showed that binding to Claudin-1 occurs after CD81 and SR-B1 binding (Evans et al., 2007). Recently, it was shown that there is a correlation in the Claudin-1 distribution to the susceptibility to HCV infection in cells (Liu et al., 2009, Yang et al., 2008). Reducing the expression of Claudin-1 and occludin by siRNA and shRNA interference inhibited the entry of HCVpp and HCVcc (Liu et al., 2009). Studies made by (Liu et al., 2009, Benedicto et al., 2008) demonstrate that occludin interacts with E2 allowing the entry of the virus through the tight junctions of the hepatocytes.

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGS) are linear polysaccharides found on the cell surface. Heparan sulphate (HS) is an example of the many types of GAGS which act as binding sites for several viruses. Attachment of serum derived HCV to GAGS have been reported (Thomssen et al., 1992). Barth et al (Barth et al., 2006) demonstrated that by using HCVpp, HCV binding and entry are inhibited by highly sulphated HS and antiviral antibodies derived from HCV infected individuals.

LDL receptor, also known as apoB/E receptor, is a 160kDa cell surface glycoprotein important in the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. It is an endocytic receptor that transports lipoproteins, especially LDL into cells (Nykjaer, 2002). LDL is taken up into a cell with LDL receptor first recognizing the LDL followed by the internalization of LDL via clathrin-coated pits (Steer, 1996, Cooper, 1996). Studies done by Monazahian (1999) and Agnello (1999) suggested that serum derived HCV

entry into cells is via LDL receptor. In another study, it was reported that the binding of low density HCV particles correlated with the number of LDL receptor on the cell surface (Wunschmann et al., 2000). A study by Owen *et al.* (Owen et al., 2009) using Huh7.5 cells stably expressing LDL receptor, constructed by using cytomegalovirus immediate-early promoter plasmid, showed that knockdown of the LDL receptor by treatment with 25-hydroxycholesterol or siRNA destroyed ligand uptake and reduced HCV infection of cells.



Figure 3: Overview of HCV cell entry.

The HCV entry process appears to require numerous interactions with host factors, both soluble and on the cell surface. The incoming virion, which appears to associate with apolipoprotein complexes, may

first bind a host cell by interacting with the low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) on the cell surface. Many HCV entry factors are required after virion binding to the host cell. These include an early requirement for CD81 and scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1), followed by a later utilization of the tight junction protein CLDN1. It is yet to be determined when the latest HCV entry factor OCLN, also a tight junction protein, is required. Such interactions result in endocytosis of the virion, where it fuses with an endosomal membrane upon acidification to release the viral nucleocapsid. Figure and legend adapted from (Lanford et al., 2009).

1.12 Binding and entry of HCV into cells

HCV found in the blood is heterogeneous in density and is often associated with lipoproteins and antibody. Andre (2002) demonstrated that lipo-viro-particles (LVP), purified by sequential ultracentrifugation followed by immunopurification with protein A-coated magnetic beads, bind and enter hepatocyte cell lines efficiently, whereas virus found in immunofractionated serum or whole-density fractions do not. He further confirmed the existence of LVP with electron microscopy. He also demonstrated that the binding of LVP is competed out by low concentration of VLDL and LDL and the binding of purified LVP to the cell line is blocked by anti-apolipoprotein B and E monoclonal antibodies. The internalization of the LVP was enhanced by the upregulation of the LDL receptor, whereas LDL receptor deficient fibroblasts had reduced ability to take up purified LVP. The authors concluded that LVP binding depends on host apolipoproteins and their receptors.

Favre (Favre, 2001) shows that cell-bound lipoproteins had to be removed by dextran sulphate before adding the virus to the hepatocyte cell lines in order to infect the cells. Maillard et al (Maillard et al., 2006) reported that binding of HCV (serum-derived) and SR-B1 is not affected by anti-E2 or anti-HVR1 antibodies but is inhibited by anti-betalipoprotein antibodies. The binding is also competed out by apoB-containing lipoproteins particularly VLDL.

Meunier, et al (Meunier et al., 2005) found that apoC1 (an apolipoprotein that is normally found in HDL), alone or as part of HDL, enhanced HCVpp cell entry when supplied exogeneously. Studies done by Chang et al (Chang et al., 2007) and Huang et al (Huang et al., 2007b) show that HCV production is reduced by apoE siRNA and microsomal triglyceride transfer protein inhibitor and apoB siRNA (agents that block VLDL production) respectively.

1.13 HCV-'LVP' from S6b liver macerate

Martin *et al.* (Martin, 2005) prepared liver derived HCV-'LVP' (henceforth termed as LLVP) from the low density fractions of liver macerate in an iodixanol gradient preparation. The liver macerate was from a female patient S6 who had common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) and was infected with HCV genotype 1a from a contaminated batch of Gammagaard intravenous immunoglobulin (Nielsen et al., 2004). The patient had a liver transplantation when her liver (liver S6a) failed. Liver S6a contained $5x10^6$ IU per gram of liver. A second liver transplantation was done 6 weeks later due to rejection, a leak from the biliary anastomosis, subtotal occlusion of the hepatic artery and re-infection by HCV. The transplant liver (S6b) containing $5x10^9$ IU per gram of liver was again removed and was kept for research purposes. All of the HCV RNA in the serum and 73% in the liver macerate were associated with low density lipoprotein and LLVP were recovered from the macerate by collection of fractions with a density below 1.08g/ml following iodixanol density gradient centrifugation.

A comparison was made on the binding of S6b LLVP, monitored by real time PCR for HCV RNA and low density lipoprotein labelled with the fluorescent dye 1,1'-

dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine (DiI), measured by FACS analysis. Binding was measured after washing the cells in suramine, which removes cell surface bound LDL leaving only internalized LDL associated with the cells. LLVP from S6b binding was greater to insulin treated cells than to hydroxyl-cholesterol treated cells and this is similar for DiI-LDL binding suggesting that LLVP may be binding to LDL receptor. However, although DiI-LDL binding was blocked by anti-apoB100 antibody, LLVP binding was blocked by neither anti-apoB100 nor anti-apoE antibody. This result suggests that LDL receptor may not be an important receptor for LLVP binding after all.

1.14 Host serum lipoproteins

Host serum lipoproteins are made up of macromolecular complexes of lipid and apolipoprotein. Lipoprotein particles are spherical in shape with the proteins and the polar lipids comprised of phospholipids and free (unesterified) cholesterol found on the outer layer and the hydrophobic lipids, esterified cholesterol and triglycerides found in the inner core (Mackness, 1992). The five different kinds of host serum lipoproteins namely; chylomicrons, VLDL, IDL, LDL and HDL, have different density, size, lipid and apolipoprotein contents and they can be separated by ultracentrifugation. Table 1 shows some aspects of the physical properties of lipoproteins.

	density (g/ml)	diameter (nm)	Apolipoproteins
Chylomicrons	<0.95	75-1200	A-I, A-II, A-IV, A-V, B48, C-1, C-II,
			C-III, E
VLDL	0.95-1.006	30-80	A-V, B100, C-1, C-II, C-III, E
IDL	1.006-1.019	25-35	B100, C-1, C-II, C-III, E
LDL	1.019-1.063	18-25	B100
HDL	1.063-1.21	5-12	A-I, A-II, A-IV, A-V, C-1, C-II, C-III,

Table 1: Physical properties of lipoproteins.

(Brown et al., 1986, Ginsberg, 1998, Obrien, 2005, Davis et al., 2005)

Serum lipoproteins act as carriers of lipids through the vascular and extravascular body fluids (Mackness, 1992). Lipids from the intestine are incorporated into chylomicrons in the endoplasmic reticulum of intestinal epithelial cells. The chylomicrons then enter the bloodstream where lipoprotein lipase acts on them to release free fatty acids and the chylomicron remnants, containing less triacylglycerol, then go to the liver. In the liver, VLDL are manufactured and released and are transported to muscle and adipose tissue via blood where they release free fatty acids from the VLDL triacylglycerol. The VLDL remnants (IDL) are once again taken up by the liver or continue to circulate when further removal of triacylglycerol produces LDL. LDL then carries cholesterol to the extrahepatic tissue or goes to the liver. Excess cholesterol found in the extrahepatic tissues is brought back to the liver as HDL (Davis et al., 2005).



Figure 4: Structure of VLDL molecule. Described by Brunzell and Failor, 2005 adapted from http://www.acpmedicine.com/sample/ch0902s.htm

There are a minimum of nine different kinds of apolipoproteins that can be found in human blood plasma (Davis et al., 2005). They are usually grouped by function and divided into five classes A, B, C, D and E. The functions include a structural role, metabolic regulation, an immunological and homeostatic role unrelated with lipid transport, an enzymatic role (Mackness, 1992) and they also act as signals targeting lipoproteins to specific tissues (Davis et al., 2005).

Human apoA-I, encoded by exon 3 and 4 of apoA-I gene, is made up of 243 amino acids comprised of two domains: a globular N-terminal domain comprised of 43 amino acids (residues 1-43) and a C-terminal domain of the remaining amino acids (residues 44-243) (Bolanos-Garcia, 2003). The C-terminal domain possesses ten α helices that form a horseshoe-shape structure. Reschly (2002) reported that helices 7 and 8 are important for the binding of lipid and that they contribute to apoA-I association with different HDL subclasses. ApoA-I seems to be important in the regulation of HDL particle size distribution (Reschly, 2002). It is also a strong activator of lecithin acyl transferase (LCAT) which is an enzyme that catalyzes the formation of cholestryl esters in HDL (Fielding, 1972). ApoA-I interacts with other proteins such as SR-B1 (Liu, 2002) and the ATP-binding transporter (ABC) A1 (Arakawa, 2002).

Human ApoA-II is made up of 77 amino acids and it forms a homodimer which is linked with a disulfide bond (Vadiveloo, 1993) although there is a report suggesting that ApoA-II is formed from a heterodimer of apoE and apoH (Sprecher, 1984). Human apoA-II is produced in the liver and it is a main component of HDL particles (Bolanos-Garcia, 2003). The assembly of helices in both apoA-II and apoA-I structures is similar although the helices in apoA-I are longer. The two different forms of apoA-II structures, the lipid-free apoA-II crystal structure and apoA-II/ β octyl-glucopiranoside complex, show that the α -helix content increases upon association with lipids (Clement-Collin, 1999, Kawooya, 1986).

Apolipoprotein B (ApoB), a large amphiphatic protein, is generated primarily in the liver and in the small intestine. In the liver, apoB100 (4536 amino acids, 540kDa) is secreted in the form of VLDL particles whereas in the small intestine, a truncated version of apoB known as apoB48 (the N-terminal 2152 amino acids, 259kDa) is formed as a result of mRNA editing. The apoB48 is secreted in the form of chylomicron particles (Innerarity, 1996). ApoB100 has an LDL receptor binding site that is involved in the entry of plasma IDL and LDL and perhaps some VLDL into the cells. ApoB makes up 30-40% of the protein content of VLDL and more than 95% of

the protein content of LDL in the plasma (Dixon, 1993). Lipoproteins that contain apoB are assembled in the endoplasmic reticulum and matured at the Golgi apparatus before being secreted out of hepatocytes (Olofsson, 1987).

Apolipoproteins C-I, C-II and C-III, which are mainly expressed in the liver and can inhibit or stimulate a wide range of receptors and enzymes involved in lipid metabolism (Bolanos-Garcia, 2003). They mainly associate with HDL, VLDL and chylomicrons (Davis et al., 2005). The human apoC locus is located on chromosome 19 downstream from the apoE gene (Davison, 1986). ApoC-III is the main C apolipoprotein found in human plasma and it forms 60% of the total protein mass of HDL particles. One of its functions is inhibition of lipoprotein lipase thus, preventing lipolysis of the triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (Schaefer, 1985). ApoC-II, on the other hand, activates lipoprotein lipase (Davis et al., 2005).

Human apoE is made up of 299 amino acids that form an N-terminal domain of residues 1-191 and a C-terminal domain of residues 216-299 (Bolanos-Garcia, 2003). The N-terminal domain helps in the binding of apoE to the LDL receptor whereas the C-terminal domain make up the major lipid-binding elements. Chylomicron remnants and half of VLDL remnants, which are derived from lipolytic processing of intestinal chylomicrons and hepatic VLDL, are rapidly and efficiently cleared from the plasma by the liver through a mechanism mediated mainly by apolipoprotein E (Mahley, 1999).

1.15 Assembly of VLDL

VLDLs are lipoproteins ranging in size from 30nm to 80nm. They are made up of hydrophobic, neutral lipid (triacyglycerol and cholesterol esters) core which is surrounded by amphiphatic phospholipid and cholesterol monolayer. The major protein component is apolipoprotein B-100 which is found on the surface of VLDL and play a main role in VLDL assembly. ApoB-100 is also important for the structural integrity and the function of VLDL (Ginsberg et al., 2005). Other proteins found on the on the surface of VLDL are apoE and apoC which are exchangeable lipoproteins. ApoE and apoC proteins are structurally similar to the a-helical domains of apoB-100 and because of this, they can change between different lipoproteins (Segrest et al., 2001).

VLDL assembly starts with the translation of the apoB-100 protein which will reach 540kDa in size. The nascent apoB-100 protein fuses with lipid droplets which are rich in triacylglycerol and cholesterol esters in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum and this fusion is fascilitated by microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) (Hussain et al., 2003). Hepatocytes and other cells that produce lipoprotein containing apoB have lipids in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum whereas most cells just contain cytosolic lipid droplets (Murphy and Vance, 1999). Secretion of apoB-100 will be halted as the protein will be highly unstable and degraded by proteosome if there is no MTP-mediated lipid transfer (Avramoglu and Adeli, 2004, Fisher and Ginsberg, 2002). As the apoB emulsion collects more and more neutral lipids, it forms what is known as VLDL-2 (Olofsson and Boren, 2005). Eventually, as more lipids are loaded and the particle matures through the Golgi apparatus, the now VLDL-1 will be the size of a secreted VLDL. Although some apoCI, apoCII, apoCIII, and apoE are present on the developing VLDL as they are secreted from the

hepatocyte, most of these apolipoproteins are probably added in the blood plasma (Ginsberg et al., 2005). The final VLDL are composed of hydrophobic core of triacyglycerol and cholesterol esters, phospholipid coat, free cholesterol, 2 main lipoproteins; apoB-100 and apoE which will the be secreted out by exocytosis (Gibbons et al., 2004).

1.16 Assembly of HCV

Scientists believe that HCV replication and assembly occur within the membranous structures derived from the endoplasmic reticulum in the cytosol of infected cells. The HCV RNA is thought to be assembled together with core, E1, E2, and lipid envelope as a particle without the non-structural proteins although the latter can be found in the infected cells. The infectious form of the virus *in vivo* has not been fully elucidated but is thought to be associated with lipids or lipoproteins.

1.17 HCV interaction with exosomes

Masciopinto (2004) has shown that the HCV envelope proteins were associated with exosomes. Exosomes are small membranous vesicles secreted by the cells upon fusion of multivesicular endosomes with the cell surface membrane (Stahl, 2002). It was shown that in the presence of CD81, HCV envelope proteins were transported through the Golgi apparatus, attained complex sugars and were eventually found associated with exoxomes extracellularly. However, in the absence of CD81, the envelope proteins were retained in the endoplasmic reticulum. It was then suggested that CD81 actually acts as an exit receptor for HCV (Masciopinto, 2004).

1.17.1 Association of HCV proteins with lipid metabolism

There have been reports showing that viral proteins interact with host cell proteins involved in lipid metabolism intracellularly. There are several studies that demonstrate association of HCV core protein with cytoplasmic lipid droplets. In a transfection study, HCV core protein expression causes a build up of lipid droplets in the cytoplasm (Barba et al., 1997, Hope and McLauchlan, 2000, Pietschmann, 2002, Clayton et al., 2002). In an in vivo study, transgenic mice expressing HCV core protein develop steatosis (Moriya, 1997). HCV core protein was shown to localize on the surface of the lipid droplets in a study done using an electron microscopy with immunolabeling (Barba et al., 1997). It has also been shown that there are similarities in the residues 125 until 144 of the HCV core with oleosin proteins that line the surface of lipid bodies in plant cells (Hope, 2002).

In a study using core-apoAII double transgenic mice, the effect of decreasing secretion of liver VLDL-triglycerides and apoB due to HCV core protein expression is abolished (Andre, 2005). ApoAII has been shown to co-localize with core protein in the HepG2 cytoplasm and also in the liver of infected patients (Perlemuter, 2002). In another study, when a region of the HCV core protein is deleted, there is a change in the localization of core protein and the ability to interact with apoAII is lost (Sabile, 1999). HCV core protein inhibits microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP), a protein that stabilizes apoB by lipidation which is an important step in the VLDL production (Andre, 2005).

1.17.2 Association of HCV replication with lipid metabolism Kapadia and Chisari (Huang et al., 2007a) demonstrated that HCV RNA expression of full length SfiI replicon (genotype 1b) in Huh-7 cells increased levels of ATP citrate

lyase and acetyl CoA synthetase genes, both of which are important in cholesterol and fatty acid biosynthesis. They confirmed that cholesterol-biosynthetic pathway regulates HCV RNA replication by controlling the cellular levels of geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate. They showed that saturated (lauric, myristic and palmitic) and monounsaturated (oleic) fatty acids stimulated HCV replication whereas polyunsaturated (arachidonic, eicosapentaenoic, and docosahexaenoic fatty acids (PUFA) inhibited HCV replication by their ability to downregulate lipogenic gene expression.

Several studies have shown that mevalonate pathway, one of the two ways hepatocytes acquire cholesterol, is involved in HCV RNA replication. The other way of acquiring cholesterol is through SR-BI – mediated uptake from HDL but this not as significant in humans as it is in mice (Abe et al., 2007). Ye (Dore et al., 2003) showed that HCV RNA replication is disrupted when host's protein geranylgeranylation is inhibited.



Figure 5: HCV replicates on ER membranes involved in the assembly of VLDL and is secreted together with VLDL.

The assembly of VLDL begins with the synthesis of apoB in the rough ER, resulting in the formation of a VLDL precursor that contains only a small amount of lipid. In the lumen of the ER this precursor is fused with lipid droplets (enriched in triglyceride and cholesterol) to generate the nascent VLDL. This reaction is mediated by MTP. The nascent VLDL particles, which contain both apoB and apoE, are secreted into plasma through exocytosis. The ER membranes involved in the assembly of VLDL are also enriched in HCV NS proteins and RNA. Replication of HCV on these membranes might allow the virus to attach or become incorporated into VLDL so that HCV is secreted together with VLDL. Figure and legend adapted from (Abe et al., 2007).

1.17.3 Association of HCV with low density or very low density lipoproteins

In chronically infected patients, HCV circulates as low-density lipoprotein virus particles (Andre et al., 2002, Nielsen et al., 2006) and that the density profile of the HCV from the infected patients varies depending on the stage of the infection when the samples were obtained (Carabaich et al., 2005, Pumeechockchai et al., 2002). Densities of HCV RNA-containing particles from serum are very heterogenous, ranging from less than 1.06g/mL to 1.30g/mL (Miyamoto et al., 1992, Kanto et al., 1994, Carrick et al., 1992). In a study by Carrick (Carrick et al., 1992), HCV RNA can be found in two fractions <1.03g/cm³ and 1.18-1.21g/cm³ when HCV-infected

plasma fractions were harvested from a sucrose and cesium chloride density gradients. The heterogeneity of the densities are attributed to factors associated with the viral structures, the viral interaction with different kinds of hosts lipoproteins (Thomssen et al., 1993) and the association of the different kinds of anti-HCV antibodies bound to the viral particles (Kanto et al., 1994, Choo, 1995, Hijikata, 1993a, Andre et al., 2002). (Thomssen et al., 1992) revealed following sucrose gradient density centrifugation on viral hepatitis C patients' sera, that the heterogeneity of HCV RNA density could be a result of association of the virus with serum lipoprotein as HCV-RNA banding at density 1.03-1.08 g/cm³ could be completely precipitated with anti- β lipoprotein whereas that found in higher density of 1.12-1.20g/cm³ could only be partially precipitated or not at all. Thomssen et al. (Thomssen et al., 1993) implicated both lipoprotein and immunoglobulin in the density heterogeneity of the HCV-RNAcarrying material from serum by immunoprecipitation studies. In another study, low density (1.03-1.07 g/ml) and not intermediate density (1.12-1.18g/ml) HCV particles bound to LDL receptors of MOLT-4 cells and fibroblasts (Wunschmann et al., 2000). A study by Lindenbach have shown that the J6/JFH HCVcc RNA was found widely distributed throughout the top of the iodixanol density gradient peaking at 1.13g/ml to1.14g/ml but not found beyond 1.18g/ml and the most infectious material containing J6/JFH HCVcc is at the buoyant density of 1.09 to 1.10g/ml whereas RNA containing material at a buoyant density of 1.14g/ml had a low specific infectivity (Lindenbach et al., 2005). In another study by Lindenbach, using the HCVcc system, there is a shift to lower buoyant density associated with increased specific infectivity of HCV grown in vivo (Lindenbach et al., 2006).

50

Andre et al showed that LDL-virus particles from plasma have abundant triglycerides and also contain HCV RNA, core protein, and apolipoproteins B and E (Andre et al., 2002). It has also been shown by Nielsen *et al* that HCV RNA from the serum can be immunoprecipitated with anti-apoB and anti-apoE antibodies and these apolipoproteins are components of VLDL which implicates that these host apolipoproteins are thus part of the circulating HCV particles (Nielsen et al., 2006). Using JFH1 HCVcc and shRNAs specific for apoB, Gastaminza et al demonstrated that reduced apoB expression would inhibit HCV assembly and secretion (Gastaminza et al., 2008).

Nahmias *et al* (Nahmias et al., 2008) demonstrated that silencing apoB messenger RNA in Huh7.5.1 cells infected with JFH1 causes a reduction in the secretion of both apoB-100 and HCV. They also demonstrated that the grapefruit flavonoid naringenin, previously shown to inhibit VLDL secretion, inhibits the MTP activity in infected cells and stimulation with naringenin reduces HCV secretion in infected cells by 80%.

(Andre, 2005) has proposed a model of the association of HCV particle with lipoprotein. The following figure is adapted from his model with some modifications:



Figure 6: Model of LVP molecule. Adapted from (Andre, 2005).

LVP appear as large spherical particles with a diameter of more than 100nm and with internal structures and consist of triglycerides, apolipoprotein B and E, HCV RNA

and core protein (Andre 2002). Delipidation of these particles results in capsid-like structures recognized by anti-HCV core protein antibody (Andre, 2005). Using iodixanol density gradients and gel filtration with Toyopearl, Nielsen et al have shown that serum HCV RNA is associated with particles of VLDL density and size and also by using mass spectrometry and Western blotting, the particles were found to contain apoB, apoE, and apoA1 (Nielsen et al., 2008). In an immunoprecipitation experiment, Nielsen et al. (Nielsen et al., 2006) found that apoB lipoprotein but not apoE remained associated from the HCV after being stripped with deoxycholic acid or NP-40 and that 25% of the particles bind to anti-E2. Despite the heterogeneous density distribution of the HCV RNA in immunocompetent individuals, Nielsen et al suggested that the particles are coated with antibody (Nielsen et al., 2006). The amount of antibody in the VLDL fraction is too great to be accounted for by binding to HCV LVP alone and so either it is an autoantibody to VLDL or if it is anti-HCV, HCV proteins must be present as HCV RNA negative VLDL particles. Another study by (Owen et al., 2009) showed that in the presence of increasing concentrations of HDL, LDL, and β -VLDL, β -VLDL reduced 60% of JFH1 HCVcc infection of Huh7.5 cells. This is followed by moderate reduction by LDL and no reduction by HDL. They also showed that anti-apoE antibody blocks HCV entry and in the analyses of gradient-fractionated HCV, they demonstrate that apoE is associated with HCV virions exhibiting peak infectivity and dependence upon the LDL-R for cell entry.

The genetic diversity of LVP HCV genome population is less compared to the total HCV plasma population (Deforges, 2004). This may indicate that LVP is produced from a site other than the liver. D. Felmlee (unpublished) from our laboratory has

shown that HCV RNA is associated with both apoB48 and apoB100 and that postprandially, there is a surge of apoB48 associated HCV RNA material in the blood before an increase in apoB100 associated HCV RNA.

Taken together, these data indicate that HCV assembly in vivo and cell culture requires apoB and apoE and that the LVP appears to be a hybrid of HCV particle with VLDL/chylomicrons. To examine this further, cell culture where VLDL synthesis is imperfect, does not seem to be an appropriate system to study it.

1.17.4 Association of HCV immune escape variants with lipoproteins

Viral escape from antibody response has been shown to be linked with HCV association with lipoproteins namely LDL and VLDL or the involvement of SR-B1 and HDL. Epitopes targeted by neutralizing antibody may be masked by through the association of HCV particles with lipoproteins allowing escape of antibody-mediated virus neutralization.

HCV has been shown to exist in heterogenous forms in density studies because of its association with VLDL, LDL, and HDL. Agnello (Agnello et al., 1999) showed that HCV particle complexes with VLDL or LDL but not HDL when it is endocytosed via the LDL receptor. HCV was immunoprecipitated from low infectivity samples found in the high density fractions but not from high infectivity samples found in low density fraction showing that HCV is complexed with anti-HCV antibodies in low density HCV complexes (Hijikata et al., 1993b). This study provides an indirect link that anti-HCV antibodies block HCV particles from associating with low density materials or the low density materials is protecting the virus particles from the anti-

HCV antibodies. Andre (Andre et al., 2002) found that binding of HCV lipo-viroparticles (LVP) was competed out by VLDL and LDL, blocked by antiapolipoproteins B and E antibodies, and its endocytosis increased with the increase of the LDL receptors suggesting that the endogenous lipoproteins mediates the LVP infectivity providing an escape mechanism from the antibody-mediated immune response. An immunoprecipitation study by Nielsen (Nielsen et al., 2006) on the VLDL and LDL fractions of an iodixanol gradient from an HCV-infected CVID patient sample showed 25.0%, 91.8%, and 95.0% of the HCV sample being precipitated by anti-E2, anti-apoB, and and anti-apoE antibodies respectively.

Bartosch (Bartosch et al., 2005) on the contrary showed that HCVpp's interaction with HDL or human serum but not LDL allows for the protection of HCVpp from neutralizing antibodies (monoclonal antibodies and antibodies from the patients' sera) and together with HVR1's role facilitate the enhancement of cell entry and provide protection to the virus particles from the neutralizing antibodies. The mechanism of protection lies in the HDLs' ability to reduced HCVpp neutralization by hastening HCVpp entry via the lipid-transfer property of SR-B1 (Voisset et al., 2006). A study made by Grove *et al* (Grove et al., 2008) using JFH1 G451R cell culture-adapted mutants demonstrated that low density HCV particles are more resistant to antibody neutralization implicating that lipoproteins allows evasion of the virus particles from the host immune responses.

1.18 Aims of the study

There is evidence that *in vivo* LVP may enter hepatocytes by a viral glycoprotein independent route following binding of apoB100 to the LDLr. Investigations of this

phenomenon have been limited because of limitations to the supply of serum LVP and the effect of antibodies on these is unknown. S6b liver derived LVP (LLVP) is antibody-free and plentiful. Martin (Martin, 2005) had shown that treatment to raise LDLr increases binding of LLVP to HepG2 cells and that binding could be blocked with excess LDL. This suggests that LLVP binds in a similar way to LDL or VLDL via apoB or apoE binding to LDLr. To further test this hypothesis, I sought to confirm these results and extend them by testing the effect of anti-apolipoprotein antibodies on binding.

Studies in cell culture systems indicate that HCV may also bind via HCV E2 / SR-B1 interactions. To investigate the contribution of this interaction to LLVP binding, I sought to measure levels of SR-B1 expression in insulin treated cell and to assess the ability of anti-glycoprotein antibodies to block binding. These studies revealed the deficiencies of studying binding in a non-infectious system. I therefore sought to establish a source of infectious LVP. Initially, the possibility of establishing replication of the S6 virus in primary human hepatocytes was explored. Subsequently, the J6/JFH1 / Huh7.5 system was established. As VLDL production in Huh7.5 cells in normal medium is minimal, it is expected that LVP production will also be restricted. The possibility of increasing VLDL and LVP production by adding fatty acids to the medium was explored and the resulting virus was compared by density and size with serum-derived HCV LVP. Unfortunately, time limitations precluded binding studies with the putative LVP produced in cell culture.
Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals

Unless otherwise stated, chemicals were purchased from BDH Ltd. (Poole, Dorset)

2.2 Cell culture

2.2.1 Growth medium for HepG2 and Vero cell lines

Eagles Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) (Gibco BRL, Paisley, UK) 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA) (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) 1% 200mM glutamine (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium)

1% 10,000 units/ml penicillin and 10,000 units/ml streptomycin solution (PAA Laboratories GmbH, Haidmannweg, Pasching, Austria)

5% gassed 4.4% Sodium bicarbonate + 0.4% phenol red (Gibco BRL, Paisley, UK) 10% fetal calf serum (PAA Laboratories GmbH, Haidmannweg, Pasching, Austria)

2.2.2 Growth medium for Huh7 and Huh7.5 cell lines

Dulbeccos Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (PAA Laboratories GmbH, Haidmannweg, Pasching, Austria) 1% 100mM sodium pyruvate (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium)

1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA) (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium)

1% 200mM glutamine (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium)

1% 10,000 units/ml penicillin and 10,000 units/ml streptomycin solution (PAA Laboratories GmbH, Haidmannweg, Pasching, Austria)

10% fetal calf serum (PAA Laboratories GmbH, Haidmannweg, Pasching, Austria)

2.2.3 PBS solution

PBS (one tablet (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire) 100mls distilled water Autoclaved at 15 lbs for 15 minutes

2.2.4 EDTA/Trypsin

PBS solution 0.86mM ethylene-diamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) (0.25g/L) Autoclaved at 15 lbs for 15 minutes 0.025% trypsin (Gibco BRL, Paisley, UK)

2.2.5 Cell lines

The HepG2 cell line was purchased from ATCC, Manassas, USA.

The Vero cell line was obtained from Clinical Virology Unit, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne, Tyne and Wear.

Huh7 cell line was obtained from Institut National de la Sante et de la Recherche Medicale, Lyon, France.

Huh7.5 cell line has been kindly supplied by Prof. J. McKeating from the University of Birmingham, U.K.

Cells were cultured in plastic tissue culture flasks (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 5% CO₂ at 37°C. For sub-culture the cells were washed with 5ml PBS followed by 5ml of EDTA/Trypsin incubated at 37°C for 5-10 minutes. The flask was shaken vigorously to detach the cells which were resuspended in 5ml of the appropriate growth medium and pipetted vigorously a few times to break up the clumps. 1ml of the cell suspension was seeded into 9ml fresh growth medium in a new 25 cm^3 flask.

2.3 Cryopreservation of cells

For storage of cells in liquid nitrogen, cells grown to confluence from a T₇₅ flask (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) were stripped with EDTA and trypsin and resuspended in 10ml medium. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 180g for 10 minutes after which the supernatant was discarded. The cells were suspended in 4ml foetal calf serum containing 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset). The cell suspension was heat-sealed in a 1ml cryotube (Nalgene, Rochester, USA) and frozen down in a cryo l^oC freezing container (Nalgene, Rochester, U.S.A) at -80^oC overnight before transfer into liquid nitrogen.

2.4 Preparation and culture of primary hepatocytes

Primary hepatocytes were kindly supplied by Clare Selden from UCL Centre for Hepatology, Royal Free and University College Medical School, London. These were prepared according to the method originally described by Berry and Friend (Berry and Friend, 1969), modification by Hewes *et al* (Hewes et al., 2006) and carried out by (Selden et al., 2007).

A piece of human liver was cut out from tumor-free region from a secondary liver tumors that had been surgically removed from a patient with fully informed consent and local research ethics approval. The flushing was done with University of Wisconsin solution through available veins via cannulae insertion. The liver was then perfused with 0.5mM EGTA/PBS/20mM HEPES buffer at 37°C for 30 minutes and 20mM HEPES- buffered PBS, pH 7.4 for a further 20 minutes. The liver was digested with 150mg collegenase type IV and 30mg DNAse I, 300ml digestion buffer (HBSS-Ca⁺ containing 0.5% albumin, 50µg/ml ascorbic acid, 100IU insulin followed by 20-30 minutes perfusion with 20mM HEPES. The liver capsule was disrupted with scalpel and shaken gently to release the hepatocytes in an ice-cold dispersal buffer (Williams medium containing 10% FBS, 50mg DNAse I. The hepatocyte suspension was centrifuged at 400rpm (240g) for 6min at 4°C and resuspended in dispersal buffer. The washes were repeated three times and the pellet was eventually resuspended in serum-free Williams E medium.

Cells were counted using haemocytometer and viability checked after staining the cells with trypan blue. The cells were plated at 2×10^5 cells/cm² on 6-well-collagen I coated-plates in 4ml Williams E medium supplemented with 10% FCS, Pen/Strep,

Fungizone, insulin 10^{-8} M and incubated at 37°C in a humidified incubator at 5% CO₂.

2.5 Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LLVP' from liver macerate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes

For HepG2 cells, 0.7×10^6 HepG2 cells per well of a six-well plate were seeded in 4ml EMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 2 days. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS and cultured in 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium for another 3 days. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS and inoculated with 1.1 X 10⁷ IU S6b LLVP in 800µl labelling medium (8.5% LPDS and serum free medium) and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C shaking every half an hour. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS, grown in 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium and the medium was harvested from the well for RNA extraction at 2/3 day intervals for a 7-day period. This was repeated two more times on day 5 and day 7 post-inoculation.

For Huh7.5 cells, 1 X 10^5 Huh7.5 cells per well of a six-well plate were seeded in 4ml DMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 2 days. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS and cultured in 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium for another 3 days. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS and inoculated with 1.1 X 10^7 IU S6b LLVP in 800µl labelling medium (8.5% LPDS and serum free medium) and incubated for 3 hours at 37° C shaking every half an hour. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS, grown in DMEM growth medium with 10% FCS, 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium or Williams E (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) growth medium with 10% FCS and the medium was harvested from

the well for RNA extraction at 2 day intervals for a 6-day period. This was repeated two more times on day 4 and day 6 post-inoculation.

For primary hepatocytes, 2×10^5 cells/cm² of primary hepatocytes were seeded on 6well-collagen I coated-plates in 4ml Williams E medium (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) supplemented with 10% FCS, Pen/Strep, Fungizone, insulin 10⁻⁸ M and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ overnight. The cells were washed once with 4ml warm PBS and cultured in 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin MEM (Gibco, Paisley, UK) medium for another day. The cells were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS and inoculated with 3 X 10⁶ IU S6b LLVP in 800µl labelling medium (8.5% LPDS and serum free medium) and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C shaking every half an hour. The primary hepatocytes were washed twice with 4ml warm PBS, grown in two types of medium – Williams E growth medium with 10% FCS or 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin MEM medium with or without 10µg/ml recombinant human growth factor (Chemicon International, Temecula, USA) added to each medium and the medium was harvested from the well for RNA extraction at 2 day intervals for a 6-day period. This was repeated two more times on day 4 and day 6 post-inoculation.

Samples were extracted for HCV RNA using QIAamp viral RNA mini kit (Qiagen, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions. The viral RNA was stored at -20°C or -70°C. On a different day the RNA was titrated by quantitative RT-PCR as described in sections 2.28 and 2.29.

61

2.6 Preparation of lipoprotein deficient serum

Lipoprotein deficient serum (LPDS) was prepared following the method of Bierman and Albers (1977). 109g of inactivated foetal calf serum (Invitrogen, Paisley) was thawed out and centrifuged at 1610g for 10min to remove debris. 400µl of 0.5M EDTA, 200µl of 20% NaN₃, 400µl of 30mg/ml phenylmethylsulphonyl-flouride [PMSF] (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) and 41.8g of KBr were added to the foetal calf serum to achieve a density of 1.24g/ml.

The mixture was dissolved on a Sucroagitator (Boots-Celltech Diagnostics Limited, Slough) and 10ml was aliquoted into twelve tubes. The solution was then centrifuged at 50,000rpm for 24hrs at 4°C in a Ti50 rotor, acceleration 8, deceleration 0 in a Beckman L8-70 ultracentrifuge. The yellowish, top layer containing the lipoproteins was removed while the bottom layer containing the LPDS was pooled into a 12-14 kDa MWCO dialysis tubing (Medicell International Ltd, Liverpool) and dialysed three times in 4L dialysis buffer pH 7.2 containing 80ml 0.5M phosphate buffer (0.28M Na₂HPO₄ and 0.21M NaH₂PO₄.H₂O and 36g NaCl at 4°C. The LPDS was heat inactivated at 56°C for 30minutes and filter sterilized with a 0.22µm polyethersulfone (PES) 500ml bottle top filter (Corning) and stored at -20°C.

2.7 Preparation of low density lipoprotein by sequential floatation ultracentrifugation from blood plasma

Low density lipoprotein (LDL) was prepared by a modification of the method of Stephan (1993).

480ul of 0.5M EDTA, which acts as anticoagulant, was added to 30ml of human blood and these were well mixed. The mixture was incubated at 4°C for 1 hour and

centrifuged at 2862g, 30min, 4°C to separate red blood cells and buffy coat from plasma. 45 ul of 0.5M EDTA, 23ul of 20% NaN3 and 45ul of 30mg/ml PMSF (Sigma) stock were added to 10ml of the plasma. The plasma was centrifuged at 50,000rpm 18-24hrs at 10°C in a thick-wall polycarbonate tube in a Ti50 rotor in a Beckman L8-70 ultracentrifuge. The whitish, opaque, top layer consisting of chylomicrons and very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) with a density of less than 1.006g/ml together with one-third of the plasma was removed. The pellet was resuspended in the bottom 2/3 plasma layer and the suspension density (ρ) adjusted with 1.132g/ml solution of potassium bromide (KBr) to reach a density of 1.019g/ml confirmed by measuring both weight and volume. The mixture was distributed between Ti50 tubes and centrifuged under the same condition as the above. One-third of the mixture's top layer consisting of an intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) with a density of greater than 1.006g/ml but less than 1.019g/ml was removed. The remaining volume was adjusted to a density of 1.063g/ml with 1.218g/ml KBr solution. The solution was again distributed between Ti50 centrifuge tubes and spun again under the condition described above. The yellowish top layer consisting of low density lipoproteins (LDL) with a density of greater than 1.019g/ml but less than 1.063g/ml was removed and pooled. The LDL was dialysed three times at 4°C for 4 hours in dialysis buffer consisting of PBS + 1mM EDTA. The protein concentration was determined using a Biorad protein assay kit. The LDL was preserved by adding sucrose to a final concentration of 10% sucrose using a 50% sucrose stock solution. The LDL and sucrose solution was filter sterilized using a 0.45µm filter (Scientific Laboratory Supplies, North Shields, Tyne and Wear) and stored at -80°C.

2.8 Preparation of oxidized low density lipoprotein (Low Aggregation Procedure)

Oxidized LDL (oxLDL) was prepared by the method of (Lopes-Virella et al., 2000) and modified to reduce protein aggregation Hoff (1993). 10mg LDL in a dialysis membrane was dialysed three times in 2L of dialysis buffer, pH 7.4 containing 12.5mM tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane (Tris) and 140mM NaCl at 4°C for 4 hours (each dialysis) in an aluminium foil-wrapped container for protection against light. The LDL was then dialysed for the fourth time in 3L dialysis buffer (12.5mM Tris, 140mM NaCl and 23.8mM sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃)) oxygenated by bubbling 95% oxygen gas for 10 minutes at 4°C for 4 hours .

A stock solution for oxidation was prepared by adding 25μ l of 10mM CuCl₂ to 20ml LDL solution making a final concentration of LDL to 0.5mg/ml in a dialysis membrane and placed in 3L oxygenated dialysis buffer containing 0.0125mM CuCl₂ in a 21° C waterbath. 10ml of the dialysis buffer containing the CuCl₂ was set aside to be used as a reference solution.

500µl of the stock solution was transferred to a 15ml Falcon tube containing 4.5ml reference solution, and referred to as sample oxidation. The sample oxidation was used for OD_{234} and fluorescence measurements and it will be incubated under the same condition as the remaining stock solution to be oxidized. The remaining stock solution and sample oxidation were placed in a 21°C waterbath and were protected from light during the course of the preparation. OD_{234} and fluorescence (excitation 360nm, emission 430nm) readings of the sample oxidation were taken at 0hr, 0.5hrs, 1hr, 2hrs and 24hrs to assess the degree of Cu^{2+} -induced oxidation.

After the oxidation process, LDL stock solution was dialysed in the dark three times against PBS containing 1mM EDTA to remove Cu^{2+} as further oxidation was no longer needed. The volume of oxLDL solution was measured after dialysis to determine the LDL concentration. The oxLDL was then filter sterilized using a 0.45µm filter (Scientific Laboratory Supplies, North Shields, Tyne and Wear) and warmed to 37 °C for labelling.

2.9 Dil labelling of oxidized LDL

LDL was labelled with dioctadecylindocarbocyanine (DiI) by the method of Arnold *et al.* (Arnold, 1992).

10µl of $30\mu g/\mu l$ DiI (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) stock solution in DMSO (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) was added to 1mg of oxLDL. The mixture is incubated at 37° C for 24 hours on a DynaI sample mixer (Invitrogen) and made up to 27ml with PBS containing 1mM EDTA. 2.25g KBr was added to the DiI-oxLDL mixture to adjust the density of the solution to 1.063g/ml which was then distributed into three thick-walled Ti50 tubes and centrifuged at 4°C for 18-24hrs in the Ti50 rotor at 50,000rpm. The pink, top layer of oxidized LDL labelled with DiI was harvested and dialysed three times in the dark against 2L of dialysis buffer (PBS containing 1mM EDTA) at 4°C. The protein concentration was determined by the method of Bradford (Bradford, 1976) with a protein assay kit (Biorad, Hertfordshire). The volume was adjusted so that the protein concentration was 0.5µg/µl. The DiI-oxLDL was then filter sterilized with a 0.45µm filter and a ¼ volume of 50% sucrose was added to make a final concentration of 10% sucrose and a final protein concentration of 0.4µg/µl. The DiI-

oxLDL was stored in small aliquots at -80°C. When the DiI-oxLDL is used, it is first thawed and then centrifuged at 10,000g for 5min to reduce aggregation.

2.10 Iodixanol gradient preparation of HCV liver derived lipoviroparticles (LLVP)

Liver macerate was prepared from liver S6b by Nielsen (Nielsen et al., 2004) and stored in -80°C. 2.5ml of thawed liver macerate was layered onto each of the seven Ti50 tubes containing 4.2ml 60% iodixanol (Axis-Shield, Bridport, Dorset), 100µl of 0.5M EDTA (BDH) pH 8.0, and 3.3ml of 0.25M sucrose (BDH) on ice. All work dealing with the liver macerate was done in a category III laboratory. The samples were centrifuged at 50 000rpm for 24hrs at 4°C with no brake in a Ti50 rotor of Beckman L8-70 ultracentrifuge. After centrifugation, 500µl of the gradient fractions was harvested sequentially starting from the top. The density in the form of sucrose percentage of each fraction was measured in a refractometer (Atago, Tokyo, Japan). The sucrose percentage was converted to g/ml and fractions with a density of less than 1.067g/ml were pooled, the volume measured and concentrated using a 20ml Vivaspin ultrafiltration spin column (Vivascience, Hannover, Germany) with a molecular weight cut off (MWCO) 1,000,000. These were centrifuged at 2146g at room temperature until 1.4ml was left. Aliquots (100µl) of the concentrated samples were made and were stored at -80°C.

2.11 LLVP uptake assay

Labelling medium 1.275ml Heat-inactivated LPDS 13.725ml Serum free medium Serum free medium (HepG2) 90ml Sterile dH₂O 10ml 10X Eagles Minimum Essential Medium (GIBCO) 1ml Penicillin/Streptomycin (GIBCO) 1ml 200mM L-Glutamine (GIBCO) 1ml Non-essential amino acid (NEAA) 5ml Gassed 4.4% Sodium bicarbonate + 0.4% phenol red

<u>LPDS</u> + Insulin medium 54.9ml Serum free medium (Growth medium with no FCS) 5.1ml LPDS (lipoprotein deficient serum) 60µl Insulin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)

On day 0, HepG2 cells were seeded at a density of 0.7×10^6 cells per well in a 6-wellplate (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 4ml per well EMEM medium and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 2, the attached cells were washed twice with 4ml warm sterile PBS before addition of 4ml warm growth medium, LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium (to up-regulate LDL receptor) and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 5, the cells were washed twice with 5ml warm PBS before addition of 800µl/well pH equilibrated labelling medium, made up of serum free medium containing 8.5% LPDS and the appropriate amount of 3µl HCV LLVP with or without 20µg/ml normal rabbit IgG or 20µg/ml polyclonal rabbit antiapoB100, a combination of 20µg/ml anti-apoB-100 and 50µg/ml anti-apoE antibodies, or a combination of 20µg/ml anti-apoB-100 and 100µg/ml anti-apoE antibodies, and pre-incubated for 30 minutes in 5% CO₂ incubator. HCV LLVP was thawed and centrifuged at 10,000g for 12 seconds before use. The plates were incubated for 3 hours at 37°C in CO₂ incubator and shaken at every 30 minutes interval. After 3 hours the cells were prepared for RNA extraction for real-time PCR.

2.12 Aggregation test for LLVP

800µl of LPDS labelling medium incubated at 37°C overnight in CO₂ incubator was mixed with 3µl of LLVP and 20µg/ml of apoB100 antibody (Dako) or normal rabbit IgG and incubated for 3 hours in 37°C CO₂ incubator. The samples were centrifuged at 3000g for 40min. The supernatant was removed from each Eppendorf tube leaving behind 30µl, transferred to a new tube and stored at 4°C. 600µl of ice-cold, sterile PBS was added to the 30µl pellet fraction and the tube inverted a few times to mix before centrifuging at 16000g for 5 min and removing the supernatant and leaving about 30µl at the bottom of the tube. The wash step was repeated before proceeding to the RNA extraction step using QIAamp kit (Qiagen).

140µl from each of the two tubes with supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube, 560µl of AVL lysis solution (QIAamp kit, Qiagen) was added, and the remaining RNA extraction steps were according to the manufacturer's instructions.

560μl of AVL lysis solution from the Qiaamp kit (Qiagen) was added to each of the two 30μl pellet fractions, 110μl DEPC water was added to each sample, and vortexed. The remaining RNA extraction steps were according to the manufacturer's instructions.

All RNA samples were eluted in 100µl volume. The samples were diluted 1 in 15 in DEPC water with carrier RNA for real-time PCR. The supernatant value from the real time PCR was corrected for the amount of HCV RNA found in the total supernatant (800µl) initially.

2.13 Dil-LDL/Dil-oxLDL uptake assay

LPDS + Insulin medium

54.9ml Serum free medium (Growth medium with no FCS)5.1ml LPDS (lipoprotein deficient serum)60µl Insulin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)

2mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution 5mg Hydroxycholesterol 2.5ml100% ethanol

<u>1mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution</u> 1ml 2mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution 1ml 100% ethanol Stored in -80°C

2.5 µg/ml Hydroxycholesterol medium

25μl 1mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution 10ml HepG2 growth medium Mixed very well to ensure hydroxycholesterol is in solution and incubated in HepG2 growth medium in 37°C CO₂ incubator one day before use.

On day 0, HepG2 cells were seeded at a density of 0.7×10^6 cells per well in a 6-wellplate (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 4ml per well EMEM medium and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 2 (day 3 for hydroxycholesterol [25-OH] treatment), the attached cells were washed twice with 4ml warm sterile PBS before addition of 4ml warm growth medium, LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium (to up-regulate LDL receptor) or growth medium + hydroxycholesterol [25-OH] (to down-regulate LDL receptor) and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 5, the cells were washed twice with 5ml warm PBS before addition of 1ml/well pH equilibrated labelling medium, made up of serum free medium containing 8.5% LPDS and 25ul DiI-LDL (10µg/well) or 35ul DiI-oxLDL (14µg/well). The plates were wrapped in aluminium foil and incubated for 3 hours at

69

37°C in CO₂ incubator. The plates were shaken at every 30 minutes interval and after

3 hours the cells were prepared for FACS analysis.

2.14 Dil-LDL/Dil-oxLDL and/or LLVP uptake assay

<u>LPDS</u> + Insulin medium 54.9ml Serum free medium (Growth medium with no FCS) 5.1ml LPDS (lipoprotein deficient serum) 60µl Insulin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)

Labelling medium 1.275ml Heat-inactivated LPDS 13.725ml Serum free medium

Serum free medium (HepG2) 90ml Sterile dH₂O 10ml 10X Eagles Minimum Essential Medium (GIBCO) 1ml Penicillin/Streptomycin (GIBCO) 1ml 200mM L-Glutamine (GIBCO) 1ml Non-essential amino acid (NEAA) 5ml Gassed 4.4% Sodium bicarbonate + 0.4% phenol red

2mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution 5mg Hydroxycholesterol 2.5ml100% ethanol

<u>1mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution</u> 1ml 2mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution 1ml 100% ethanol Stored in -80°C

2.5 μg/ml Hydroxycholesterol medium
25μl 1mg/ml Hydroxycholesterol solution
10ml HepG2 growth medium
Mixed very well to ensure hydroxycholesterol is in solution and incubated in HepG2 growth medium in 37°C CO₂ incubator one day before use.

On day 0, HepG2 cells were seeded at a density of $0.7X10^6$ cells per well in a 6-wellplate (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 4ml per well EMEM medium and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 2 (day 3 for hydroxycholesterol [25-OH] treatment), the attached cells were washed twice with 4ml warm sterile PBS before addition of 4ml warm growth medium, LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium (to up-regulate LDL receptor) or growth medium + hydroxycholesterol [25-OH] (to down-regulate LDL receptor) and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 5, the cells were washed twice with 5ml warm PBS before addition of 1ml/well (800µl/well for LLVP) pH equilibrated labelling medium, made up of serum free medium containing 8.5% LPDS and the appropriate amount of DiI-LDL/DiI-oxLDL [25ul DiI-LDL (10µg/well) or 35ul DiI-oxLDL (14µg/well)] alone or HCV LLVP with or without 20µg/ml normal rabbit IgG or 20µg/ml polyclonal rabbit antiapoB100 antibodies, and pre-incubated for 30 minutes in 5% CO₂ incubator. HCV LLVP was thawed and centrifuged at 10,000g for 12 seconds before use. The plates were wrapped in aluminium foil (for DiI-LDL/DiI-oxLDL assay) and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C in CO₂ incubator. The plates were shaken at every 30 minutes interval and after 3 hours the cells were prepared for FACS analysis or RNA extraction for real-time PCR.

2.15 Preparation of cells for fluorescence activated cells sorting (FACS) analysis

PBS + 0.5% BSA / Wash solution 200ml PBS 1g BSA (BDH, Poole, Dorset)

<u>Trypsin + EDTA solution</u> 58.5ml PBS 642µl 100mM EDTA 1200µl 2.5% Trypsin (Gibco BRL, Paisley, UK)

FACS rinse buffer 200ml PBS 2g BSA

BSA was added on the day of FACS

The plate of cells inoculated with DiI labelled lipoproteins described in section 2.13 were placed on ice and washed once with 5ml PBS containing 0.5% BSA per well. 1ml of 10mg/ml suramine (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) was then added to each well and the incubated at 4°C for 30minutes to remove surface bound lipoprotein. The cells were washed once with 5ml PBS + 0.5% BSA on ice and then removed from the ice before adding 5ml of warm (37°C) Trypsin + EDTA solution containing PBS, 100mM EDTA and 2.5% Trypsin to dissociate the cells from the well. Approximately 4ml of the solution was removed immediately and the plates were incubated at 37°C for 10 minute. The action of trypsin was stopped by adding 2ml of EMEM growth medium to each well. The cells were pipetted vigorously using a Pasteur pipette to break them up into single cell suspension and then topped up with 3ml of EMEM growth medium before filtering them through 11um filter (Millipore, Watford) into a 14ml Falcon tube. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1500rpm for 10min and brake set at 1 in MSE 1000 centrifuge at room temperature. After removing the supernatant, the cell pellet was resuspended in 1500ul freshly prepared FACS rinse buffer, transferred into a 12x75mm, 5ml polystyrene, round bottom FACS tube (Becton Dickinson, Devon), and stored on ice, ready for FACS analysis. In each sample, 10,000 cells were analysed on the FACScan, (Becton Dickinson, Devon) using detectors FSC, voltage E-1 and FL-2, voltage 474 and Cell Quest Pro software where cells are sorted according to the light scattering and fluorescent characteristics of each cell, in this case the cells labelled with DiI, and translated into mean fluorescent intensity. The figure 7 below shows an example of the FACS analysis. From the dot plot (figure 7A) a single cell population (gated) was selected and the fluorescence intensity distribution, expressed in logarithmic scale, of this cell population is shown in figure 7B.



Figure 7: A. Dot plot and B. histogram of the population of HepG2 cells used to analyse entry of DiI-LDL.

FSC-H shows the size and SSC-H shows the granularity of 10,000 cells out of the sample. FL2-H shows the fluorescence intensity distribution across the sample of gated cells.

2.16 Propidium iodide staining for FACS analysis

<u>1mg/ml propidium iodide solution</u> 1mg Propidium iodide (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 1ml distilled water To determine the percentage cell death for cells treated with oleic acid, 30µl of 1mg/ml propidium iodide (Sigma, Dorset) was added to the cell suspension immediately before FACS analysis. In each sample, 10,000 cells were analysed on the FACScan, (Becton Dickinson, Devon) using detectors FSC, E-1 and FL-2, voltage 474 and Cell Quest Pro software where cells are sorted according to the light scattering and fluorescent characteristics of each cell, in this case the cells taking up propidium iodide, and expressed in percentage of dead cells. The figure 8 below shows an example of the FACS analysis. From the dot plot (figure 8A) a single cell population (gated) was selected and the fluorescence intensity distribution, expressed in logarithmic scale, of this cell population is shown in figure 8B.



Figure 8: A. Dot plot and B. histogram of the population of HepG2 cells used to analyse cells taking up propidium iodide.

FSC-H shows the size and SSC-H shows the granularity of 10,000 cells out of the sample. FL2-H shows the fluorescence intensity distribution across the sample of cells. M1 shows fluorescence intensity distribution of the gated cell population taking up the propidium iodide.

2.17 Antibodies

Antibodies were used in various experimental procedures in this project. The

antibodies used are summarised in Table 2.

Antibody	Isotype	Source	Other information		
Anti-SR-B1	n/a	Novus Biologicals,	-purified rabbit polyclonal		
NB 400-104		Inc.	antibody against the human and		
			mouse SR-B1 receptor		
			- recognizes an epitope in the C-		
			terminal intracellular domain of		
			the SR-B1 receptor		
Anti-LDLr	IgG2b	Santa Cruz	-mouse monoclonal antibody		
C7		Biotechnology,	-binds to the N-terminus of the		
		California, U.S.A	LDL-R, an extracellular domain		
Anti-LDLr	IgG	Progen Biotechnik,	-affinity purified rabbit		
61099		Germany (UK	polyclonal, monospecific		
		distributor: Insight	- specific for the human LDLr		
		Biotechnology)	extracellular domain		
Anti-apoB-100	n/a	DAKO, Ely, UK	-polyclonal rabbit antibody		
			against human apoB-100		
Anti-apoE	n/a	DAKO, Ely, UK	-purified rabbit immunoglobulin		
			against human apoE		
anti-E2 HCV	n/a	Biodesign, Maine	-goat antibody against HCV E2		
B65581G					
anti-HVR-1	IgG1	M.U. Mondelli,	-HCV E2 mouse monoclonal		
3C7-C3		Pavia, Italy	antibody		
		(Cerino et al., 2001)			
Anti-HCV E2	n/a	A. Patel, Glasgow,	-HCV E2 mouse monoclonal		
AP33		UK	antibody		
		(Clayton et al., 2002)			
Anti-HCV core	n/a	Biogenesis, Poole,	-HCV core protein mouse		
 ф126		UK	monoclonal antibody		
Normal Rabbit	IgG	Dako	-purified rabbit polyclonal		
Immunoglobulin		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	antibody		
Normal Goat	n/a	Sigma, Poole, UK	-goat antibody		
Immunoglobulin					
Anti-RSV-P	IgG1	E. Routledge, UK	-mouse monoclonal antibody		
2G 12 ₂		(Routledge et al.,	against phosphoprotein		
		1985)			
Swine anti	n/a	Dako	-swine antibody		
rabbit IgG-					
FIIC	,	<u> </u>	1		
Sheep anti	n/a	Chemicon	-sheep antibody		
mouse IgG-					
FIIC		Data			
rabbit anti-	n/a	Dako	-raddit antibody		
mouse IgG-					
FIIC					

 Table 2: Antibodies used throughout the project

2.18 Confocal microscopy

 0.6×10^6 cells were seeded in a 60mm x 15mm Petri dish (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 6ml EMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator for two days. The cells were washed with 5ml PBS twice, 6ml LPDS + insulin medium per dish was added before further incubation of 3 more days. The labelling medium was equilibrated in 5% CO₂ incubator a day prior to the experiment.

For 0°C treatment, the Petri dishes were incubated for 30 minutes on ice in a refrigerator to cool the cells. The Petri dishes were washed twice with 5 ml of ice-cold PBS containing 0.5 % BSA per dish. The PBS containing 0.5 % BSA was removed and 2.5ml of ice-cold labelling medium containing either 10µg/ml of DiI-LDL or 2.5ml of ice-cold labelling medium containing 14µg/ml of DiI-oxLDL or 2.5ml of ice-cold labelling medium without DiI was added. The Petri dishes were shaken to distribute the medium and wrapped in aluminium foil. Then they were incubated in refrigerator sitting on ice for 3 hours. The dishes were shaken every half an hour interval.

After 3 hours incubation, the medium was removed and washed with 5ml of ice-cold PBS containing 0.5 % BSA. If the cells were to be washed with suramine, 2ml of 10mg/ml suramine solution per dish was added and incubated for 30 minutes in the refrigerator. The wash step was repeated using 5ml ice-cold PBS containing 0.5 % BSA. 4ml ice-cold EMEM growth medium with 10 % FCS was then added. These dishes were stored in the refrigerator sitting on ice inside a lunchbox wrapped in aluminium foil until they could be viewed by confocal microscopy.

For 37°C treatment, the medium was removed and the Petri dishes were washed twice with 5 ml of warm (37°C) PBS containing 0.5 % BSA per dish. The wash buffer was removed and 2.5ml of warm (37°C) labelling medium containing either 10 μ g/ml of DiI-LDL or 2.5ml of warm labelling medium containing 14 μ g/ml of DiI-oxLDL or 2.5ml of warm labelling medium without DiI control was added. The Petri dishes were shaken to distribute the medium and wrapped in aluminium foil. Then they were incubated in 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator for 3 hours. The dishes were shaken every half an hour interval. After 3 hours incubation, the steps involved were the same as for the 0°C treatment of the cells.

The cells were analysed on a Leica TCS SP2 UV CLSM microscope (Leica Microsystems, Heidelberg, Germany) using excitation wavelength of 488nm and emission wavelength of 550-600nm. Leica Confocal Software Lite was used to analyse the images.

2.19 FITC-Staining of HepG2 cells for FACS

<u>Versene</u> 59.358ml PBS 642µl 100mM EDTA

<u>FACS rinse buffer</u> 1 g Bovine Serum Albumin (BDH) 100 ml PBS 0.5 ml 20 % NaN ₃ Filtered through 0.22 μm filter. Stored at 4 °C for up to 1 week.

0.1% Saponin in PBS
100 mg Saponin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)
100 ml PBS
Dissolved by magnetic stirring; prepared day before experiment.

FACS diluent with sheep serum

95 ml FACS rinse buffer 5 ml normal sheep serum (Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri) Serum was heat inactivated at 56 °C for 45 min. Filtered through 0.22 µm filter Stored at 4 °C for up to 1 week

0.1% Saponin in FACS diluent containing sheep serum
50 mg Saponin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)
50 ml FACS diluent with sheep serum (0.22 µm filtered)
Dissolved by magnetic stirring; prepared day before experiment.

<u>FACS diluent with swine serum</u>
95 ml FACS rinse buffer
5 ml normal swine serum (Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri)
Serum was heat inactivated at 56 °C for 45 min.
Filtered through 0.22 μm filter.
Stored at 4 °C for up to 1 week.

0.1% Saponin in FACS diluent containing swine serum 50 mg Saponin (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)

50 ml FACS diluent with swine serum (0.22 μm filtered) Dissolved by magnetic stirring; prepared day before experiment.

On day 0, $0.7X10^{6}$ HepG2 cells/well were plated into each well of a 6-well-plate (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 4ml EMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator for two days. On day 2 (day 3 for 25-OH), the cells were washed with 4ml PBS twice, 4ml 8.5% LPDS + (0.1%) insulin or growth medium + 25-OH per dish was added before further incubation of 2/3 more days. On day 5, the cells were washed once with PBS, washed once with 5ml versene before adding 4ml of fresh warm versene. The plate was incubated at 37°C in an incubator for 20 minutes before pipetting off the versene. HepG2 growth medium (2ml) was added to each well, cells were pipetted vigorously using Pasteur pipette until a single cell suspension was obtained, 2ml FACS rinse buffer was added to each well, and the cell suspension was pooled into a beaker.

The pooled cell suspension was filtered through an 11 μ m filter (Millipore, Watford) into a 50 ml Falcon tube, centrifuged at 402g (1500rpm) for 5 min at +4 °C in a swing out rotor (cat. 34121-613) Chilspin 2 centrifuge (M.S.E., UK), the supernatant removed, and cells resuspended in 4ml PBS. The cells were counted and the volume of cell suspension needed for the staining experiment was calculated. The number of cells needed per well was 2 x 10 ⁵ cells/well of a 96-well-plate. The cell suspension was adjusted to 2 x 10 ⁶ cells/ml by adding PBS, added with an equal volume of 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma) (room temperature), incubated for 30min at room temperature, centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C, washed twice in 20ml PBS, split into 2 Falcon tubes equally, and centrifuged at 1500rpm for 5 min at 4 °C in an tabletop centrifuge before removing the supernatant. The cell pellet was added with PBS containing 0.1% Saponin (Sigma) in the same volume calculated earlier, incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature, centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min at 4°C, and supernatant removed.

The cells were resuspended in either FACS diluent with sheep serum or FACS diluent with swine serum to give 2×10^6 cells/ml cell suspension and incubated on ice until required. Diluted antibody (25 µl) to be tested, which had been diluted in either 0.1% Saponin in FACS diluent containing sheep serum (for LDL receptor antibody) or 0.1% Saponin in FACS diluent containing swine serum (for SR-B1 receptor antibody), was added into the appropriate wells of a 96-well round bottom (3910 Falcon plates, non-tissue culture treated) or Sero-wel (Sterilin, Hounslow, UK). The appropriately diluted cell suspension (25 µl) was added to the appropriate well making sure the cells were in suspension. The plate was covered with parafilm, agitated for 30 second on the Easiashaker (Medgenix Diagnostics, Brussels, Belgium) at setting 10, and incubated at 4 °C for 1 hour wrapped in aluminium foil. The cells

were rinsed by adding 200µl of cold FACS diluent with either sheep serum (for LDL receptor wells) or swine serum (for SR-B1 receptor wells), spinning the plate (with parafilm plus lid) for 5 min at 982g in the plate tabletop centrifuge Mistral 2000 (M.S.E, UK), the supernatant removed, and the plate shaken on the Easiashaker to break up the cell pellets. The cells were rinsed twice with 200µl FACS rinse buffer, and 50µl of 1/50 of rabbit anti-mouse IgG FITC (Dako) or 1/50 of swine anti-rabbit IgG FITC (Dako) was added to each well, the plate covered and shaken as before and incubated at 4 °C for 1 hour wrapped in aluminium foil. The cells were rinsed twice with 200µl FACS rinse buffer, resuspended in 100µl FACS rinse buffer, shook for 60 seconds on the plate shaker, topped up with 100µl FACS rinse buffer, transferred into a 12x75mm, 5ml polystyrene, round bottom FACS tube (Becton Dickinson, Devon), and stored on ice, ready for FACS analysis. In each sample, 5,000 cells were analysed on the FACScan, (Becton Dickinson, Devon) using detectors FSC, E-1 and FL-1, voltage 474 and Cell Quest Pro software where cells are sorted according to the light scattering and fluorescent characteristics of each cell, in this case the cells labelled with FITC, and translated into mean fluorescent intensity. The figure below shows an example of the FACS analysis. From the dot plot (figure 9A) a single cell population (gated) was selected and the fluorescence intensity distribution, expressed in logarithmic scale, of this cell population is shown in figure 9B.



Figure 9: A. Dot plot and B. histogram of the population of HepG2 cells used to analyse FITC-conjugated anti-SR-B1 for staining of cells with SR-B1. FSC-H shows the size and SSC-H shows the granularity of 5000 cells out of the sample. FL1-H shows the fluorescence intensity distribution across the sample of gated cells.

2.20 Quantitation of HCV RNA

2.21 RNA extraction from cell cultures

HepG2, Huh7.5, and primary hepatocytes cells were washed once with cold 5ml PBS containing 0.5% BSA per well and 1ml of 10mg/ml suramine added per well. The cells were incubated at 4°C for 30min. The suramine was removed and the cells were washed again with 5ml PBS containing 0.5% BSA.

Iml of solution D (4M guanidium thiocyanate, 25mM sodium citrate pH 7.0, 0.5% sarcosyl, and 0.1M β -mercaptoethanol) was added to denature the protein. A cell scraper (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) was used to scrape the cells from the bottom of the well and the well content was transferred into a sterile eppendorf tubes. The well was rinsed with 300µl of solution D and this was pooled with the 1ml initial cell mixture. The cell mixture was shaken for 10 minutes at full speed using an Eppendorf shaker of 24-well capacity. The Eppendorf tubes were centrifuged at

10000g for 30 seconds. The cell homogenate was either frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in -80°C freezer or extracted for RNA immediately.

To extract the RNA, the cell homogenate was layered onto 4ml of 5.7M cesium chloride (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) in a DEPC treated Ti50 tube (Beckman Coulter, Buckinghamshire). Tubes were centrifuged at 47,000rpm without a brake at 18°C for 18-22 hours in a Ti50 rotor Beckman L7 ultracentrifuge. After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed and the tubes were centrifuged upside down at 500rpm for 2 minutes in MSE 1000 centrifuge. The RNA pellet, now visible, was further purified using RNAEasy mini kit, (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In the final stage of the RNAEasy mini kit procedure, the RNA can be eluted in 30-50ul once or twice depending on the RNA yield. One time elution of 30µl volume and two times elution of 100µl total volume were chosen for comparison purposes.

RNA was extracted from the cell homogenate and the supernatant of the cell culture using QIAamp viral RNA mini kit (Qiagen, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions. The viral RNA was stored at -20° C or -70° C.

2.22 Determination of RNA quantity

The optical density (OD) measurement on the RNeasy extracted RNA was done to determine the purity of RNA. The extracted RNA was diluted 1 in 45 for a 30 μ l extraction volume and 1 in 13.5 for a 100 μ l extraction volume in 10mM Tris-HCl. The OD at wavelengths of 260 and 280 was measured using the GeneQuant II spectrophotometer (Pharmacia Biotech, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire). An OD₂₆₀/OD₂₈₀ ratio between 1.8 to 2.1 was of acceptable purity.

2.23 Real time polymerase chain reaction

To minimize the possibility of contamination of PCR-reactions with amplicons from previous experiments, RT-PCR was carried out at a series of stations in separate rooms with dedicated equipment and protective clothing. These were clean area for preparation of mastermixes, an RNA station for RNA extraction and adding RNA to mastermix, a DNA station for handling cDNA and an analysis area for reading and analysis of amplicons.

2.24 HCV RNA standard samples for RT-PCR Curve

In order to determine the amount of HCV RNA in the samples, a standard curve ranging from 700,000 IU to 3.6 IU was used. 1 IU is equal to 3-8 genomes equivalent as defined by the WHO HCV working group (Saldanha, 1996). HCV RNA kindly supplied by the National Institute for Biological Standards and Control (NIBSC, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire) code 96/790 was used to make the standard curve ranging from 300 IU to 3.6 IU. The standard curve ranging from 700,000 IU to 960 IU was prepared from HCV RNA purified from liver PF2 and stored at -80°C and titered against the NIBSC by Pumeechockchai (Pumeechockchai, 2001). All of the HCV RNA standards were prepared in a three fold dilution series and stored at -20°C (Martin in 2005).

2.25 HCV RNA standard curve from qRT-PCR

An HCV RNA standard curve is needed to quantitate HCV RNA in samples of subsequent experiments using quantitative Real-Time PCR technique. A standard curve ranging from 700,000 IU to 3.6 IU was used with 1 IU being equivalent to 3-8

genomes (Saldanha, 1996) as defined by the WHO group working on HCV. The higher ends of HCV RNA standards were from 1:3 dilutions of high titer PF2 liver macerates (Pumeechockchai in 2001) and the lower ends were from 1:3 dilutions of NIBSC standards. Figure 10 below is an example of the amplification plot of the HCV RNA standards from the qRT-PCR.



Figure 10: Amplification plot of the HCV RNA standards from the qRT-PCR.

The following figure 11 shows an example of the HCV RNA standard curve derived from the amplification plot of a Real-Time PCR.



Figure 11: Real-time PCR standard curve for HCV RNA.

2.26 Primers and probes

The primers, NCR-3 and NCR-5 and probe SN1 used in Real-Time PCR during the

Name	Base sequence	Base pairs *	Reference	Source
NCR-3	5' ACCACAAGGCCTTTCGCGACCCAAC	263 -	(Mercier,	Invitrogen,
Reverse	3'	287	1999);	Paisley
Primer			modified	
			by	
			Nielsen)	
NCR-5	5' CCCCCCCCCCGGGAGAGCCAT 3'	120 -	(Mercier,	Invitrogen,
Forward		141	1999);	Paisley
Primer			modified	
			by	
			Nielsen)	
SN1	5' FAM-	147 -	(Mercier,	Applied
Probe	ATTCCGGTGTACTCACCGGTTCCGCAGA	174	1999);	Biosystems,
	-TAMRA 3'		modified	Warrington
			by	-
			Nielsen	

course of the projects are shown in table 3 below.

Table 3: The sequences of NCR-3 Reverse Primer, NCR-5 Forward Primer, and SN1 Probe. NCR refers to non-coding region of the HCV genome, FAM is a reporter dye and TAMRA is a quencher dye.* Base pair numbers refer to the sequence described by (Kolykhalov, 1997).

2.27 Dilutions of RNA for RT-PCR

Extracted RNA was diluted at 1 in 15 for 100µl extraction volume and 1 in 50 for 30µl extraction volume. The diluent used consisted of DEPC treated water with 8µg/ml carrier RNA from the QIAAMP kit (Qiagen) and was stored at -20°C. 5µl HCV RNA was added to 70µl diluent, vortexed briefly and centrifuged at 13 000 rpm briefly before reverse transcription.

2.28 Reverse Transcription with Primer NCR-3

12.5µl reaction mastermix per tube was prepared consisting of 2.5µl of each of 10x RT buffer (Promega, Southampton), 25mM MgCl₂ (Promega), dNTPs (10mM each of dATP, dTTP, dCTP and dGTP in Diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) water from Invitrogen, Paisley) and 25µM NCR-3 primer (in DEPC water, Invitrogen), 0.625µl RNasin Ribonuclease Inhibitor (in 20mM HEPES-KOH, 50mM KCl, 8mM DTT and 50% glycerol, Promega) and 0.938µl of each of 10U/µl Avian Myeloblastosis Virus-Reverse Transcripase (AMV-RT in 200mM potassium phosphate, 0.2% Triton X-100, 2mM DTT and 50% glycerol, (Promega) and DEPC treated water. The mastermix was thoroughly mixed and briefly centrifuged before aliquoting 12.5µl into each of the required number of wells on a reaction plate, on ice. This was done in a PCR clean room. The plate was transferred to the RNA area. 12.5µl of the 1 in 15 or 1 in 50 dilution of RNA was added into the appropriate wells of a 48-well plate (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, Cheshire) and covered with Microseal 'A' film (M.J.Research, Waltham, U.S.A). The plate was centrifuged briefly and placed in a DNA Engine PTC-200 Peltier Thermal Cycler (M.J. Research) at 37°C for 20

minutes, 42°C for 40 minutes, 48°C for 20 minutes, 95°C for 5 minutes and then 4°C indefinitely. The plate was stored at -20°C freezer until the next step.

2.29 RT-PCR with primers NCR-3 + NCR-5 and probe SN1

A 24µl reaction mastermix per tube consisting of 15µl Taqman Universal PCR mastermix (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, Cheshire), 1.08µl of each of the primers NCR-3 and NCR-5 (25µM each in DEPC water, Invitogen, Paisley), 0.9µl probe SN1 (in DEPC water, Applied Biosystems) and 5.94µl DEPC water was prepared.The mastermix was thoroughly mixed and briefly centrifuged before aliquoting 24µl into each of the required number of wells on a 96-well PCR plate (Applied Biosystems), on ice. This was done in the clean room. The plate was transferred to the cDNA area. 6µl of cDNA from the previous step was added into the appropriate wells. The plate was covered with a clear plate seal and centrifuged briefly. The cDNA was amplified in an ABI-Prism 7000 Real-Time PCR machine, at 95°C for 10 minutes then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute. After amplification, the Real-Time PCR machine analysis was done by ABI Prism 7000 SDS software.

2.30 Optimization of RNA dilution to minimize the effect of RNA inhibitors

Martin (Martin, 2005) showed that there were inhibitors present in the liver macerate which affected the Real-Time PCR values. The effect of RNA inhibitors from HepG2 cells derived during the RNA extraction process on real-time PCR was tested using two different methods.

In the first method (Method 1), the HepG2 cells were inoculated with LLVP and incubated for 3 hours and the RNA from the inoculated cells was extracted for realtime PCR quantitation. On day 0, HepG2 cells were seeded at a density of $0.7X10^6$ cells per well in a 6-well-plate (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in 4ml per well EMEM medium and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 2, the attached cells were washed twice with 4ml warm sterile PBS before addition of 4ml warm growth medium, LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium (to up-regulate LDL receptor) and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 5, the cells were washed twice with 5ml warm PBS before addition of 800µl/well pH equilibrated labelling medium, made up of serum free medium containing 8.5% LPDS and 6µl (4 X 10^5 IU) HCV LLVP, incubated for 3 hours at 37°C in CO₂ incubator and shaken at every 30 minutes interval. After 3 hours, the RNA from the cells was extracted using RNA extraction for cell culture method described in section 2.21 before proceeding to real-time PCR.

In the second method (Method 2), RNA from uninfected HepG2 cells was extracted using RNA extraction for cell culture method described in section 2.21 and then approximately 1.3×10^{4} IU of HCV RNA standard was added to each dilution of HepG2 RNA before proceeding to real-time PCR.

In both methods, two elution volumes: 30μ l and 100μ l, were used because in the final stage of the RNAEasy mini kit procedure, the RNA can be eluted in 30-50ul once or twice depending on the RNA yield. One time elution of 30μ l volume and two times elution of 50μ l (100µl total volume) were chosen for comparison purposes. Dilution

100µl RNeasy elution volume **30µl RNeasy elution volume** Dilution **Dilution factor** Dilution **Dilution factor** 1:3 100 1:10 100500 500 1:15 1:50 1000 1:100 1000 1:30

factors of 100, 500, 1000, 2000, and 5000 (refer to table 4) of extracted RNA were also made to test if the inhibitor effect could be avoided by dilution.

 Table 4: Corresponding dilution factor from the RNA dilutions of the RNA extracted from the LLVP inoculated HepG2 cells and HepG2 cells alone.

1:200

1:500

2000

5000

2000

5000

1:60

1:150

The results for the first method are presented in figure 12. The optimal dilution factor for real-time PCR was 500 for the 100 μ l elution and 500 for the 30 μ l elution in the final stage of RNA extraction using RNeasy kit. For both elution volumes, the sample with a final dilution factor of 100 gave a reduced yield compared to higher dilutions indicating that inhibitors are present. The yield derived from the OD₂₆₀ spectrophotometer readings (data not shown) shows that RNeasy elution of 100ul gave 1.29 times higher yield than 30 μ l RNeasy elution.

The results of the second method are presented in figure 13. Inhibitors were evident as judged by a reduced yield at final dilution factors of 100 and 500 but not at 1000.

Both methods showed that inhibitor effect could be minimized by dilution. It is not clear where the inhibitors originated from; either the inoculum or the HepG2 lysates. It is clear though that there is a reduction of inhibitor effect when dilution of RNA is made prior to carrying out real-time PCR.



Figure 12: RT-PCR quantification of HCV RNA from HepG2 cells that were infected with LLVP. The HCV RNA at different dilution factors was quantitated.



Figure 13: RT-PCR quantification of HCV RNA from HCV RNA standards that were added to RNA of uninfected HepG2 cells.

The HCV RNA standards at different dilution factors was quantitated.

2.31 The J6/JFH1 HCV replication system



Figure 14: A map of pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA. The map shows size, HCV proteins coding regions, T7 promoter site, restriction enzyme sites, as well as, locations of the pol-(GND) and H2476L mutations.

2.32 Extraction of pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids from a filter

Wild-type pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA, and also mutants pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA adsorbed to filter paper were kindly provided by Prof. Charlie Rice from Rockefeller University, were cut out from the filter paper. Each filter paper containing 3µg of pDNA was placed in eppendorf tube and 50µl of TE buffer pH 7.4 was added to elute out the DNA. The filter paper was incubated for 30min at room temperature, vortexed every 10 minutes for a few seconds and finally centrifuged briefly. The supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and stored at -80°C.

LB medium 8g Bactotryptone (Oxoid) 4g Yeast extract (Oxoid) 8g NaCl 240µl 5M NaOH

Dissolved in 800ml distilled water, autoclaved and stored at 4°C Before use, 100µl of 50mg/ml Ampicillin (Sigma) was added per 100ml.

<u>LB agar plates</u> 4g Bactotryptone (Oxoid) 2g Yeast extract (Oxoid) 4g NaCl 120µl 5M NaOH 6g BactoTM Agar (Benton Dickinson)

Dissolved in 400ml deionised water, autoclaved and stored at 4°C. The agar was melted in boiling waterbath on a different day, cooled to 50° C in waterbath, ampicillin added to 50μ g/ml and stored at 4°C.

SOB medium 8g Bactotryptone (Oxoid) 2g BActo Yeast (Oxoid) 234mg NaCl 75mg KCl

Dissolved in 400ml distilled, autoclaved and stored at 4° C. 4ml from 1M MgCl₂ and 4ml from 1M MgSO₄ added on the day of use.

Transformation buffer

200ml 2-(*N*-morpholino)ethanesulphonic acid (MES) [Mr 195.2] 490mg 2-(*N*-morpholino)ethanesulphonic acid (MES) dissolved in 200ml Millipore water and adjusted to pH 6.3.
1.85g KCl
2.22g Manganese II chloride tetrahydrate
0.367g Calcium chloride
200mg Hexamine Cobalt III chloride

The volume make up to 250mL with distilled water and mixed with stirrer.
0.2μ M filter was rinsed with sterile 2 X 20ml Millipore water before filter sterilising the transformation buffer into 5 X 50ml tubes and the buffer was stored at -20°C.

2.33 Competent bacteria preparation

Competent bacteria were prepared by growing a seed culture of E. coli TGI the day before carrying out the transformation. Two universals containing 5ml SOB each were inoculated with E. coli TG1 using a sterile toothpick and incubated overnight in an orbital shaker at 37°C. The following day, 100µl of the E. coli TG1 culture was inoculated into a pre-incubated (37°C) 60ml SOB medium in a conical flask plugged with cotton wool. The E. coli TG1 were incubated for 2 hours in the orbital shaker at 37°C. After 2 hours, the OD at 550nm was measured using SOB medium as a reference. Incubation was continued until an OD of 0.45 to 0.55 was reached. 50ml of E. coli TG1 culture was then transferred into a 50ml Falcon tube and incubated on ice for 15 minutes. The culture was centrifuged at 2862g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the bacterial pellet resuspended first in 5ml followed by another 15ml of thawed ice-cold transformation buffer. The bacterial suspension was then incubated on ice for 10min and centrifuged at 2862g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the bacterial pellet resuspended in 4ml ice-cold transformation buffer. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (140µl) was added and mixed. The bacterial suspension was incubated on ice for 10min and 140µl 1M DTT (dithiothreitol) was added and mixed. The bacterial suspension was again incubated on ice for another 10min and finally another 140µl DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide) was added and swirled gently to mix.

2.34 Transformation of E. coli TG1 with J6/JFH1 and J6/JFH1-GND pDNA

Ten four fold dilutions of pDNA were made in sterile distilled water. 20µl of each dilution was pipetted into a 14ml Falcon tube for each ligation reaction and kept on ice. 210µl competent bacteria preparation was aliquoted into each of the tube and incubated on ice for 40 minutes. The bacteria were heat shocked by placing the tubes in a 42° C waterbath for 90seconds and incubated on ice for 2 minutes. 800µl of the complete SOB medium was then pipetted to each tube and the tubes were incubated for 30 minutes in a 37° C waterbath. In a Class II cabinet, 200µl of the bacterial solution from each tube was plated onto an LB + Ampicillin agar plate using a plate spreader. The plates were left open for approximately 30 minutes at room temperature until the surface was dry. The plates were then inverted and incubated at 37° C overnight.

2.35 Cloning the transformed E. coli TG1

Isolated colonies of transformed bacteria were picked and restreaked on LB + Ampicillin agar plate using a sterile disposable plastic loop. The plates were inverted and incubated at 37°C overnight. Cloning was repeated twice with positive clones.

2.36 Mini prep for plasmid purification of transformed E. coli TG1

Solution I 50mM Glucose (Mw 180g/mol) 25mM Tris base (Mw 121g/mol) 10mM EDTA

Dissolved in 250ml distilled water, adjusted pH to 8.0 and autoclaved.

Small scale plasmid purification was carried out using a QIAprep^R miniprep kit (Qiagen, UK) following the manufacturers instructions except that after harvesting,

the cell pellet was washed with solution I by resuspending the pellet in 1.5ml sterile solution I, vortexing, centrifuging at 16,000g for 5min, and discarding the supernatant. Also, since the plasmid J6/JFH1 is ~12kb (>10kb) big, Buffer EB (10mM Tris.Cl, pH 8.5) was pre-heated to 70°C prior to eluting DNA from the QIAprep membrane. The purified plasmid was stored at -20°C.

2.37 Maxi prep for plasmid purification of transformed E. coli TG1

<u>STE (TEN)</u> 0.1M NaCl (MW 58.44g/mol) 10mM Tris (MW 121.14g/mol) 1mM EDTA.2H₂O (MW 372.24g/mol)

The volume was made up to 1L with distilled water. The pH was adjusted to 8.0 with concentrated HCl.

10mM Sodium acetate (pH 5.2) 1.36g Sodium acetate.3H₂O (MW 136.08g/mol)

The volume was made up to 800mL with distilled water, pH adjusted to 5.2 with glacial acetic acid, volume adjusted to 1000mL with distilled water, and the solution was autoclaved.

<u>1M Tris (pH 7.4)</u> 121.1g Tris base (MW 121.14g/mol)

pH was adjusted to 7.4 by adding concentrated HCl, the solution was allowed to cool to room temperature before making final pH adjustment. The volume adjusted to 1000mL with distilled water and and the solution was autoclaved.

DNAase free 10mg/ml RNAase 10mg/ml RNAase A (pancreatic) 2ml 0.01M Sodium acetate (pH 5.2) 0.1 volume 1M Tris.Cl (pH 7.4)

RNAase A was dissolved in 2ml 10mM sodium acetate, the solution heated to 100°C for 15 minutes in a boiling waterbath to deactivate DNAase, allowed to cool slowly to room temperature, pH adjusted by adding (0.1 volume) 200µl of 1M Tris.Cl (pH 7.4), and filter sterilized with 0.2µm filter.

<u>P1</u> 6.06g Tris base (MW 121.14g/mol) 3.72g Na₂EDTA.2H₂0 (MW 372.24g/mol)

pH was adjusted to 8.0 with HCl, volume was adjusted to 1L, and the solution autoclaved before RNAase was added. 100mg RNAase A was added per liter of P1. Stored at 4° C once RNAase was added.

P2 8g NaOH (MW 40.0g/mol) 50ml 20% SDS (w/v)

The volume was adjusted to 1000mL with distilled water.

<u>P3</u>

294.5g Potassium acetate (MW 98.15g/mol) ~110ml Glacial acetic acid

pH was adjusted to 5.5 with glacial acetic acid. The volume was adjusted to 1000mL with distilled water, and the solution was autoclaved.

<u>10mMTris or (pH 8.0)</u> 1.21g Tris base (MW 121.1g/mol)

pH was adjusted to 8.0 by adding concentrated HCl. The solution was allowed to cool to room temperature before making final pH adjustment. The volume was adjusted to 1000mL with distilled water, and the solution was autoclaved.

<u>10mg/ml lysozyme</u> 200mg Lysozyme (Sigma) 20mL 10mM Tris.Cl (pH 8.0)

Stirred, filter sterilized with $0.2\mu m$ filter, aliquoted in sterile Eppendorf tube, and stored at $-20^{\circ}C$.

Large scale plasmid purification was done using QIAfilter Plasmid Maxi Kit (Qiagen,

UK) following manufacturers instructions with some modifications. The modifications include 12h-16h incubation of starter culture, the starter culture was diluted 1/100 into 500ml selective (ampicillin) LB medium, the bacterial pellet was washed in 200ml sterile cold (4°C) STE buffer before adding 40ml buffer P1 containing 100ug/ml RNase A, 2ml of 10mg/ml lysozyme (in 10mM Tris.Cl pH 8.0)

was added to buffer P1/bacterial mixture and gently swirled, 40ml each of P2 and P3 were used, the lysate was centrifuged at 5000rpm for 15min at 4°C without brake in a JLA10.5 rotor in a Beckman Coulter Avanti J-25 centrifuge (Beckman Coulter UK Ltd) get rid most of the debris before the lysate was poured into the barrel of the QIAfilter cartridge, the DNA was eluted with warm (60°C) 15ml Buffer QF provided, and the pellet was air-dried for 30min.

The DNA was dissolved in 120-240 μ l TE buffer, pH 8.0 or EB buffer from the QIAprep^R miniprep kit (Qiagen, UK). The DNA solution was next transferred to a sterile screw-capped tube and 3 μ l of the DNA was aliquoted for yield determination. The rest was stored at -20°C.

2.38 DNA yield Determination

The concentration of DNA was determined by diluting the sample 1:100 in TE buffer and reading the OD in a spectrophotometer at 260nm. The concentration of DNA was calculated using the formula below:

Concentration = OD_{260} reading x 100 x 50µg/ml

NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Isogen-Lifesciences) was also used to measure the concentration of DNA where 1μ l of the sample DNA was pipetted directly onto the lower measurement pedestal before closing the sampling arm and the spectral measurement initiated and analyzed using the Nanodrop software V3.0.0.

2.39 Restriction Enzyme digestions of pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

2.39.1 Material 1

No digest 8 μl DEPC distilled water 10 μl Plasmid 2 μl React Buffer 3 (Invitrogen)

EcoR I digest 7 μl DEPC distilled water 10 μl plasmid 1 μl EcoR I enzyme (Invitrogen) 2 μl React Buffer 3 (Invitrogen)

EcoR I + Xba I digest 6 μl DEPC distilled water 10 μl plasmid 1 μl EcoR I enzyme (Invitrogen) 1 μl Xba I enzyme (Invitrogen) 2 μl React Buffer 6 (Invitrogen)

<u>Kpn I + Xba I</u> digest 6 μl DEPC distilled water 10 μl plasmid 1 μl Kpn I enzyme (Invitrogen) 1 μl Xba I enzyme (Invitrogen) 2 μl React Buffer 1 (Invitrogen)

2.39.2 Material 2

Xba I digest 62.2µl DEPC distilled water 10.3µl (30µg) pFL-J6/JFH1 plasmid 7.5µl XbaI (NEB) 10µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 10µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

2.39.3 Material 3

No digest 14.5µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 2µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 2µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

EcoR I digest

15.5μl DEPC distilled water
1.5μl (2μg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid
1μl EcoR I enzyme (Invitrogen)
2μl React Buffer 3 (Invitrogen)

XbaI digest

14µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 0.5µl XbaI (NEB) 2µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 2µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

SspI digest

14.5µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 2µl SspI (NEB) 2µl10X NEB Buffer SspI

XmnI digest

14µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 0.5µl XmnI (NEB) 2µl10X NEB Buffer 2 2µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

XmnI + XbaI digest

13.5µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 0.5µl XmnI (NEB) 0.5µl XbaI (NEB) 2µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 2µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

SspI + XbaI digest

12µl DEPC distilled water 1.5µl (2µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 2µl SspI (NEB) 0.5µl XbaI (NEB) 2µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 2µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

Note: XbaI (NEB) is 20 unit/µl; Buffer 2, BSA XmnI (NEB) is 20 unit/µl; Buffer 2, BSA SspI (NEB) is 5 unit/µl; SspI buffer, Buffer 2 The samples were incubated for 4 hours in a 37°C waterbath, 5µl of 6X sample loading buffer (Promega, Southampton, UK) was added to each sample, vortexed, centrifuged briefly at 16,000g at room temperature and run on 0.7% TBE agarose gel (see below).

2.40 Large scale restriction Enzyme digestions of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

XbaI digest

124.4µl DEPC distilled water 20.6µl (60µg) pFL-J6/JFH1 plasmid 15µl (300U) XbaI (NEB) 20µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 20µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

XbaI digest

121.9µl DEPC distilled water 23.1µl (60µg) pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L plasmid 15µl (300U) XbaI (NEB) 20µl 10X NEB Buffer 2 20µl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

XmnI + XbaI digest

42.4μl DEPC distilled water 22.6μl (30μg) pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmid 7.5μl (150U) XmnI (NEB) 7.5μl (150U) XbaI (NEB) 10μl 10X NEB Buffer 2 10μl 1 mg/ml BSA (NEB)

The samples were incubated for 4 hours in a 37° C waterbath. 5μ l of 6X sample loading buffer (Promega, Southampton, UK) was added to 2μ l of each sample (diluted in 18ml in distilled water), vortexed, centrifuged briefly at 16,000g at room temperature and run on 0.7% TBE agarose gel to check for complete digestion.

2.41 Mung bean nuclease digestions of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

Mung bean digest (pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L)

~200µl XbaI digested pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L DNA 12µl (120U) Mung bean nuclease (NEB)

Mung bean digest (pFL-J6/JFH1-GND)

~100µl XbaI digested pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA 6µl (60U)Mung bean nuclease (NEB)

The digested DNA samples from section above were re-digested with Mung bean

nuclease enzyme. The samples were incubated for 30min in a 30°C waterbath.

2.42 Proteinase K and SDS treatment of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

Proteinase K and SDS treatment (pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L) 15μl 10.3mg/ml Proteinase K 10μl 10% SDS ~212μl Digested pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L DNA

Proteinase K and SDS treatment (pFL-J6/JFH1-GND)

15μl 10.3mg/ml Proteinase K 10μl 10% SDS ~106μl Digested pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA

The digested DNA samples from section above were treated with Proteinase K and

SDS. The samples were incubated for 1hour in a 50°C waterbath. The samples were

ready for double phenol-chloroform purification and could be stored at -20°C.

2.43 DNA electrophoresis on agarose gel

1X TBE buffer (pH 8.2-8.4) 43.2g Tris Base (MW 121g/mol) 22g Boric acid 3.7g EDTA pH adjusted to 8.2 - 8.4, volume adjusted to 4L with distilled water, and the solution stored at room temperature. Ethidium Bromide (1mg/ml) 10mg Ethidium Bromide (MW 394.31g/mol) (Northumbria Biologicals Ltd., Cramlington, UK) 10ml distilled water Stored at 4°C.

The Bio-Rad Mini-Sub Cell GT horizontal gel electrophoresis apparatus (Bio-Rad, USA) was first assembled and securely sealed at the ends of the gel trough with autoclave tape. Agarose (1.7%) was added to 70ml 1X TBE (pH 8.2) per gel. The agarose mixture was boiled and swirled occasionally until completely dissolved. Ethidium bromide was added at 1µg/ml and the hot agarose solution was poured into the assembled gel electrophoresis apparatus and allowed to set for approximately 60min. Once the gel was set, the autoclave tape and comb were removed and the gel was placed in the gel tank containing 250ml running buffer (1X TBE) with 0.5µg/ml ethidium bromide. The samples containing 6X sample loading buffer (see above) and GeneRuler 1kb DNA ladder (Fermentas) were then loaded into the wells and run at 70 volts for 2-3 hours using a Northumbria Biologicals powerpack (Northumbria Biologicals Ltd., Cramlington, UK). Results were analyzed and recorded with a Bio-Rad Fluor-S MAX2 MultiImager gel scanner (Bio-Rad, California) and Bio-Rad Quantity One Quantitation software V4.2.3 (Bio-Rad).

2.44 Partial sequencing of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

Primers for pFL-J6/JFH1-GND mutant

SI-1 (forward plus strand)

- 5'- CCA CTA GCA TGG GTA ACA CC -3'
 - 20bp length, 11 C+G, 9 A+T
 - Location on J6-JFH1 sequence: 8523-8542
 - Melting temperature (Tm): DNAstar 49.4°C, PCgene 53.8°C

SI-2 (reverse complementary strand)

- 5'- ATT AGC TCC AGG TCA TAT TCC -3'
 - 21bp length, 9 C+G, 12 A+T
 - Location on J6-JFH1 sequence (complementary): 8734-8754
 - Melting temperature (Tm): DNAstar 47.0°C, PCgene 50.2°C

Primers for pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L mutant

SI-3 (forward plus strand)

5'- TGT GCT GCT CCA TGT CAT AC -3'

- 20bp length, 10 C+G, 10 A+T
- Location on J6-JFH1 sequence: 7659-7678
- Melting temperature (Tm): DNAstar 48.9°C, PCgene 51.7°C

SI-4 (reverse complementary strand)

- 5'- GAA GCC GCT AGC TTG ATG TC -3'
 - 20bp length, 11 C+G, 9 A+T
 - Location on J6-JFH1 sequence (complementary): 7874-7893
 - Melting temperature (Tm): DNAstar 51.8°C, PCgene 53.8°C

The following primers were designed to locate the T7 promoter region on pFL-

J6/JFH1:

Primers for T7 promoter region

SI-5 (reverse complementary strand)

5'- AGT GGT TCA TGG CGG AGT G -3'

- 19bp length, 11 C+G, 8 A+T
- Location on J6-JFH1 sequence (complementary): 22-40
- Melting temperature (Tm): 53°C

SI-6 (reverse complementary strand)

- 5'- GGC TGT ACG ACA CTC ATA C -3'
 - 19bp length, 10 C+G, 9 A+T
 - Location on J6-JFH1 sequence (complementary): 93-111
 - Melting temperature (Tm): 51°C

Tm calculated using http://www.promega.com/biomath/calc11.htm



Figure 15: A diagram of the locations of SI-1, SI-2, SI-3, SI-4, SI-5, and SI-6 primers on the HCV genome.

HCV-J6 AND HCV-JFH1 sequences were obtained from the following websites

using these accession numbers.

HCV-J6 sequence Hepatitis C virus genomic RNA for polyprotein, complete cds <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/viewer.fcgi?val=D00944</u> ACCESSION D00944

HCV JFH-1 sequence Hepatitis C virus (isolate JFH-1) genomic RNA, complete genome <u>http://getentry.ddbj.nig.ac.jp/getstart-e.html</u> ACCESSION AB047639

HCV-J6 AND HCV-JFH1 sequences obtained were aligned together over part of the

NS2-NS3 regions to make the complete HCV J6/JFH1 sequence.

2µg of maxiprep pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L or pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA in a 10µl volume each together with 2µM primer pair (SI-1 and SI-2, SI-3 and SI-4 or SI-5 and SI-6 primer pair) in a 5µl volume/primer were aliquoted and sent to Pinnacle in Newcastle University for the DNA to be sequenced. The sequencing result was then sent back for analysis. Analysis was done using the megalign (clustal V and W methods) of dnastar software.

2.45 Purification 1-Phenol-chloroform extraction/ethanol precipitation

Phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol 25 ml phenol 24 ml chloroform 1 ml isoamyl alcohol

<u>Chloroform:isoamyl alcohol</u> 24 ml chloroform 1 ml isoamyl alcohol

<u>75% ethanol</u> 75 ml 100% ethanol

25 ml DEPC dH₂O Mixture was well-mixed, kept on ice when in use and stored at 4° C.

In a fume hood, an equal volume (500µl) of neutral phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol was added to a volume of 500µl DNA sample. The mixture was vortexed for 1min, incubated for 4min, and vortexed again for 1min before centrifuging for 16,000g for 2 minutes. The top aqueous layer was pipetted out into a new RNAasefree microfuge tube (Fisher, UK). An equal volume of chloroform/isoamyl alcohol was added to the aqueous layer. The mixture was vortexed for 1min, incubated for 4min, and vortexed again for 1min before centrifuging for 16,000g for 2 minutes. The top aqueous layer was pipetted out into a new RNAase-free microfuge tube (Fisher, UK). One-tenth volume of 10M NH₄OAc and 2 volumes of 100% ethanol were added to the sample and the mixture was incubated in -20°C overnight. The mixture was centrifuged at 16,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C, the supernatant was discarded, 500µl of ice-cold 75% ethanol was added to the pellet before centrifuging again at 16,000g for 2 minutes at 4°C and removing the supernatant. The pellet was left to air-dry for 20min and resuspended by vortexing in 20µl DEPC distilled water. Finally OD₂₆₀ and OD₂₈₀ measurement was made using a NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Isogen-Lifesciences) and the DNA sample was stored at -80°C.

2.46 Purification 2-Double phenol purification of linearized plasmid DNA

Phenol 50 ml phenol

Phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol 25 ml phenol 24 ml chloroform 1 ml isoamyl alcohol Chloroform:isoamyl alcohol

24 ml chloroform 1 ml isoamyl alcohol

<u>Ether</u>

 $\overline{25 \text{ ml Ether}}$ 25 ml DEPC dH₂O The mixture was well shaken to get a-DEPC water-saturated ether. The mixture was stored at room temperature.

<u>75% ethanol</u>
75 ml 100% ethanol
25 ml DEPC dH₂O
Mixture was well-mixed, kept on ice when in use and stored at 4°C.

3M Sodium acetate pH 5.6

40.83g Sodium acetate. $3H_2O$ 70ml DEPC dH₂O pH adjusted to 5.6 with glacial acetic acid in the fume hood, volume adjusted to 100ml with distilled water, 100µl DEPC distilled water was added, the mixture was mixed well, incubated overnight at $37^{\circ}C$, and autoclaved.

In a fume hood, an equal volume (500µl) of neutral phenol was added to a volume of 500µl DNA sample. The mixture was vortexed for 1 min, incubated for 2 min, and vortexed again for 1 min before centrifuging for 16,000g for 2 minutes. The top aqueous layer (A) was pipetted out into a new Eppendorf DNA lobind tube (Fisher, UK) leaving behind the phenol phase (A1), 100µl fresh DEPC distilled water was added to the phenol phase A1, and the previous steps were repeated. The top aqueous layer of A1 was pipetted out and pooled with the previous aqueous layer A.

An equal volume of phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol was added to the pooled aqueous layer (A+A1). The mixture was vortexed for 1 min, incubated for 2 min, and vortexed again for 1 min before centrifuging for 16,000g for 2 minutes. The top aqueous layer (B) was again pipetted out into a new DNA lobind tube leaving behind the phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol phase (B1), 100µl DEPC distilled water was

added to the phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol phase B1, and the previous steps were again repeated. The top aqueous layer of B1 was pipetted out and pooled with the previous aqueous layer B.

An equal volume of chloroform/isoamyl alcohol was added to the pooled aqueous layer (B+B1). The mixture was vortexed for 1 min, incubated for 2 min, and vortexed again for 1 min before centrifuging for 16,000g for 2 minutes. The top aqueous layer (C) was again pipetted out into a new DNA lobind tube leaving behind the chloroform/isoamyl alcohol phase (C1), 100µl DEPC distilled water was added to the chloroform/isoamyl alcohol phase C1, and the previous steps were again repeated. The top aqueous layer of C1 was pipetted out and pooled with the previous aqueous layer C.

DEPC water-saturated ether (1 ml) was added to the pooled aqueous layer (C+C1). The mixture was vortexed for 1 min and the top layer of ether was then removed. The microfuge tube was left opened on a 50°C heatblock for 10 minutes to evaporate any remaining ether.

The DNA sample was split into two 250 μ l aliquots and placed on ice. One-tenth volume of 3M sodium acetate pH 5.6 was added to each and mixed by inversion followed by 2.5 volumes (625 μ l) cold absolute (100%) ethanol. The mixture was mixed, incubated at -70°C overnight and centrifuged at 16,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded, 500 μ l of ice-cold 75% ethanol was added to the pellet, and the sample centrifuged immediately at 16,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the sample centrifuged again at 4°C for 2min to

remove last drop of supernatant. The pellet was air-dried for twenty minutes before resuspending it in 20µl DEPC distilled water or more (depending on pellet size). The pellet was left to soak for 30-60min at 42° C in the heat block and vortexed to facilitate dissolving. Finally OD₂₆₀ and OD₂₈₀ measurement was made using a NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Isogen-Lifesciences) and the DNA sample was stored at - 80° C.

2.47 In vitro transcription

Plasmids were linearized as described in section 2.40 and purified as described in

section 2.46 before carrying out in vitro transcription below.

<u>Ribonucleotide mix solutions</u>

7.5 μl ATP
7.5 μl CTP
7.5 μl GTP
7.5 μl UTP
The ribonucleotide solutions mixed and kept on ice.

In vitro transcription reaction mix

8 μl ribonucleotide mix solutions
2 μl 10X Reaction buffer
2 or 1 μg Linear template DNA
2 μl Enzyme mix (T7)
2 hrs 1st incubation time
2 μl Enzyme mix (T7)
4 hrs 2nd incubation time
Volume was made up to 20μl with Nuclease free water (Ambion)

In vitro transcription of linearized, purified DNA was carried out with an AMBION MEGAscript T7 kit (Austin, Texas, US) as the T7 promoter is present in plasmid pFL-J6/JFH1 and also in the H2476L and GND mutants. The transcription reaction was performed at room temperature. The reaction mixture was mixed thoroughly by gently flicking the tube or pipetting the mixture up and down gently. The tube was centrifuged briefly and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours (first incubation). The second T7 enzyme mix was then added and mixed thoroughly by gently flicking the tube or

pipetting the mixture up and down gently. The tube was centrifuged briefly and incubated at 37° C for another 4 hours (second incubation). The RNA was stored at - 20° C until the next step.

2.48 RNA purification and precipitation

The RNA (20µl) was first thawed out, 1µl TURBO DNase from MEGAscript T7 kit was added and mixed well and then incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding 15µl stop solution (5M Ammonium Acetate) from the Megascript kit. The RNA was purified using Sigma Tri reagent LS (St. Louis, Missouri, US) following the method of Kato et al. (Kato et al., 2006) with some modifications. Nuclease-free water (115µl) was added and the mixture pipetted gently and thoroughly before adding another 100µl nuclease-free water making the total volume to approximately 250µl. A 3:1 ratio (750µl) of Trizol LS was added and pipetted gently and thoroughly before incubating at room temperature for 5min. Pure chloroform (200µl) was then added, the mixture vortexed vigorously for exactly 15sec and this was followed by incubation at room temperature for 3min. The mixture was centrifuged at 16,000g for 25min at 4°C. The upper layer was transferred in a new RNAase-free tube, 600µl isopropanol was added and the mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10min. This was then centrifuged at 16,000g for 20min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and 1ml of 75% ethanol was added to the pellet. This was then centrifuged at 16,000g for 10min at 4°C and the supernatant discarded. After another round of centrifugation at 16,000g for 2min at room temperature, the RNA pellet was air-dried for 5-10 min. The pellet was resuspended in 11ul (varied according to pellet size) nuclease-free water. The RNA concentration

was read at OD_{260} and RNA quality checked on an RNA agarose gel (see below). The RNA was stored at -80°C and frequent freeze-thawing of RNA was avoided by aliquoting the RNA samples.

2.49 Glyoxal RNA agarose gel electrophoresis

DEPC water 1L distilled water 1mL Diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) The mixture was vigorously shaken, incubated at 37°C overnight, and autoclaved.

<u>1% RNA agarose gel</u>
1% Agarose (Life Technologies)
70ml 10mM sodium phosphate (pH 7.0)
10mM sodium iodoacetate (M.W.-207.93, Sigma)

The Bio-Rad Mini-Sub Cell GT horizontal gel electrophoresis apparatus (Bio-Rad, USA) was made RNAase-free by soaking in 3% hydrogen peroxide for 10mins and rinsing with DEPC distilled water. Glassware was baked at 180°C overnight.

Agarose was dissolved by boiling in boiling waterbath and the solution cooled to 70°C in waterbath set to 70°C. Solid sodium iodoacetate was added and the mixture swirled. The solution was cooled to 50°C in a waterbath set to 50°C. Finally, the gel was poured and allowed to set for at least 1 hour before the RNA samples were loaded.

RNA samples (30µg maximum per sample) were mixed with an equal volume of Glyoxal Denaturing Load Dye (Ambion, Austin, USA). The samples were incubated for 1 hour at 50°C in a dry heat block. After incubation, the samples were placed on ice-water immediately for 10 minutes. The samples were then centrifuged briefly before being loaded into the wells. The samples were run in the gel submerged in

10mM sodium phosphate buffer at 3-4 V/cm (measured between the electrodes) for 2 hours. The buffer was pipetted from one side of the gel chamber to the other every 15-20 minutes to prevent H⁺ build-up. The gel was incubated for 15min in 0.5M ammonium acetate on an Easiashaker (Medgenix Diagnostics, Brussels, Belgium) and photographed on a Bio-Rad Fluor-S MAX2 MultiImager gel scanner (Bio-Rad, California) immediately.

2.50 Electroporation optimization

The protocol was adapted from Kato *et al* (Kato et al., 2006) with some modifications. Huh7.5 cells were cultured in T_{225} flasks (Corning, Schipol-Rijk, Netherlands) in complete DMEM growth medium seeded the day before with 60-70% confluence on the day of transfection. The cells were washed with 40ml PBS and then trypsinized with 5ml of warm (37°C) Trypsin-EDTA per flask. The cells were suspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM I medium (Gibco, Paisley, UK) and centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM medium. The cells were counted on a haemacytometer and then centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM I medium to make 7.5 x 10⁶ cells/ml, 2 x 10⁶ cells/ml, or 5 x 10⁵ cells/ml suspension as specified. The cell suspension (1ml) was transferred into a sterile, new Eppendorf tubes placed on ice.

The incomplete Cytomix buffer (120mM KCl, 0.15mM CaCl₂, 10mM K₂HPO₄/KH₂PO₄ pH 7.6, 2mM EGTA pH 8.0, 5mM MgCl₂, 25mM HEPES pH 7-7.6) was completed by adding 8µl of 100mM ATP (Melford, Ipswich, UK) pH 7.6

and 8µl of 250mM Glutathione (Melford, Ipswich, UK) to 400µl Cytomix buffer, vortexed, and placed on ice.

The cells were pelleted by centrifuging at 5000rpm at 4°C for 2min in a microcentrifuge and the supernatant discarded. The cells were resuspended in an Eppendorf tube with 400 μ l cold complete Cytomix buffer. This was mixed well, transferred to a 0.2cm/0.4cm electroporation cuvette and pulsed immediately at 220V/260V/300V as specified, 960 μ F using a Gene pulser. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 15min or on ice for 10min as specified before being pipetted into a plastic universal containing 24ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium. The cell suspension was aliquoted 4ml per well in a 6-well-plate and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. The culture medium was removed, the electroporated cells washed 3X with warm PBS, and 4ml fresh, warm complete medium was finally added to each well.

The cells were 1) allowed to grow for another 3 days before the cells were stripped with EDTA and trypsin and counted with a haemacytometer or 2) replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted again or 3) sub-cultured/passaged on day 4 and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted.

2.51 RNA transfection by electroporation

The transfection protocol was adapted from Kato *et al* (Kato et al., 2006) with some modifications. Huh7.5 cells were cultured in T_{225} flasks (Corning, Schipol-Rijk,

Netherlands) in complete DMEM growth medium seeded the day before with 60-70% confluence on the day of transfection. The cells were washed with 40ml PBS and then trypsinized with 5ml of warm (37°C) Trypsin-EDTA per flask. The cells were suspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM I medium (Gibco, Paisley, UK) and centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM medium. The cells were counted on a haemacytometer and then centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in 40ml of cold Opti-MEM medium. The cells were counted on a haemacytometer and then centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells resuspended in cold Opti-MEM I medium to make 7.5 x 10⁶ cells/ml suspension. The cell suspension (1ml) was transferred into a sterile, new Eppendorf tubes placed on ice.

The incomplete Cytomix buffer (120mM KCl, 0.15mM CaCl₂, 10mM K₂HPO₄/KH₂PO₄ pH 7.6, 2mM EGTA pH 8.0, 5mM MgCl₂, 25mM HEPES pH 7-7.6) was completed by adding 8µl of 100mM ATP (Melford, Ipswich, UK) pH 7.6 and 8µl of 250mM Glutathione (Melford, Ipswich, UK) to 400µl Cytomix buffer, vortexed, and placed on ice.

The cells were pelleted by centrifuging at 5000rpm at 4°C for 2min in a microcentrifuge and the supernatant discarded. The cells were resuspended in an Eppendorf tube with 400µl cold complete Cytomix buffer and 10µg of RNA was added to the cell suspension. This was mixed well, transferred to a 0.2cm electroporation cuvette and pulsed immediately at 260V, at 960µF using a Gene pulser. The cells were incubated on ice for 10min before being pipetted into a plastic universal containing 20ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium. The cell suspension was aliquoted 1ml per well in a 24-well-plate and incubated at 37°C, in

5% CO₂ for 24 hours. The culture medium was removed, the transfected cells washed 3X with warm PBS, and 1ml fresh, warm complete medium was finally added to each well. The supernatant of each well was harvested every day consecutively, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. RNA was then extracted from these supernatant using QIAamp kit (Qiagen) followed by reverse transcription and quantative real time PCR.

2.52 Infection, propagation and harvest of HCVcc

2 x 10^4 cells/ml per well (4 x 10^5 cells/10ml T₂₅ flask) of naïve Huh7.5 cells was seeded in a 24-well-plate (or T₂₅ flask) the day before infection in 10% DMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂. The supernatant from the naïve cells was discarded. The supernatant from the transfection or infectivity experiment was thawed and centrifuged at 1500 x g for 10 min to avoid carryover of viable cells and 200µl per well of this was inoculated on to each well of the naïve Huh7.5 cells. In a T₂₅ flask, the 200µl inoculum was topped up with 800ml medium to cover a bigger surface area. The plate/flask was incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 1 hour rocking the plate every 15 minutes. The well was topped up to 1ml with 3% FCS DMEM growth medium (10ml for T₂₅ flask) and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂. The cells were incubated until day 16 post-infection and the supernatant harvested and replaced with fresh medium as required. The supernatant was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

2.53 Indirect immunofluorescence assay

The method was adapted from Gardner and McQuillin (Gardner, 1980).

2.53.1 Slide preparation

The medium from the infected cell cultures were removed leaving behind residual volume. A small area of cells was scraped into the medium using a plastic Pasteur pipette. 15µl of the cell suspension was pipetted onto a spot (one well/spot) on the multi-well PTFE-coated glass slide (Hendley-Essex Ltd., UK). The spots were air-dried in the hood before fixing the spots in ice-cold acetone for 10min. The slides were air-dried again and stored at -20°C until needed or proceeded to indirect immunofluorescence staining immediately.

2.53.2 Indirect immunofluorescence staining for HCVcc

Slides stored at -20°C were defrosted and air-dried. Each spot was covered with 15µl primary antibody diluted in PBS and incubated for 30min at 37°C in a moist box. The spots were washed gently with PBS using a Pasteur pipette and the slides soaked in PBS for 5mins. The slides were dried by first blotting excess liquid with tissue and then exposing them to a hair-dryer on cold setting. Each spot was covered with 15µl of sheep anti-mouse FITC conjugated antiserum diluted 1:50 in Evans blue (0.5% w/v in PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide diluted 1:1000in PBS) and incubated as described above. The slides were washed as before and soaked in distilled water for 1min before being dried as described previously. The staining was viewed under Type FF Cargille immersion oil (R.P. Cargille Laboratories Inc, USA) using a darkfield immunofluorescence microscope (Labphot 2, Nikon).

2.54 Effect of oleic acid concentration on Huh7.5 cell growth

4mM 10X oleic acid stock solution (Wolfbauer's)

9.5ml DMEM serum free medium 1.5g BSA

11.3mg Oleic acid (Sigma, St. Louis, USA)

Dissolved BSA in medium at 37°C, oleic acid added, stirred at 37°C until the solution becomes clear, pH adjusted to 7.0 with 1N NaOH, filter sterilized with 0.2 μ m filter, aliquoted in sterile screw-cap tubes, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at - 80°C.

2mM 10X oleic acid stock solution (Wolfbauer's)

9.5ml DMEM serum free medium1.5g BSA5.65mg Oleic acid (Sigma, St. Louis, USA)Prepared as above.

0.5mM 10X oleic acid stock solution (Wolfbauer's)

9.5ml DMEM serum free medium1.5g BSA1.41mg Oleic acid (Sigma, St. Louis, USA)Prepared as above.

BSA stock solution (no oleic acid)

9.5ml DMEM serum free medium 1.5g BSA Dissolved BSA in medium at 37°C, pH adjusted to 7.0 with 1N NaOH, filter sterilized with 0.2μm filter, aliquoted in sterile screw-cap tubes, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

PBS + 0.5% BSA / Wash solution 200ml PBS 1g BSA (BDH, Poole, Dorset)

Trypsin + EDTA solution 58.5ml PBS 642μl 100mM EDTA 1200μl 2.5% Trypsin (Gibco BRL, Paisley, UK)

FACS rinse buffer 200ml PBS 2g BSA BSA was added on the day of FACS Huh7.5 cells $(1X10^5$ cells/well) were plated in each well of a 6-well-plate and were grown in DMEM growth medium containing 10% FCS with a final volume of 4ml/well in a 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator. On day 2, the medium was replaced with 4ml 5% FCS DMEM growth medium. 450µl of 4mM, 2mM, 0.5mM of 10X oleic acid stock solution, and BSA stock solution only was added to each well and incubated in a 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator for another 2 days. These were repeated on day 4 and day 6.

On day 8, the supernatant was discarded and cells were washed twice with 5ml PBS + 0.5% BSA (wash solution). The cells were detached by adding 5ml of warm 37°C Trypsin + EDTA solution of which 4ml was removed and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 5 minute. 2ml of Huh7.5 growth medium was added to each well and a single cell suspension was made by pipetting the medium vigorously using a Pasteur pipette. 3ml of Huh7.5 growth medium was added and the cells were filtered through an 11µm filter (Millipore, Watford) into a 14ml Falcon tube. The cells were centrifuged at 180g for 10min, supernatant was discarded, and cell pellet resuspended in 1500ul FACS rinse buffer. The cell suspension was transferred into a 12x75mm, 5ml polystyrene, round bottom FACS tube (Becton Dickinson, Devon), stored on ice and covered with aluminium foil.

Propidium iodide staining was done immediately just before FACS analysis and the detail method is described in section Propidium iodide staining for FACS analysis. FACS analysis was recorded at time 0, 5, 10, and 20 minutes.

2.55 Treatment of cells with oleic acids

HepG2 cells, Huh7 cells, or Huh7.5 cells (0.7X10⁶ cells/well) were plated in each well of a 6-well-plate. HepG2 cells were grown in EMEM and Huh7.5 cells were grown in DMEM growth medium containing 10% FCS with a final volume of 4ml/well in a 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator. The respective growth medium was replaced on day 2 or day 3. On day 5, the cells in each well were washed twice with warm (37°C) PBS and once with warm (37°C) EMEM or DMEM serum free medium as appropriate. Serum free medium (4ml) and 450µl BSA with or without oleic acid was added to each well and then incubated in 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator. Supernatants (conditioned media) were harvested in sterile 15ml conical tubes on day 7 and centrifuged at 1500rpm for 5min in MSE 2000 centrifuge to pellet any cells. The supernatants were then transferred into fresh tubes.

2.56 Separation of VLDL and LDL by Potassium Bromide sequential ultracentrifugation from cell culture medium

Initially, 8ml (4ml x 2 wells of 6-well plates) each of HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell culture medium were harvested from cell culture as described in section Treatment of cells with oleic acids.

KBr (0.57g) was added to 4ml conditioned media per tube to obtain a density of 1.10g/ml. The solution was carefully pipetted into the bottom of an ultra-clear 14 X 95mm centrifuge tubes (Beckman, Palo Alto, USA). The medium was overlaid with 3ml each of 1.063g/ml and 1.019g/ml KBr solutions and 2ml of 1.006g/ml NaCl solution sequentially and ultracentrifuged at 40 000rpm, 15°C for 21 hours. The top layer (1ml) VLDL with density < 1.006g/ml followed by a 4.5ml of IDL/LDL with density of 1.02g/ml-1.063g/ml were collected from two tubes and pooled. The samples were concentrated to 140µl each using a Vivaspin 2ml concentrator with

100,000 MWCO (Fischer, Loughborough, Leicestershire) by centrifuging at 4000g at 4°C for 30min or more.

2.57 Delipidation / Protein Precipitation

All solvents / solutions were prechilled on ice and method performed on ice. Four (560ul) volumes of chilled methanol were added to one volume (140µl) of sample protein and vortexed. Two (280µl) volumes of chilled chloroform were then added and vortexed. This was then followed with 3 (420µl) volumes of chilled water and again vortexed. The samples were then centrifuged at 16,000g for 2.5minutes at 4°C and using a drawn-out pipette, most of the upper phase was removed leaving the inter-and lower phases behind. Three (420µl) volumes of chilled methanol were then added and samples vortexed before being incubated on ice for 3 minutes. Next, the sample was centrifuged at 14 000rpm for 2.5minutes at 4°C, supernatant removed and the pellet air-dried at room temperature.

2.58 Preparation of VLDL 1, 2, and 3 by flotation ultracentrifugation with Sodium Chloride gradient from cell culture medium

VLDL was fractionated into VLDL 1, 2, and 3 using the method described by Lindgren and Jensen (Lindgren, 1972).

Initially, 48ml (4ml x 12 wells of 6-well plates) each of Huh7 and Huh7.5 cell culture medium harvested from cell culture as described in section Treatment of cells with oleic acids was concentrated using Vivaspin 6ml concentrators with 100,000 MWCO

(Fischer, Loughborough, Leicestershire) by centrifuging at 4000g at 4°C for 30min or until a 9ml-volume was achieved.

A 10ml NaCl gradient was prepared, containing layers of different NaCl densities in an ultra-clear 14 X 95mm centrifuge tubes (Beckman, Palo Alto, USA), on top of the sample layer. The bottom-most layer in the tube contained 3ml of the concentrated cell culture medium containing NaCl to achieve a density of 1.1g/ml. This was overlaid by 1ml of 1.0464g/ml, 1ml of 1.0336g/ml, 2ml of 1.0271g/ml, 2ml of 1.0197g/l, 2ml of 1.0117g/ml and 2ml of 1.0064g/ml NaCl. The gradient was centrifuged at 35000rpm in a SW40 swing-out rotor in a Beckman L8-70 ultracentrifuge at 23°C for 144 minutes. The top 1ml of VLDL1 ($S_f > 100$) was harvested and the remaining material was topped up with fresh 1.0064g/ml NaCl. The gradient was centrifuged for a further 108 minutes, 1ml of top VLDL2 ($S_f > 60$) layer was collected, and the gradient topped up with more 1.0064g/ml NaCl before centrifuging the gradient again for 18 hours 38 minutes. The top 0.5ml layer of VLDL3 (S_f >20) was collected. VLDL 1, VLDL 2 and VLDL 3 fractions were concentrated to about 240µl each using a Vivaspin 6ml concentrator with 100,000 MWCO (Fischer, Loughborough, Leicestershire) by centrifuging at 4000g at 4°C for ~10min or more depending on the flow rate using a Jouan centrifuge CR422 (Henderson Biomedical Ltd, Kent, UK). The samples were transferred into microfuge tube, topped up to 280μ l each, and stored at -20° C.

2.59 3%-18% gradient SDS-PAGE

Low concentration acrylamide stock 25ml 40% acrylamide (AMS Biotechnology, Oxon) 500 mg methylene-bis-acrylamide (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 75ml of distilled water

High concentration acrylamide stock

80ml 40% acrylamide (AMS Biotechnology, Oxon) 960mg methylene-bis-acrylamide (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)

3% acrylamide solution

9ml "low concentration acrylamide stock solution"
15ml resolving gel buffer pH 8.8
6ml distilled water
200µl 10% ammonium peroxodisulphate (APS) (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)
11µl N,N,N, N-tetramethyletylenediamine (TEMED) (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
The solution was degassed with a vacuum pump before adding freshly prepared 10%
APS and TEMED.

18% acrylamide

11.7ml "high concentration acrylamide stock solution"
13ml resolving gel buffer pH 8.8
3.9g sucrose (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
180µl of fresh 10% APS (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset)
9µl TEMED (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
The solution was degassed with a vacuum pump before adding freshly prepared 10% APS and TEMED.

2x resolving buffer pH 8.8
36.3g Tris (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
0.8g SDS (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
350ml distilled water
The pH was adjusted to 8.8 and made up to 400ml with distilled water

8x stacking gel buffer 6.05g Tris (BDH, Poole, Dorset) 40mls distilled water The pH was adjusted to 6.8 and made up to 50ml with water

<u>10% APS</u> 500mg APS (BDH, Poole, Dorset) 4.5ml distilled water This was used fresh.

<u>6x sample buffer</u>
15ml 8x stacking gel buffer
30g glycerol (BDH, Poole, Dorset)
4.8g SDS (BDH)
6mg bromophenol blue (BDH)
The volume was adjusted to 40ml with distilled water
6ml β-mercaptoethanol (BDH) was added before use

Running buffer for acrylamide gels 12.1g Tris HCl (BDH, Poole, Dorset) 4.0g SDS (BDH) 57.6g glycine (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 4 litres distilled water

18%-3% gradient gels were prepared in a Protein II xi cell (BioRad, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire) using a two chamber gradient maker (Jencons, Forest Row, East Sussex). The gel was left to set, with a 15-well comb, for 2 hours. 100µl of sample were mixed with 25µl of 6x sample buffer, boiled for 3 minutes and spun before application to the gel. Molecular weight markers (MWM) (Broad Range Mol.Wt Standard Mixture from NEB) containing 212kDa Myosin, 158kDa MBP-β-galactosidase, 116kDa β-Galactosidase, 97kDa Phosphorylase b, 66kDa Serum albumin, 56kDa Glutamic dehydrogenase, 43kDa Maltose-binding protein2 and 36kDa Thioredoxin reductase, 27kDa Triosephosphate isomerase and 20kDa Trypsin inhibitor, 14kDa Lysozyme, and 6kDa Aprotinin were added to each of two wells. Once the samples were added, the gel was connected up to a current at 24-26 mA on the Power Supply Model EPS 600 (Pharmacia Biotech, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire), and run overnight, in running buffer.

2.60 Western blotting

This protocol was taken from Harlow and Cane in 1988.

Blocking solutions

360ml PBS
40ml FCS (Invitrogen, Paisley) (heat inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes)
20g Marvel milk powder (Sainsburys, South Shields, Tyne and Wear)
800µl 20% NaN₃ (BDH, Poole Dorset)
0.1% Tween (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) or 4g BSA

Blotting buffer with 10% methanol

500ml 3-[cyclohexylamino]-1-propanesulfonic acid (CAPS) buffer (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 4000ml distilled water 500ml methanol

CAPS buffer

11g CAPS (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 500ml distilled water The solution was stored at 4°C. One day before use, the bottle was placed at room temperature and the pH adjusted to 11.1 with 5M NaOH

Ponceau S Red

500mg Ponceau S Red Powder (3-hydroxy-4-[2-sulfophenyllazo0 phenylazo]-2,7napthalenedisulfonic acid) 25ml acetic acid 500ml distilled water

Following polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, the gel was placed in three changes of blotting buffer and mixed on the Model Sucro Agitator (Boots-Celltech Diagnostics Limited, Slough) for 20 minutes each change. 2 pieces of Polyvinylidene di-flouride membrane PVDF (Amersham Biosciences, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire) and 8 pieces of 3MM chromatography paper (Whatman, Middlesex) were soaked in the blotting buffer and the gel was placed between the membranes. This assembly was placed between two pieces of blotting paper and clipped together in a plastic cassette, placed in a Bio-rad 'Trans –blot' cell and connected to the Power Supply Model EPS 600 (Pharmacia Biotech, Buckinghamshire) at 120 volts for 4 hours.

After transfer, the membrane was washed with 250ml of 5% acetic acid followed by 250ml 1% Ponceau S Red and 250ml distilled water to visualize the protein bands. The MWM were cut off, and the rest of the membrane was washed in distilled water and then PBS. The membrane was blocked with 'PBS with 10% FCS, Milk and BSA' overnight.

After the blocking stage, the solution was removed and the membranes were incubated for an hour in 'PBS-Tween and 10% FCS, Milk and BSA' and then washed twice for 5 minutes in PBS-Tween. The membrane was washed for 5 minutes in PBS-Tween containing 10% FCS and BSA.

The membrane was incubated for 90 minutes with the first antibody, at a dilution of 1:6,000. The membrane was washed three times for 20 minutes and once for 30 minutes in PBS-Tween. The membrane was incubated for 5 minutes in PBS-Tween containing 10% FCS and BSA before a 90 minute incubation with the second antibody, swine anti-rabbit conjugated to horse radish peroxidase (DAKO, Ely, Cambridgeshire) at a dilution of 1:6,000.

The stained membrane was given three 15 minute and one thirty minute wash with PBS-Tween, and then one 5 minute wash with PBS. It was developed using the Amersham ECL Plus Western Blotting detection system, following manufacturers instructions.

2.61 Protein visualization

<u>Coomassie blue</u> 500ml methanol 1g coomassie blue dye 100ml acetic acid 400ml distilled water

Destain solution 800ml distilled water 1000ml methanol 200ml of acetic acid The gel was incubated with 250ml coomasie blue overnight and destained the following day by soaking in 250ml destain solution. The results were recorded using a Bio-Rad GS-800 calibrated densitometer and Quantitiy One software.

2.62 Stripping the membrane

Stripping solution 200ml distilled water 50ml 2x stacking gel buffer, pH 6.8 4g sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 1.6ml β mercaptoethanol

2x Stacking gel buffer 6.06g Tris 0.4g SDS (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) 150ml distilled water The pH was adjusted to 6.8 and then made up to 200ml with distilled water

The protocol was used from 'Amersham Biosciences Manual for ECL Plus Western Blotting Detection Reagents', with extra wash steps using water. The membrane was soaked in 100ml acetonitrile for 10 minutes and 100ml of stripping buffer and incubated at 50°C for 30 minutes. It was washed twice with PBS-0.1% Tween (Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset) for 10 minutes. The membrane was left in PBS with FCS, Milk and BSA overnight, before the membrane was stained with another antibody the following day.

2.63 Infection and culture of the HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid – an optimization

 2×10^4 cells/ml per well of naïve Huh7.5 cells was seeded in a 24-well-plate the day before infection in 1ml 10% DMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂ as described in section 2.52 except that the cells were incubated until day 11 post-infection and the supernatant harvested for RNA samplings on day 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11 and replaced with fresh medium as required. The inoculum used was a passage 4 of J6/JFH1 RNA-transfected Huh7.5 cells or a pooled inoculum of varying passages of the alleged J6/JFH1 HCVcc with HCVcc RNA quantity of 1.8 X 10⁵ IU per well from snap-frozen, thawed and centrifuged supernatant samples. The cell culture medium used until day 11 was 3% FCS DMEM growth medium. The harvested supernatant was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

On day 11, the cells were washed twice with warm PBS after saving the supernatant and 1ml of 1)3% FCS DMEM growth medium + 1.5% BSA, 2)3% FCS DMEM growth medium + 0.4mM oleic acid, 3)DMEM serum free medium + 1.5% BSA or 4) DMEM serum free medium + 0.4mM oleic acid was added to each well. The supernatant was harvested on alternate day until day 16 post-infection replacing the cells with respective fresh medium. The harvested supernatant samples were snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. The bulk of day 16 samples were not frozen but concentrated immediately for iodixanol gradient preparation and gel filtration column as described in the following sections 2.64 and 2.65 respectively.

2.64 Iodixanol gradient preparation of supernatant from J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5

<u>6% Iodixanol solution</u>
1.7ml 60% Iodixanol
340μl 500mM Tris.HCl pH 8.0
340μl 100mM EDTA pH 8.0
14.62ml 0.25M sucrose in DEPC water
85μl 2M MgSO₄ pH 7.8
The solution was mixed well.

56% Iodixanol solution
16ml 60% Iodixanol
340μl 500mM Tris.HCl pH 8.0
340μl 100mM EDTA pH 8.0
320μl 0.25M sucrose in DEPC water
85μl 2M MgSO₄ pH 7.8
The solution was mixed well.

A 5ml pool of day 16 post-infection supernatant samples from section Infection and culture of the HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid – an optimization was concentrated using Vivaspin 6ml concentrators with 100,000 MWCO (Fischer, Loughborough, Leicestershire) by centrifuging at 3000g at 4°C for 30min or until 0.5ml volume is achieved. The concentrated supernatants were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

Iodixanol (Optiprep, Axis-Shield) density gradients (preformed) were prepared from 2 iodixanol buffered solutions (6% and 56%) above. The 6% iodixanol (13.24ml) was loaded to the right chamber and 10.76ml of the 56% iodixanol was loaded to the left chamber of a two-chamber gradient maker (Jencons, Leighton Buzzard, UK). The 6% and the 56% iodixanol solutions were pumped into an SW40 centrifuge tube containing 1.5ml of the 56% iodixanol at the bottom creating a density gradient.

The frozen concentrated supernatants (0.5ml each) from J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 treated with or without oleic acid were thawed in 37°C waterbath and applied onto the Iodixanol gradients. The samples were then centrifuged at 27,000rpm for 22hrs at 4°C with acceleration setting 7 and deceleration setting 0 in an SW40 rotor, Beckman L8-70 M ultracentrifuge. The gradient was harvested from the bottom by puncturing the tube with a heated Model 184 tube piercer (Isco, Lincoln, USA) and collected in 27 (0.5ml each) fractions. The density of each fraction was measured
using a digital refractometer (Atago, Japan). 300μ l of each of the 27 fractions was used for RNA quantitation using real-time PCR as described in section RT-PCR with primers NCR-3 + NCR-5 and probe SN1.

2.65 Gel filtration preparation of supernatant from J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5

Elution buffer 20mM Tris.HCl pH 8.0 0.25M sucrose 2mM EDTA 2mM MgSO₄ 2mM MgCl₂ 0.02% NaN₃

A 30ml pool of day 16 post-infection supernatant samples from section Infection and culture of the HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid – an optimization was concentrated using Vivaspin 6ml concentrators with 100,000 MWCO (Fischer, Loughborough, Leicestershire) by centrifuging at 3000g at 4°C for 30min or until 4ml volume is achieved. The concentrated supernatants were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

Gel filtration column was prepared by packing an XK 26/100 (GE Healthcare) column with Toyopearl HW-75S (Tosoh Corporation) as described by Nielsen *et al.* (Nielsen et al., 2008). The column was heated to 37°C and ran with a flow rate of 1ml/min. Calibration of the Toyopearl column was carried out using purified chylomicrons, VLDL-1, VLDL-2, IDL, and LDL (Nielsen et al., 2008, Okazaki et al., 2005).

The frozen concentrated supernatants (4ml each) from J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 treated with or without oleic acid were thawed in 37° C waterbath and injected on to the gel filtration column. 48 fractions (4ml per fraction) were collected for analysis. For RNA analysis, two fractions (8ml) were pooled from the 48 fractions reducing the number of samples to 24. 600µl from each of the 24 fractions was used for RNA quantitation using real-time PCR as described in section RT-PCR with primers NCR-3 + NCR-5 and probe SN1.

Chapter 3

3 Results I

3.1 Studies on the binding of liver-derived HCV LVP and host lipoproteins to HepG2 cells

Martin (Martin, 2005) found that LLVP paralleled LDL in being taken up more efficiently in LPDS/insulin treated cells suggesting that LLVP bind and are taken up via LDLr. Agnello et al (Agnello et al., 1999) have shown that the binding and entry of blood derived particles containing HCV RNA shows an association with LDLr expression on cells and this can be completely inhibited by pre-incubating the cells with anti-LDLr antibody.

Martin (Martin, 2005) has demonstrated that LLVP binds better to LPDS/insulin treated cells than hydroxyl 25-OH treated cells and that this correlates with raised LDLr expression. Also binding can be blocked by pre-incubation with LDL. If HCV is binding via the interaction of the host lipoprotein moiety of the LLVP to LDLr, it should be inhibited by anti-apoB and anti-apoE antibodies. To test this hypothesis, the following experiment was done.

3.2 Anti-apoB-100 and anti-apoE antibodies do not block binding of LLVP

The purpose of this experiment was to see if polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB-100 antibody or a combination of anti-apoB-100 and anti-apoE antibodies prevented the uptake of LVP of the liver macerate into the HepG2 cells.

The method used followed that of section 2.11 (LLVP uptake assay). Confluent, duplicate (in a 6-well-plate) cultures of HepG2 cells were maintained in HepG2

growth medium for 2 days and treated with LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium for 3 days. On day 5, the cells were washed and treated with 20µg/ml normal rabbit IgG, 20µg/ml polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB-100 antibody, a combination of 20µg/ml anti-apoB-100 and 50µg/ml anti-apoE antibodies, or a combination of 20µg/ml antiapoB-100 and 100µg/ml anti-apoE antibodies added to 3µl of LLVP for 30 minutes prior to incubation with HepG2 cells in 800µl labelling medium.

The results are presented in figure 16. There was a significant increase ($p \le 0.05$) of 59.2% HCV RNA uptake when LLVP was treated with rabbit anti-apoB100 antibody compared to normal rabbit IgG. There seemed to be an enhancing effect rather than a blocking effect when the LLVP was exposed to anti-apoB100 antibody. This experiment was repeated twice more with a similar result; an increase of 74.1% and 57.71% following treatment of LLVP with 20µg/ml polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB-100 antibody.

For the combination of $20\mu g/ml$ anti-apoB Ab + $50\mu g/ml$ or $100\mu g/ml$ anti-apoE antibodies treatment, the result showed an enhanced uptake of LLVP above that of LLVP uptake when treated with anti-apoB antibody treatment alone. The $20\mu g/ml$ anti-apoB Ab + $50\mu g/ml$ or $100\mu g/ml$ anti-apoE antibodies combination treatment showed a further increase of 35.7% (p=0.04) or 15.0% (p=0.12) respectively of the LLVP uptake in comparison to LLVP treated with $20\mu g/ml$ anti-apoB antibody treatment alone. In a second experiment, there was only a slight further increase of 4.1% (p=0.87) or 1.9% (p=0.96) increment respectively.

In a further experiment, 50µg/ml or 100µg/ml anti-apoE was used to see if anti-apoE antibody alone has a blocking effect on the LLVP binding. There was a slight increase of 7.2% or 11.9% respectively over that of normal rabbit IgG treatment and the results were not significantly different.

The results of this experiment showed that anti-apoB enhances the uptake of LLVP into HepG2 cells whereas anti-apoE does not.

Instead of anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE blocking the uptake of LLVP into the HepG2 cells, anti-apoE was without effect and anti-apoB100 actually enhanced the uptake of LLVP. This paralleled the increase in oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells when it was exposed to anti-apoB100 antibody. A possible reason for the enhanced uptake could be aggregation of the LLVP mediated by the polyclonal antibodies. To test if the anti-apoB100 polyclonal antibodies did cause the aggregation of LLVP, an immunoprecipitation experiment in the next section was carried out.



Antibody Treatment

Figure 16: Mean HCV RNA from LLVP infected HepG2 cells. The LLVP was incubated with anti-apoB100, combinations of anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE, or control antibody prior to infection.

3.3 Immunoprecipitation experiment to test for aggregation of LLVP

Following the result above, an experiment was done to see if anti-apoB100 antibody caused aggregation of the LLVP. If anti-apoB recognizes and binds the LLVP, it would aggregate the LLVP and the aggregation could be brought down by centrifugation at low speed (3000g) and hence, less LLVP would be found in the supernatant.

LLVP (1.2 X 10^6 IU HCV RNA in 3µl) was incubated with $20\mu g/ml$ (16µg) polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB100 or normal rabbit IgG in 800µl labelling medium (8.5% LPDS and serum free medium) for 3 hours in $37^{\circ}C$ CO₂ incubator. After incubation, the tubes are centrifuged at 3 000g for 40 minutes. RNA from both pellets and supernatants were extracted using a QIAamp kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer instructions. The final RNA elution volume was 100µl. The HCV RNA was quantitated using RT-PCR as described in section 2.23.

The results as shown in table 5 and figure 17 confirmed that LLVP was aggregated by anti-apoB100 antibody because there is a higher mean HCV RNA reading of 4 162 583 IU (62.5%) in the pellet when compared to 2 495 327 IU (37.5%) in the supernatant. This aggregation effect is a common phenomenon for experiments involving polyclonal antibody. This effect gave an enhanced reading of LLVP uptake into HepG2 cells in the LLVP uptake or infectivity experiment as opposed to if there is no aggregation taking place and hence, less amount of LLVP will be taken up by the cells. The polyclonal antibodies mediated aggregation could promote Fc receptor-mediated uptake or the aggregation of LLVP would probably increase the surface area allowing easier access to the cellular receptors and hence increase uptake by the cells.

Antibody (20μg/ml)	Supernatant/pellet	mean HCV RNA (IU)	standard deviation	Percentage of total
Normal rabbit IgG	supernatant	3447684	469792.59	72.5%
Normal rabbit IgG	pellet	1310940	231450.19	27.5%
anti-apoB	supernatant	2495327	91047.423	37.5%
anti-apoB	pellet	4162583	359326.92	62.5%

Table 5: Percentage of LVP HCV RNA in supernatant and pellet in a test for LLVP aggregation by anti-apoB100 polyclonal antibody.



Aggregation Test for LVP

Antibody Treatment

Figure 17: Aggregation test for LLVP.

3.4 Dil-oxLDL uptake by HepG2 cells under different drug treatments

LDL binds both to the LDL receptor (Hajjar et al., 1997) and scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1) (Steinbrecher, 1999). Oxidized LDL binds to SR-B1 but not to the LDL receptor (Hajjar, 1997). LDL receptor expression can be reduced with hydroxycholesterol (25-OH) (Srivastava et al., 1995) and increased by removal of low density lipoproteins from the medium and addition of insulin (Agnello et al., 1999, Wade et al., 1988). The effect of these conditions on the expression of SR-B1 is not clear.

The result obtained in section 3.2 above in that anti-apoB100 antibody enhances the uptake of LLVP suggests that LLVP is not binding to LDLr. As Martin (Martin, 2005) has shown that LLVP binding can be blocked by pre-incubation to both LDL and oxLDL, LLVP may mimic binding of oxLDL, which binds to SR-B1 via oxidised ligands on the particle's surface. To test whether oxLDL binding is also affected by 25-OH and LPDS plus insulin treatment the following experiment was carried out.

The purpose of this experiment was to make comparisons of DiI-oxLDL uptake by HepG2 cells to that of DiI-LDL under different conditions of the LDL receptors expression.

Confluent, triplicate (in a 6-well-plate) cultures of HepG2 cells were maintained in HepG2 growth medium containing either 10% FCS for 3 days, 8.5% LPDS and 0.1% insulin for 3 days, or in growth medium containing 10% FCS and 0.00025% 25-OH for 2 days (25-OH is toxic to cells) as described in section 2.7. The cells were washed and incubated with 1ml labelling medium containing either 25ul DiI-LDL (10 μ g/well) or 35ul DiI-oxLDL (14 μ g/well) 3 hours in 37°C CO2 incubator. The cells were harvested and prepared for FACS analysis as described in section 2.15.

The results are presented in figures 18 and 19, as well as, tables 6, 7, 8, and 9. There is a significant decrease of 28% mean intensity of DiI-LDL uptake by HepG2 cells when cells are pre-incubated in hydroxycholesterol, whereas, there is a significant 150% increase in mean intensity when cells are cultured in LPDS + insulin. However, there is little change in the DiI-oxLDL uptake by HepG2 treated with

hydroxycholesterol, whereas, there is an 88% significant increase in mean intensity when cells were treated with LPDS + insulin.



Uptake of Dil-LDL under Different Drug Treatment

Drug Treatment

Figure 18: Mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-LDL uptake into HepG2 cells treated with different drugs.

Treatme	Mean	Standard		
HepG2 Medium	LDL	Intensity	Deviation	
10% FCS,	No DiI-LDL			
LPDS + insulin,				
FCS + 25-OH		4	1	
10% FCS	DiI-LDL	1 191	87	
FCS + 25-OH	DiI-LDL	856	46	
LPDS + insulin	DiI-LDL	2 984	317	

 Table 6: Mean intensity and standard deviation of DiI-LDL uptake into HepG2 cells treated with FCS + 25-OH and LPDS + insulin.

	P value	Significant	% change
Samples compared		if p <u><</u> 0.05	
10% FCS vs.			
FCS + 25-OH	0.0042	yes	28% decrease
10% FCS vs.			
LPDS + insulin	0.0006	yes	150%
			increase

 Table 7: P value and percentage change of the sample comparisons of DiI-LDL uptake into

 HepG2 cells treated with FCS + 25-OH and LPDS + insulin.



Uptake of Dil-oxLDL under Different Drug Treatment

Figure 19: Mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells treated with different drugs.

Treatment		Average	Standard	
HepG2 Medium	LDL	Intensity	Deviation	
10% FCS,	No DiI-oxLDL			
LPDS + insulin,				
FCS + 25-OH		4	1	
10% FCS	DiI-oxLDL	76	2	
FCS + 25-OH	DiI-oxLDL	78	12	
LPDS + insulin	DiI-oxLDL	143	22	

 Table 8: Mean intensity and standard deviation of DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells treated with FCS + 25-OH and LPDS + insulin.

	P value	Significant if	% change
Samples compared		p <u>≤</u> 0.05	
10% FCS vs.			
FCS + 25-OH	0.821	no	2.63% increase
10% FCS vs.			
LPDS + insulin	0.006	yes	88% increase

 Table 9: P value and percentage change of the sample comparisons of DiI-oxLDL uptake into

 HepG2 cells treated with FCS + 25-OH and LPDS + insulin.

3.5 Effect of anti-apoB100 antibody on the binding of Dil-LDL and Dil-oxLDL

The increased binding of ox-LDL in cultures incubated in LPDS and insulin, designed to upregulate LDLr expression suggests that oxLDL may be taken up by residual binding of apoB100 to LDLr rather than by the SR-B1 receptor through recognition of oxidized ligands on the surface of oxLDL particle. If so, binding should be blocked with anti-apoB100 antibody. In this experiment therefore, we have tested the ability of anti-apoB100 antibody to block DiI-oxLDL uptake.

Duplicate cultures of HepG2 cells seeded at $0.7X10^6$ cells/well treated with LPDS + insulin (0.1%) medium as decribed in in section 2.14. Treated cells were incubated with either 25µl DiI-LDL or DiI-oxLDL preincubated with or without 20µg/ml normal rabbit IgG or 20µg/ml polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB100 antibody. The cells were harvested and prepared for FACS analysis as in section 2.15.

The results are presented in figures 20 and 21. Statistical analyses of the results are presented in Table 10. Whereas preincubation of DiI-LDL with anti-apoB100 antibody reduced binding by 98%, significant reduction when compared to pre-incubation with normal IgG, similar treatment of DiI-oxLDL produced an increase, not a decrease although this change did not achieve significance.

As seen previously, the binding of DiI-oxLDL was much lower (6.5%) than that of DiI-LDL. These results suggest that binding of oxLDL is not apoB100 dependent and therefore quite different from binding of LDL. The mechanism of increased binding of oxLDL mediated by LPDS + insulin thus remains unclear.



Comparison of Dil-LDL Uptake with Different Antibody Treatment

Figure 20: Mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-LDL uptake into HepG2 cells following different antibody treatment.



Comparison of Dil-oxLDL Uptake with Different Antibody Treatment

Antibody Treatment

Figure 21: Mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells following different antibody treatment.

Antibody and LDL/oxLDL Treatment	P value	% change
no Ab + Dil-LDL vs anti-apoB Ab + Dil-LDL	0.090	- 98%
normal rabbit IgG + Dil-LDL vs anti-apoB Ab + Dil-LDL	0.002	- 98%
no Ab + Dil-oxLDL vs anti-apoB Ab + Dil-oxLDL	0.101	+ 151%
normal rabbit IgG + Dil-oxLDL vs anti-apoB Ab + Dil-oxLDL	0.094	+ 154%

 Table 10: A comparison of percentage differences on the mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-LDL or DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells following different antibody treatment.

3.6 Effect of suramine wash on Dil-ox-LDL bound to HepG2 cell surface

3.6.1 Assessed by confocal microscopy

In the following experiments, we set out to test the suramine sensitivity/resistance of oxLDL binding compared to that of LDL. Suramine is a polyanion that can remove LDL bound to glycosaminoglycans (GAG) on the cell surface (Brown and Goldstein, 1986). At 0°C, cell membrane's fluidity decreases, blocking any uptake of bound material whereas at 37°C, bound material on the cell's surface will be taken up by the cell (Jarvis, 2000).

Martin (Martin, 2005) demonstrated that when HepG2 cells were incubated at 4°C with DiI-LDL, the dye bound onto the surface and was visible by confocal microscopy. After a suramine wash, DiI-LDL was removed (Martin, 2005). At 37°C, the cells internalised the DiI-LDL and hence, the result before and after the suramine wash was similar with only a slight reduction post-suramine wash representing the proportion of DiI-LDL which remained on the cell surface. The effect of a suramine wash on LLVP binding was more complex. Although after 3h at 0°C, the binding of HCV LLVP was found significantly suramine sensitive; with time, it became progressively resistant to suramine. At 37°C, suramine had removed only a minority of bound material in a manner analogous to the reduction in DiI-LDL binding. The purpose of this experiment was to see how DiI-oxLDL behaves under the same conditions.

HepG2 cells cultured in 60mm x 15mm Petri dish, treated with 8.5% LPDS plus 0.1% insulin, were incubated with 10 μ g/ml of DiI-LDL or 14 μ g/ml of DiI-oxLDL at 0°C or 37°C for 3 hours. Cells were then washed with cold PBS containing 0.5 % BSA, incubated with or without 10mg/ml suramine solution for 30 minutes at 4°C. The wash step was repeated and 4ml ice-cold EMEM growth medium with 10 % FCS was then added. The cells were examined using confocal microscopy. The platform of the microscope was adjusted to move the point of focus through the cells allowing the mid-sections of the cells to be visualised. Detailed confocal microscopy method is described in section confocal microscopy.

The results of the confocal microscopy are presented in figures 22 and 23. As expected, low levels of DiI-LDL were bound to cells at 0°C and remained associated with the cell membrane. This was largely removed after a suramine wash. At 37°C, much higher levels of DiI-LDL binding were evident which was not removed by suramine washing and appeared to be intracellular. Although because of the low levels of binding it was difficult to assess the effect of suramine wash on the DiI-oxLDL either at 0°C or at 37°C, binding of DiI-oxLDL did not appear substantially increased at 37°C and any effect of suramine wash on the DiI-oxLDL was not discernible either at 0°C or at 37°C.



Figure 22: Confocal pictures of DiI-LDL or DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells at 0°C with or without suramine wash.



Figure 23: Confocal pictures of DiI-LDL or DiI-oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells at 37° C with or without suramine wash.

3.6.2 Assessed by FACS analysis

In order to quantitate the results from the above analysis the experiment was repeated but DiI labelled lipoprotein binding was measured by FACS analysis rather than confocal microscopy.

Confluent, duplicate (seeded at 0.3×10^6 cells/well in a 6-well-plate) cultures of HepG2 cells, treated with 8.5% LPDS plus 0.1% insulin, were incubated with 10µg/ml of DiI-LDL or 14µg/ml of DiI-oxLDL at 0°C or 37°C for 3 hours. Cells

were then washed with cold PBS containing 0.5 % BSA, incubated with or without 10mg/ml suramine solution for 30 minutes at 4°C. The wash step was repeated and 4ml ice-cold EMEM growth medium with 10 % FCS was then added. Detailed method is described in section 2.15 except that cell cultures were maintained in a 6-well-plate and that the incubation with suramine step was eliminated since it had been done.



Labelling treatment

Figure 24: A graph showing the mean fluorescence intensity of DiI-LDL and DiI-oxLDL taken up by HepG2 cells after a 3-hour-exposure at 0°C without or after a suramine wash.



Labelling treatment



From the results in figures 24 and 25, it can be seen that there is a significant 6.10 fold (P = 0.006) reduction of DiI-LDL binding after the suramine wash at 0° C and a significant 0.27 fold (P = 0.003) reduction at 37°C.

Although oxLDL, appeared to be sensitive to suramine at 0°C as seen in figure 24, with a 2.67 fold reduction, the result is not significant (P = 0.06). At 37°C however, the intensity reading remains similar before and after the suramine wash. In fact, there is a slight increase in oxLDL uptake after the suramine wash but this result is not significant (P = 0.5).

At 0°C, the reduction in DiI-oxLDL binding by suramine to insulin treated HepG2 parallels that observed by Martin for LLVP 44.3% reduction (Martin et al., 2008). However at 37°C, whereas Martin reports a 1.5 fold reduction in LLVP binding, here, oxLDL binding is increased by suramine wash. Thus, the mechanism of uptake of oxLDL, although differing in degree from that of LDL, shows a similar pattern to that of LLVP – being suramine sensitive after 3 hours at 0°C.

3.7 Result summary of the LLVP uptake assay

I have shown that LLVP binding to HepG2 resembles binding of oxidised low density lipoprotein (oxLDL) more closely than that of low density lipoprotein (LDL). Thus, whereas anti-apoB100 antibodies blocked uptake of LDL by HepG2 cells, the same antibody actually enhanced the uptake of both oxLDL and LLVP. We subsequently hypothesized that LLVP like oxLDL, binds to SR-B1 to enter and infect cells.

This hypothesis predicts that the established properties of LLVP binding to HepG2, including increased uptake by insulin treated cells and removal by suramine will be shared by the oxLDL/SR-B1 system.

3.8 Anti-LDLr and anti-SR-B1 antibodies titration

In an attempt to compare the expression of SR-B1 and LDLr on HepG2 cells under different drug treatments, antibodies against these receptors were used to quantify receptor expression. The antibodies to be used were first titrated before the actual comparison experiment was carried out. Anti-SR-B1 antibody NB400-104 and anti-LDLr antibodies 61099 and C7 were titrated on HepG2 cells maintained for 3 days on medium containing 8.5% LPDS plus 0.1% insulin. Normal rabbit IgG was titrated in parallel as a control for NB400-104 and 61099 which are both polyclonal rabbit antisera. An irrelevant anti-RSV-2G122 was titrated as a control for the mouse Mab C7. The rest of the detailed method is described in section 2.19.

The results of the titrations of anti-SR-B1 and anti-LDLr (61099 and C7) antibodies are presented in figures 26, 27 and 28. NRIg at 13μ g/ml gave only 13.5% of the binding seen with the anti-SR-B1 (NB400-104) antibody at 15μ g/ml (figure 26). Higher binding of anti-SR-B1 antibodies occurred at higher concentrations but suitable control immunoglobulin was not available for comparison. At 10μ g/ml NRIg gave a value which is only 14.3% of that for anti-LDLr (61099). Anti-RSV monoclonal antibody (2G 12-2) at 7.5 μ g/ml gave only 2.9% of the binding of anti-LDLr (C7) at 4μ g/ml. However, C7 binding was low at this concentration and a more concentrated antibody was not available.



Figure 26: Optimization of anti-SR-B1 (NB 400-104) antibody dilutions.



Figure 27: Optimization of anti-LDLr (61099) antibody dilutions.



Figure 28: Optimization of anti-LDLr (C7) antibody dilutions.

3.9 Effect of LPDS plus insulin and 2,5 hydroxycholesterol on the expression of LDLr and SR-B1 on HepG2 cells

In order to compare the effect of insulin on SR-B1 expression with the previously determined effect on LDLr expression and LLVP binding, SR-B1 expression was quantitated by FACS analysis with 15μ g/ml anti-SR-B1 (NB400-104) on normal untreated HepG2 cells grown in 10% Foetal Calf Serum, cells grown in LPDS plus insulin and cells grown in FCS plus hydroxylcholesterol as described in section 2.19.

Having found suitable titres for anti-SR-B1 NB 400-104 and anti-LDLr 61099 antibodies, the following experiment was carried out to determine the effect of LPDS plus insulin and 2,5 hydroxycholesterol on the expression of LDLr and SR-B1 on HepG2 cells.

HepG2 cells were seeded and treated with either EMEM growth medium with 10% FCS and 8.5% LPDS plus 0.1% insulin for 3 days or 25-OH for 2 days. The treated cells were trypsinized and pipetted vigorously until a single cell suspension was obtained. The cells were treated with 4% paraformaldehyde and 0.1% Saponin before being exposed to anti-SR-B1 (15 μ g/ml in 25 μ l/well) or anti-LDLr (10 μ g/ml in 25 μ l/well) antibodies and subsequently the bound antibody was detected with appropriate species specific secondary fluoresceinated anti-immunoglobulin and quantitated by FACS analysis as described in section 2.19.

The results are presented in figure 29 and 30. SR-B1 was down-regulated by LPDS plus insulin 1.2-fold (P = 0.002) and by hydroxycholesterol 1.4-fold (P = 0.002) compared to SR-B1 expressed in normal growth medium with 10% FCS.

In similar experiments the effect of insulin or hydroxycholesterol treatment on LDLr was determined using 10ug/ml anti-LDLr (61099). LDLr was up-regulated 2.2-fold (P = 0.0002) by LPDS plus insulin and down-regulated 1.3-fold (P = 0.001) by hydroxycholesterol when compared to LDLr expressed in normal growth medium with 10% FCS.



Drug, antibody treatment

Figure 29: The effect on SR-B1 receptor expression of different drugs treatment in HepG2 cells. The cells were stained with anti-SR-B1 or normal rabbit Ig (NRIg), secondary antibody or no primary and secondary antibody.



Drug, antibody treatment

Figure 30: The effect on LDL receptor expression of different drugs treatment in HepG2 cells. The cells were stained with 61099 anti-LDLr, NRIg, secondary antibody or no primary and secondary antibody.

3.10 The effect of LPDS plus insulin on LDLr and SR-B1 in non-hepatic cells

To see if the same phenomenon occurs in non-hepatocyte derived cells, a similar kind of experiment was carried out using Vero cells (monkey kidney cells) to compare with HepG2 cells.

0.7X10⁶ cells/well of either HepG2 or Vero cells were seeded and treated with either 8.5% LPDS plus 0.1% insulin or normal EMEM growth medium with 10% FCS for 3

days. The treated cells were trypsinized and pipetted vigorously until a single cell suspension was obtained. The cells were treated with 4% paraformaldehyde and 0.1% Saponin before being exposed to anti-SR-B1 (15 μ g/ml in 25 μ l/well) or anti-LDLr (10 μ g/ml in 25 μ l/well) antibodies and subsequently the bound antibody was detected with appropriate species specific secondary fluoresceinated anti-immunoglobulin and quantitated by FACS analysis as described in section 2.19.

The results are presented in figures 31 and 32. Figure 31 shows that the LDLr expression in HepG2 cells is higher by 1.6-fold (P = 0.001) and 2.6-fold (P = 0.0006) compared to the expression in Vero cells when treated with 10% FCS and LPDS plus insulin respectively. In Vero cells however, LPDS plus insulin down-regulate LDLr by 10%. Figure 32 show the SR-B1 expression in HepG2 is also higher by 1.9-fold (P = 0.002) and 2.4-fold (P = 0.0003) compared to the expression of SR-B1 in Vero treated with 10% FCS and LPDS plus insulin respectively. In Vero cells however, LPDS plus insulin down-regulates SR-B1 by 7.5%. Binding of LLVP to Vero cells was higher than that to HepG2 cells (Martin, 2005) and hence, does not correlate with SR-B1 and LDLr as shown in the experiments above.



Figure 31: The effect of LPDS plus insulin on the expression of LDLr on HepG2 cells and Vero cells.



Figure 32: The effect of LPDS plus insulin on the expression of SR-B1 on HepG2 cells and Vero cells.

Summary

SR-B1 expression in HepG2 cells was slightly lowered by insulin treatment in the first experiment and slightly raised in the second suggesting that this receptor is not affected by insulin. These experiments, therefore, do not confirm the predictions for the hypothesis that LLVP and oxLDL, binds to insulin treated HepG2 cells via SR-B1. These results do not preclude the involvement of SR-B1 in binding but indicate that other insulin-dependent factors are as or more important.

Recent development in some of the experiments carried out by Dr. Nielsen indicate that LLVP semi-purified on iodixanol gradients may contain viral RNA containing microsomal membrane particles created during the maceration of the liver (Nielsen et al., 2008). In light of this, it is not clear whether the HCV RNA bound to HepG2 cells in the binding studies presented here represents the binding of LLVP or microsomal membrane fragments.

3.11 Effect of anti-E2 HCV antibody and anti-HVR-1 monoclonal antibody blocking binding of LLVP

Bartosch *et al* (Bartosch et al., 2003b) have suggested that binding of HCV pseudotype particles to SR-B1 is dependent upon the E2 glycoprotein. In order to assess the role of E2 in the binding of liver derived HCV LVP to HepG2 cells, polyclonal anti-E2 antibody and a monoclonal antibody to the E2 hypervariable region previously shown in an immunoprecipitation experiment to bind to S6 HCV (Nielsen et al., 2006) were tested for their ability to block LLVP binding.

The method used followed that of section 2.11 (LLVP uptake assay). Confluent, duplicate (in a 6-well-plate) cultures of HepG2 cells were maintained in HepG2

growth medium for 2 days and treated with LPDS (8.5%) + insulin (0.1%) medium for 3 days. On day 5, the cells were washed and treated with 20µg/ml normal goat antibody, 20µg/ml or 100µg/ml polyclonal goat anti-E2 HCV (B65581G) antibody, 20µg/ml anti-RSV-F (2G122) monoclonal antibody, or 20µg/ml or 100µg/ml anti-HVR-1 (3C7-C3) of HCV E2 monoclonal antibody added to 3ul of LLVP for 30 minutes prior to incubation with HepG2 cells in 800µl labelling medium.

The results are presented in figure 33. There was no significant difference between the binding of LLVP to HepG2 cells following treatment with normal goat IgG and either $20\mu g/ml$ or $100\mu g/ml$ goat anti-E2 HCV (B65581G) antibody treatment to the LLVP uptake assay. This experiment was done three times with similar results.

Similarly, treatment of LLVP with 20µg/ml or 100µg/ml HVR-1 (3C7-C3) of HCV E2 monoclonal antibody produced no significant change in the binding compared to 20µg/ml anti-RSV-F (2G122) monoclonal antibody.

From the results above, neither polyclonal antibody against E2 nor monoclonal antibody against the hypervariable region of E2 blocks binding of LLVP to HepG2 cells.

LLVP binding parallels ox-LDL binding rather than LDL binding - that is being increased by insulin, enhanced by apoB-100, and GAG dependent. Although this suggests that LLVP may be binding to SR-B1, insulin does not increase SR-B1 expression suggesting that insulin increases binding by a different mechanism. HCV

binding to SR-B1 has been shown to be via E2 but LLVP binding was not blocked by anti-E2 antibodies.



Figure 33: Mean HCV RNA from LLVP infected HepG2 cells. The LLVP was incubated with different anti-E2 or control antibodies prior to infection.

Chapter 4

4 Results II

4.1 Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV LLVP from liver macerate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes

Binding of HCV LLVP from liver macerate to HepG2 cells, which appears to be mediated via host cell receptor-ligand interactions, may not be biologically relevant and may not lead to infection in the cell. An infection system, in which the ability of adsorbed virus to penetrate and initiate infection in the cells can be monitored, is required to investigate whether binding of LLVP via host cell ligands can lead to infection. The purpose of this experiment therefore was to see if LLVP can infect HepG2 cells.

 0.7×10^{6} HepG2 cells per well of a six-well plate were seeded and treated with 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium after 2 days as described in section 2.14. The cells were inoculated with 1.1 X 10^{7} IU S6b LLVP and incubated for 3 hours at 37° C. HepG2 cells were grown in 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin EMEM medium post-inoculation and the medium were sampled at 2/3 day intervals for a 7-day period. Samples were extracted for HCV RNA and titrated by quantitative RT-PCR. The results are presented in figure 34. There is a general decrease of HCV RNA in the HepG2 cells that were inoculated with LLVP. There is an 87% decrease from day 0 to day 2, a 94% decrease from day 0 to day 5 and a 98% decrease from day 0 to day 7. These results indicate that HepG2 cells do not support the replication of HCV from the LLVP.

The experiment was repeated in Huh7.5 cells with which is a different human hepatoma cell line. The Huh7.5 cell line was used because it is known to support the replication of HCVcc J6/JFH1. 1 X 10^5 Huh7.5 cells per well of a six-well plate were seeded and treated with 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin DMEM medium after 2 days as described in section 2.14. The cells were inoculated with 1.1 X 10^7 IU S6b LLVP and incubated for 3 hours at 37° C. Huh7.5 cells were grown in DMEM growth medium with 10% FCS, 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin DMEM medium or Williams E medium post-inoculation and the media were sampled at 2 day intervals for a 6-day period. Samples were extracted for HCV RNA and titrated by quantitative RT-PCR. The results are presented in figure 35. There is a general decrease of HCV RNA in Huh7.5 cells that were infected with LLVP.

The experiment was again repeated in primary hepatocytes. 2×10^5 cells/cm² of primary hepatocytes were seeded on 6-well-collagen I coated-plates in Williams E medium supplemented with 10% FCS, Pen/Strep, Fungizone, insulin 10⁻⁸ M and incubated at 37°C in a humidified incubator at 5% CO₂ overnight as described in section 2.4. The primary hepatocytes were cultured for another day in two types of medium – Williams E growth medium with 10% FCS or 8.5% LPDS + 0.1% insulin MEM medium with or without growth factor added to the medium. Williams E medium and growth factors were used because primary hepatocytes grow best in them. However, hepatocytes grown in LPDS +insulin needed to be tested as well to upregulate LDLr which was important for binding of LLVP. The cells were inoculated with 3 X 10⁶ IU S6b LLVP and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C and the media were sampled at 2 day intervals for a 6-day period. Samples were extracted for HCV RNA and titrated by quantitative RT-PCR. The results are presented in figure

36. There is a general decrease of HCV RNA in the primary hepatocytes that were infected with LLVP. However, the decline of HCV RNA titres was less rapid in Williams E medium whereas the decline was most rapid in LPDS plus insulin plus growth factor.

Figure 37 compares the LLVP inoculation of the three kinds of cells; HepG2, primary hepatocytes and Huh7.5 after LPDS plus insulin treatment. All three kinds of cells showed a similar trend of declining HCV titres over the six/seven days after initial exposure providing no evidence of virus replication over this period. Huh7.5 cells show the highest percentage (8.5%) of binding to LLVP at day 0 whereas primary hepatocytes and HepG2 cells show similar binding percentage of 3.8% and 4.6% respectively.

The results above fail to demonstrate any increase in HCV RNA post-inoculation of two hepatoma cell lines, HepG2 and Huh7.5 or primary hepatocytes with S6b liver LLVP.



Figure 34: Mean HCV RNA from LLVP inoculated HepG2 cells harvested on day 0, 2, 5 and 7 post-infection.



Figure 35: The amount of HCV RNA in LLVP-inoculated Huh 7.5 cells cultured in DMEM, LPDS + insulin, or Williams E medium.

The Huh7.5 cells were exposed to $3X10^{6}$ IU LLVP for three hours before being washed off with PBS and cultured in the respective media. The cells were harvested on day 2, 4 and 6 post-infection. The amount of HCV RNA was quantitated for 20µg total RNA using real time PCR.


Figure 36: The amount of HCV RNA in LLVP-inoculated primary hepatocytes cultured in LPDS + insulin only, Williams E only, LPDS + insulin + GF, and Williams E + GF. The primary hepatocytes were exposed to $3X10^6$ IU LLVP for three hours before being washed off with PBS and cultured in the respective media. The cells were harvested on day 0, 2, 4 and 6 post-infection. The amount of HCV RNA was quantitated for 20μ g total RNA using real time PCR.



Figure 37: A summary of infectivity assays of LLVP in human HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and in primary hepatocytes on different days post-inoculation. The cells were treated with LPDS + insulin in EMEM, DMEM and MEM medium respectively.

4.2 The J6/JFH1 system

Robust HCV replication in Huh7.5 cells have been demonstrated by Wakita (Wakita et al., 2005) following transfection of the JFH1 virus, genotype 2a strain in Huh7 cell line. Lindenbach (Lindenbach et al., 2005) have demonstrated more extensive replication of a chimeric virus J6/JFH (genotypes 2a) in Huh7.5 cells to produce infectious viral particles *in vitro*. Both Huh7 and Huh7.5 cells have not been shown to secrete normal host lipoproteins and the involvement of host lipoprotein production pathways in the assembly and release of virus in these systems is unclear. It has been suggested that feeding liver cell lines with fatty acids may stimulate VLDL secretion. We, therefore, decided to attempt to generate infectious LVP from the J6/JFH1 system by feeding the infected cells fatty acid in order to boost host lipoprotein production.

4.3 Production of HCVcc from J6/JFH1 RNA in Huh7.5 cell line

Wild-type pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA, and also mutants pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA were kindly provided by Prof. Charlie Rice from Rockefeller University in the form of plasmid DNA absorbed to a filter paper. The DNA was eluted out from a filter paper in 50µl of TE buffer pH 7.4 and incubated for 30min at room temperature as described in section 2.32.

The eluted DNA was transformed into competent E. coli TG1 bacteria, which was prepared according to the method described in section 2.34, using heat shocked method by placing the DNA in a 42°C waterbath for 90seconds and incubating on ice for 2 minutes. 800µl of the complete SOB medium was then pipetted to each tube of DNA and incubated for 30 minutes in a 37°C waterbath. 200µl of the bacterial

solution from each tube was plated onto an LB + Ampicillin agar plate and incubated at 37°C overnight.

Isolated colonies of transformed bacteria were picked and restreaked on LB + Ampicillin agar plate and incubated at 37°C overnight as described in section 2.35. Cloning was repeated twice with positive clones.

pTM1 plasmid was used as a positive control and water was used as a negative control. The following table 11 shows the number of colonies obtained from the transformation.

		No. of	colonies	
DNA dilution	J6/JFH1	H2476L	GND	pTM1
1:2.7	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC
1:8	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC
1:10	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC
1:32	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC	TNTC
1:128	704	1,112	936	TNTC
1:512	29	37	105	TNTC
1:2048	5	1	10	3,296
1:8192	0	0	0	374
1:32768	0	0	1	14
1:131072	0	0	0	0
0*	0	0	0	0
0*	0	0	0	0

 Table 11: A table showing the number of the colonies counted from each transformation experiment.

Different dilutions of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L, and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA were used. TNTC – too numerous to count

* distilled water

Four different colonies from each transformation were picked out, cultured in 5ml volume, DNA purified using QIA Miniprep kit, and size-confirmed using restriction digests (data not shown). Two colonies from each of the initial transformed colonies

giving the right-sized bands were re-cloned, miniprep done, and had the size confirmed again by restriction digests. Eventually one colony of each transformation known as clone 1a (pFL-J6/JFH1), 6a1 (pFL-H2476L), and 10a (pFL-GND) that had been re-cloned was cultured in 500ml volume, DNA was purified using QIA Maxiprep kit (Qiagen), and size-confirmed using restriction digests.

4.4 Restriction digests of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

It is expected that EcoRI will cut the three plasmids only once (figure 14) to produce a linear plasmid of 12,372bp. EcoRI digestion of miniprep DNA pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a), pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (clone 6a1), and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) produced a single band running just above the largest mwm 10,000bp - consistent with this. Digestion with two enzymes EcoRI and XbaI should generate 2 bands of about 10kbp and 2.5kbp. In line with this, digestion of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L, and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND with these two enzymes produced a band of ~10kbp and a smaller band running just above the 2.5kbp mwm. Enzymes KpnI and XbaI would be expected to generate 2 bands of about 8kbp and 4kbp. Consistent with this, digestion of the three plasmids produced a large band running just above the 8kbp marker and a second running with the 4kbp marker. However, there were some concerns that because there are only a single base change in the two mutants and the wild-type, there will be a possibility of mix-up that cannot be detected from the restriction digest experiments. Hence, it was important that we checked for these in the clones we had made by sequencing partially the area of the expected mutations.



lane	sample	enzyme
1	1 kbp molecular weight marker	
2	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	no enzyme
3	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	EcoR1 (Invitrogen)
4	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	EcoR1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)
5	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	Kpn1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)
6	pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (clone 6a1)	no enzyme
7	pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (clone 6a1)	EcoR1 (Invitrogen)
8	pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (clone 6a1)	EcoR1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)
9	pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (clone 6a1)	Kpn1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)
10	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	no enzyme
11	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	EcoR1 (Invitrogen)
12	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	EcoR1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)
13	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	Kpn1 + Xba1 (Invitrogen)

Figure 38: A 0.7% TBE agarose gel showing EcoR1, EcoR1 + Xba1, and Kpn1 + Xba1digestions of maxi-prep pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L, and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA.

4.5 Partial sequencing of pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

Partial sequencing was done to confirm the base changes of the mutants compared to that of the wild-type. There are two mutants designed for positive and negative control of J6/JFH1 in the literature; FL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and FL-J6/JFH1-GND respectively. FL-J6/JFH1-H2476L has a point mutation at the 7767th nucleotide (base change) (2476 amino acid; H to L in the NS5B protein). This mutation allows an increase in the efficiency of colony formation compared to the original J6/JFH1. FL-J6/JFH1-GND has a point mutation in the GDD motif of the NS5B protein at the 8618th nucleotide (base change) (2760 aminoacid; D to N). This mutant abolishes the RNA polymerases activity of NS5B. The mutation sites of the two mutants are quite far apart on the NS5B. The primers SI-1 and SI-3 (forward plus strands) and SI-2 and SI-4 (reverse complimentary strands) described in detail in section 2.26 were designed to confirm that the clones were transformed with the correct plasmids.

Reverse complimentary primers SI-5 and SI-6 were designed to allow sequencing from the 5' NTR proximal end of the HCV genome back into the pFL plasmid sequences across the T7 promoter to demonstrate both the correct orientation of the plasmid and the correct alignment of T7 promoter. Sequencing with these primers was carried out as described in section 2.44. Alignment of sequences was done using the megalign (clustal W method) of dnastar software.

2μg of maxiprep pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L or pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA in a 10μl volume each together with 2μM primer pair (SI-1 and SI-2, SI-3 and SI-4 or SI-5 and SI-6 primer pair) in a 5μl volume/primer were sent to Pinnacle in Newcastle University to be sequenced as described in section 2.44. The sequences obtained were aligned with the published HCV-J6 and HCV-JFH1 sequences as described in section 2.44. Alignment of sequences was done using the megalign (clustal V or W method) of dnastar software. Table 12 below shows the sequencing result.

The alignment of J6/JFH1 clone 1a (wild-type) sequence showed a perfect match with the J6/JFH1 wild-type sequence using SI-1, SI-2, SI-3, and SI-4 primers.

The alignment of J6/JFH1 clone 6a1 (H2476L mutant) sequence showed perfect match with the J6/JFH1 wild-type sequence except for A to T nucleotide change at the 7767th nucleotide present in both SI-3 and SI-4 sequences.

The alignment of J6/JFH1 clone 10a (GND mutant) sequence showed perfect match with the J6/JFH1 wild-type sequence from except for G to A nucleotide change at the 8618th and 8620th nucleotide present in sequences generated by SI-1 and SI-2 primers respectively.

Primer	Location	Plasmid DNA	Readable sequence
			generated
Forward	8523-8542	pFL-J6/JFH1	8576-9128
SI-1		pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L	8585-9134
		pFL-J6/JFH1-GND	8583-9126**
Reverse	8734-8754	pFL-J6/JFH1	8199-8697
SI-2		pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L	8192-8699
		pFL-J6/JFH1-GND	8192-8701***
Forward	7659-7678	pFL-J6/JFH1	7710-8222
SI-3		pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L	7717-8267*
		pFL-J6/JFH1-GND	7711-8229
Reverse	7874-7893	pFL-J6/JFH1	7378-7836
SI-4		pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L	7513-7809*
		pFL-J6/JFH1-GND	7513-7828

Table 12: A table of the location of readable sequence generated using SI-1, SI-2, SI-3, and SI-4 primers.

* matched except for A to T nucleotide change at the 7767th nucleotide

** matched except for G to A nucleotide change at the 8618th nucleotide ** matched except for G to A nucleotide change at the 8620th nucleotide

The alignment of J6/JFH1 clone 1a (wild-type), clone 6a1 (H2476L mutant), and clone 10a (GND mutant) sequences using SI-6 primer with J6/JFH1 wild-type sequence from the databank and the T7 promoter sequence showed the expected orientation of the plasmid through the beginning of the J6/JFH1 genome and also the T7 promoter region. The SI-5 primer, however, was too close to the J6/JFH1 start sequence and did not read the T7 promoter region and the J6/JFH1 start sequence.



Figure 39: J6/JFH1 clone 1a DNA sequence using the SI-1 primer.

The alignment of J6/JFH1 **clone 1a** (wild-type) sequence using SI-1 primer showed perfect match from 2^{nd} to 554^{th} nucleotide of the sequence which corresponds to the 8576^{th} nucleotide until 9128^{th} nucleotide of the J6/JFH1 sequence from the databank when alignment was made using megalign of the dnastar software.

4.6 Purification of linearized pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids for in vitro transcription

The XbaI-digested J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) plasmid was purified by running the digested plasmid on 0.7% agarose gel, cutting out the 10kbp band, electro-eluting, and phenolchloroform extracting / ethanol precipitating (purification 1) as described in section 2.45. The following figure 40 shows the different dilutions of XbaI-digested, purified J6/JFH1 DNA gave a clean single band of greater than 10kbp and with a concentration of approximately 56µg/ml.



lane	samples	Concentration/Dilution
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder	1µg/2µl
2	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:5
3	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:10
4	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:20
5	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:40
6	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:80
7	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:160
8	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a) DNA	1:320
9	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder	0.5µg/µl

Figure 40: A serial dilution of XbaI-digested, purified J6/JFH1 DNA run on 0.7% agarose gel. The XbaI-digested J6/JFH1 plasmid was purified by running the digested plasmid on 0.7% TBE agarose gel, cutting out the 10kbp band, electro-eluting, and phenol-chloroform extracted / ethanol precipitated, diluted and re-run on 0.7% TBE agarose gel.

The same XbaI digestion and purification was also done with clone 6a1 (H2476L mutant) and clone 10a (GND mutant). Similar results of one clean band were obtained with clone 6a1 (H2476L mutant) (not shown) but there was a problem with clone 10a (GND mutant) XbaI digestion as the plasmid was only partially successful

(see figure 41A, lane 5 below). To solve this problem, the lower band (arrow) of also greater than 10kbp was excised from the gel, electro-elute, and purified. When re-run on 0.7% TBE agarose gel (see figure 41B below), pFL-J6/JFH1-GND gave a single band of approximately 36µg/ml.



Δ	
11	

lane	sample	enzyme
1	1 kbp molecular weight marker	
2	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	no enzyme
3	pFL-J6/JFH1 (clone 1a)	Xba1 (NEB)
4	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	no enzyme
5	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a)	Xba1 (NEB)

B

lane	samples	Concentration/Dilution
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder	1µg/2µl
2	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:5
3	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:10
4	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:20
5	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:40
6	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:80
7	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:160
8	pFL-J6/JFH1-GND (clone 10a) DNA	1:320
9	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder	0.5µg/µ]

Figure 41: A. Comparisons of undigested and XbaI-digested pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA and B. A serial dilution of XbaI-digested and purified J6/JFH1-GND DNA run on 0.7% agarose gel.

XbaI-digested pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA (in lane 5) shows two bands (digested and undigested DNA) in figure A. The lower band (shown by arrow in figure A) was excised, electro-eluted, purified and rerun on 0.7% TBE agarose gel (Figure B).

4.7 In vitro transcription of linearized pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

In vitro transcription of the purified plasmids of clone 1a (wild-type), clone 6a1 (H2476L mutant), and clone 10a (GND mutant) was carried out as described in section 2.47 to generate positive strand RNA copies of the plasmids. Figure 42 shows the RNAs produced from the *in vitro* transcription of the plasmids linearized and purified as described in section 2.45 and resolved on a glyoxal gel. There was a smear of RNAs around 1.8kb obtained instead of a 9.6kb single band obtained. A different way of preparing a good quality DNA was needed as the RNAs from this experiment could not be use for transfection.



lane	sample
1	J6/JFH1 RNA
2	J6/JFH1-H2476L RNA
3	J6/JFH1-GND RNA
4	pTRI-Xef

Figure 42: J6/JFH1, J6/JFH1-H2476L, and J6/JFH1-GND RNA transcripts from plasmid DNA purified using purification 1 method.

pTRI-Xef which is 1.85kb in size was used as an *in vitro* transcription positive control and 0.24-9.5kb Invitrogen RNA marker was used as a molecular weight marker (not shown). The RNA was run on a 1% glyoxal agarose gel.

4.8 Purification 2

To solve the problem of partial digestion in pFL-J6/JFH1-GND maxiprep DNA, a double phenol-chloroform purification protocol was carried out with the maxiprep DNA before XbaI restriction digest was done as some kind of protein might have interfered with the digestion. The structure of the plasmid DNA could not be very different from the wild-type pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA as it is unlikely that a point mutation that was far from the XbaI digestion site would make a structural change to the plasmid DNA.

pFL-J6/JFH1-GND maxiprep DNA was pre-purified using double phenol-chloroform extraction as described in section 2.46 without the gel extraction steps and digestion with XbaI was repeated as described in section 2.40. However, pFL-J6/JFH1 did not undergo double phenol-chloroform extraction before the digestion as it could be fully digested without the purification step. The results are presented in figure 43 below. pFL-J6/JFH1 generated one clean band of greater than 10kbp but pFL-J6/JFH1-GND again generated 2 bands both greater than 10kbp. The problem of partial digestion still persisted for pFL-J6/JFH1-GND.



lane	sample
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder
2	J6/JFH1 undigested
3	J6/JFH1 XbaI (7.5U enzyme / µg DNA)
4	GND undigested
5	GND XbaI (7.5U enzyme / µg DNA)

Figure 43: Undigested and XbaI-digested pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA on 0.7% TBE agarose gel.

The pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA but not pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA underwent double phenol-chloroform purification before the digestion step (lanes 5 and 3 respectively).

XbaI from 2 different companies (Invitrogen and New England Biologicals) were tested (data not shown). Varying the amount of enzymes used in digestion (figure 44) and increasing the incubation time from 4 hours to 17 hours (figure 45) were also carried out. However, the pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA was still partially digested.



lane	sample
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder
2	GND no enzyme
3	GND XbaI (5U enzyme / µg DNA)
4	GND XbaI (20U enzyme / µg DNA)
5	GND XbaI (50U enzyme / µg DNA)
6	GND XbaI (100U enzyme / µg DNA)

Figure 44: pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA digested with varying strength of XbaI and run on 0.7% TBE agarose gel.



lane	sample
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder
2	GND XbaI (10U enzyme / µg DNA and incubation time is 17 hours)
3	GND no enzyme

Figure 45: pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA digested with XbaI for 17 hours and run on 0.7%~TBE agarose gel.

4.8.1 Linearization of pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA by double digestion with restriction endonucleases

1.5µl (2µg) maxiprep pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA in each reaction was linearized by incubating in 10 units restriction enzymes each: EcoR1, XbaI, XmnI and SspI alone or XmnI+XbaI and SspI+XbaI together as described in material 3 of section 2.39.3 for 4 hours at 37°C. The digests were resolved on a 0.7% TBE agarose gel and the results are presented in figure 46. Whilst XbaI and SspI singly were unable to fully digest the DNA, leaving varying amounts of unlinearized plasmid (lanes 5 and 6 respectively), double digestion with either XmnI+XbaI or SspI+XbaI (lane 8 and 9 respectively) resulted in clean linear DNA at about 10kbp. Even though XmnI (lane 7) gave a clean single band but an XbaI cut is needed as XbaI cuts at the end of the 3'NTR. EcoR1 was included as a single band pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA digest control although in this digestion there was an incomplete digestion as well. Using a second restriction enzyme XmnI or SspI that cut in the vector backbone was used to successfully digest pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA completely as shown in figure 46.



lane	sample
1	GeneRuler TM 1 kb DNA ladder
2	J6/JFH1 XbaI
3	GND no enzyme
4	GND EcoRI
5	GND XbaI
6	GND SspI
7	GND XmnI
8	GND XmnI + XbaI
9	GND SspI + XbaI

Figure 46: pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA digested with restriction endonucleases EcoR1, XbaI, XmnI and SspI alone or XmnI + XbaI or SspI + XbaI together and resolved on a 0.7% TBE agarose gel.

4.9 In vitro transcription using purification 2

Purification 2 method was carried out on a linearized pFL-J6/JFH1 plasmid DNA in an attempt to achieve a successful in *vitro* transcription. 10.3µl (30µg) maxiprep pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA was linearized by incubating in 150 units of XbaI restriction enzymes as described in material 2 of section 2.39.2 for 4 hours at 37°C. The digested DNA samples were re-digested with 6µl (60U) Mung bean nuclease enzyme at 30°C for 30min to generate blunt-end DNA from the XbaI digest overhang. The sample was treated with $0.2\mu g/\mu l$ Proteinase K and 0.5% SDS at 50°C for 1 hour to digest the proteins. The sample was purified using purification 2 method as described in detail in section 2.46. *In vitro* transcription was carried out to the $2\mu g$ and $1\mu g$ of the digested and purified sample as described in section 2.47.

Figure 47 shows different amount of J6/JFH1 RNA on an RNA 1% glyoxal agarose gel showing relatively clean single bands after an *in vitro* transcription of a digested pFL-J6/JFH1 plasmid DNA that was purified using purification 2 method.



Figure 47: Different amount of J6/JFH1 RNA on a 1% glyoxal agarose gel.

4.10 Optimization of in vitro transcription conditions

RNA transcription as described in section 4.9 was carried out for pFL-J6/JFH1 plasmid DNA varying the reaction volumes and incubation times in an attempt to maximise RNA yields. Table 13 shows the different conditions used and the resulting RNA yields. There does not seem to be much difference in RNA yield in condition 1 and condition 2. However, when all the reagents were doubled including doubling the DNA amount but not the incubation time, the RNA yield increased 5 fold. When the

same amount of reagents was used but the time was increased by 17 hours, a 12.6 fold

increase was obtained.

DNA	Total	1 st	1 st	2 nd	2 nd	RNA
amt.	Reaction	T7	incubat.	T7	incubat.	amt.
at start	vol.	amt.	time	amt.	time	
2µg	20ul	2µ1	2hrs	2µ1	4hrs	4.78µg
2µg	20ul	2µ1	7hrs	-	-	5.46µg
4µg	40ul	4µl	2hrs	4µl	4hrs	23.83µg
2µg	20ul	2µl	2hrs	2µ1	22hrs	60.18µg

Table 13: In vitro transcription optimization of J6/JFH1.

Varying DNA amount, incubation time, T7 polymerase enzyme amount, and reaction volume were tested to maximise RNA yield.

4.11 In vitro transcription of linearized pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids

In vitro transcription of maxiprep pFL-J6/JFH1, pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L, and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA as described in section 2.47 was carried out after digestion as described in section 2.40, 2.41, and 2.42 and purification using double phenol-chloroform extraction as described in section 2.46.

Maxiprep of pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L (60µg each) and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA (30µg) was digested XbaI (300U) alone and XbaI+XmnI (150U each) respectively. The digested DNA samples were re-digested with Mung bean nuclease enzyme (120U for pFL-J6/JFH1 or pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and 60U for pFL-J6/JFH1-GND) at 30°C for 30min. The samples were treated with 0.2µg/µl Proteinase K and 0.5% SDS at 50°C for 1 hour and purified using purification 2 method as described in detail in section 2.46.

Figure 48 shows J6/JFH1 as well as mutants H2476L and GND RNAs all showing relatively clean single RNA bands.



Lane		
1	0.5 – 10kb RNA marker (Invitrogen)	
2	J6/JFH1 RNA	
3	H2476L RNA	
4	GND RNA	

Figure 48: J6/JFH1, J6/JFH1-H2476L and J6/JFH1-GND RNA transcripts from plasmid DNA purified using purification 2 method.

The RNA was run on a 1% glyoxal agarose gel.

4.12 Optimization of electroporation variables

Electroporation optimization was carried out to ensure the best condition for cell survival after electroporating J6/JFH1 and J6/JFH1-GND RNAs into Huh7.5 cells. An increasing number of cells post-electroporation would indicate viability of the cells, an important requisite for the infectivity of the HCVcc virus. To obtain the optimal conditions for the viability of the cells after electroporation, post-electroporation incubation temperature, cuvette size, cell seeding number, and voltage were assessed by stripping the cells with trypsin/versene and counting the cells in each well on a haemacytometer on day 4 and day 7 (with and without sub-culture/passaging the cells on day 4).

4.12.1 Optimization of incubation temperature

The first condition to be optimized is the incubation temperature of Huh7.5 cells directly after electroporation is carried out.

On the day of electroporation, a 60-70% confluent Huh7.5 culture seeded the day before was stripped with EDTA and trypsin, washed and suspended in cold Opti-MEM I medium (Gibco, Paisley, UK) to make 7.5 x 10^6 cells/ml suspension before resuspending them in 400µl cold complete Cytomix buffer (without RNA) and transferring to a 2mm electroporation cuvette. The cells were pulsed immediately at 260V at 960µF. The cells were then either incubated at room temperature for 15min or on ice for 10min before being pipetted into 24ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium and aliquoted 4ml per well in a 6-well-plate and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. A more detailed method is described in section 2.50.

The culture medium was replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and 1) allowed to grow for another 3 days before the cells were stripped with EDTA and trypsin and counted with a haemacytometer or 2) replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted again or 3) sub-cultured/passaged on day 4 and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted.



Figure 49: A graph showing the effect of incubation temperature on the viability of Huh7.5 cells post-electroporation.

The results are shown in figure 49. From the graph, the cells fare better achieving 7.8 X 10^5 cells/well compared to 3.6 X 10^5 cells/well at day 7 post-electroporation when incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes before adding warm growth medium to the cells. At day 7 with passage the cells incubated on ice grew marginally better, but only achieved 2.3 X 10^5 cells/well.

4.12.2 Optimization of cuvette size and cell seeding numbers The best cell numbers to use was also optimized to enhance post-electroporation survival. Optimization was done in both 2mm and 4mm cuvettes with duplicate samples. On the day of electroporation, a 60-70% confluent Huh7.5 culture seeded the day before was stripped with EDTA and trypsin, washed and suspended in cold Opti-MEM I medium (Gibco, Paisley, UK) to make 7.5 x 10^6 cells/ml, 2 x 10^6 cells/ml, and 5 x 10^5 cells/ml suspension before resuspending them in 400µl cold complete Cytomix buffer (without RNA) and transferring to a 2mm or 4mm electroporation cuvette. The cells were pulsed immediately at 260V at 960µF. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 15min before being pipetted into 24ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium and aliquoted 4ml per well in a 6-well-plate and incubated at 37° C, in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. A more detailed method is described in section 2.50.

The culture medium was replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and 1) allowed to grow for another 3 days before the cells were stripped with EDTA and trypsin and counted with a haemacytometer or 2) replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted again or 3) sub-cultured/passaged on day 4 and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted.

The results are shown in figures 50 and 51. For both cuvettes, the best cell numbers to use is 7.5×10^6 cells per cuvette or per sample. Using a 4mm cuvette will yield a higher number of cells surviving; 1.83×10^6 cells/well at day 7 compared to that of 2mm cuvette; 1.35×10^6 cells/well. This is also true when cells were sub-cultured at day 4 and allowed to grow until day 7 before cell count was made as there were 3.28×10^6 cells/ well surviving at day 7 when 4mm cuvette was used as opposed to 1.45×10^6 cells/well when 2mm cuvette was used for electroporation.



Figure 50: A graph showing the effect of 2mm cuvette and cell seeding numbers on the viability of Huh7.5 cells post-electroporation.



Figure 51: A graph showing the effect of 4mm cuvette and cell seeding numbers on the viability of Huh7.5 cells post-electroporation.

4.12.3 Optimization of cuvette size and voltage

The voltage used during electroporation was also optimized to minimize a high rate of cell death post-electroporation. The voltages tested were 220 volts, 260 volts, and 300 volts. Optimization was done in both 2mm and 4mm cuvettes with duplicate samples.

On the day of electroporation, a 60-70% confluent Huh7.5 culture seeded the day before was stripped with EDTA and trypsin, washed and suspended in cold Opti-MEM I medium (Gibco, Paisley, UK) to make 7.5 x 10^6 cells/ml suspension before resuspending them in 400µl cold complete Cytomix buffer and transferring to a 2mm or 4mm electroporation cuvette. The cells were pulsed immediately at 300V, 260V, or 220V at 960µF. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 15min before being pipetted into 24ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium and aliquoted 4ml per well in a 6-well-plate and incubated at 37° C, in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. A more detailed method is described in section 2.50.

The culture medium was replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and 1) allowed to grow for another 3 days before the cells were stripped with EDTA and trypsin and counted with a haemacytometer or 2) replaced with 4ml fresh, warm complete DMEM growth medium and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted again or 3) sub-cultured/passaged on day 4 and allowed to grow for another 3 days before being counted.

188

The results are shown in figures 52 and 53. The percentage of cell survival calculated is the number of cells per well counted on day 4 or day 7 with or without subculture over the initial number of cells aliquoted per well on the day of the electroporation is shown in table 14. There is no significant difference in the voltages use except for the conditions 220V versus 260V at day 7 with sub-culture for the 2mm cuvette and 220V versus 260V at day 7 for the 4mm cuvette. In general however, at day 4, for both 2mm and 4mm cuvettes, there is a higher percentage of cell survival when 220 volts was used in comparison when 260 volts and 300 volts were used. A similar pattern is seen at day 7 although not so clear-cut when the cells were sub-cultured at day 4 and counted on day 7.



Figure 52: A graph showing the effect of 2mm cuvette and voltage on the viability of Huh7.5 cells post-electroporation.



Figure 53: A graph showing the effect of 4mm cuvette and voltage on the viability of Huh7.5 cells post-electroporation.

		2mm cuvett	æ	4mm cuvette		
Voltage	Day 4	Day 7	Day 7	Day 4	Day 7	Day 7
(volts)			with pass.			with pass.
220	45	79	60*	178	726**	511
260	38	58	37*	174	602**	493
300	28	52	59	144	518	502

 Table 14: Percentage of cell survival post-electroporation in the optimization of cuvette size and voltage.

*significant for p<0.05 in paired t-test

**significant for p<0.05 in paired t-test

4.12.4 Summary of the electroporation optimization results

From the above optimization experiments, the cell survival rate is best when cells were incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes directly after electroporation, a higher number of cells: 7.5×10^6 cells per cuvette were used initially, a lower voltage of 220 volts and a larger width (4mm cuvette) used during the actual electroporation.

4.13 Transfection of J6/JFH1 RNA into Huh7.5 cells

Initially transfection was carried out using a method adapted from the protocol of Kato *et al* (Kato et al., 2006). 10µg of RNA generated from the linearized pFL-J6/JFH1 was transfected into 7.5 X 10^{6} Huh7.5 cells per 2mm cuvette using a voltage of 260V according to the protocol described in section 2.51. The electroporated cells were rested for 10min on ice before being pipetted into 20ml warm, complete DMEM growth medium and aliquoted 1ml per well in a 24-well-plate and incubated at 37° C, in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours and followed up to day 10. Figure 54 shows the J6/JFH1 RNA quantification using real time PCR on RNA extracted from the cell supernatants collected each day post-transfection. J6/JFH1 RNA started to increase exponentially after day 6 and reached up to 1.14×10^{7} IU/mL at day 10.



Figure 54: HCVcc RNA output, quantitated by real-time PCR, from the medium after a transfection of J6/JFH1 RNA into Huh7.5 cells.

4.14 Transfection of J6/JFH1 and J6/JFH1-GND RNAs into Huh7.5 cells

This transfection experiment was repeated comparing 2 different conditions. In the first sample, $10\mu g$ J6/JFH1 RNA was transfected into 7.5 X 10^6 Huh7.5 cells, electroporation was carried out in a 2mm cuvette with 260 volts current and cells were incubated on ice directly after electroporation. With the second sample, $10\mu g$ J6/JFH1 was transfected into 7.5 X 10^6 Huh7.5 cells electroporation was carried out in a 4mm cuvette with 220 volts current and cells incubated at room temperature directly after electroporation. Transfection of $10\mu g$ J6/JFH1-GND RNA was also included as a negative control as this mutant does not have the ability to produce HCVcc virus and hence, no increase of HCV RNA was expected. Figure 55 shows the HCVcc RNA quantification using real time PCR on RNA extracted from the cell supernatants collected each day post-transfection and this was carried out until day 15.



Figure 55: A comparison of HCVcc RNA output from the medium after a transfection of J6/JFH1 and J6/JFH1-GND RNAs into Hub7.5 cells under different electroporation conditions. Two different conditions were tested that is 1)2mm cuvette, 260V current, and 10minute incubation on ice 2) 4mm cuvette, 220V current, and 15minute incubation at room temperature. The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.

In this experiment, the rise in RNA output following Kato's condition was somewhat less vigorous by day 8 than in the previous experiment but RNA levels continued to rise to peak at day 13 at 2 X 10^7 IU/ml. Under optimized conditions, an increase in RNA was evident as early as day 7 and the peak at day 13 was almost double that of Kato's conditions.

Transfection with J6/JFH1-GND RNA did not produce any evidence of replication with a decrease and levelling off of HCV RNA after day 1 post-transfection.

4.15 Infection of J6/JFH1 HCVcc in naïve Huh7.5 cells

To confirm that the rise in J6/JFH1 RNA in transfected Huh7.5 cells represents infection with HCVcc, passage of the virus to naïve Huh7.5 cells was attempted. 200µl of frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) from the medium supernatant of J6/JFH1 RNA-transfected Huh7.5 cells (day 10 post-transfection supernatant of the initial transfection in section 4.16 above) collected was used to infect naïve Huh7.5 cells as described in section infection, propagation and harvest of HCVcc except that the cells were cultured for 5 days. The supernatant was removed, RNA quantification using real time PCR as described in section 2.23 on the extracted RNA from the supernatant was carried out, and cells were scraped to make spots on glass slides as described in section 2.53. When the spots were dried and fixed, they were stained with anti-E2 HCV AP33 mouse monoclonal antibody (1:50 dilution) and anti-core HCV \u03c6126 mouse monoclonal antibody (1:1000 dilution). The antibodies were described in section antibodies. Spots of non-infected Huh7.5 cells were also prepared as a negative control.

The result of the RNA output is shown in figure 56. The figure shows there was an increase in the RNA quantity five days after the naïve cells were exposed to the post-transfected supernatant that had been frozen, thawed and centrifuged indicating that J6/JFH1 HCVcc was being produced from the transfection and secreted into the medium which subsequently infected the naïve Huh7.5 cells.

Figure 57 shows a monolayer of dull, reddish non-infected Huh7.5 cells. J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 cells probed with anti-E2 HCV AP33 Mab showed foci of intense apple-green immunofluorescence staining against a monolayer of red counterstain as shown in figure 58 (an example of a focus). The fluorescence appeared as a nucleo-peripheral ring in an individual cell. Similar results but with greater fluorescence intensity were obtained when J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 cells were probed with anti-core HCV \$\$\phi126\$ antibody in comparison to an anti-E2 HCV AP33 Mab staining as shown in figure 59 although due to technical problem during photography the figures seem to indicate otherwise.



Figure 56: HCVcc RNA output on day 2 and 5 harvested from the medium after an infection of naïve Huh7.5 cells with supernatant of frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) supernatant from the J6/JFH1 RNA-transfected Huh7.5 cells. The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.



Figure 57: Immunofluorescence assay of non-infected Huh7.5 cells.



Figure 58: Immunofluorescence assay of J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 cells probed with anti-E2 HCV AP33 Mab.

White colours are produced by too much fluorescence causing over-exposure of the image.



Figure 59: Immunofluorescence assay of J6/JFH1 HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 cells probed with anti-core HCV \$\phi126\$ antibody

We went on to study the growth curve of HCVcc under different conditions such as varying the amount of the FCS and also seeding the cells at different densities to get the optimal growth curve for HCVcc as a high titre of HCVcc is needed for the iodixanol gradient and gel filtration experiments.

4.16 Effect of serum on replication of HCVcc

A growth curve was carried out to compare if the HCVcc grew better in 10% FCS or 3% FCS.

200µl of frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) from the medium supernatant of J6/JFH1 RNA-infected Huh7.5 cells (kindly provided by Jane McKeating from Birmingham University) topped up with 800µl 3% FCS DMEM growth medium was used to infect naïve Huh7.5 cells seeded at 4 x 10^5 cells/10ml the day before infection in a T₂₅ flask and cultured in 10ml of either 3% FCS DMEM growth medium or 10% FCS DMEM growth medium as described in section 2.52 and the cells were cultured for 5 days. The supernatant was removed and RNA quantification using real time PCR as described in section 2.23 on the extracted RNA from the supernatant was carried out.

The results are presented in figure 60. At day 5, the amount of HCV RNA found in the supernatant of 3% FCS growth medium is 1.6×10^6 IU/mL which is 94 fold higher compared to 1.7×10^4 IU/mL of RNA found in that of 10% FCS growth medium as shown in the following graph.



Figure 60: HCVcc RNA outputfrom the medium harvested after a J6/JFH1-RNA infection of naïve Huh7.5 cells cultured in either 3% FCS DMEM growth medium or 10% FCS DMEM growth medium.

The inoculum was a frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) supernatant from the J6/JFH1 RNA-infected Huh7.5 cells. The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.

4.17 Effect of seeding density on replication of HCVcc

Different seeding densities of 2X10⁴ cells/mL, 4X10⁴ cells/mL, and 1X10⁵ cells/mL

of Huh7.5 cells were compared to get a sustained high quantity of HCVcc RNA over

a long period.

200 μ l of frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) from the medium supernatant of J6/JFH1 RNA-infected Huh7.5 cells (pass 4 of the initial transfection experiment) topped up with 800 μ l 3% FCS DMEM growth medium was used to infect naïve Huh7.5 cells seeded at 2 X 10⁴ cells/mL, 4 X 10⁴ cells/mL, or 1 X 10⁵ cells/mL the day before infection in a T₂₅ flask and cultured in 10ml 3% FCS DMEM growth

medium as described in section 2.52 and the cells were cultured for 31 days. The supernatant was removed and RNA quantification using real time PCR as described in section 2.23 on the extracted RNA from the supernatant was carried out.

The results are presented in figure 61. The highest seeding density of 1 X 10^5 cells/mL Huh7.5 cells did not produced the highest amount of RNA at its peak compared to the other 2 seeding densities of 2 X 10^4 cells/mL and 4 X 10^4 cells/mL, nor does it produced the highest sustained HCVcc RNA over a long period of up to 27 days. The lowest seeding density of 2 X 10^4 cells/mL Huh7.5 cells comparatively produced a higher RNA quantity at the peak of its growth curve than that of 1 X 10^5 cells/mL seeding density and it also sustained higher amount of RNA quantity after its peak compared to that of the cells seeded at 4 X 10^4 cells/mL although the peak was highest and came up earliest for the cells seeded at 4 X 10^4 cells/mL.



Figure 61: HCVcc RNA output from the medium harvested after a J6/JFH1-RNA infection of naïve Huh7.5 cells seeded at different densities.

The cells were seeded at 2 X 10^4 cells/mL, 4 X 10^4 cells/mL, and 1 X 10^5 cells/mL. The inoculum was a frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) supernatant from the J6/JFH1 RNA-infected Huh7.5 cells. The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.
Chapter 5

5 Results III

5.1 Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated with oleic acid

HCV infection in humans is tied closely to lipid metabolism. There have been reports showing that viral proteins interact with host cell proteins involved in lipid metabolism intracellularly (see section 1.18.1). LVP seem to be hybrid particles in which hepatitis C virions are closely associated with host VLDL (Nielsen et al., 2008). Oleic acid has previously been shown to enhance VLDL secretions by HeG2 cells (Arrol et al., 2000). However, it would be of great interest to study the replication of J6/JFH1 in cells secreting VLDL and so the effect of OA on VLDL secretion was assessed on HepG2, Huh7, and also on Huh7.5 cells of which Huh7 cells and its derivatives are the only cells supportive of robust HCV replication in culture.

5.2 Effect of oleic acid concentration on Huh7.5 cell growth

The following initial experiment was done to study the effect of different concentrations of oleic acid on Huh7.5 cell growth.

1X10⁵ cells/well Huh7.5 cells were plated in each well of a 6-well-plate and were grown in DMEM growth medium containing 10% FCS for 2 days. The culture medium was replaced with 4ml of 5% FCS DMEM growth medium containing 450µl of 4mM, 2mM, 0.5mM of 10X oleic acid stock solution, or BSA stock solution only for 6 days replacing the medium every 2 days. Duplicate culture was made for each condition mentioned. The cells were monitored by noting the morphology. On day 8, propidium iodide staining was carried out to determine the number of cell death in FACS analysis. FACS analysis was recorded at time 0, 5, 10, and 20 minutes after propidium iodide was added. A detailed method is described in section 2.16.

From figure 62, the lowest percentage of cell death is when the cells were grown at 0.4mM OA as recorded by FACS at the time lapse of 5minute, 10 minutes and 20minutes.

This indicates that oleic acid is positively beneficial for Huh7.5 cell survival. For studies in which apoB and apoE output is to be assessed by Western blotting, the cells must be grown in serum free medium with oleic acids as there may be cross reaction between human and bovine apolipoproteins. No problems of cellular toxicity were observed when cells were cultured in oleic acid without foetal calf serum.





Huh7.5 cells were cultured for 6 days in 5% DMEM growth medium containing 0.05mM, 0.2mM, 0.4mM or no oleic acid.

5.3 Western blots on low density lipoproteins from HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated with oleic acid

The following experiments were done in an attempt to show production of low and very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells when treated with oleic acid.

5.3.1 Coomassie staining of low density lipoproteins from HepG2

0.7 X 10⁶ cells/well of HepG2 were seeded in 10% FCS EMEM growth medium and incubated for five days at 37°C in 5% CO₂ replacing the medium at one or two days intervals. The medium was then replaced with EMEM serum free medium and BSA with or without oleic acids and incubated for another 2 days. The supernatant was harvested and analysed by potassium bromide sequential ultracentrifugation to separate \leq 1.006g/ml g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions which, in serum, contain LDL and VLDL respectively as described in section 2.56. These fractions are concentrated to 140µl volumes using a Vivaspin 2 ml concentrator before delipidation / protein precipitation using methanol / chloroform extraction as detailed in section 2.57. The fractions were then run on SDS-PAGE and the gels were stained with Coomassie blue as described in sections 2.59 and 2.61 respectively.

The results are presented in figure 63 and show a ~549kDa band present in the <1.063g/ml fractions of HepG2 cells treated with BSA plus oleic acids but not BSA alone as indicated by the molecular weight position labelled by the arrow. The band has a similar molecular weight to that of apoB-100 lipoprotein resolved from serum derived LDL. No putative apoB band was detected in the \leq 1.006g/ml fractions.



Figure 63: A Coomassie-stained acrylamide gel showing protein bands of 550kDa in size. The position of 550kDa is indicated by the arrow head. The samples include <1.063g/ml fractions (lanes 1-4) of human serum with known amount of apoB-100 protein, <1.006g/ml fractions (lanes 6-8) and <1.063g/ml fractions (lanes 9-11) of HepG2 cell culture supernatants, and negative control EMEM medium only. HepG2 cells were treated without oleic acid (1.5% BSA) or with oleic acid (0.4mM and 0.8mM concentration).

5.3.2 Western blotting of low density lipoproteins from HepG2

The above experiment (section 5.3.1) was repeated but the gel was not Coomassiestained but Western blotted (method described in section 2.60) using anti-apoE antibody (DAKO, Ely, UK). For comparison, a Western blot of known <1.006g/ml (VLDL) and <1.063g/ml (LDL) fractions of the human serum was prepared under similar conditions. The results are presented in figure 64 (lanes 1-4) showing that apoE lipoproteins are found in the VLDL but not LDL fractions of the human serum. The results of the <1.006g/ml (VLDL) and <1.063g/ml (LDL) fractions of HepG2 supernatants are presented in lanes 6-11 and show that apoE lipoprotein is visible in both <1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions.

The same blot as in figure 64 was stripped (method described in section 2.62) and stained with anti-apoB100 antibody (DAKO, Ely, UK). For comparison, a Western blot of known \leq 1.006g/ml (VLDL) and <1.063g/ml (LDL) fractions of the human serum was prepared. The results for the latter are presented in figure 65 (lanes 1-4) showing that apoB lipoproteins are found in both the VLDL and LDL fractions of the human serum although not seen in the lower amount (10ng) VLDL fraction. This could be due to the low amount of VLDL and some proteins might have been lost in the harsh condition of the stripping procedure. The resolved HepG2 supernatant is presented in lanes 6-11 and shows a ~549kDa band in the <1.063g/ml fractions of HepG2 cells treated with BSA plus oleic acids but not BSA alone. The band is not present in \leq 1.006g/ml fractions.



Figure 64: A Western blot of <1.063g/ml (LDL) and ≤1.006 g/ml (VLDL) fractions from human serum and HepG2 cell culture supernatants that were purified via potassium bromide sequential ultracentrifugation and probed with anti-apoE antibody.

Lanes 1&3: <1.063g/ml fractions (10ng and 20ng respectively) and lanes 2&4: \leq 1.006g/ml fractions (10ng and 20ng respectively). Lane 5: sample buffer only. Lanes 6-8: \leq 1.006g/ml fractions and lanes 9-11 : <1.063g/ml fractions. Lanes 6&9: 1.5% BSA treatment, lanes 7&10: 0.4mM OA treatment, lanes 8&11: 0.8mM OA treatment, and lane 12: EMEM medium only.



Figure 65: A Western blot of <1.063g/ml (LDL) and ≤1.006g/ml (VLDL) fractions from human serum and HepG2 cell culture supernatants that were purified via potassium bromide sequential ultracentrifugation and probed with anti-apoB100 antibody.

Lanes 1&3: <1.063g/ml fractions (10ng and 20ng respectively) and lanes 2&4: \leq 1.006g/ml fractions (10ng and 20ng respectively). Lane 5: sample buffer only. Lanes 6-8: \leq 1.006g/ml fractions and lanes 9-11: <1.063g/ml fractions. Lanes 6&9: 1.5% BSA treatment, lanes 7&10: 0.4mM OA treatment, lanes 8&11: 0.8mM OA treatment, and lane 12: EMEM medium only.

5.3.3 Coomassie staining of low density lipoproteins from Huh7.5 A similar experiment to that in section 5.3.1 was carried out using Huh7.5 cells and the results (Coomassie blue staining) are presented in figure 66 showing a ~549kDa band in both \leq 1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions of Huh7.5 cells treated with BSA plus oleic acids but not BSA alone. Also, a ~36kDa band was present in \leq 1.006g/ml fractions of Huh7.5 cells treated with BSA plus oleic acids but not BSA alone. This corresponds well to the molecular weight of apoE lipoprotein.

The alleged apoB (~550kDa) and apoE (~36kDa) bands of substantial amount from the Coomassie stain were cut out from the gel and sent for matrix assisted laser desorption ionization – time of flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry. Results from MALDI-TOF analysis of the Coomassie stained gel (figure 66, lane 8) were compared against the most related known proteins from the databank. The ~550kDa band showed a probability score of 196 (scores greater than 64 are significant where p<0.05) with human apolipoprotein B-100 precursor and the mass given was 515kDa. The ~36kDa band showed a probability score of 92 (scores greater than 77 are significant where p<0.05) with human apolipoprotein E precursor and the mass given was 36kDa.



Figure 66: A Coomassie-stained acrylamide gel showing protein bands of 550kDa and 36kDa in size.

The positions of the 550kDa and 36kDa bands are indicated by arrow A and B respectively. The samples include <1.063g/ml fractions (lanes 1-4) of human serum with known amount of apoB-100 protein, <1.006g/ml fractions (lanes 6-8) and <1.063g/ml fractions (lanes 9-11) of Huh7.5 cell culture supernatants, and negative control DMEM medium only. Huh7.5 cells were treated without oleic acid (1.5% BSA) or with oleic acid (0.4mM and 0.8mM concentration).

5.3.4 Western blotting of low density lipoproteins from Huh7.5

A Western Blot using anti-apoE antibody (DAKO, Ely, UK) was also carried out on a

similar gel described above. The results are presented in figure 67 showing both

 \leq 1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions have apoE lipoproteins bands in Huh7.5 cells treated with oleic acid. The bands in the \leq 1.006g/ml fractions are much stronger than those in the <1.063g/ml fractions. The ApoE concentration was also at a much higher concentration than that of \leq 1.006g/ml fractions from HepG2 supernatants. There was a low amount of apoE lipoproteins found in the <1.063g/ml fractions.

The same blot as in figure 67 was stripped (method described in section 2.62) and stain with anti-apoB100 antibody. The results are presented in figure 68. A ~549kDa band is found in both \leq 1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions in Huh7.5 cells treated with oleic acid.



Figure 67: A Western blot of \leq 1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions from Huh7.5 cell culture supernatants that were purified via potassium bromide sequential ultracentrifugation and probed with anti-apoE antibody.

Huh7.5 cells were treated with different concentration of oleic acid. Lanes $1-3: \le 1.006$ g/ml fractions and lanes 4-7: <1.063g/ml fractions. Lanes 1&4: 1.5% BSA treatment, lanes 2&5: 0.4mM OA treatment, lanes 3&6: 0.8mM OA treatment, and lane 7: DMEM medium only.



Figure 68: A Western blot of \leq 1.006g/ml and <1.063g/ml fractions from Huh7.5 cell culture supernatants that were purified via potassium bromide sequential ultracentrifugation and probed with anti-apoB antibody.

Huh7.5 cells were treated with different concentration of oleic acid. Lanes $1-3: \le 1.006$ g/ml fractions and lanes 4-7: <1.063g/ml fractions. Lanes 1&4: 1.5% BSA treatment, lanes 2&5: 0.4mM OA treatment, lanes 3&6: 0.8mM OA treatment, and lane 7: DMEM medium only.

5.3.5 Western blotting of very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and Huh7.5

The putative VLDL released by Huh7.5 cells cultured in oleic acid was further characterized. The VLDL fraction was separated into VLDL 1, 2, and 3 fractions and Western blotted with anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE antibodies. For comparison, Huh7 cells, which are less susceptible to HCVcc replication, were included in this experiment to test the hypothesis that secretion of VLDL might explain the increase in susceptibility in the Huh7.5 line.

0.7 X 10^6 cells/well of Huh7 and Huh7.5 were seeded in 4ml 10% FCS DMEM growth medium and incubated for five days at 37° C in 5% CO₂ replacing the medium at one or two days intervals as described in section 2.63. The medium was then replaced with DMEM serum free medium and BSA with (0.4mM oleic acid) or without oleic acids and incubated for another 2 days. 48ml supernatant was harvested, pooled, concentrated, and fractionated by the method described in section 2.58. Each fraction was concentrated to 280µl volume using a Vivaspin 6ml concentrator. 40µl of each fraction was then run on SDS-PAGE as described in section 2.59 and Western blotted as described in section 2.60 with anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE antibodies (DAKO, Ely, UK).

Figure 69 below shows that anti-apoB recognizes mainly the ~550kDa at VLDL-3 fraction and figure 70 shows that anti-apoE recognizes the ~36kDa again at VLDL-3 fraction in both Huh7 and Huh7.5 cells. This result does not support the hypothesis that the crucial difference between Huh7.5 cells and its parent cell line is the ability to secrete VLDL.

213



Figure 69: A Western blot of VLDL-1, VLDL-2, and VLDL-3 fractions from Huh7 and Huh7.5 cell culture supernatants after cells' treatment with 0.4mM OA probed with anti-apoB antibody. VLDL-1 is in lanes 1 and 4, VLDL-2 is in lanes 2 and 5, and VLDL-3 is in lanes 3 and 6. The VLDL fractions were purified via flotation ultracentrifugation.



Figure 70: A Western blot of VLDL-1, VLDL-2, and VLDL-3 fractions from Huh7 and Huh7.5 cell culture supernatants after cells' treatment with 0.4mM OA probed with anti-apoE antibody. VLDL-1 is in lanes 1 and 4, VLDL-2 is in lanes 2 and 5, and VLDL-3 is in lanes 3 and 6. The VLDL fractions were purified via flotation ultracentrifugation.

5.4 Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid – an optimization

To study the growth curve of the HCVcc under oleic acid treatment, the following experiment was carried out. The experiment was also designed to optimize the conditions for the culture of the HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid.

 2×10^4 cells/ml per well of naïve Huh7.5 cells was seeded the day before infection in 1ml 10% DMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂ as described in

section 2.52 except that the cells were incubated until day 11 post-infection and the supernatant harvested for RNA samplings on day 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11. The inoculum used was a passage 4 of J6/JFH1 RNA-transfected Huh7.5 cells with HCVcc RNA quantity of 1.8 X 10^5 IU per well and the cell culture medium used until day 11 was 3% FCS DMEM growth medium. On day 11, the cell's culture medium was replaced with 1ml of 1) 3% FCS DMEM growth medium + 1.5% BSA, 2) 3% FCS DMEM growth medium + 0.4mM oleic acid, 3) DMEM serum free medium + 1.5% BSA or 4) DMEM serum free medium + 0.4mM oleic acid. The supernatant was harvested on alternate day until day 16 post-infection.

The results are presented in figure 71. The highest increase of HCVcc RNA is found in supernatant of infected cells grown in serum free medium with oleic acid after day 11. There is very little HCV RNA detected during the first eight days of the culture presumably because there is very little replication taking place as there are very little core and non-structural proteins are available in the first few days. It has also been reported that only a small portion of the HCV particles released is infectious whilst the main portion of the released particles lack infectivity (Miyanari et al., 2007). On day 16, there is a 2.6 fold increase of HCVcc RNA in supernatant of infected cells grown in serum free medium with oleic acid (8.2 X 10^6 IU/ml) compared to that in supernatant of infected cells grown in serum free medium without oleic acid (3.2 X 10^6 IU/ml) and a 2 fold increase compared to that in supernatant of infected cells grown in medium containing 3% FCS with oleic acid (4.1 X 10^6 IU/ml).

The above experiment was similarly repeated twice using a pooled inoculum of varying passages of the alleged J6/JFH1 HCVcc from snap-frozen, thawed and

centrifuged supernatant samples as described in section 2.52. The HCVcc RNA quantity of 1.8×10^5 IU per well was used. On day 11, the cell's culture medium was replaced with 1ml of 1) DMEM serum free medium or 2) DMEM serum free medium + 1.5% BSA + 0.4mM oleic acid. The supernatant was harvested on alternate day until day 16 post-infection.

The results are compiled and presented in Figure 72. There is a general consensus that when HCVcc-infected Huh7.5 cells were treated with oleic acid, there is an increase of HCVcc RNA compared to when they were not treated with oleic acid. There is also a trend that the HCVcc RNA quantity decreases following a very high increase of HCVcc RNA from previous days of infection.

From figures 71 and 72, the best condition is serum free medium with oleic acid added.



Figure 71: Comparison of HCVcc RNA output after a J6/JFH1-RNA infection of naïve Huh7.5 cells cultured in the different types of medium with or without oleic acid treatment.

The infected cells were cultured in 1)3% FCS DMEM growth medium, 2)3% FCS DMEM growth medium + 0.4mM oleic acid, 3)DMEM serum free medium or 4)DMEM serum free medium + 0.4mM oleic acid. The inoculum used was a frozen, thawed, and centrifuged (1500g) supernatant from pass 4 of J6/JFH1 RNA-transfected Huh7.5 cells. The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.



Figure 72: Compilation of 3 sets of similar experiments depicting HCVcc RNA output when naïve Huh7.5 cells were infected with HCVcc. The infected cells were cultured in either serum free medium + 1.5% BSA (–OA) or serum free medium + 0.4mM oleic acid (+OA). The RNA was quantitated by real-time PCR.

5.5 Characterization of the 'LVP' production from J6/JFH1 HCVcc infected and oleic acid treated Huh7.5 cells

5.5.1 Density of 'LVP'

The following experiment was done to determine and compare the density of 'LVP' produced from HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells with or without oleic acid treatment using an iodixanol density gradient.

 2×10^4 cells/ml per well of naïve Huh7.5 cells was seeded in a 24-well-plate the day before infection in 1ml 10% DMEM growth medium and incubated at 37°C, in 5% CO₂ as described in section 5.4. A pooled inoculum of varying passages of the alleged J6/JFH1 HCVcc from snap-frozen, thawed and centrifuged supernatant samples with HCVcc RNA quantity of 1.8×10^5 IU per well was used. The cells were cultured in 3% DMEM growth medium and incubated until day 11 post-infection and the supernatant harvested for RNA samplings on day 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11 and replaced with fresh medium as required. On day 11, the medium was replaced with either 1)DMEM serum free medium + 1.5% BSA or 2) DMEM serum free medium + 0.4mM oleic acid was added to each well. The supernatant was harvested on alternate day until day 16 post-infection. 5ml of day 16 post-infection supernatant samples were harvested, pooled, and concentrated to 0.5ml volume and applied onto an iodixanol gradient as described in detail in section 2.64. The 27 fractions (0.5ml per fraction) collected were analysed for density using a digital refractometer (Atago, Japan) and HCVcc RNA quantity using real-time PCR.

The results are presented in figure 73. In the absence of oleic acid treatment, HCVcc RNA (2.3 X 10^6 IU/fraction) peaks at fraction 12 at density 1.146g/ml as shown in the figure. In the presence of oleic acid treatment, there is a shift of the HCVcc RNA (1.8 X 10^7 IU/fraction) peak to a lower density of 1.135g/ml (fraction 14).



Figure 73: The density of 'LVP' produced from HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells with or without oleic acid treatment using an iodixanol density gradient. HCVcc RNA for each fraction was quantitated by real-time PCR.

5.5.2 Size of 'LVP'

The following experiment was done to compare the size of 'LVP' produced from HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells with or without oleic acid treatment to that of chylomicron, VLDL 1, VLDL 2, IDL, and LDL using a gel filtration column.

The 'LVP' production from J6/JFH1 HCVcc infected and oleic acid treated Huh7.5 cells was similarly carried out as in section 2.64. However, 30ml of day 16 post-infection supernatant samples were harvested, pooled, and concentrated to 4ml volume and injected on to the gel filtration column as detailed in section 2.65. 600µl of each of the collected and pooled 24 fractions were analysed for HCVcc RNA quantity using real-time PCR.

The results are shown in figure 74. In the absence of oleic acid treatment, HCVcc RNA (1.6×10^7 IU/fraction) peaks at fraction 17 at size between VLDL 1 and VLDL 2 as shown in the figure. In the presence of oleic acid treatment, the peak of HCVcc RNA (3.4×10^7 IU/fraction) is also found in fraction 17. To date, there has been no report of the size of HCVcc in the literature.



Figure 74: The size of 'LVP' produced from HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells with or without oleic acid treatment using a gel filtration column.

The size of 'LVP' as depicted by the HCVcc RNA quantity was compared against the sizes of chylomicron, VLDL1, VLDL2, IDL, and LDL. The RNA for each fraction was quantitated by real-time PCR.

Chapter 6

6 Discussion

6.1 Studies on the binding of liver-derived HCV LVP and host lipoproteins to HepG2 cells

The ability of HCV LVP from the liver-macerate (LLVP) of an HCV genotype 1a infected patient who had common variable immunodeficiency, to bind and subsequently infect hepatocyte-derived cell lines and primary hepatocytes was initially investigated.

A number of receptors used by HCV to bind and gain entry into cells particularly hepatocytes or hepatocyte-derived cell lines had been suggested by others. These include receptors used by host lipoproteins to enter cells such as LDLr and SR-B1. A number of recent studies of HCVcc or HCVpp indicate that this is the case. Zeisel *et al* (Zeisel et al., 2007) using the HCVcc system showed that SR-B1 is crucial for the entry of HCV into host cell. Binding of HCVcc to Huh7.5 cells was specifically inhibited in a dose dependent manner by antibodies to the extracellular loop of SR-B1. In addition, infectivity of HCVcc was reduced by down regulation of SR-B1 expression by an siRNA technique (Zeisel et al., 2007).

Monazahian *et al* (Monazahian et al., 1999) have shown that the adsorption of HCV RNA-carrying material (HCVrcm) to human fibroblasts *in vitro* was inhibited completely by the addition of $>200\mu$ g/ml of purified LDL and that HCV could bind to COS-7 cells which normally do not bind HCV after being transfected with a vector containing human LDLr. In another study, endocytosis of HCV from infected human sera was shown to be mediated by LDLr as demonstrated by the direct correlation of

LDL receptor activity with that of the endocytosed virus, complete inhibition by anti-LDLr antibody, inhibition with anti-apoB and anti-apoE antibodies, by biochemical inhibitors of LDL endocytosis, and lack of viral endocytosis via LDLr was provided by cells known to have no LDLr (Agnello et al., 1999).

Endocytosis of serum derived HCV RNA, measured by in situ hybridisation, correlated with expression of LDL receptor G4 (B cells), HepG2, and Daudi cells (Agnello et al., 1999). Agnello *et al* also showed that endocytosis could be inhibited in a dose-dependent manner when the cells were pre-incubated with anti-LDLr antibody and, with high enough concentration, complete inhibition was achieved. They also showed that 25–100µg/ml of LDL or VLDL completely inhibited HCV endocytosis whereas HDL concentration of up to 200µg/ml did not (Agnello et al., 1999). Using confocal microscopy, low density HCV and LDL were shown to localize together on the cells surface, low density but not intermediate density HCV particles were shown to bind to lymphoid cells (MOLT-4) and fibroblasts expressing the LDLr, and using anti-LDLr antibodies, the binding correlated with LDLr expression (Wunschmann et al., 2000).

Uptake of HCV via SR-B1 and LDLr may occur indirectly following interaction of these receptors with host lipoproteins if HCV is associated with the host lipoprotein. There have been a number of studies that have described an association of HCV with LDL/VLDL in the serum of patients infected with HCV (Prince et al., 1996, Thomssen et al., 1992, Thomssen et al., 1993, Nielsen et al., 2004). Serum β -lipoprotein was associated with the HCV RNA at the density of 1.03g/ml – 1.08g/ml but not with HCV RNA with higher density of 1.12g/ml – 1.20g/ml (Thomssen et al.,

1992). In some patients, HCVrcm could be immunoprecipitated together with anti- β lipoproteins or with anti-immunoglobulins or with both or with neither (Thomssen et al., 1993). Using a column chromatographic procedure to fractionate plasma containing HCV, Prince *et al* found that HCV RNA was detected (by PCR) primarily in the VLDL fraction although virus associated with LDL could have also been eluted together with the VLDL fraction (Prince et al., 1996). In another study using iodixanol gradients by Nielsen *et al*, all virus from a patient S6 serum was found at a density below 1.13g/ml and the virus with density below 1.10g/ml could be precipitated out with anti-apoB100 polyclonal antibody showing that the HCV of low density was associated with LDL/VLDL (Nielsen et al., 2004).

Association with host lipoprotein may increase the infectivity of HCV as Hijikata *et al* have shown that HCV from a patient with high *in vivo* infectivity in chimpanzee was principally found in fractions of density 1.063g/ml while HCV with low *in vivo* infectivity was found principally in fractions >1.063g/ml (Hijikata et al., 1993b).

Martin (Martin, 2005) suggested that HCV LLVP may also be taken up via LDLr as they bind better to LPDS/insulin treated cells than hydroxyl 25-OH treated cells and that this correlates with raised LDLr expression. Also binding could be blocked by pre-incubation with LDL. If HCV is binding via the interaction of the host lipoprotein moiety of the LLVP to LDLr, it should be inhibited by anti-apoB and antiapoE antibodies.

6.2 Anti-apoB-100 and anti-apoE antibodies do not block binding of LLVP

Host lipoproteins bind to LDLr via apoB100 and apoE and this can be blocked with anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE antibodies. Binding of LDL to the LDLr is mediated by apoB (Brown and Goldstein, 1986) and VLDL by apoE (Chappell et al., 1993). The LDLr is able to bind apoB100 in LDL but it binds apoE in VLDL with a higher affinity (Windler et al., 1980). Another study showed that in hypertriglyceridemic subjects, the binding of VLDL1 to isolated LDLr is mediated through the thrombin-accessible apoE and that it binds via potentially dissociable apoE rather than non-transferable apoB (Brown et al., 1986).

Monoclonal antibody (Mab) 1D7 which is specific for human apoE could block binding of lipid-associated apoE to the LDLr (Maurice et al., 1989) and anti-apoB Mabs that are specific for a region that covers a thrombin cleavage site at residue 3249 of apoB could totally inhibit LDL binding to the LDLr (Milne et al., 1989).

A study made by Andre *et al* (Andre et al., 2002) showed that binding of LVP derived from the serum could also be blocked by anti-apoB and anti-apoE antibodies. In a similar study Agnello *et al* found that both anti-apoB and anti-apoE were required for maximal blocking for the endocytosis of VLDL whereas anti-apoB alone was enough to block LDL endocytosis. Using these conditions, 65% inhibition of HCV (from infected serum) endocytosis was achieved (Agnello et al., 1999). In contrast, in the HCVpp (genotypes 1a) system, anti-apoE but not anti-apoB could weakly inhibit the infectivity when monoclonal antibodies to the receptor binding sites of ApoB and ApoE were preincubated with the HCVpp (Bartosch et al., 2003a). In this study, the ability of polyclonal rabbit anti-apoB-100 antibody or a combination of anti-apoB-100 and anti-apoE antibodies to block the uptake of LLVP into the HepG2 cells was initially investigated. Contrary to what was expected, instead of anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE blocking the uptake of LLVP into the HepG2 cells, anti-apoE was without effect and anti-apoB100 actually enhanced the uptake of LLVP. In studies made by Maurice, Milne, Bartosch and Andre, monoclonal antibodies were used instead of polyclonal antibodies. Anti-apoB100 antibody and anti-apoE antibody used were polyclonal rabbit antibody against human apoB-100 and purified rabbit immunoglobulin against human apoE respectively. Whilst the polyclonal anti-apoB-100 was shown to be efficient at reducing binding of LDL to HepG2 cells, no equivalent data for the efficacy of the anti-apoE antibodies was available.

The failure of anti-apolipoprotein antibodies to block binding of LLVP suggests that LLVP may not be binding to LDLr, or LDLr is not the main or only receptor used in the binding process, or that LLVP bind to LDLr by an apolipoprotein independent manner. These results, however, paralleled the increase in oxLDL uptake into HepG2 cells when it was exposed to anti-apoB100 antibody.

A possible reason for the opposing result here to that of studies with serum-derived LVP could be the source or nature of the HCV particle as serum-derived LVP may have undergone different additional 'processes' than that of liver-derived LLVP.

The failure of anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE to block binding of LLVP could be due to other receptors being used in the binding of LLVP. LLVP may be more analogous to HCVcc than to serum LVP which means that SR-B1 may actually play a more

important role in binding as SR-B1 has been demonstrated to act as a receptor for HCVcc. Two anti-SR-B1 monoclonal antibodies, 3D5 and C167, efficiently blocked HCVcc infection of Huh7.5 hepatoma cells in a dose-dependent manner; hence showing that SR-B1 was directly involved in HCV infection. 3D5 and C167 could bind to conformation-dependent SR-B1 determinants and inhibit soluble E2 interaction with SR-B1 (Catanese et al., 2007). A study by von Hahn *et al* shows that SR-B1 is an important component of the cellular HCV receptor complex because oxLDL, an SR-B1 ligand, and not native LDL was found to strongly inhibit HCVpp and HCVcc entry (von Hahn *et al.*, 2006). Incubation of J6/JFH1 with oxLDL (10µg/m1), which is an SR-B1 ligand, for 1 hour at 37°C before infection led to a marked reduction in the percentage of infected cells and using limiting dilution assays in the presence of increasing amount of oxLDL, a dose-dependent inhibition was shown suggesting that SR-B1 is an important component of the cellular HCV receptor complex because in the presence of increasing amount of oxLDL, a dose-dependent inhibition was shown suggesting that SR-B1 is an important component of the cellular HCV receptor complex because in the presence of increasing amount of oxLDL, a dose-dependent inhibition was shown suggesting that SR-B1 is an important component of the cellular HCV receptor complex (von Hahn et al., 2006).

Scarcelli *et al* (Scarselli et al., 2002) showed that E2 binding to human hepatoma cell lines do not depend on CD81 as previously proposed but instead SR-B1 was found to be responsible for E2 binding as proven by the fact that only CHO cells transfected with the human SR-B1 acquired the ability to bind E2 but not mouse SR-B1 or the SR-B1 related human CD36. HVR1 was also found to be essential for E2-SR-B1 interaction as HVR1 deletion mutants were unable to bind to SR-B1 expressing cells. Similar findings were made by Bartosch *et al* (Bartosch et al., 2003b). By using receptor competition assays, they found that anti-SR-B1 polyclonal antibodies against SR-B1 ectodomain that could block binding of soluble E2 could prevent HCVpp (genotypes 1a and 1b) infectivity in Huh7 cells. They also showed that 9/27 monoclonal antibody, which binds to C-terminal part of H77 HVR1 sequence and

227

specifically blocks binding of genotype 1a E2 to SR-B1, could neutralize efficiently in a dose-dependent manner the infectivity of genotype 1a HCVpp but not 1b.

To date, it looks as if HCVpp and HCVcc requires CD81, CLDN1 and SR-B1. SR-B1 may act as a primary receptor involved in the early part of the entry process (Evans et al., 2007) whereas CD81 and CLDN1 may be involved in the post-binding steps (Evans et al., 2007, Koutsoudakis et al., 2006, Cormier, 2004).

6.3 Dil-oxLDL uptake by HepG2 cells under different drug treatments

That anti-apoB100 antibody enhances the uptake of LLVP suggests that LLVP is not binding to LDLr. Martin has shown that LLVP binding can be blocked by preincubation with both LDL and oxLDL (Martin, 2005). Thus, LLVP may mimic binding of oxLDL rather than LDL.

Whilst LDL binds both to the LDL receptor (Hajjar, 1997) and scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1) (Steinbrecher, 1999), oxidized LDL binds to SR-B1 but not to the LDL receptor (Hajjar, 1997). Thus, LLVP and oxLDL may bind via SR-B1. Von Hahn et al showed that oxLDL was not a receptor blocker as the binding of soluble E2 to SR-B1 or CD81 was not affected by oxLDL but oxLDL incubation could change the biophysical properties of HCVpp (von Hahn et al., 2006). He suggested that there is a ternary interaction of oxLDL with both virus and target cells and thus, concluded that oxLDL which is an SR-B1 ligand is a potent cell entry inhibitor for HCV.

LDL receptor expression can be reduced with hydroxycholesterol (25-OH) (Srivastava et al., 1995, Peng et al., 1996) and increased by removal of low density lipoproteins from the medium and addition of insulin (Agnello et al., 1999, Wade et al., 1989, Wade et al., 1988) and Martin (2005) has shown that these treatments have a similar effect upon LLVP binding. The effect of these conditions on the expression of SR-B1 is not clear, the hypothesis that LLVP and oxLDL are binding via SR-B1 predicts that these conditions will have a similar effect on oxLDL uptake.

As expected from the findings made by Martin (Martin, 2005), there was a significant decrease of DiI-LDL uptake by HepG2 cells when cells were pre-incubated in hydroxycholesterol, whereas, there was a significant increase in mean intensity when cells were cultured in LPDS plus insulin. However, there was little change in the DiI-oxLDL uptake by HepG2 treated with hydroxycholesterol, although, there was a significant increase in mean intensity when cells were treated with LPDS plus insulin. These results show that oxLDL does not behave in exactly the same was as LDL.

DiI-LDL was taken up more efficiently than DiI-oxLDL as shown by the 20-fold difference in the mean fluorescence intensity when the cells are treated with LPDS plus insulin since the DiI labelling of both LDL and oxLDL was similar. These findings suggest that either LPDS plus insulin upregulates SR-B1 to lower levels than LDL-r or that binding via LDLr is much more efficient than that via SR-B1. It cannot be excluded that the rise in oxLDL uptake in insulin treated cells could be due to residual uptake by LDLr. It is unlikely that the rise in oxLDL uptake was actually the uptake of residual LDL if the oxidation process of LDL, which destroys apoB100, was complete. The oxLDL preparation used followed that described by Lopes-Virella

et al which react optimally and consistently with defined oxLDL antibodies (Lopes-Virella et al., 2000) and aggregation, which is a characteristic of extensively oxidized LDL, was removed following the method of Hoff *et al.* (Hoff et al., 1993).

6.4 Effect of anti-apoB100 antibody on the binding of Dil-LDL and Dil-oxLDL

The increased binding of ox-LDL in cultures incubated in LPDS and insulin, designed to upregulate LDLr expression suggests that oxLDL may be taken up by residual binding of oxidised apoB100 to LDLr rather than by the SR-B1 receptor through recognition of oxidized ligands on the surface of oxLDL particle. If so, binding should be blocked with anti-apoB100 antibody. This did not prove to be the case as, although the result was not significant, pre-incubation of DiI-oxLDL with anti-apoB100 antibody increased binding of DiI-oxLDL to HepG2 cell. A similar treatment of DiI-LDL resulted in a significant 98% reduced binding. These results suggest that binding of oxLDL is not apoB100 dependent and therefore quite different from binding of LDL. This leaves as an alternative explanation that oxLDL binds to LPDS plus insulin treated cells via SR-B1 and that this receptor is also being increased in expression by the treatment. This possibility was tested by quantitative FACS analysis of anti-SR-B1 and anti-LDLr antibodies to cells cultured in LPDS plus insulin and those cultures in 2, 5 hydroxycholesterol as discussed in the next section.

6.5 Effect of LPDS plus insulin and 2,5 hydroxycholesterol on the expression of LDLr and SR-B1 on HepG2 cells and non-hepatic cells

In order to compare the effect of insulin on SR-B1 expression with the previously determined effect on LDLr expression and LVP binding, SR-B1 and LDLr

expressions were quantitated by FACS analysis with anti-SR-B1 and anti-LDLr antibody respectively on normal untreated HepG2 cells grown in 10% Foetal Calf Serum, cells grown in LPDS plus insulin and cells grown in FCS plus hydroxylcholesterol using FITC-staining of HepG2 cells for FACS. Contrary to our hypothesis, SR-B1 was significantly down-regulated by both LPDS plus insulin 1.2-fold and by hydroxycholesterol 1.4-fold in comparison to SR-B1 expressed in normal growth medium with 10% FCS. No previous studies on the effect of LPDS plus insulin or hydroxycholesterol on SR-B1 expression could be found. LDLr was significantly up-regulated 2.2-fold by LPDS plus insulin which was similar to the findings of others (Agnello et al., 1999, Wade et al., 1989, Wade et al., 1988) and down-regulated 1.3-fold by hydroxycholesterol in comparison to LDLr expressed in normal growth medium with 10% FCS which is also in agreement with the finding of others (Srivastava et al., 1995, Peng et al., 1996, Dashti, 1992).

Vero cells (monkey kidney cells) are non-hepatocyte derived cell which has LDLr, CD81 and GAGs present at the surface of the cell and is able to bind and replicate HCV (Germi et al., 2002). However, there has so far been no evidence on the expression of SR-B1 in Vero cells. An experiment was carried out to see if see if SR-B1 is also expressed in Vero cells and if LPDS plus insulin affects the expression of LDLr and SR-B1 in non-hepatocyte derived cells as it does in hepatocyte derived cells liver specificity. Our results showed that LDLr expression was increased in HepG2 cells but not in Vero cells which contradicts the findings of Germi who confirmed the role of LDLr as HCV receptor in Vero cells as anti-LDLr mAb reduced HCV binding by 60% and both LDL and VLDL which bind to LDLr, inhibit HCV adsorption (Germi et al., 2002). In our study, similar results were obtained with anti-

231

SR-B1 showing an increase in SR-B1 expression in HepG2 cells but not in Vero cells. Binding of LVP to Vero cells was higher than that to HepG2 cells (Martin, 2005) and hence, does not correlate with SR-B1 and LDLr as shown in the results above.

SR-B1 expression in HepG2 cells was slightly lowered by insulin treatment in the first experiment and slightly raised in the second suggesting that this receptor is not affected by insulin. These experiments, therefore, do not confirm the predictions for the hypothesis that LLVP and oxLDL, bind to insulin treated HepG2 cells via SR-B1.

6.6 Effect of suramine wash on Dil-ox-LDL bound to HepG2 cell surface

Martin (Martin, 2005) demonstrated that, like LDL, binding of LLVP was sensitive to suramine suggesting that it involved cell surface glycoasaminoglycans. Suramine sensitivity/resistance of oxLDL binding compared to that of LDL was therefore, tested. By confocal microscopy and FACS assessment, our results confirm the observations made by (Martin, 2005) where DiI-LDL bound at 0°C was removed after a suramine wash. However, the binding of DiI-oxLDL at both 0°C and 37°C was very much lower than DiI-LDL and the effect of suramine washing was difficult to gauge by confocal microscopy. By FACS analysis, the removal of DiI-oxLDL from cells at both 0°C and 37°C was not significant. Thus unlike LLVP, DiI-oxLDL does not appear to be bound to glycosaminoglycans.

6.7 Effect of anti-E2 HCV antibody and anti-HVR-1 monoclonal antibody blocking binding of LLVP

The components believed to act as ligands for the HCV receptors include HCV envelope glycoproteins, E1 and E2 which play an important role in the entry of HCV into host cells. In a review made by Tellinghuisen and Rice (Tellinghuisen and Rice, 2002), E2 was thought to be responsible for the binding to the putative host-cell receptor (s). Deletion of HVR1 of E2 has been shown to reduce HCVpp infectivity in cell culture (Bartosch et al., 2003b, Callens et al., 2005) thus, supporting a major role of HVR1 in host cell entry. In another study using HCVpp, it has been suggested that the particle binding to SR-B1 depends upon the E2 glycoprotein (Bartosch et al., 2003b).

Scarselli et al (Scarselli et al., 2002) originally identified SR-B1 as the putative receptor to HCV because it binds soluble E2. Interaction between soluble E2 and SR-B1 has been shown to be specific (Scarselli et al., 2002, Barth et al., 2005). However, no direct interaction between SR-B1 and E1E2 heterodimer has been reported to date.

Monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies against linear as well as conformational epitopes of E2 have been shown to inhibit cellular binding of HCV-LP binding, entry of HCVpp, and infection of HCVcc. Other groups had found that antibodies directed against the E2 protein are able to neutralize cell entry of HCVpp (Bartosch et al., 2003a, Keck et al., 2008). Mab 9/27 which is specific for the amino acids 396-407 within the C-terminus of HVR1 specifically neutralized HCVpp or HIV-HE1E2 (HIV pseudotype bearing HCV strain H native E1 and E2 glycoproteins) (Hsu et al., 2003). The H35 and H48 monoclonal antibodies which target conformational epitopes on E2 could reduce infectivity of HCVpp genotype 1a by up to 70% (Bartosch et al., 2003a). An E2-specific human mAb C1 was able to neutralize HCVcc in a dose-dependent manner (Lindenbach et al., 2005). Monoclonal antibodies 3D5 and C167 against conformational human SR-B1 and are able to inhibit the interaction of soluble E2 with SR-B1 and were able to block HCVcc infection of Huh7.5 cells in a dose dependent manner (Catanese et al., 2007).

In order to assess the role of E2 in the binding of liver derived HCV LVP to HepG2 cells, polyclonal anti-E2 antibody and a monoclonal antibody to the E2 hypervariable region were tested for their ability to block LVP binding. The anti-HVR-1 3C7-C3 monoclonal antibody used in this study recognized a truncated natural E2 protein (H661) and HCV-LP (1a), both derived from strain H (Cerino et al., 2001) and both this and the polyclonal anti-E2 antibody have previously been shown to bind to S6 HCV in an immunoprecipitation experiment (Nielsen et al., 2006). In our results, there was no significant difference between the binding of LLVP to HepG2 cells following treatment with normal goat IgG or goat anti-E2 HCV antibody. Similarly, treatment of LLVP with anti-HVR-1 HCV E2 monoclonal antibody produced no significant change in the binding compared to anti-RSV-F monoclonal antibody.

From the results above, neither polyclonal antibody against E2 nor anti-HVR1 monoclonal antibody against the hypervariable region of E2 blocks binding of LVP to HepG2 cells. This suggests that E2 is not involved in binding but it cannot be excluded that E2 is involved in the binding of LLVP to HepG2 but these particular antibodies do not affect the binding site.

6.8 Conclusions concerning binding of S6 LLVP to HepG2 cells

Martin (Martin, 2005) found that liver derived lipo-viro-particle (LLVP) binding to HepG2 cells could be inhibited by both LDL and ox-LDL. I have shown that binding of LLVP to HepG2 resembles binding of oxidised low density lipoprotein (oxLDL) more closely than that of low density lipoprotein (LDL). Thus, whereas anti-apoB100 antibodies blocked uptake of LDL by HepG2 cells, the same antibody actually enhanced the uptake of both oxLDL and LLVP. As both LDL (Steinbrecher, 1999) and ox-LDL (Hajjar, 1997) bind to SR-B1, this observation prompted the hypothesis that LLVP, like oxLDL, bind to SR-B1 to enter and infect cells. This hypothesis predicts that the established properties of LLVP binding to HepG2, including increased uptake by insulin treated cells and removal by suramine will be shared by the oxLDL/SR-B1 system.

However, comparisons between oxLDL and LLVP binding demonstrated that SR-B1 expression and oxLDL binding did not parallel LDLr expression in cells treated with OH-cholesterol or LPDS and insulin and that, unlike LLVP, oxLDL binding was not reversed by suramine. Further anti-E2 HCV antibody and anti-HVR-1 monoclonal antibody fail to block the binding of LLVP suggesting that the E2 glycoprotein, which is responsible for binding HCVcc to SR-B1, does not mediate binding of LLVP.

Recent experiments carried out by Nielsen *et al.* indicate that LVP semi-purified on iodixanol gradients may contain viral RNA containing microsomal membrane particles created during the maceration of the liver (Nielsen et al., 2008). He showed that the HCV RNA from the liver eluted as a broad peak from Toyopearl gel filtration

column with the highest peak of about 6.5 x 10^7 IU with most of the HCV in the liver found within membranes which has a diameter of ≥ 100 nm. In light of this, it is not clear whether the HCV RNA bound to HepG2 cells in the binding studies presented here represents the binding of LVP or microsomal membrane fragments.

Binding of liver derived HCV 'LVP' from liver macerate to HepG2 cells, which appears to be mediated via host cell receptor-ligand interactions, may not be biologically relevant and may not lead to infection in the cell. An infection system, in which the ability of adsorbed virus to penetrate and initiate infection in the cells can be monitored, is required to investigate whether binding of LVP via host cell ligands can lead to infection.

6.9 Determination of HCV RNA quantity upon inoculation of HCV 'LVP' from liver macerate to HepG2 and Huh7.5 cell lines and primary hepatocytes

Since HCV was first identified, many attempts had been made to infect cells with HCV *in vitro*. In 1997, cDNA clones of HCV which were functional were first constructed and with these clones, chimpanzees became infected after an intrahepatic transfection with the recombinant viral RNA (Kolykhalov, 1997, Yanagi et al., 1997) but the genomes failed to replicate *in vitro*. Following this, it became possible to select for HCV RNA replication in cell culture by creating HCV replicons that were able to express a drug-stable gene (Lohmann, 1999) but culture adaptive mutation was required for efficient replication (Blight, 2000). In 2005, Wakita *et al.* (*Wakita et al., 2005*) reported robust replication in Huh7 cells of a full length clone of HCV genotype 2a strain of virus derived from a case of fulminant hepatitis. A number of
authors demonstrated improved replication of this virus and its derivatives in lines of Huh7 cells (Huh7.5) which were selected for replication HCV sub-genomic replicons and then cured of replicon by interferon alpha treatment (Lindenbach et al., 2005, Zhong, 2005).

In our attempt to have an HCV infectious system going *in vitro* for HCV binding study, we set out to inoculate two hepatoma cell lines, HepG2 and Huh7.5 and primary hepatocytes with HCV RNA of S6b LLVP and monitored the HCV RNA quantity for 7 days post inoculation but our attempt failed to demonstrate any increase in HCV RNA although there is a possibility that incubation of the cells for a longer period might produce evidence of virus replication. Studies of the virus JFH1 which has been shown to replicate in Huh7 and Huh7.5.1 cells show HCV replication decreasing in the first week but increasing thereafter (Zhong, 2005). It would, therefore, be interesting to monitor cultures inoculated with S6b LLVP over a longer period.

Using a strand-specific RT-PCR, Fournier et al showed replication of HCV serum samples in primary adult human hepatocyte as assessed by the intracellular negativestrand RNA which appeared at day 1 post–infection peaking at day 3 and day 5 (15fold amplification) followed by a decrease until day 14 (Fournier et al., 1998). In another study using a competitive RT-PCR and human fetal hepatocytes, the highest level of replication was detected 30 days' post-infection with 5.5 x 10^3 RNA copies per ml for cell-free virus and 38,650 RNA copies per 6 x 10^5 infected cells (Iacovacci et al., 1997). Ito *et al* monitored HCV RNA until day 14 and found that the RNA increased from day 1 to day 4 and falling off subsequently in IMY-N9 cells developed

237

from a fusion of human hepatocytes with HepG2 cell but not in the parent HepG2 cells (Ito et al., 2001). Five clones of MT-2 cells were found to have intracellular positive-stranded RNA detected until 21-30 days post-infection, peaking at day 4 until day 11 at least (Mizutani et al., 1996). In a kinetic study of HCV replication in long term cultures of human hepatocytes, positive-strand RNA was detectable after day 8 and day 12 post-infection in cells whereas secreted viral RNA became detectable at day 10 gradually increasing during the 3 months of culture with RNA quantities ranging from 955 at day 12 post-infection to about 60x10³ ge/ml at day 90 (Rumin et al., 1999).

It is still unknown why serum-derived HCV replicates poorly in primary human hepatocytes and hepatoma cells *in vitro* (Burlone and Budkowska, 2009). Bartenschlager *et al* (Bartenschlager, 2000) had difficulty trying to produced HCV from cells transfected with RNA transcribed from a cDNA copy of the viral genome. Successful replication of full length genome replicons failed to produce infectious virus particles in culture (Blight, 2002, Pietschmann, 2002).

Investigations to date have shown that different *in vivo* sources of HCV behave differently in attaching to HepG2 cells. Serum derived virus is in short supply and may be complexed with antibody. S6 liver derived virus is complex and it has not proved possible to determine the biological significance of the observed binding patterns. An infectious LVP is required to study the productive attachment pathways. The only infectious HCV systems to date are JFH1 and J6/JFH in Huh7.5 cells with the later being the highest yielding system available as reviewed in section 1.10.2. There are similarities between serum derived HCV and J6/JFH HCVcc as the density

238

of the virus particles is heterogeneous with peak infectivity found in the lower density fractions (Lindenbach et al., 2005) and there is a similarity in the assembly of JFH1 HCVcc with the production of VLDL as HCVcc assembly depends on microsomal transfer protein (MTP) and apoB100 (Gastaminza et al., 2008). Huang et al (Huang et al., 2007b) also showed a close association between HCV production and VLDL assembly demonstrating that an inhibitor of MTP and siRNA inhibition of apoB, both of which are necessary for VLDL assembly, caused reduction in HCV production. The lower density fractions of HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells may thus represent infectious LVP and their study could allow the elucidation of the mechanism of attachment and binding of LVP to hepatocytes.

6.10 The J6/JFH1 system

When this work began, the HCV subgenomic replicon had been widely used in the HCV studies. This was followed by robust HCV replication in Huh7.5 cells demonstrated by Wakita (Wakita et al., 2005) following transfection of the JFH1 virus, genotype 2a strain in the Huh7 cell line. Lindenbach (Lindenbach et al., 2005) have demonstrated more extensive replication of a chimeric virus J6/JFH (genotypes 2a) in Huh7.5 cells to produce infectious viral particles *in vitro*. Huh7 cells are human hepatoma cell line that has the ability to secrete VLDL (Higashi et al., 2002, Higashi et al., 2003, Lalanne et al., 2005) but the involvement of host lipoprotein production pathways in the assembly and release of virus in these systems is unclear. It has been suggested that feeding liver cell lines with fatty acids may stimulate VLDL secretion. Oleate increases the secretion of VLDL by 425% in HepG2 cells (Dashti and Wolfbauer, 1987) and in Caco-2 cells, there is a 55-fold increase in the concentration of VLDL (Dashti et al., 1990). We, therefore, decided to attempt to

generate infectious LVP from the J6/JFH1 system by feeding the infected cells fatty acid in order to boost host lipoprotein production.

Attempts made to reproduce the J6/JFH1 system in our laboratory encountered a few problems. Initially, the transformation of the wild-type pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA, and also mutants pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA, which were kindly provided by Prof. Charlie Rice, went smoothly enough as the transformation were successful and we were able to get the said DNA. Initially, the plasmids were checked for correct sizes by using restriction enzymes that would cut at the appropriate sites as labelled on the pFL-J6/JFH1 restriction map kindly supplied together with the plasmids. The predicted fragment sizes by the restriction enzymes used are; EcoRI digest should produce a band of about 12kbp, EcoRI and XbaI double digest should generate 2 bands of about 10kbp and 2.5kbp, and KpnI and XbaI double digest should generate 2 bands of about 8kbp and 4kbp. Restriction enzyme of the miniprep DNA from the three different clones gave the sizes predicted.

Partial sequencing of NS5B region (from 7659 until 7893 nucleotides using SI-3 and SI-4 primers and from 8523 until 8754 nucleotides using SI-1 and SI-2 primers) as well as the 5' NTR region (22 until 111 nucleotides using SI-5 and SI-6 primers) of the pFL-J6/JFH1 and the two mutants pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND was successfully done to confirm the base changes of the mutants compared to that of the wild-type, to make sure there had not been any mix-up of the three different clones, and to demonstrate both the correct orientation of the plasmid and the correct alignment of T7 promoter.

Attempts were then made to to transcribe HCV RNA from pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids. No further work was done with pFL-J6/JFH1-H2476L. A problem arose during the initial purification of linearized plasmids for in vitro transcription which was done by running the XbaI-digested plasmids on 0.7% agarose gel, cutting out the 10kbp band, electro-eluting, and phenol-chloroform extracting / ethanol precipitating (purification 1). XbaI digestion of pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA gave a relatively clean single band but pFL-J6/JFH1-GND reproducibly gave an incomplete digestion which was unexpected. This problem remains unexplained as the structure of the plasmid pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA, which differs only from the wild type by a single point mutation should not be very different from the wild-type pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA as it is unlikely that the point mutation that is far from the XbaI digestion site could make a structural change to the plasmid DNA.

Purification of pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA before XbaI digestion, to remove impurities left during the maxiprep digestion which might cause the incomplete digestion, failed to rectify the problem. Attempts to completely digest pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA by using XbaI enzyme from a different company, increasing the incubation time, and increasing the enzymes concentration also failed.

Only after doing a double digestion of pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA with XmnI + XbaI or SspI + XbaI enzymes was it possible to fully digest the DNA. This suggests that during the maxiprep digestion, the structure of pFL-J6/JFH1-GND DNA was such that the XbaI digestion site was hidden from XbaI enzyme and was exposed only when linearization was first done by a different enzyme such as XmnI and SspI. Gel purification produced a single clean DNA band for both pFL-J6/JFH1 and pFL-J6/JFH1-GND plasmids but these products yielded only a smear of RNAs around 1.8kb in the *in vitro* transcription reaction instead of a 9.6kb single band representing the full genome of HCV. The adoption of the purification 2 method after the XbaI digestion of pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA plasmid resulted in the full *in vitro* transcription of pFL-J6/JFH1 DNA.

The transcribed RNA was electroporated into Huh7.5 cells which were screened at intervals post-electroporation for HCV RNA by qRT-PCR. Following optimization of the electroporation/transfection conditions, there was an increase in HCV RNA output for J6/JFH1 discernable from day 7 but not for J6/JFH1-GND RNA transfection. As the mutant with J6/JFH1-GND genome has a defective RNA polymerases activity of NS5B, it would not be expected to synthesize new RNAs after the transfection.

These results may be compared to those of Lindenbach *et al* (Lindenbach et al., 2005), who, using qRT-PCR, could detect 359 ± 62 relative amount (to that of J6/JFH1-GND) of J6/JFH1 HCV RNA as early as 48 hours using only 1µg of RNA transcripts per transfection. We could detect 2.5 X 10³ relative amount only at day 7 using 10µg of RNA transcripts. Using Northern hybridization, Wakita *et al* could only detect degraded input JFH1 RNA 12h after transfection but full length JFH1 RNA was detected 24h post-transfection and this remained detectable up to 72hours but none from JFH1/GND replication-incompetent mutant (Wakita et al., 2005).

That the HCV RNA detected in the supernatant from day 7 was indeed infectious HCVcc was established by infection of naïve Huh7.5 cells with supernatants from transfected cultures. HCVcc RNA output increased a few days after the frozen, thawed, and centrifuged supernatant sample of the J6/JFH1 transfected Huh7.5 cells was used to inoculate naïve Huh7.5 cells

To demonstratre de novo viral protein synthesis as well as genome replication Lindenbach showed that NS5A expression could be transferred to naive Huh7.5 cells by the FL-J6/JFH-transfected culture media after the media from these cultures were clarified by centrifugation and filtration (Lindenbach et al., 2005). In our studies, an indirect immunofluorescence experiment using anti-E2 HCV AP33 and anti-core HCV ϕ 126 monoclonal antibodies showed foci of intense apple-green immunofluorescence staining in a fixed monolayer of red counter-stained Huh7.5 cells showing E2 glycoproteins and core proteins of HCVcc RNA being translated and produced in the Huh7.5 cells.

A growth curve carried out to compare if the HCVcc grew better in 10% FCS or 3% FCS showed that a lower percentage serum was beneficial. 3% FCS in the medium increasingly enhanced the HCVcc production up to 94 fold at day 5 compared to that containing 10% FCS. This was however done once only. FCS is made up of pooled material containing undefined factors from different source which may have different influences on HCV RNA replication and infection (Abe et al., 2007). Other authors have found that increased concentration of FCS favour replication of HCV replicons. Thus Abe *et al* reported that HCV RNA replication in OR6, a genome-length HCV RNA (strain O of genotype 1b) with Renilla luciferase as a reporter in Huh7 cells,

luciferase activity, which correlated with HCV RNA replication, increased with increasing percentage of FBS in the growth medium (Abe et al., 2007). Delipidation of FCS also has also been reported to have a detrimental effect on its ability to support HCV replicon replication. Thus Huang et al (Huang et al., 2007a) showed that the HCV RNA of HCV replicons (Huh7-K2040 cells) in Huh7 cells in delipidated FCS decreased about three fold compared to in 10% FCS. The contrast between these studies and the results reported here suggests that higher concentrations of serum inhibit elements of the infectious cycle not shared by the replicon and the full length infectious virus, such as assembly, release and cell-to cell transmission.

6.11 Production of very low density lipoproteins by HepG2 and Huh7.5 cells treated with oleic acid

LVP seem to be hybrid particles in which hepatitis C virions are closely associated with host VLDL (Nielsen et al., 2008). It has been shown in earlier studies that Huh7 cells are able to produce VLDL (Higashi et al., 2002, Higashi et al., 2003, Lalanne et al., 2005). In Caco-2 cell (human-derived intestine cell line), oleate increased the production of VLDL by 55-fold (Dashti et al., 1990). Oleic acid could also stimulate VLDL production in HepG2 cells (Arrol et al., 2000). Here, we have set out to increase production of VLDL by feeding oleic acids to Huh7.5 cells, which are the only cell type capable of supportive robust HCV replication in culture. Initially however, it was important to assess the toxicity of oleic acid in cell cultures. Huh7.5 cells were chosen for toxicity studies. Oleic acid with a concentration of up to 0.4mM was positively beneficial for Huh7.5 cell survival and there was no observable toxic effect on Huh7.5 cells when grown in serum free medium with 0.4mM and also 0.8mM oleic acid.

Next, VLDL secretion was monitored following oleic acid treatment of both Huh7.5 and HepG2 cells. Triglyceride lipoproteins secreted by hepatocytes can be divided into two forms - LDL, of density between 1.019-1.063g/ml, which contain apolipoprotein apoB100 but not apoE, and the larger, less dense VLDL of 0.95-1.006g/ml which contain both apolipoproteins (Gotto et al., 1986, Ginsberg, 1998). Accordingly the output of oleic acid treated and control cells was fractionated by iodixanol density gradient centrifugation and characterised using Coomassie Blue staining and Western blotting to detect apoB100 and apoE output, confirmed by MALDI-TOF analysis.

When treated with BSA plus oleic acid, HepG2 cells were found to secrete apoB100 proteins only in fractions with the density of LDL (1.063g/ml) but not in the VLDL fractions (<1.006g/ml). Trace amounts only of apoE proteins were detected by Western blot in both fractions. Treatment with BSA alone did not produce any bands in either fraction.

However, in Huh7.5 cells, both apolipoproteins were found in the VLDL fractions of cultures treated with oleic acid but not in control cultures treated with BSA. In the LDL fraction, a strong band of apoB100 but only trace amounts of apoE proteins was seen.

This data suggests that oleic acid treated Huh7.5 cells produce a VLDL-like particle containing both apoB-100 and apoE lipoproteins with a density of <1.006g/ml. HepG2 cells produced an LDL-like particle containing an apoB-100 lipoprotein which

245

is consistent with previous observations that apoB accumulates in the tissue culture medium when HepG2 cells were treated with 0.4mM oleic acid (Arrol et al., 2000).

6.12 Band identification in very low density lipoproteins 1, 2, and 3 from Huh7 and Huh7.5

To further characterize the putative VLDL release by Huh7.5 cells cultured in oleic acid, the VLDL fraction was further characterized by separation into VLDL 1, 2, and 3 fractions with Western blotting for apoB100 and apoE. In these experiments, we used Sodium Chloride flotation ultracentrifugation to separate VLDL1 ($S_f > 100$), VLDL2 ($S_f > 60$) and VLDL3 ($S_f > 20$) with VLDL 1 being the lowest density and the largest VLDL. *In vivo*, hepatocytes secrete both VLDL1 or VLDL2 but not VLDL3 (Olofsson and Boren, 2005).

In our experiments, both Huh7.5 and Huh7 cells produced apoB-100 and apoE lipoproteins in the VLDL 3 (the highest density VLDL) fraction but not in VLDL1 and VLDL2 fractions. Fatty acids stimulate the VLDL synthesis and secretion in a manner dependent on the amount and types of fatty acids available (Homan et al., 1991). Oleic acid has only one cis double bond which probably makes the formation of VLDL structure more compact and, hence, denser in comparison to other unsaturated fatty acids for example arachidonic acid, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) which has more cis double bonds. Our experiments show that addition of oleic acid to the medium of Huh7.5 cells induces synthesis of particles with the characteristics – density and apolipoprotein content – of VLDL3. This system is thus a promising area for further investigation on the genesis of LVP *in vitro*.

6.13 Characterization of HCVcc by density and size

6.13.1 Infection and culture of the J6/JFH1 HCVcc in Huh7.5 cells in the presence or absence of oleic acid

J6/JFH1 HCVcc infected Huh7.5 cells were found to have a somewhat greater amount of HCVcc RNA in the culture supernatant when the infected cells were grown in 3% FCS medium with oleic acid compared to medium without oleic acid. When cells were cultured in serum free medium in the absence of oleic acid, yields of viral RNA were similar to cultures with 3% serum but, in the presence of oleic acid, yields were increased over two fold. This result is in accordance with the finding of Kapadia and Chisari (Kapadia and Chisari, 2005) using SfiI HCV full-length replicon (genotype 1b) in Huh7 cells. They showed that polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) arachidonic, eicosapentaenoic (EPA) and docosahexaenoic (DHA) fatty acids inhibited HCV replication whereas saturated lauric, myristic, and palmitic and monounsaturated oleic fatty acids induced HCV replication. The study showed that HCV replication was highest with oleic acid compared to other fatty acids mentioned and 150% higher compared to the mock sample.

In the characterization of the density of J6/JFH1 HCVcc from infected Huh7.5 cells, it was found that in the absence of oleic acid treatment, HCVcc RNA peaks at fraction 12 at density 1.146g/ml. These results are in agreement with the Lindenbach's findings who reported the size of J6/JFH1 HCVcc peak at density 1.13 to 1.14g/ml when HCVcc was harvested from Huh7.5 cells grown in complete DMEM medium (Lindenbach et al., 2005). Gastaminza *et al.* (Gastaminza et al., 2006) found that extracellular particles of the JFH1 HCVcc have a buoyant density that ranges from 1.03g/ml to 1.16g/ml with peak HCVcc RNA at 1.15g/ml. In our experiment, in the

presence of oleic acid treatment, the peak shifted to a lower density of 1.135g/ml. The shift of J6/JFH1 HCVcc to a lower density may reflect the association of HCVcc with VLDL3 secreted by oleic acid treated Huh7.5 cell. If that is the case, it is not clear why there is only a small difference in the density (0.011g/ml) of the HCVcc produced by the oleic treated compared to the non-oleic treated Huh7.5 cell.

If the decrease in density of HCVcc recovered from OA treated cells is associated with association of the viral particles with host lipoprotein or host lipoprotein of increased lipid content and thus lower density, it is expected that there will be a concommitant shift of smaller sized to a bigger sized HCVcc. However, gel filtration analysis revealed no shift in HCVcc RNA peak in oleic acid treated compared to the non-oleic treated infected Huh7.5 cells. The peak of HCVcc occurred somewhere in between VLDL1 and VLDL2 indicating that the viral particle is already rather larger than a VLDL3. It is not clear if the Toyopearl column is capable of resolving the increase in size of HCVcc/VLDL3 aggregation.

6.14 Conclusion

The overarching hypothesis is that HCV complexed with host VLDL as LVP binds to and enters cells via a viral glycoprotein independent mechanism using host receptor: ligand interactions. This hypothesis is difficult to test with LVP purified from clinical material. Virus recovered from serum of infected patients is limited in supply and heterogenous in density and immunoglobulin content and the biological significance of this heterogeneity is unknown. Following early studies by Caroline Martin, I have attempted to study the uptake of liver derived LVP semi-purified from the liver macerate of an agammaglobulinaemic patient by density gradient centrifugation. Although, Martin has shown that LLVP binds in a similar way to LDL with increased glycosaminoglycan dependent binding to LPDS / insulin treated cells with enhanced LDLr expression, blocked by incubation with excess LDL, my experiments have shown that anti-apoB100 and anti-apoE could not block the uptake of LLVP into the HepG2 cells. As oxLDL, thought to bind to hepatocytes via SR-B1, could also block LLVP binding, I explored the hypothesis that LLVP binds via SR-B1. However, evidence that oxLDL binding was glycosaminoglycan dependent, like LLVP was unconvincing, and there was no evidence of increased SR-B1 expression in LPDS / insulin treated cells which resulted in increased LLVP binding. Further attempts to show that LLVP binding could be blocked by anti-E2 antibodies, reported to block HCV SR-B1 interactions, were negative. LLVP binding studies were beset with difficulties due to two main weaknesses; 1) studies parallel to these by (Nielsen et al., 2008) showed that the predominant HCV RNA containing particle in LLVP preparations is probably a microsomal fraction of infected cells rather than virion 2) the biological relevance of the observed binding assessed by RT-PCR detection of HCV RNA associated with hepatocytes after washing cannot be assessed.

The switch to an assessment of binding by infectivity would circumvent both weaknesses of this system but LLVP were not infectious for either HepG2 cells or Huh7.5 cells. LLVP were therefore abandoned and an attempt was made to develop HCV LVP in cell culture. The subsequent part of the study aimed initially to set up the J6/JFH1 infectious system followed by testing the hypothesis that HCVcc treated with a monounsaturated fatty acid, oleic acid, could result in production of a VLDL associated HCV or an *in vitro* LVP. Oleic acid treatment of Huh7.5 cells resulted in the secretion of lipoprotein particles carrying apoB100 and apoE and of a density

similar to VLDL3. Oleic acid treatment of Huh7.5 cells infected with J6/JFH1 resulted in the secretion of higher concentration of HCVcc RNA and this was associated with a shift in the HCVcc RNA peak towards lower density fraction. The HCVcc RNA was also characterized by size and was found to be larger than the VLDL3 secreted by uninfected Huh7.5 cells. There was, however, no discernible increase in size of the lower density HCV RNA containing particles secreted by oleic acid treated cells and it remains unclear whether the shift in density represents association of HCVcc with host lipoprotein.

6.15 Future Work

Studies using SfiI HCV full-length replicon (genotype 1b) showed that oleic acid, a monounsaturated fatty acid together with saturated (lauric, myristic, and palmitic) fatty acids induced HCV RNA replication as opposed to polyunsaturated fatty acids (arachidonic, eicosapentaenoic acid, and docosahexaenoic acid) (Kapadia and Chisari, 2005). Our study yield similar results when J6/JFH1 infected Huh7.5 were treated with oleic acids. The major problem to be addressed in future work is the full characterization of putative LVPcc produced by oleic acid treated J6/JFH1 infected Huh7.5 in comparison with higher density particles in the same preparations and in untreated infected cells.

In this study, RNA replication peaks in fraction with density of 1.135g/ml with oleic acid treatment and 1.14g/ml in the absence of oleic acids. It would be useful to know if these peaks in RNA replication actually coincides with the highest production of infectious HCVcc and an infectivity assay would provide the means to get this measurement. Particle:infectivity ratios will give some insight into the biological relevance of the shift of the density. Immunoprecipitation studies with anti-

apolipoproteins B100, E and C will determine whether the shifted particle is a hybrid virus / host lipoprotein. Neutralization studies with antibodies to the viral glycoproteins may demonstrate whether or not reduced density is associated with resistance to neutralization. Should these studies confirm that the output of the oleic acid treated J6/JFH1 system do represent LVP binding studies, assessing the role of LDLr and SR-B1 can be resumed.

7 References

- ABE, K., IKEDA, M., ARIUMI, Y., DANSAKO, H. & KATO, N. (2007) Serum-free cell culture system supplemented with lipid-rich albumin for hepatitis C virus (strain O of genotype 1b) replication. *Virus Res*, 125, 162-8.
- ABE, K., INCHAUSPE, G., SHIKATA, T. & PRINCE, A. M. (1992) Three different patterns of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees. *Hepatology*, 15, 690-5.
- ABID, K., PAZIENZA, V., DE GOTTARDI, A., RUBBIA-BRANDT, L., CONNE, B., PUGNALE, P., ROSSI, C., MANGIA, A. & NEGRO, F. (2005) An in vitro model of hepatitis C virus genotype 3a-associated triglycerides accumulation. *J Hepatol*, 42, 744-51.
- ACTON, S., RIGOTTI, A., LANDSCHULZ, K.T., XU, S., HOBBS, H.H., KRIEGER, M. (1996) Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science*, 271, 518-520.
- ACTON, S. L., SCHERER, P. E., LODISH, H. F. & KRIEGER, M. (1994) Expression cloning of SR-BI, a CD36-related class B scavenger receptor. J Biol Chem, 269, 21003-9.
- ADINOLFI L, G. M., ANDREANA A, TRIPODI M, UTILI R, RUGGIERO G. (2001) Steatosis accelerates the progression of liver damage of chronic hepatits C patients and correlates with specific HCV genotype and visceral obesity. *Hepatology*, 33, 1358-64.
- AGNELLO, V., ABEL, G., ELFAHAL, M., KNIGHT, G. B. & ZHANG, Q. X. (1999) Hepatitis C virus and other flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 12766-71.
- AKIRA, S., UEMATSU, S. & TAKEUCHI, O. (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, 124, 783-801.
- ALLANDER, T., FORNS, X., EMERSON, S. U., PURCELL, R. H. & BUKH, J. (2000) Hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 binds to CD81 of tamarins. *Virology*, 277, 358-67.
- ALTER, H. J., PURCELL, R. H., HOLLAND, P. V. & POPPER, H. (1978) Transmissible agent in non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Lancet*, 1, 459-63.
- ALTER, H. J., PURCELL, R. H., SHIH, J. W., MELPOLDER, J. C., HOUGHTON, M., CHOO, Q. L. & KUO, G. (1989a) Detection of antibody to hepatitis C virus in prospectively followed transfusion recipients with acute and chronic non-A, non-B hepatitis. *N Engl J Med*, 321, 1494-500.

- ALTER, H. J., SANCHEZ-PESCADOR, R., URDEA, M. S., WILBER, J. C., LAGIER, R. J., DI BISCEGLIE, A. M., SHIH, J. W. & NEUWALD, P. D. (1995) Evaluation of branched DNA signal amplification for the detection of hepatitis C virus RNA. *J Viral Hepat*, 2, 121-32.
- ALTER, M. J. (2002) Prevention of spread of hepatitis C. Hepatology, 36, S93-8.
- ALTER, M. J., COLEMAN, P. J., ALEXANDER, W. J., KRAMER, E., MILLER, J. K., MANDEL, E., HADLER, S. C. & MARGOLIS, H. S. (1989b) Importance of heterosexual activity in the transmission of hepatitis B and non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Jama*, 262, 1201-5.
- ALTER, M. J., HADLER, S. C., JUDSON, F. N., MARES, A., ALEXANDER, W. J., HU, P. Y., MILLER, J. K., MOYER, L. A., FIELDS, H. A., BRADLEY, D. W. & ET AL. (1990) Risk factors for acute non-A, non-B hepatitis in the United States and association with hepatitis C virus infection. *Jama*, 264, 2231-5.
- ANDRE, P., KOMURIAN-PRADEL, F., DEFORGES, S., PERRET, M., BERLAND,
 J. L., SODOYER, M., POL, S., BRECHOT, C., PARANHOS-BACCALA, G.
 & LOTTEAU, V. (2002) Characterization of low- and very-low-density
 hepatitis C virus RNA-containing particles. J Virol, 76, 6919-28.
- ANDRE, P., PERLEMUTER G., ET AL. (2005) HCV particles and lipoprotein metabolism. *Seminars in Liver Disease*, 25, 93-104.
- ANZOLA, M., AND BURGOS, J.J. (2003) Hepatocellular carcinoma: molecular interactions between hepatitis C virus and p53 in hepatocarcinogenesis. *Exp. Rev. Mol. Med.*, 5, 1-16.
- APICHARTPIYAKUL, C., APICHARTPIYAKUL, N., URWIJITAROON, Y.,
 GRAY, J., NATPRATAN, C., KATAYAMA, Y., FUJII, M. & HOTTA, H. (1999) Seroprevalence and subtype distribution of hepatitis C virus among blood donors and intravenous drug users in northern/northeastern Thailand. *Jpn J Infect Dis*, 52, 121-3.
- APPEL, N., HERIAN, U. & BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (2005) Efficient rescue of hepatitis C virus RNA replication by trans-complementation with nonstructural protein 5A. *J Virol*, 79, 896-909.
- APPEL, N., ZAYAS, M., MILLER, S., KRIJNSE-LOCKER, J., SCHALLER, T., FRIEBE, P., KALLIS, S., ENGEL, U. & BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (2008) Essential role of domain III of nonstructural protein 5A for hepatitis C virus infectious particle assembly. *PLoS Pathog*, 4, e1000035.
- ARAKAWA, R., AND YOKOYAMA, S. (2002) Helical apolipoproteins stabilize ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 by protecting it from thiol proteasemediated degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 22426–22429.
- ARNOLD, K., INNERARITY, T.L., PITAS, R.E. AND MAHLEY, R.W. (1992) Lipoprotein-receptor interactions. IN SKINNER, C. A. C. A. E. R. (Ed.) *Lipoprotein Analysis: A practical approach*. Oxford University Press.
- ARROL, S., MACKNESS, M. I. & DURRINGTON, P. N. (2000) The effects of fatty acids on apolipoprotein B secretion by human hepatoma cells (HEP G2). *Atherosclerosis*, 150, 255-64.
- AVRAMOGLU, R. K. & ADELI, K. (2004) Hepatic regulation of apolipoprotein B. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 5, 293-301.
- BABITT, J., TRIGATTI, B., RIGOTTI, A., SMART, E.J., ANDERSON, R.G., XU, S., AND KRIEGER, M. (1997) Murine SR-BI, a high density lipoprotein receptor that mediates selective lipid uptake, is N-glycosylated and fatty

acylated and colocalizes with plasma membrane caveolae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 13242-13249.

- BARBA, G., HARPER, F., HARADA, T., KOHARA, M., GOULINET, S., MATSUURA, Y., EDER, G., SCHAFF, Z., CHAPMAN, M. J., MIYAMURA, T. & BRECHOT, C. (1997) Hepatitis C virus core protein shows a cytoplasmic localization and associates to cellular lipid storage droplets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 1200-5.
- BARRERA, J. M., BRUGUERA, M., ERCILLA, M. G., GIL, C., CELIS, R., GIL, M.
 P., DEL VALLE ONORATO, M., RODES, J. & ORDINAS, A. (1995)
 Persistent hepatitis C viremia after acute self-limiting posttransfusion hepatitis
 C. *Hepatology*, 21, 639-44.
- BARTENSCHLAGER, R., AND LOHMANN, V. (2000) Replication of hepatitis C virus. *Journal of General Virology*, 81, 1631-1648.
- BARTENSCHLAGER, R., FRESE, M. & PIETSCHMANN, T. (2004) Novel insights into hepatitis C virus replication and persistence. *Adv Virus Res*, 63, 71-180.
- BARTH, H., CERINO, R., ARCURI, M., HOFFMANN, M., SCHURMANN, P., ADAH, M. I., GISSLER, B., ZHAO, X., GHISETTI, V., LAVEZZO, B., BLUM, H. E., VON WEIZSACKER, F., VITELLI, A., SCARSELLI, E. & BAUMERT, T. F. (2005) Scavenger receptor class B type I and hepatitis C virus infection of primary tupaia hepatocytes. J Virol, 79, 5774-85.
- BARTH, H., SCHNOBER, E. K., ZHANG, F., LINHARDT, R. J., DEPLA, E.,
 BOSON, B., COSSET, F. L., PATEL, A. H., BLUM, H. E. & BAUMERT, T.
 F. (2006) Viral and cellular determinants of the hepatitis C virus envelopeheparan sulfate interaction. *J Virol*, 80, 10579-90.
- BARTOSCH, B., DUBUISSON, J. & COSSET, F. L. (2003a) Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. J Exp Med, 197, 633-42.
- BARTOSCH, B., VERNEY, G., DREUX, M., DONOT, P., MORICE, Y., PENIN, F., PAWLOTSKY, J. M., LAVILLETTE, D. & COSSET, F. L. (2005) An interplay between hypervariable region 1 of the hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein, the scavenger receptor BI, and high-density lipoprotein promotes both enhancement of infection and protection against neutralizing antibodies. J Virol, 79, 8217-29.
- BARTOSCH, B., VITELLI, A., GRANIER, C., GOUJON, C., DUBUISSON, J., PASCALE, S., SCARSELLI, E., CORTESE, R., NICOSIA, A. & COSSET, F. L. (2003b) Cell entry of hepatitis C virus requires a set of co-receptors that include the CD81 tetraspanin and the SR-B1 scavenger receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 41624-30.
- BASSETT, S. E., GUERRA, B., BRASKY, K., MISKOVSKY, E., HOUGHTON, M., KLIMPEL, G. R. & LANFORD, R. E. (2001) Protective immune response to hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees rechallenged following clearance of primary infection. *Hepatology*, 33, 1479-87.
- BEACH, M. J., MEEKS, E. L., MIMMS, L. T., VALLARI, D., DUCHARME, L., SPELBRING, J., TASKAR, S., SCHLEICHER, J. B., KRAWCZYNSKI, K. & BRADLEY, D. W. (1992) Temporal relationships of hepatitis C virus RNA and antibody responses following experimental infection of chimpanzees. J Med Virol, 36, 226-37.
- BEALES, L. P., ROWLANDS, D.J. AND HOLZENBURG, A. (2001) The internal ribosome entry site (IRES) of hepatitis C virus visualised by electron microscopy. *RNA*, 7, 661-670.

- BEHRENS, S., TOMEI, L., AND DE FRANCESCO R. (1996) Identification and properties of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of hepatitis C virus. *EMBO Journal*, 15, 12-22.
- BENEDICTO, I., MOLINA-JIMENEZ, F., BARREIRO, O., MALDONADO-RODRIGUEZ, A., PRIETO, J., MORENO-OTERO, R., ALDABE, R., LOPEZ-CABRERA, M. & MAJANO, P. L. (2008) Hepatitis C virus envelope components alter localization of hepatocyte tight junction-associated proteins and promote occludin retention in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Hepatology*, 48, 1044-53.
- BERRY, M. N. & FRIEND, D. S. (1969) High-yield preparation of isolated rat liver parenchymal cells: a biochemical and fine structural study. *J Cell Biol*, 43, 506-20.
- BIERMAN, E. L. A. A., J. (1977) Regulation of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Activity by Cultured Human Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta.*, 488, 152-160.
- BIGGER, C. B., BRASKY, K. M. & LANFORD, R. E. (2001) DNA microarray analysis of chimpanzee liver during acute resolving hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol*, 75, 7059-66.
- BLANCHARD, E., HOURIOUX, C., BRAND, D., AIT-GOUGHOULTE, M., MOREAU, A., TRASSARD, S., SIZARET, P. Y., DUBOIS, F. & ROINGEARD, P. (2003) Hepatitis C virus-like particle budding: role of the core protein and importance of its Asp111. J Virol, 77, 10131-8.
- BLIGHT, K. J., KOLYKHALOV, A.A., AND RICE, C.M. (2000) Efficient Initiation of HCV RNA Replication in Cell Culture. *Science*, 290, 1972-1974.
- BLIGHT, K. J., MCKEATING, J.A., AND RICE, C.M. (2002) Highly permissive cell lines for subgenomic and genomic hepatitis C virus RNA replication. *Journal of Virology*, 76, 13001-13014.
- BOLANOS-GARCIA, V. M., AND MIGUEL, R.N. (2003) On the structure and function of apolipoproteins: more than a family of lipid-binding proteins. [Review]. *Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology*, 83, 47-68.
- BOOTH, J. C., KUMAR, U., WEBSTER, D., MONJARDINO, J. & THOMAS, H. C. (1998) Comparison of the rate of sequence variation in the hypervariable region of E2/NS1 region of hepatitis C virus in normal and hypogammaglobulinemic patients. *Hepatology*, 27, 223-7.
- BOULANT, S., TARGETT-ADAMS, P. & MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2007) Disrupting the association of hepatitis C virus core protein with lipid droplets correlates with a loss in production of infectious virus. *J Gen Virol*, 88, 2204-13.
- BOWEN, D. G. & WALKER, C. M. (2005) Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature*, 436, 946-52.
- BRADFORD, M. M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem*, 72, 248-54.
- BROWN, M. S. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. (1986) A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. *Science*, 232, 34-47.
- BROWN, S. A., VIA, D. P., GOTTO, A. M., JR., BRADLEY, W. A. & GIANTURCO, S. H. (1986) Apolipoprotein E-mediated binding of hypertriglyceridemic very low density lipoproteins to isolated low density lipoprotein receptors detected by ligand blotting. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 139, 333-40.

- BUKH, J. (2004) A critical role for the chimpanzee model in the study of hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 39, 1469-75.
- BUKH, J., FORNS, X., EMERSON, S. U. & PURCELL, R. H. (2001) Studies of hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees and their importance for vaccine development. *Intervirology*, 44, 132-42.
- BUKH, J., PURCELL, R.H., AND MILLER, R.H. (1994) Sequence analysis of the core gene of 14 hepatitis C virus genotypes (non-A, non-B hepatitis/genetic heterogeneity/polymerase chain reaction/phylogenetic tree/taxonomy). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91, 8239-8243.
- BURLONE, M. E. & BUDKOWSKA, A. (2009) Hepatitis C virus cell entry: role of lipoproteins and cellular receptors. *J Gen Virol*, 90, 1055-70.
- CALLENS, N., CICZORA, Y., BARTOSCH, B., VU-DAC, N., COSSET, F. L., PAWLOTSKY, J. M., PENIN, F. & DUBUISSON, J. (2005) Basic residues in hypervariable region 1 of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein e2 contribute to virus entry. J Virol, 79, 15331-41.
- CALVO, D., GOMEZ-CORONADO, D., LASUNCION, M.A., AND VEGA, M.A. (1997) CLA-1 is an 85-kD plasma membrane glycoprotein that acts as a high-affinity receptor for both native (HDL, LDL, and VLDL) and modified (OxLDL and AcLDL) lipoproteins. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 17, 2341-2349.
- CARABAICH, A., RUVOLETTO, M., BERNARDINELLO, E., TONO, N., CAVALLETTO, L., CHEMELLO, L., GATTA, A. & PONTISSO, P. (2005) Profiles of HCV core protein and viremia in chronic hepatitis C: possible protective role of core antigen in liver damage. *J Med Virol*, 76, 55-60.
- CARRERE-KREMER, S., MONTPELLIER-PALA, C., COCQUEREL, L., WYCHOWSKI, C., PENIN, F. & DUBUISSON, J. (2002) Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. *J Virol*, 76, 3720-30.
- CARRERE-KREMER, S., MONTPELLIER, C., LORENZO, L., BRULIN, B., COCQUEREL, L., BELOUZARD, S., PENIN, F. & DUBUISSON, J. (2004) Regulation of hepatitis C virus polyprotein processing by signal peptidase involves structural determinants at the p7 sequence junctions. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 41384-92.
- CARRICK, R. J., SCHLAUDER, G. G., PETERSON, D. A. & MUSHAHWAR, I. K. (1992) Examination of the buoyant density of hepatitis C virus by the polymerase chain reaction. *J Virol Methods*, 39, 279-89.
- CATANESE, M. T., GRAZIANI, R., VON HAHN, T., MOREAU, M., HUBY, T., PAONESSA, G., SANTINI, C., LUZZAGO, A., RICE, C. M., CORTESE, R., VITELLI, A. & NICOSIA, A. (2007) High-avidity monoclonal antibodies against the human scavenger class B type I receptor efficiently block hepatitis C virus infection in the presence of high-density lipoprotein. J Virol, 81, 8063-71.
- CERINO, A., MEOLA, A., SEGAGNI, L., FURIONE, M., MARCIANO, S., TRIYATNI, M., LIANG, T. J., NICOSIA, A. & MONDELLI, M. U. (2001) Monoclonal antibodies with broad specificity for hepatitis C virus hypervariable region 1 variants can recognize viral particles. *J Immunol*, 167, 3878-86.
- CHANG, K. M., THIMME, R., MELPOLDER, J. J., OLDACH, D., PEMBERTON, J., MOORHEAD-LOUDIS, J., MCHUTCHISON, J. G., ALTER, H. J. &

CHISARI, F. V. (2001) Differential CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell

responsiveness in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology*, 33, 267-76. CHANG, K. S., JIANG, J., CAI, Z. & LUO, G. (2007) Human apolipoprotein e is required for infectivity and production of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *J Virol*, 81, 13783-93.

- CHAPPELL, D. A., FRY, G. L., WAKNITZ, M. A., MUHONEN, L. E. & PLADET, M. W. (1993) Low density lipoprotein receptors bind and mediate cellular catabolism of normal very low density lipoproteins in vitro. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 25487-93.
- CHEN, M., SALLBERG, M., SONNERBORG, A., WEILAND, O., MATTSSON, L., JIN, L., BIRKETT, A., PETERSON, D. & MILICH, D. R. (1999) Limited humoral immunity in hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology*, 116, 135-43.
- CHISARI, F. V., AND FERRARI, C. (1997) Viral Hepatitis. IN NATHANSON, N., ET AL. (Ed.) *Viral Pathogenesis*. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven Publishers.
- CHOO, Q. L., KUO, G., WEINER, A. J., OVERBY, L. R., BRADLEY, D. W. & HOUGHTON, M. (1989) Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a bloodborne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science*, 244, 359-62.
- CHOO, S. H., SO, H,S., CHO, J.M., AND RYU, W.S. (1995) Association of hepatitis C virus particles with immunoglobulin: a mechanism for persistent infection. *Journal of General Virology*, 76, 2337-2341.
- CHOUKHI, A., UNG, S., WYCHOWSKI, C. & DUBUISSON, J. (1998) Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum chaperones in the folding of hepatitis C virus glycoproteins. J Virol, 72, 3851-8.
- CLAYTON, R. F., OWSIANKA, A., AITKEN, J., GRAHAM, S., BHELLA, D. & PATEL, A. H. (2002) Analysis of antigenicity and topology of E2 glycoprotein present on recombinant hepatitis C virus-like particles. *J Virol*, 76, 7672-82.
- CLEMENT-COLLIN, V., LEROY, A., MONTEILHET, C., AND AGGERBECK, L.P. (1999) Mimicking lipid-binding-induced conformational changes in the human apolipoprotein E N-terminal receptor binding domain effects of low pH and propanol. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 264, 358–368.
- COCQUEREL, L., DUVET, S., MEUNIER, J. C., PILLEZ, A., CACAN, R., WYCHOWSKI, C. & DUBUISSON, J. (1999) The transmembrane domain of hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E1 is a signal for static retention in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Virol*, 73, 2641-9.
- COCQUEREL, L., MEUNIER, J. C., OP DE BEECK, A., BONTE, D., WYCHOWSKI, C. & DUBUISSON, J. (2001) Coexpression of hepatitis C virus envelope proteins E1 and E2 in cis improves the stability of membrane insertion of E2. J Gen Virol, 82, 1629-35.
- COCQUEREL, L., MEUNIER, J. C., PILLEZ, A., WYCHOWSKI, C. & DUBUISSON, J. (1998) A retention signal necessary and sufficient for endoplasmic reticulum localization maps to the transmembrane domain of hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2. *J Virol*, 72, 2183-91.
- COLIN, C., LANOIR, D., TOUZET, S., MEYAUD-KRAEMER, L., BAILLY, F. & TREPO, C. (2001) Sensitivity and specificity of third-generation hepatitis C virus antibody detection assays: an analysis of the literature. *J Viral Hepat*, 8, 87-95.
- CONRY-CANTILENA, C., VANRADEN, M., GIBBLE, J., MELPOLDER, J., SHAKIL, A. O., VILADOMIU, L., CHEUNG, L., DIBISCEGLIE, A.,

HOOFNAGLE, J., SHIH, J. W. & ET AL. (1996) Routes of infection, viremia, and liver disease in blood donors found to have hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med*, 334, 1691-6.

- COOPER, A. D., AND ELLSWORTH, J.L. (1996) Lipoprotein metabolism. IN ZAKIM, D., AND BOYER, T.D. (Ed.) *Hepatology: a textbook of liver disease.*, W.B. Saunders Company.
- COOPER, S., ERICKSON, A. L., ADAMS, E. J., KANSOPON, J., WEINER, A. J., CHIEN, D. Y., HOUGHTON, M., PARHAM, P. & WALKER, C. M. (1999) Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity*, 10, 439-49.
- CORMIER, E. G., TSAMISM, F., KAJUMO, F., DURSO, R.J., GARDNER, J.P., DRAGIC, T. (2004) CD81 is an entry co-receptor for hepatitis C virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101, 7270-7274.
- DASHTI, N. (1992) The effect of low density lipoproteins, cholesterol, and 25hydroxycholesterol on apolipoprotein B gene expression in HepG2 cells. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 7160-9.
- DASHTI, N., SMITH, E. A. & ALAUPOVIC, P. (1990) Increased production of apolipoprotein B and its lipoproteins by oleic acid in Caco-2 cells. *J Lipid Res*, 31, 113-23.
- DASHTI, N. & WOLFBAUER, G. (1987) Secretion of lipids, apolipoproteins, and lipoproteins by human hepatoma cell line, HepG2: effects of oleic acid and insulin. *J Lipid Res*, 28, 423-36.
- DAVIDSON, F. A. S. P. (1998) Determination of HCV genotypes by RFLP. IN LAU, J. A. Y. N. (Ed.) *Hepatitis C protocols*. Totowa, Humana Press.
- DAVIS, G. L., NELSON, D. R., TERRAULT, N., PRUETT, T. L., SCHIANO, T. D., FLETCHER, C. V., SAPAN, C. V., RISER, L. N., LI, Y., WHITLEY, R. J. & GNANN, J. W., JR. (2005) A randomized, open-label study to evaluate the safety and pharmacokinetics of human hepatitis C immune globulin (Civacir) in liver transplant recipients. *Liver Transpl*, 11, 941-9.
- DAVISON, P. J., NORTON, P., WALLIS, S.C., GILL, L., COOK, M., WILLIAMSON, R., AND HUMPHRIES, S.R. (1986) There are two gene sequences for human apolipoprotein C1 (APOC1) on chromosome 19, one of which is 4 kb from the gene for apoE. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 136, 876–884.
- DEFORGES, S., EVLASHEV, A., PERRET, M., ET AL. (2004) Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins in epithelial intestinal cells in vivo. *J Gen Virol*, 85, 2015-2023.
- DI BISCEGLIE, A. M., GOODMAN, Z. D., ISHAK, K. G., HOOFNAGLE, J. H., MELPOLDER, J. J. & ALTER, H. J. (1991) Long-term clinical and histopathological follow-up of chronic posttransfusion hepatitis. *Hepatology*, 14, 969-74.
- DIEPOLDER, H. M., ZACHOVAL, R., HOFFMANN, R. M., WIERENGA, E. A., SANTANTONIO, T., JUNG, M. C., EICHENLAUB, D. & PAPE, G. R. (1995) Possible mechanism involving T-lymphocyte response to nonstructural protein 3 in viral clearance in acute hepatitis C virus infection. *Lancet*, 346, 1006-7.
- DIXON, J. L., AND GINSBERG, H.N. (1993) Regulation of hepatic secretion of apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins: information obtained from cultured liver cells. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 34, 167-179.

- DORE, G. J., LAW, M., MACDONALD, M. & KALDOR, J. M. (2003) Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection in Australia. J Clin Virol, 26, 171-84.
- DUBUISSON, J. & RICE, C. M. (1996) Hepatitis C virus glycoprotein folding: disulfide bond formation and association with calnexin. *J Virol*, 70, 778-86.
- DURANTE-MANGONI, E., WANG, R., SHAULOV, A., HE, Q., NASSER, I., AFDHAL, N., KOZIEL, M. J. & EXLEY, M. A. (2004) Hepatic CD1d expression in hepatitis C virus infection and recognition by resident proinflammatory CD1d-reactive T cells. *J Immunol*, 173, 2159-66.
- DUSTIN, L. B. & RICE, C. M. (2007) Flying under the radar: the immunobiology of hepatitis C. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 25, 71-99.
- ENOMOTO, N., SAKUMA, I., ASAHINA, Y., KUROSAKI, M., MURAKAMI, T., YAMAMOTO, C., IZUMI, N., ET AL. (1995) Comparison of full-length sequences of interferon sensitive and resistant hepatitis C virus 1b. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 96, 224-230.
- ENOMOTO, N., SAKUMA, I., ASAHINA, Y., KUROSAKI, M., MURAKAMI, T., YAMAMOTO, C., OGURA, Y., ET AL. (1996) Mutations in the nonstructural protein 5A gene and response to interferon in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus 1b infection. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 334, 77-81.
- EVANS, M. J., VON HAHN, T., TSCHERNE, D. M., SYDER, A. J., PANIS, M., WOLK, B., HATZIIOANNOU, T., MCKEATING, J. A., BIENIASZ, P. D. & RICE, C. M. (2007) Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature*, 446, 801-5.
- EYSTER, M. E., ALTER, H. J., ALEDORT, L. M., QUAN, S., HATZAKIS, A. & GOEDERT, J. J. (1991) Heterosexual co-transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). *Ann Intern Med*, 115, 764-8.
- FAILLA, C., TOMEI, L., AND DE FRANCESCO, R. (1994) Both NS3 and NS4A are required for proteolytic processing of hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins. *Journal of Virology*, 68, 3753-3760.
- FARCI, P., ALTER, H. J., GOVINDARAJAN, S., WONG, D. C., ENGLE, R., LESNIEWSKI, R. R., MUSHAHWAR, I. K., DESAI, S. M., MILLER, R. H., OGATA, N. & ET AL. (1992a) Lack of protective immunity against reinfection with hepatitis C virus. *Science*, 258, 135-40.
- FARCI, P., ALTER, H. J., WONG, D., MILLER, R. H., SHIH, J. W., JETT, B. & PURCELL, R. H. (1991) A long-term study of hepatitis C virus replication in non-A, non-B hepatitis. N Engl J Med, 325, 98-104.
- FARCI, P., ALTER, H.J., WONG, D.C., ET AL. (1994) Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees after antibody-mediated in vitro neutralization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 91, 7792-7796.
- FARCI, P., LONDON, W. T., WONG, D. C., DAWSON, G. J., VALLARI, D. S., ENGLE, R. & PURCELL, R. H. (1992b) The natural history of infection with hepatitis C virus (HCV) in chimpanzees: comparison of serologic responses measured with first- and second-generation assays and relationship to HCV viremia. J Infect Dis, 165, 1006-11.
- FARCI, P., SHIMODA, A., WONG, D., CABEZON, T., DE GIOANNIS, D., STRAZZERA, A., SHIMIZU, Y., SHAPIRO, M., ALTER, H. J. & PURCELL, R. H. (1996) Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in

chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 15394-9.

- FAVRE, D., BERTHILLON, P., TREPO, C. (2001) Removal of cell-bound lipoproteins: a crucial step for the efficient infection of liver cells with hepatitis C virus in vitro. *C.R. Acad. Sci., Ser. III*, 324, 1141-1148.
- FIELDING, C. J., SHORE, V.G., AND FIELDING, P.E. (1972) A protein cofactor of lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 46, 1493–1498.
- FISHER, E. A. & GINSBERG, H. N. (2002) Complexity in the secretory pathway: the assembly and secretion of apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 17377-80.
- FLINT, M. & MCKEATING, J. A. (2000) The role of the hepatitis C virus glycoproteins in infection. *Rev Med Virol*, 10, 101-17.
- FORNS, X., PURCELL, R. H. & BUKH, J. (1999) Quasispecies in viral persistence and pathogenesis of hepatitis C virus. *Trends Microbiol*, 7, 402-10.
- FORTON, D. M., KARAYIANNIS, P., MAHMUD, N., TAYLOR-ROBINSON, S. D. & THOMAS, H. C. (2004) Identification of unique hepatitis C virus quasispecies in the central nervous system and comparative analysis of internal translational efficiency of brain, liver, and serum variants. J Virol, 78, 5170-83.
- FOURNIER, C., SUREAU, C., COSTE, J., DUCOS, J., PAGEAUX, G., LARREY, D., DOMERGUE, J. & MAUREL, P. (1998) In vitro infection of adult normal human hepatocytes in primary culture by hepatitis C virus. *J Gen Virol*, 79 (Pt 10), 2367-74.
- FRANCKI, R. I. B., FAUQUET, C.M., KNUDSON, D.L., BROWN, F., (1991) Classification and nomenclature of viruses: fifth report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses. *Arch Virol*, 126, 223.
- FRANK, C., MOHAMED, M. K., STRICKLAND, G. T., LAVANCHY, D., ARTHUR, R. R., MAGDER, L. S., EL KHOBY, T., ABDEL-WAHAB, Y., ALY OHN, E. S., ANWAR, W. & SALLAM, I. (2000) The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. *Lancet*, 355, 887-91.
- GARDNER, P., AND MCQUILLIN, J. (1980) *Rapid Virus Diagnosis: Application* of Immunofluorescence, 2nd ed., London, Bitterworth.
- GASTAMINZA, P., CHENG, G., WIELAND, S., ZHONG, J., LIAO, W. & CHISARI, F. V. (2008) Cellular determinants of hepatitis C virus assembly, maturation, degradation, and secretion. *J Virol*, 82, 2120-9.
- GASTAMINZA, P., KAPADIA, S. B. & CHISARI, F. V. (2006) Differential biophysical properties of infectious intracellular and secreted hepatitis C virus particles. *J Virol*, 80, 11074-81.
- GERLACH, J. T., DIEPOLDER, H. M., JUNG, M. C., GRUENER, N. H., SCHRAUT, W. W., ZACHOVAL, R., HOFFMANN, R., SCHIRREN, C. A., SANTANTONIO, T. & PAPE, G. R. (1999) Recurrence of hepatitis C virus after loss of virus-specific CD4(+) T-cell response in acute hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology*, 117, 933-41.
- GERMI, R., CRANCE, J. M., GARIN, D., GUIMET, J., LORTAT-JACOB, H., RUIGROK, R. W., ZARSKI, J. P. & DROUET, E. (2002) Cellular glycosaminoglycans and low density lipoprotein receptor are involved in hepatitis C virus adsorption. *J Med Virol*, 68, 206-15.

- GIBBONS, G. F., WIGGINS, D., BROWN, A. M. & HEBBACHI, A. M. (2004) Synthesis and function of hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 32, 59-64.
- GINSBERG, H. N. (1998) Lipoprotein physiology. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 27, 503-19.
- GINSBERG, H. N., ZHANG, Y. L. & HERNANDEZ-ONO, A. (2005) Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. *Arch Med Res*, 36, 232-40.
- GIUSTI, G., PASQUALE, G., GALANTE, D., RUSSO, M., SARDARO, C., GALLO, C. & GAETA, G. B. (1993) Clinical and histological aspects of chronic HCV infection and cirrhosis. *Hepatogastroenterology*, 40, 365-9.
- GOLDSTEIN, J. L., HO, Y.K., BASU, S.K., AND BROWN, M.S. (1979) Binding site on macrophages that mediate uptake and degradation of acetylated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 76, 333-337.
- GONZALEZ, M. E. & CARRASCO, L. (2003) Viroporins. FEBS Lett, 552, 28-34.
- GOSERT, R., EGGER, D., LOHMANN, V., BARTENSCHLAGER, R., BLUM, H. E., BIENZ, K. & MORADPOUR, D. (2003) Identification of the hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex in Huh-7 cells harboring subgenomic replicons. J Virol, 77, 5487-92.
- GOTTO, A. M., JR., POWNALL, H. J. & HAVEL, R. J. (1986) Introduction to the plasma lipoproteins. *Methods Enzymol*, 128, 3-41.
- GOTTWEIN, J. M. & BUKH, J. (2008) Cutting the gordian knot-development and biological relevance of hepatitis C virus cell culture systems. *Adv Virus Res*, 71, 51-133.
- GRAHAM, C. S., BADEN, L. R., YU, E., MRUS, J. M., CARNIE, J., HEEREN, T. & KOZIEL, M. J. (2001) Influence of human immunodeficiency virus infection on the course of hepatitis C virus infection: a meta-analysis. *Clin Infect Dis*, 33, 562-9.
- GRAKOUI, A., MCCOURT, D.W., WYCHOWSKI, C., FEINSTONE, S.M., AND RICE, C.M. (1993) A second hepatitis C virus-encoded proteinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90, 10583-10587.
- GRAKOUI, A., SHOUKRY, N. H., WOOLLARD, D. J., HAN, J. H., HANSON, H. L., GHRAYEB, J., MURTHY, K. K., RICE, C. M. & WALKER, C. M. (2003) HCV persistence and immune evasion in the absence of memory T cell help. *Science*, 302, 659-62.
- GRIFFIN, S., STGELAIS, C., OWSIANKA, A. M., PATEL, A. H., ROWLANDS, D. & HARRIS, M. (2008) Genotype-dependent sensitivity of hepatitis C virus to inhibitors of the p7 ion channel. *Hepatology*, 48, 1779-90.
- GRIFFIN, S. D., BEALES, L. P., CLARKE, D. S., WORSFOLD, O., EVANS, S. D., JAEGER, J., HARRIS, M. P. & ROWLANDS, D. J. (2003) The p7 protein of hepatitis C virus forms an ion channel that is blocked by the antiviral drug, Amantadine. *FEBS Lett*, 535, 34-8.
- GROVE, J., NIELSEN, S., ZHONG, J., BASSENDINE, M. F., DRUMMER, H. E., BALFE, P. & MCKEATING, J. A. (2008) Identification of a residue in hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein that determines scavenger receptor BI and CD81 receptor dependency and sensitivity to neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol*, 82, 12020-9.

- GUHA, C., LEE, S. W., CHOWDHURY, N. R. & CHOWDHURY, J. R. (2005) Cell culture models and animal models of viral hepatitis. Part II: hepatitis C. *Lab Anim* (*NY*), 34, 39-47.
- HAJJAR, D. P., AND HABERLAND, MARGARET E. (1997) Lipoprotein Trafficking in Vascular Cells. *The Journal of Biological Biochemistry*, 272, 22975-22978.
- HAURI, A. M., ARMSTRONG, G. L. & HUTIN, Y. J. (2004) The global burden of disease attributable to contaminated injections given in health care settings. *Int J STD AIDS*, 15, 7-16.
- HE, L. F., ALLING, D., POPKIN, T., SHAPIRO, M., ALTER, H. J. & PURCELL, R. H. (1987) Determining the size of non-A, non-B hepatitis virus by filtration. J Infect Dis, 156, 636-40.
- HEALEY, C. J., CHAPMAN, R. W. & FLEMING, K. A. (1995) Liver histology in hepatitis C infection: a comparison between patients with persistently normal or abnormal transaminases. *Gut*, 37, 274-8.
- HEALTH PROTECTION AGENCY, U. K. (2008) Hepatitis C in the UK: The Health Protection Agency Annual Report. IN <u>HTTP://WWW.HPA.ORG.UK/WEB/HPAWEBFILE/HPAWEB_C/12386566</u> 78124 (Ed.).
- HEWES, J. C., RIDDY, D., MORRIS, R. W., WOODROOFFE, A. J., DAVIDSON,
 B. R. & FULLER, B. (2006) A prospective study of isolated human hepatocyte function following liver resection for colorectal liver metastases: the effects of prior exposure to chemotherapy. *J Hepatol*, 45, 263-70.
- HIGASHI, Y., ITABE, H., FUKASE, H., MORI, M., FUJIMOTO, Y., SATO, R., IMANAKA, T. & TAKANO, T. (2002) Distribution of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein within sub-endoplasmic reticulum regions in human hepatoma cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1581, 127-36.
- HIGASHI, Y., ITABE, H., FUKASE, H., MORI, M., FUJIMOTO, Y. & TAKANO, T. (2003) Transmembrane lipid transfer is crucial for providing neutral lipids during very low density lipoprotein assembly in endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 21450-8.
- HIJIKATA, M., MIZUSHIMA, H., AKAGI, T., MORI, S., KAKIUCHI, N., KATO, N., TANAKA, T., ET AL. (1993a) Two distinct proteinase activities required for the processing of a putative nonstructural precursor protein of hepatitis C virus. *Journal of Virology*, 67, 4665-4675.
- HIJIKATA, M., MIZUSHIMA, H., TANJI, Y., KOMODA, Y., HIROWATARI, Y., AKAGI, T., KATO, N., ET AL. (1993c) Proteolytic processing and membrane association of putative nonstructural proteins of hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 90, 10773-10777.
- HIJIKATA, M., SHIMIZU, Y. K., KATO, H., IWAMOTO, A., SHIH, J. W., ALTER, H. J., PURCELL, R. H. & YOSHIKURA, H. (1993b) Equilibrium centrifugation studies of hepatitis C virus: evidence for circulating immune complexes. J Virol, 67, 1953-8.
- HNATYSZYN, H. J. (2005) Chronic hepatitis C and genotyping: the clinical significance of determining HCV genotypes. *Antivir Ther*, 10, 1-11.
- HOFF, H. F., ZYROMSKI, N., ARMSTRONG, D. & O'NEIL, J. (1993) Aggregation as well as chemical modification of LDL during oxidation is responsible for poor processing in macrophages. *J Lipid Res*, 34, 1919-29.

- HOMAN, R., GROSSMAN, J. E. & POWNALL, H. J. (1991) Differential effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and oleic acid on lipid synthesis and secretion by HepG2 cells. *J Lipid Res*, 32, 231-41.
- HOOFNAGLE, J. H. (2002) Course and outcome of hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 36, S21-29.
- HOPE, R. G. & MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2000) Sequence motifs required for lipid droplet association and protein stability are unique to the hepatitis C virus core protein. J Gen Virol, 81, 1913-25.
- HOPE, R. G., MURPHY, D.J., AND MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2002) The domains required to direct core proteins of hepatitis C virus and GB virus-B to lipid droplets share common features with plant oleosin proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 4261-4270.
- HSU, M., ZHANG, J., FLINT, M., LOGVINOFF, C., CHENG-MAYER, C., RICE, C. M. & MCKEATING, J. A. (2003) Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate pH-dependent cell entry of pseudotyped retroviral particles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 7271-6.
- HUANG, H., CHEN, Y. & YE, J. (2007a) Inhibition of hepatitis C virus replication by peroxidation of arachidonate and restoration by vitamin E. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 18666-70.
- HUANG, H., SUN, F., OWEN, D. M., LI, W., CHEN, Y., GALE, M., JR. & YE, J. (2007b) Hepatitis C virus production by human hepatocytes dependent on assembly and secretion of very low-density lipoproteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 5848-53.
- HUSSAIN, M. M., SHI, J. & DREIZEN, P. (2003) Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein and its role in apoB-lipoprotein assembly. *J Lipid Res*, 44, 22-32.
- IACOVACCI, S., MANZIN, A., BARCA, S., SARGIACOMO, M., SERAFINO, A., VALLI, M. B., MACIOCE, G., HASSAN, H. J., PONZETTO, A., CLEMENTI, M., PESCHLE, C. & CARLONI, G. (1997) Molecular characterization and dynamics of hepatitis C virus replication in human fetal hepatocytes infected in vitro. *Hepatology*, 26, 1328-37.
- ICARD, V., DIAZ, O., SCHOLTES, C., PERRIN-COCON, L., RAMIERE, C., BARTENSCHLAGER, R., PENIN, F., LOTTEAU, V. & ANDRE, P. (2009) Secretion of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins depends on assembly of apolipoprotein B positive lipoproteins. *PLoS One*, 4, e4233.
- INNERARITY, T. L., BORE'N, J., YAMANAKA, S., AND OLOFSSONI, S-O. (1996) Biosynthesis of Apolipoprotein B48-containing Lipoproteins: regulation by novel post-transcriptional mechanisms. *The Journal of Biological Biochemistry*, 271, 2353–2356.
- ISHERWOOD, B. J. & PATEL, A. H. (2005) Analysis of the processing and transmembrane topology of the E2p7 protein of hepatitis C virus. *J Gen Virol*, 86, 667-76.
- ITO, T., YASUI, K., MUKAIGAWA, J., KATSUME, A., KOHARA, M. & MITAMURA, K. (2001) Acquisition of susceptibility to hepatitis C virus replication in HepG2 cells by fusion with primary human hepatocytes: establishment of a quantitative assay for hepatitis C virus infectivity in a cell culture system. *Hepatology*, 34, 566-72.
- JARVIS, S. M. (2000) Assay of membrane transport in cells and membrane vesicles. IN BALDWIN, S. A. (Ed.) *Membrane Transport*. Oxford University Press.

- JONES, C. T., MURRAY, C. L., EASTMAN, D. K., TASSELLO, J. & RICE, C. M. (2007) Hepatitis C virus p7 and NS2 proteins are essential for production of infectious virus. J Virol, 81, 8374-83.
- JONES, D. M. & MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2010) Hepatitis C virus: assembly and release of virus particles. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 22733-9.
- JONES, D. M., PATEL, A. H., TARGETT-ADAMS, P. & MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2009) The hepatitis C virus NS4B protein can trans-complement viral RNA replication and modulates production of infectious virus. *J Virol*, 83, 2163-77.
- JUDD, A., HICKMAN, M., JONES, S., MCDONALD, T., PARRY, J. V., STIMSON, G. V. & HALL, A. J. (2005) Incidence of hepatitis C virus and HIV among new injecting drug users in London: prospective cohort study. *Bmj*, 330, 24-5.
- KANTO, T., HAYASHI, N., TAKEHARA, T., HAGIWARA, H., MITA, E., NAITO, M., KASAHARA, A., FUSAMOTO, H. & KAMADA, T. (1994) Buoyant density of hepatitis C virus recovered from infected hosts: two different features in sucrose equilibrium density-gradient centrifugation related to degree of liver inflammation. *Hepatology*, 19, 296-302.
- KAPADIA, S. B. & CHISARI, F. V. (2005) Hepatitis C virus RNA replication is regulated by host geranylgeranylation and fatty acids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A, 102, 2561-6.
- KATO, T., DATE, T., MURAYAMA, A., MORIKAWA, K., AKAZAWA, D. & WAKITA, T. (2006) Cell culture and infection system for hepatitis C virus. *Nat Protoc*, 1, 2334-9.
- KATO, T., DATE, T., MIYAMOTO, M., FURUSAKA, A., TOKUSHIGE, K., MIZOKAMI, M., WAKITA, T. (2003) Efficient replication of the genotype 2a hepatitis C virus subgenomic replicon. *Gastroenterology*, 125, 1808-1817.
- KAWOOYA, J. K., MEREDITH, S.C., WELLS, M.A., KEZDY, F.J., AND LAW, J.H. (1986) Physical and surface properties of insect apolipophorin III. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261, 13588–13591.
- KECK, Z. Y., LI, T. K., XIA, J., GAL-TANAMY, M., OLSON, O., LI, S. H., PATEL, A. H., BALL, J. K., LEMON, S. M. & FOUNG, S. K. (2008)
 Definition of a conserved immunodominant domain on hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein by neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies. *J Virol*, 82, 6061-6.
- KIM, D. W., GWACK, Y., HAN, J.H., AND CHOE, J. (1997) Towards defining a minimal functional domain for NTPase and RNA helicase activities of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protein. *Virus Research*, 49, 17–25.
- KOLYKHALOV, A. A., AGAPOV, E.V., BLIGHT, K.J., MIHALIK, K., FEINSTONE, S.M., AND RICE, C.M. (1997) Transmission of hepatitis C by intragenic inoculation with transcribed RNA. *Science*, 277, 570-574.
- KOUTSOUDAKIS, G., KAUL, A., STEINMANN, E., KALLIS, S., LOHMANN, V., PIETSCHMANN, T. & BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (2006) Characterization of the early steps of hepatitis C virus infection by using luciferase reporter viruses. J Virol, 80, 5308-20.
- KRAWCZYNSKI, K., ALTER, M. J., TANKERSLEY, D. L., BEACH, M., ROBERTSON, B. H., LAMBERT, S., KUO, G., SPELBRING, J. E., MEEKS, E., SINHA, S. & CARSON, D. A. (1996) Effect of immune globulin on the prevention of experimental hepatitis C virus infection. *J Infect Dis*, 173, 822-8.

- KRIEGER, M., AND STERN, D.M. (2001) Series introduction: multiligand receptors and human disease. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 108, 645-647.
- LAI, M. E., MAZZOLENI, A. P., ARGIOLU, F., DE VIRGILIS, S., BALESTRIERI, A., PURCELL, R. H., CAO, A. & FARCI, P. (1994) Hepatitis C virus in multiple episodes of acute hepatitis in polytransfused thalassaemic children. *Lancet*, 343, 388-90.
- LAI, M. M. & WARE, C. F. (2000) Hepatitis C virus core protein: possible roles in viral pathogenesis. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 242, 117-34.
- LALANNE, F., LAMBERT, G., AMAR, M. J., CHETIVEAUX, M., ZAIR, Y., JARNOUX, A. L., OUGUERRAM, K., FRIBURG, J., SEIDAH, N. G., BREWER, H. B., JR., KREMPF, M. & COSTET, P. (2005) Wild-type PCSK9 inhibits LDL clearance but does not affect apoB-containing lipoprotein production in mouse and cultured cells. *J Lipid Res*, 46, 1312-9.
- LAM, J. P., MCOMISH, F., BURNS, S. M., YAP, P. L., MOK, J. Y. & SIMMONDS, P. (1993) Infrequent vertical transmission of hepatitis C virus. J Infect Dis, 167, 572-6.
- LANFORD, R. E., EVANS, M. J., LOHMANN, V., LINDENBACH, B., GALE, M., JR., REHERMANN, B., CHANG, K. M. & LEMON, S. M. (2009) The accelerating pace of HCV research: a summary of the 15th International Symposium on Hepatitis C Virus And Related Viruses. *Gastroenterology*, 136, 9-16.
- LAVIE, M., GOFFARD, A. & DUBUISSON, J. (2007) Assembly of a functional HCV glycoprotein heterodimer. *Curr Issues Mol Biol*, 9, 71-86.
- LAVILLETTE, D., TARR, A. W., VOISSET, C., DONOT, P., BARTOSCH, B., BAIN, C., PATEL, A. H., DUBUISSON, J., BALL, J. K. & COSSET, F. L. (2005) Characterization of host-range and cell entry properties of the major genotypes and subtypes of hepatitis C virus. *Hepatology*, 41, 265-74.
- LE GUILLOU-GUILLEMETTE, H., VALLET, S., GAUDY-GRAFFIN, C., PAYAN, C., PIVERT, A., GOUDEAU, A. & LUNEL-FABIANI, F. (2007) Genetic diversity of the hepatitis C virus: impact and issues in the antiviral therapy. *World J Gastroenterol*, 13, 2416-26.
- LECHNER, F., GRUENER, N. H., URBANI, S., UGGERI, J., SANTANTONIO, T., KAMMER, A. R., CERNY, A., PHILLIPS, R., FERRARI, C., PAPE, G. R. & KLENERMAN, P. (2000a) CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are not sustained. *Eur J Immunol*, 30, 2479-87.
- LECHNER, F., WONG, D. K., DUNBAR, P. R., CHAPMAN, R., CHUNG, R. T., DOHRENWEND, P., ROBBINS, G., PHILLIPS, R., KLENERMAN, P. & WALKER, B. D. (2000b) Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. J Exp Med, 191, 1499-512.
- LEVY, S., TODD, S.C., MAECKER, H.T. (1998) CD81 (TAPA-I): a molecule involved in signal transduction and cell adhesion in the immune system. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 16, 89-109.
- LI, K., CHEN, Z., KATO, N., GALE, M., JR. & LEMON, S. M. (2005a) Distinct poly(I-C) and virus-activated signaling pathways leading to interferon-beta production in hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 16739-47.
- LI, K., FOY, E., FERREON, J. C., NAKAMURA, M., FERREON, A. C., IKEDA, M., RAY, S. C., GALE, M., JR. & LEMON, S. M. (2005b) Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 2992-7.

- LIADAKI, K. N., LIU, T., XU, S., ISHIDA, B.Y., DUCHATEAUX, P.N., KRIEGER, J.P., KANE, J., KRIEGER, M., ZANNIS, V.I. (2000) Binding of high density lipoprotein (HDL) and discoidal reconstituted HDL to the HDL receptor scavenger receptor class B type I. Effect of lipid association and APOA-I mutations on receptor binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 21262-21271.
- LIEFHEBBER, J. M., BRANDT, B. W., BROER, R., SPAAN, W. J. & VAN LEEUWEN, H. C. (2009) Hepatitis C virus NS4B carboxy terminal domain is a membrane binding domain. *Virol J*, 6, 62.
- LIN, C., LINDENBACH, B. D., PRAGAI, B. M., MCCOURT, D. W. & RICE, C. M. (1994a) Processing in the hepatitis C virus E2-NS2 region: identification of p7 and two distinct E2-specific products with different C termini. J Virol, 68, 5063-73.
- LIN, C., PRAGAI, B.M., GRAKOUI, A., XU, J., AND RICE, C.M. (1994) Hepatitis C virus NS3 serine protease: trans-cleavage requirements and processing kinetics. *Journal of Virology*, 68, 8147-8157.
- LIN, H. H., KAO, J. H., HSU, H. Y., NI, Y. H., YEH, S. H., HWANG, L. H., CHANG, M. H., HWANG, S. C., CHEN, P. J. & CHEN, D. S. (1994b) Possible role of high-titer maternal viremia in perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus. *J Infect Dis*, 169, 638-41.
- LINDENBACH, B. D., AND RICE, C.M. (2001) *Flaviviridae*: the viruses and their replication. IN KNIPE, D. M., AND P.M. HOWLEY (ED.) (Ed.) *Fields virology*. Philadelphia, PA, Lippincott-Raven Publishers.
- LINDENBACH, B. D., EVANS, M. J., SYDER, A. J., WOLK, B., TELLINGHUISEN, T. L., LIU, C. C., MARUYAMA, T., HYNES, R. O., BURTON, D. R., MCKEATING, J. A. & RICE, C. M. (2005) Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science*, 309, 623-6.
- LINDENBACH, B. D., MEULEMAN, P., PLOSS, A., VANWOLLEGHEM, T., SYDER, A. J., MCKEATING, J. A., LANFORD, R. E., FEINSTONE, S. M., MAJOR, M. E., LEROUX-ROELS, G. & RICE, C. M. (2006) Cell culturegrown hepatitis C virus is infectious in vivo and can be recultured in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 3805-9.
- LINDGREN, F. T. A. J., L.C. (1972) The Isolation and Quantitative Analysis of Serum Lipoproteins. IN NELSON, G. J. (Ed.) *Blood, lipids and lipoproteins: Quantitation, composition and metabolism.* Wiley Interscience.
- LIU, S., YANG, W., SHEN, L., TURNER, J. R., COYNE, C. B. & WANG, T. (2009) Tight junction proteins claudin-1 and occludin control hepatitis C virus entry and are downregulated during infection to prevent superinfection. *J Virol*, 83, 2011-4.
- LIU, T., KRIEGER, M., KAN, H.Y., AND ZANNIS, V.I. (2002) The effects of mutations in helices 4 and 6 of ApoA-I on scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI)-mediated cholesterol efflux suggest that formation of a productive complex between reconstituted high density lipoprotein and SR-BI is required for efficient lipid transport. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 21576– 21584.
- LOHMANN, V., KO"RNER, F., HERIAN, U., AND BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (1997) Biochemical properties of hepatitis C virus NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and identification of amino acid sequence motifs essential for enzymatic activity. *Journal of Virology*, 71, 8416-8428.

- LOHMANN, V., KÖRNER, F., KOCH, J.-O., HERIAN, U., THEILMANN, L., AND BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (1999) Replication of Subgenomic Hepatitis C Virus RNAs in a Hepatoma Cell Line. *Science*, 285, 110-113.
- LOPES-VIRELLA, M. F., KOSKINEN, S., MIRONOVA, M., HORNE, D., KLEIN, R., CHASSEREAU, C., ENOCKSON, C. & VIRELLA, G. (2000) The preparation of copper-oxidized LDL for the measurement of oxidized LDL antibodies by EIA. *Atherosclerosis*, 152, 107-15.
- LORENZ, I. C., MARCOTRIGIANO, J., DENTZER, T. G. & RICE, C. M. (2006) Structure of the catalytic domain of the hepatitis C virus NS2-3 protease. *Nature*, 442, 831-5.
- LUCAS, M., GADOLA, S., MEIER, U., YOUNG, N. T., HARCOURT, G., KARADIMITRIS, A., COUMI, N., BROWN, D., DUSHEIKO, G., CERUNDOLO, V. & KLENERMAN, P. (2003) Frequency and phenotype of circulating Valpha24/Vbeta11 double-positive natural killer T cells during hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol, 77, 2251-7.
- MA, Y., YATES, J., LIANG, Y., LEMON, S. M. & YI, M. (2008) NS3 helicase domains involved in infectious intracellular hepatitis C virus particle assembly. J Virol, 82, 7624-39.
- MACKNESS, M. I., AND DURRINGTON, P.N. (1992) Lipoprotein separation and analysis for clinical studies. IN CONVERSE, C. A., AND E.R. SKINNER (ED.) (Ed.) *Lipoprotein analysis: a practical approach*. Oxford, UK., Oxford University Press.
- MAHLEY, R. W., AND JI, Z-S. (1999) Remnant lipoprotein metabolism: key pathways involving cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and apolipoprotein E. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 40, 1-16.
- MAILLARD, P., HUBY, T., ANDREO, U., MOREAU, M., CHAPMAN, J. & BUDKOWSKA, A. (2006) The interaction of natural hepatitis C virus with human scavenger receptor SR-BI/Cla1 is mediated by ApoB-containing lipoproteins. *Faseb J*, 20, 735-7.
- MAJOR, M. E., AND FEINSTONE, S.M. (1997) The molecular biology of hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 25, 1527-1538.
- MAJOR, M. E., MIHALIK, K., PUIG, M., REHERMANN, B., NASCIMBENI, M., RICE, C. M. & FEINSTONE, S. M. (2002) Previously infected and recovered chimpanzees exhibit rapid responses that control hepatitis C virus replication upon rechallenge. *J Virol*, 76, 6586-95.
- MARTELL, M., ESTEBAN, J. I., QUER, J., GENESCA, J., WEINER, A., ESTEBAN, R., GUARDIA, J. & GOMEZ, J. (1992) Hepatitis C virus (HCV) circulates as a population of different but closely related genomes: quasispecies nature of HCV genome distribution. *J Virol*, 66, 3225-9.
- MARTIN, C. (2005) Hepatitis C virus cell interactions: comparisons of virus and host lipoprotein binding. PhD thesis. *School of Clinical Medical Sciences*. Newcastle, University of Newcastle upon Tyne.
- MARTIN, C., NIELSEN, S. U., IBRAHIM, S., BASSENDINE, M. F. & TOMS, G. L. (2008) Binding of liver derived, low density hepatitis C virus to human hepatoma cells. *J Med Virol*, 80, 816-23.
- MASAKI, T., SUZUKI, R., MURAKAMI, K., AIZAKI, H., ISHII, K., MURAYAMA, A., DATE, T., MATSUURA, Y., MIYAMURA, T., WAKITA, T. & SUZUKI, T. (2008) Interaction of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A with core protein is critical for the production of infectious virus particles. *J Virol*, 82, 7964-76.

- MASCIOPINTO, F., GIOVANI, C., CAMPAGNOLI, S., GALLI-STAMPINO, L., COLOMBATTO, P., BRUNETTO, M., YEN, T.S., HOUGHTON, M., PILERI, P., AND ABRIGNANI, S. (2004) Association of hepatitis C virus envelope proteins with exosomes. *European Journal of Immunology*, 34, 2834.
- MAURICE, R., MARCEL, Y. L., INNERARITY, T. L. & MILNE, R. W. (1989) A potential complication in the use of monoclonal antibodies: inhibition of apoB-mediated receptor binding by an anti-apoE antibody. *J Lipid Res*, 30, 587-96.
- MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2000) Properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein: a structural protein that modulates cellular processes. *J Viral Hepat*, 7, 2-14.
- MCLAUCHLAN, J., LEMBERG, M.K., HOPE, G. AND MARTOGLIO, B. (2002) Intramembrane proteolysis promotes trafficking of hepatitis virus core protein to lipid droplets. *The European Molecular Biology Organisation Journal*, 21, 3980-3988.
- MERCIER, B., BURLOT, L., AND FÉDEC, C. (1999) Simultaneous screening for HBV DNA and HCV RNA genomes in blood donations using a novel TaqMan PCR assay. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 77, 1-9.
- MEROLA, M., BRAZZOLI, M., COCCHIARELLA, F., HEILE, J. M., HELENIUS, A., WEINER, A. J., HOUGHTON, M. & ABRIGNANI, S. (2001) Folding of hepatitis C virus E1 glycoprotein in a cell-free system. J Virol, 75, 11205-17.
- MEUNIER, J. C., ENGLE, R. E., FAULK, K., ZHAO, M., BARTOSCH, B., ALTER, H., EMERSON, S. U., COSSET, F. L., PURCELL, R. H. & BUKH, J. (2005) Evidence for cross-genotype neutralization of hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles and enhancement of infectivity by apolipoprotein C1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 4560-5.
- MEUNIER, J. C., RUSSELL, R. S., ENGLE, R. E., FAULK, K. N., PURCELL, R. H. & EMERSON, S. U. (2008) Apolipoprotein c1 association with hepatitis C virus. *J Virol*, 82, 9647-56.
- MEYLAN, E., CURRAN, J., HOFMANN, K., MORADPOUR, D., BINDER, M., BARTENSCHLAGER, R. & TSCHOPP, J. (2005) Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. *Nature*, 437, 1167-72.
- MILNE, R., THEOLIS, R., JR., MAURICE, R., PEASE, R. J., WEECH, P. K., RASSART, E., FRUCHART, J. C., SCOTT, J. & MARCEL, Y. L. (1989) The use of monoclonal antibodies to localize the low density lipoprotein receptorbinding domain of apolipoprotein B. *J Biol Chem*, 264, 19754-60.
- MIYAMOTO, H., OKAMOTO, H., SATO, K., TANAKA, T. & MISHIRO, S. (1992) Extraordinarily low density of hepatitis C virus estimated by sucrose density gradient centrifugation and the polymerase chain reaction. *J Gen Virol*, 73 (Pt 3), 715-8.
- MIYAMURA, T., AND MATSUURA, Y. (1993) Structural proteins of hepatitis C virus. *Trends in Microbiology*, 1, 229-231.
- MIYANARI, Y., ATSUZAWA, K., USUDA, N., WATASHI, K., HISHIKI, T., ZAYAS, M., BARTENSCHLAGER, R., WAKITA, T., HIJIKATA, M. & SHIMOTOHNO, K. (2007) The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. *Nat Cell Biol*, 9, 1089-97.
- MIZUSHIMA, H., HIJIKATA, M., ASABE, S., HIROTA, M., KIMURA, K. & SHIMOTOHNO, K. (1994) Two hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2 products with different C termini. *J Virol*, 68, 6215-22.

- MIZUSHIMA, H., HIJIKATA, M., ASABE, S-I., HIROTA, M., KIMURA, K., AND SHIMOTOHNO, K. (1994) Two Hepatitis C Virus Glycoprotein E2 Products with Different C Termini. *Journal of Virology*, 68, 6215-6222.
- MIZUTANI, T., KATO, N., SAITO, S., IKEDA, M., SUGIYAMA, K. & SHIMOTOHNO, K. (1996) Characterization of hepatitis C virus replication in cloned cells obtained from a human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-infected cell line, MT-2. J Virol, 70, 7219-23.
- MONAZAHIAN, M., BOHME, I., BONK, S., KOCH, A., SCHOLZ, C., GRETHE, S. & THOMSSEN, R. (1999) Low density lipoprotein receptor as a candidate receptor for hepatitis C virus. *J Med Virol*, 57, 223-9.
- MORADPOUR, D., BRASS, V., BIECK, E., FRIEBE, P., GOSERT, R., BLUM, H. E., BARTENSCHLAGER, R., PENIN, F. & LOHMANN, V. (2004) Membrane association of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase is essential for hepatitis C virus RNA replication. *J Virol*, 78, 13278-84.
- MORADPOUR, D., ENGLERT, C., WAKITA, T. & WANDS, J. R. (1996) Characterization of cell lines allowing tightly regulated expression of hepatitis C virus core protein. *Virology*, 222, 51-63.
- MORADPOUR, D., GOSERT, R., EGGER, D., PENIN, F., BLUM, H. E. & BIENZ, K. (2003) Membrane association of hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins and identification of the membrane alteration that harbors the viral replication complex. *Antiviral Res*, 60, 103-9.
- MORIYA, K., FUJIE, H., YOTSUYANAGI, H., SHINTANI, T., MATSUURA, Y., MIYAMURA, T., KIMURA, S., AND KOIKE, K. (1997) Subcellular localization of hepatitis C virus structural proteins in the liver of transgenic mice. *Japanese Journal of Medical Science and Biology*, 50, 169-177.
- MURPHY, D., CHAMBERLAND, J., DANDAVINO, R., SABLON, E. (2007) A new genotype of hepatitis C virus orginating from central Africa [Abstract]. *Hepatology*, 46, 623A.
- MURPHY, D. J. & VANCE, J. (1999) Mechanisms of lipid-body formation. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 24, 109-15.
- NAHMIAS, Y., GOLDWASSER, J., CASALI, M., VAN POLL, D., WAKITA, T., CHUNG, R. T. & YARMUSH, M. L. (2008) Apolipoprotein B-dependent hepatitis C virus secretion is inhibited by the grapefruit flavonoid naringenin. *Hepatology*, 47, 1437-45.
- NASOFF, M., ZEBEDEE, S.L., INCHAUSPE, G., AND PRINCE, A.M. (1991) Identification of an immunodominant epitope within the capsid protein of hepatitis C virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88, 5462-5466.
- NEUMANN, A. U., LAM, N. P., DAHARI, H., GRETCH, D. R., WILEY, T. E., LAYDEN, T. J. & PERELSON, A. S. (1998) Hepatitis C viral dynamics in vivo and the antiviral efficacy of interferon-alpha therapy. *Science*, 282, 103-7.
- NIELSEN, S. U., BASSENDINE, M. F., BURT, A. D., BEVITT, D. J. & TOMS, G. L. (2004) Characterization of the genome and structural proteins of hepatitis C virus resolved from infected human liver. *J Gen Virol*, 85, 1497-507.
- NIELSEN, S. U., BASSENDINE, M. F., BURT, A. D., MARTIN, C., PUMEECHOCKCHAI, W. & TOMS, G. L. (2006) Association between hepatitis C virus and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/LDL analyzed in iodixanol density gradients. *J Virol*, 80, 2418-28.

- NIELSEN, S. U., BASSENDINE, M. F., MARTIN, C., LOWTHER, D., PURCELL, P. J., KING, B. J., NEELY, D. & TOMS, G. L. (2008) Characterization of hepatitis C RNA-containing particles from human liver by density and size. J Gen Virol, 89, 2507-17.
- NYKJAER, A., AND WILLNOW, T.E. (2002) The low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family: a cellular Swiss army knife? *Trends in Cell Biology*, 12, 273-280.
- OBRIEN, P. J., ALBORN, W.E., SLOAN, J.H., ULMER, M., BOODHOO, A., KNIERMAN, M.D., SCHULTZE, A.E., AND KONRAD, R.J. (2005) The novel apolipoprotein A5 is present in human serum, is associated with VLDL, HDL, and chylomicrons, and circulates at very low concentrations compared with other apolipoproteins. *Clin Chem*, 51, 351-359.
- OGATA, N., ALTER, H. J., MILLER, R. H. & PURCELL, R. H. (1991) Nucleotide sequence and mutation rate of the H strain of hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 3392-6.
- OHBA, K., MIZOKAMI, M., LAU, J. Y., ORITO, E., IKEO, K. & GOJOBORI, T. (1996) Evolutionary relationship of hepatitis C, pesti-, flavi-, plantviruses, and newly discovered GB hepatitis agents. *FEBS Lett*, 378, 232-4.
- OHTO, H., TERAZAWA, S., SASAKI, N., SASAKI, N., HINO, K., ISHIWATA, C., KAKO, M., UJIIE, N., ENDO, C., MATSUI, A. & ET AL. (1994)
 Transmission of hepatitis C virus from mothers to infants. The Vertical Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus Collaborative Study Group. *N Engl J Med*, 330, 744-50.
- OKAMOTO, H., KOJIMA, M., OKADA, S., YOSHIZAWA, H., IIZUKA, H., TANAKA, T., MUCHMORE, E. E., PETERSON, D. A., ITO, Y. & MISHIRO, S. (1992) Genetic drift of hepatitis C virus during an 8.2-year infection in a chimpanzee: variability and stability. *Virology*, 190, 894-9.
- OKAZAKI, M., USUI, S., ISHIGAMI, M., SAKAI, N., NAKAMURA, T., MATSUZAWA, Y. & YAMASHITA, S. (2005) Identification of unique lipoprotein subclasses for visceral obesity by component analysis of cholesterol profile in high-performance liquid chromatography. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 25, 578-84.
- OLOFSSON, S.-O., BJURSELL, BOSTROM, G.K., CARLSSON, P., ELOVSON, J., PROTTER, A.A., REUBEN, M.A., AND BONDJERS, G. (1987) Apolipoprotein B: structure, biosynthesis and role in the lipoprotein assembly process. *Athemsclemsis*, 68, 1-17.
- OLOFSSON, S. O. & BOREN, J. (2005) Apolipoprotein B: a clinically important apolipoprotein which assembles atherogenic lipoproteins and promotes the development of atherosclerosis. *J Intern Med*, 258, 395-410.
- OP DE BEECK, A., MONTSERRET, R., DUVET, S., COCQUEREL, L., CACAN, R., BARBEROT, B., LE MAIRE, M., PENIN, F. & DUBUISSON, J. (2000) The transmembrane domains of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2 play a major role in heterodimerization. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 31428-37.
- OWEN, D. M., HUANG, H., YE, J. & GALE, M., JR. (2009) Apolipoprotein E on hepatitis C virion facilitates infection through interaction with low-density lipoprotein receptor. *Virology*, 394, 99-108.
- PAWLOTSKY, J. M. (1999) Diagnostic tests for hepatitis C. *J Hepatol*, 31 Suppl 1, 71-9.
- PAWLOTSKY, J. M. (2003) Mechanisms of antiviral treatment efficacy and failure in chronic hepatitis C. *Antiviral Res*, 59, 1-11.

- PENG, S. K., ZHANG, X., CHAI, N. N., WAN, Y. & MORIN, R. J. (1996) Inhibitory effect of cholesterol oxides on low density lipoprotein receptor gene expression. *Artery*, 22, 61-79.
- PERLEMUTER, G., SABILE, A., LETTERON, P., ET AL. (2002) Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits microsomal triglyceride transfer protein activity and very low density lipoprotein secretion: a model of viral-related steatosis. *FASEB J.*, 16, 185-194.
- PIETSCHMANN, T., LOHMANN, V., KAUL, A., ET AL. (2002) Persistent and transient replication of full length hepatitis C virus genomes in cell culture. *Journal of Virology*, 76, 4008-4021.
- PILERI, P., UEMATSU, Y., CAMPAGNOLI, S., GALLI, G., FALUGI, F., PETRACCA, R., WEINER, A. J., HOUGHTON, M., ROSA, D., GRANDI, G. & ABRIGNANI, S. (1998) Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. Science, 282, 938-41.
- PRINCE, A. M., BROTMAN, B., HUIMA, T., PASCUAL, D., JAFFERY, M. & INCHAUSPE, G. (1992) Immunity in hepatitis C infection. *J Infect Dis*, 165, 438-43.
- PRINCE, A. M., HUIMA-BYRON, T., PARKER, T. S. & LEVINE, D. M. (1996) Visualization of hepatitis C virions and putative defective interfering particles isolated from low-density lipoproteins. *J Viral Hepat*, 3, 11-7.
- PUMEECHOCKCHAI, W. (2001) Density Heterogeneity of Hepatitis C Virus RNA in Immunocompetent and Immunodeficient Patients. PhD thesis. Newcastle upon Tyne, University of Newcastle upon Tyne.
- PUMEECHOCKCHAI, W., BEVITT, D., AGARWAL, K., PETROPOULOU, T., LANGER, B. C., BELOHRADSKY, B., BASSENDINE, M. F. & TOMS, G. L. (2002) Hepatitis C virus particles of different density in the blood of chronically infected immunocompetent and immunodeficient patients: Implications for virus clearance by antibody. J Med Virol, 68, 335-42.
- QUIROGA, J. A., CAMPILLO, M. L., CATILLO, I., BARTOLOME, J., PORRES, J. C. & CARRENO, V. (1991) IgM antibody to hepatitis C virus in acute and chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 14, 38-43.
- REED, K. E., AND RICE, C.M. (2000) Overview of Hepatitis C Virus Genome Structure, Polyprotein Processing, and Protein Properties. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology.*, 242, 55-84.
- REHERMANN, B. & NASCIMBENI, M. (2005) Immunology of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 5, 215-29.
- REINUS, J. F., LEIKIN, E. L., ALTER, H. J., CHEUNG, L., SHINDO, M., JETT, B., PIAZZA, S. & SHIH, J. W. (1992) Failure to detect vertical transmission of hepatitis C virus. *Ann Intern Med*, 117, 881-6.
- RESCHLY, E. J., SORCI-THOMAS, M.G., DAVIDSON, W.S., MEREDITH, S.C., REARDON, C.A., AND GETZ, G.S. (2002) Apolipoprotein A-I a-helices 7 and 8 modulate high density lipoprotein subclass distribution. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 9645–9654.
- RIGOTTI, A., ACTON, S.L., AND KRIEGER, M. (1995) The class B scavenger receptors SR-BI and CD36 are receptors for anionic phospholipids. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 16221-16224.
- ROCCASECCA, R., ANSUINI, H., VITELLI, A., MEOLA, A., SCARSELLI, E., ACALI, S., PEZZANERA, M., ERCOLE, B. B., MCKEATING, J., YAGNIK, A., LAHM, A., TRAMONTANO, A., CORTESE, R. & NICOSIA, A. (2003) Binding of the hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein to CD81 is strain

specific and is modulated by a complex interplay between hypervariable regions 1 and 2. *J Virol*, 77, 1856-67.

- ROSS, R. S., VIAZOV, S. O., HOLTZER, C. D., BEYOU, A., MONNET, A., MAZURE, C. & ROGGENDORF, M. (2000) Genotyping of hepatitis C virus isolates using CLIP sequencing. J Clin Microbiol, 38, 3581-4.
- ROUTLEDGE, E. G., MCQUILLIN, J., SAMSON, A. C. & TOMS, G. L. (1985) The development of monoclonal antibodies to respiratory syncytial virus and their use in diagnosis by indirect immunofluorescence. *J Med Virol*, 15, 305-20.
- RUMIN, S., BERTHILLON, P., TANAKA, E., KIYOSAWA, K., TRABAUD, M.
 A., BIZOLLON, T., GOUILLAT, C., GRIPON, P., GUGUEN-GUILLOUZO,
 C., INCHAUSPE, G. & TREPO, C. (1999) Dynamic analysis of hepatitis C
 virus replication and quasispecies selection in long-term cultures of adult
 human hepatocytes infected in vitro. *J Gen Virol*, 80 (Pt 11), 3007-18.
- RUSSELL, R. S., KAWAGUCHI, K., MEUNIER, J. C., TAKIKAWA, S., FAULK, K., BUKH, J., PURCELL, R. H. & EMERSON, S. U. (2009) Mutational analysis of the hepatitis C virus E1 glycoprotein in retroviral pseudoparticles and cell-culture-derived H77/JFH1 chimeric infectious virus particles. *J Viral Hepat*.
- RUSSELL, R. S., MEUNIER, J. C., TAKIKAWA, S., FAULK, K., ENGLE, R. E., BUKH, J., PURCELL, R. H. & EMERSON, S. U. (2008) Advantages of a single-cycle production assay to study cell culture-adaptive mutations of hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 4370-5.
- SABILE, A., PERLEMUTER, G., BONO, F., ET AL. (1999) Hepatitis C virus core protein binds to apolipoprotein AII and its secretion is modulated by fibrates. *Hepatology*, 30, 1064-1076.
- SAEED, A. A., AL-ADMAWI, A. M., AL-RASHEED, A., FAIRCLOUGH, D., BACCHUS, R., RING, C. & GARSON, J. (1991) Hepatitis C virus infection in Egyptian volunteer blood donors in Riyadh. *Lancet*, 338, 459-60.
- SALDANHA, J., AND MINOR, P. (1996) Collaborative study to assess the suitability of an HCV RNA reference sample for detection of an HCV RNA in plasma pools by PCR. *Vox Sang*, 70, 148-151.
- SANTOLINI, E., MIGLIACCIO, G. & LA MONICA, N. (1994) Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein. J Virol, 68, 3631-41.
- SCARSELLI, E., ANSUINI, H., CERINO, R., ROCCASECCA, R. M., ACALI, S., FILOCAMO, G., TRABONI, C., NICOSIA, A., CORTESE, R. & VITELLI, A. (2002) The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *Embo J*, 21, 5017-25.
- SCHAEFER, E. J., ORDOVAS, J., LAW, S., GHISELLI, G., KASHYAP, L., SRIVASTAVA, L., HEATON, W.H., ALBERS, J., CONNOR, W., AND LINDGREN, F. (1985) Familial apolipoprotein A-I and C-III deficiency: variant II. Journal of Lipid Research, 26, 1089–1101.
- SCHIANO, T. D., CHARLTON, M., YOUNOSSI, Z., GALUN, E., PRUETT, T., TUR-KASPA, R., EREN, R., DAGAN, S., GRAHAM, N., WILLIAMS, P. V. & ANDREWS, J. (2006) Monoclonal antibody HCV-AbXTL68 in patients undergoing liver transplantation for HCV: results of a phase 2 randomized study. *Liver Transpl*, 12, 1381-9.
- SEGREST, J. P., JONES, M. K., DE LOOF, H. & DASHTI, N. (2001) Structure of apolipoprotein B-100 in low density lipoproteins. *J Lipid Res*, 42, 1346-67.

- SELDEN, C., MELLOR, N., REES, M., LAURSON, J., KIRWAN, M., ESCORS, D., COLLINS, M. & HODGSON, H. (2007) Growth factors improve gene expression after lentiviral transduction in human adult and fetal hepatocytes. J Gene Med, 9, 67-76.
- SHAVINSKAYA, A., BOULANT, S., PENIN, F., MCLAUCHLAN, J. & BARTENSCHLAGER, R. (2007) The lipid droplet binding domain of hepatitis C virus core protein is a major determinant for efficient virus assembly. J Biol Chem, 282, 37158-69.
- SHIMIZU, Y. K., FEINSTONE, S. M., PURCELL, R. H., ALTER, H. J. & LONDON, W. T. (1979) Non-A, non-B hepatitis: ultrastructural evidence for two agents in experimentally infected chimpanzees. *Science*, 205, 197-200.
- SHIMIZU, Y. K., HIJIKATA, M., IWAMOTO, A., ALTER, H.J., PURCELL, R.H., AND YOSHIKURA, H. (1994) Neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus and the emergence of neutralization escape mutant viruses. *J Virol*, 68, 1494-1500.
- SHIMIZU, Y. K., WEINER, A. J., ROSENBLATT, J., WONG, D. C., SHAPIRO, M., POPKIN, T., HOUGHTON, M., ALTER, H. J. & PURCELL, R. H. (1990) Early events in hepatitis C virus infection of chimpanzees. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 6441-4.
- SHINDO, M., ARAI, K., SOKAWA, Y. & OKUNO, T. (1995) The virological and histological states of anti-hepatitis C virus-positive subjects with normal liver biochemical values. *Hepatology*, 22, 418-25.
- SHOUKRY, N. H., GRAKOUI, A., HOUGHTON, M., CHIEN, D. Y., GHRAYEB, J., REIMANN, K. A. & WALKER, C. M. (2003) Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med*, 197, 1645-55.
- SHUHART, M. C., SULLIVAN, D. G., BEKELE, K., HARRINGTON, R. D.,
 KITAHATA, M. M., MATHISEN, T. L., THOMASSEN, L. V., EMERSON,
 S. S. & GRETCH, D. R. (2006) HIV infection and antiretroviral therapy:
 effect on hepatitis C virus quasispecies variability. *J Infect Dis*, 193, 1211-8.
- SIMMONDS, P., BUKH, J., COMBET, C., DELEAGE, G., ENOMOTO, N., FEINSTONE, S., HALFON, P., INCHAUSPE, G., KUIKEN, C., MAERTENS, G., MIZOKAMI, M., MURPHY, D. G., OKAMOTO, H., PAWLOTSKY, J. M., PENIN, F., SABLON, E., SHIN, I. T., STUYVER, L. J., THIEL, H. J., VIAZOV, S., WEINER, A. J. & WIDELL, A. (2005) Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes. *Hepatology*, 42, 962-73.
- SOLDAN, K., BARBARA, J. A., RAMSAY, M. E. & HALL, A. J. (2003) Estimation of the risk of hepatitis B virus, hepatitis C virus and human immunodeficiency virus infectious donations entering the blood supply in England, 1993-2001. *Vox Sang*, 84, 274-86.
- SOZA, A., ARRESE, M., GONZALEZ, R., ALVAREZ, M., PEREZ, R. M., CORTES, P., PATILLO, A., RIQUELME, A. & RIQUELME, A. (2004) Clinical and epidemiological features of 147 Chilean patients with chronic hepatitis C. Ann Hepatol, 3, 146-51.
- SPRECHER, D. L., TAAM, L., AND BREWER JR, H.B. (1984) Two-dimensional electrophoresis of human plasma apolipoproteins. *Clinical Chemistry*, 30, 2084–2092.
- SRIVASTAVA, R. A., ITO, H., HESS, M., SRIVASTAVA, N. & SCHONFELD, G. (1995) Regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor gene expression in
HepG2 and Caco2 cells by palmitate, oleate, and 25-hydroxycholesterol. *J Lipid Res*, 36, 1434-46.

- STAHL, P. D., AND BARBIERI, M.A. (2002) Multivesicular bodies and multivesicular endosomes: the "ins and outs" of endosomal traffic. *Sci STKE 2002*, PE32.
- STEER, C. J. (1996) Receptor-mediated endocytosis: mechanisms, biologic function, and molecular properties. IN ZAKIM, D., AND BOYER, T.D. (Ed.) *Hepatology: a textbook of liver disease.* W.B. Saunders Company.
- STEINBRECHER, U. P. (1999) Receptors for oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1436, 279-298.
- STEINMANN, E., PENIN, F., KALLIS, S., PATEL, A. H., BARTENSCHLAGER, R. & PIETSCHMANN, T. (2007) Hepatitis C virus p7 protein is crucial for assembly and release of infectious virions. *PLoS Pathog*, 3, e103.
- SUMPTER, R., JR., LOO, Y. M., FOY, E., LI, K., YONEYAMA, M., FUJITA, T., LEMON, S. M. & GALE, M., JR. (2005) Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I. J Virol, 79, 2689-99.
- TABOR, E., GERETY, R. J., DRUCKER, J. A., SEEFF, L. B., HOOFNAGLE, J. H., JACKSON, D. R., APRIL, M., BARKER, L. F. & PINEDA-TAMONDONG, G. (1978) Transmission of non-A, non-B hepatitis from man to chimpanzee. *Lancet*, 1, 463-6.
- TAKAHASHI, M., YAMADA, G., MIYAMOTO, R., DOI, T., ENDO, H. & TSUJI, T. (1993) Natural course of chronic hepatitis C. Am J Gastroenterol, 88, 240-3.
- TAKAKI, A., WIESE, M., MAERTENS, G., DEPLA, E., SEIFERT, U., LIEBETRAU, A., MILLER, J. L., MANNS, M. P. & REHERMANN, B. (2000) Cellular immune responses persist and humoral responses decrease two decades after recovery from a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. *Nat Med*, 6, 578-82.
- TAKANO, S., YOKOSUKA, O., IMAZEKI, F., TAGAWA, M. & OMATA, M. (1995) Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis B and C: a prospective study of 251 patients. *Hepatology*, 21, 650-5.
- TAKEUCHI, K., KUBO, Y., BOONMAR, S., WATANABE, Y., KATAYAMA, T., CHOO, Q.-L., KUO, G., HOUGHTON, M., SAITO, I., AND MIYAMURA, T. (1990) The putative nucleocapsid and envelope protein genes of hepatitis C virus determined by comparison of the nucleotide sequences of two isolates derived from an experimentally infected chimpanzee and healthy human carriers. *Journal of General Virology*, 71, 3027-3033.
- TARGETT-ADAMS, P., HOPE, G., BOULANT, S. & MCLAUCHLAN, J. (2008) Maturation of hepatitis C virus core protein by signal peptide peptidase is required for virus production. J Biol Chem, 283, 16850-9.
- TELLINGHUISEN, T. L. & RICE, C. M. (2002) Interaction between hepatitis C virus proteins and host cell factors. *Curr Opin Microbiol*, 5, 419-27.
- THIMME, R., BUKH, J., SPANGENBERG, H. C., WIELAND, S., PEMBERTON, J., STEIGER, C., GOVINDARAJAN, S., PURCELL, R. H. & CHISARI, F. V. (2002) Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 15661-8.
- THIMME, R., OLDACH, D., CHANG, K. M., STEIGER, C., RAY, S. C. & CHISARI, F. V. (2001) Determinants of viral clearance and persistence during acute hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med*, 194, 1395-406.

- THOMSON, M., AND LIANG, T.J. (2000) Molecular biology of hepatitis C virus. IN LIANG, T. J., AND J.H. HOOFNAGLE (ED.) (Ed.) *Hepatitis C. Biomedical Research Reports*. San Diego, USA., Academic Press.
- THOMSSEN, R., BONK, S., PROPFE, C., HEERMANN, K. H., KOCHEL, H. G. & UY, A. (1992) Association of hepatitis C virus in human sera with betalipoprotein. *Med Microbiol Immunol*, 181, 293-300.
- THOMSSEN, R., BONK, S. & THIELE, A. (1993) Density heterogeneities of hepatitis C virus in human sera due to the binding of beta-lipoproteins and immunoglobulins. *Med Microbiol Immunol*, 182, 329-34.
- TIAN, P., ESTES, M. K., HU, Y., BALL, J. M., ZENG, C. Q. & SCHILLING, W. P. (1995) The rotavirus nonstructural glycoprotein NSP4 mobilizes Ca2+ from the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Virol*, 69, 5763-72.
- TOUZET, S., KRAEMER, L., COLIN, C., PRADAT, P., LANOIR, D., BAILLY, F., COPPOLA, R. C., SAULEDA, S., THURSZ, M. R., TILLMANN, H., ALBERTI, A., BRACONIER, J. H., ESTEBAN, J. I., HADZIYANNIS, S. J., MANNS, M. P., SARACCO, G., THOMAS, H. C. & TREPO, C. (2000) Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection in seven European Union countries: a critical analysis of the literature. HENCORE Group. (Hepatitis C European Network for Co-operative Research. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 12, 667-78.
- TROESCH, M., MEUNIER, I., LAPIERRE, P., LAPOINTE, N., ALVAREZ, F., BOUCHER, M. & SOUDEYNS, H. (2006) Study of a novel hypervariable region in hepatitis C virus (HCV) E2 envelope glycoprotein. *Virology*, 352, 357-67.
- TSAI, S. L., CHEN, Y. M., CHEN, M. H., HUANG, C. Y., SHEEN, I. S., YEH, C. T., HUANG, J. H., KUO, G. C. & LIAW, Y. F. (1998) Hepatitis C virus variants circumventing cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity as a mechanism of chronicity. *Gastroenterology*, 115, 954-65.
- TSUKIYAMA-KOHARA, K., IIZUKA, N., KOHARA, M. & NOMOTO, A. (1992) Internal ribosome entry site within hepatitis C virus RNA. *J Virol*, 66, 1476-83.
- VADIVELOO, P. K., ALLAN, C.M., MURRAY, B.J., AND FIDGE, N.H. (1993) Interaction of apolipoprotein AII with the putative high-density lipoprotein receptor. *Biochemistry*, 32, 9480–9485.
- VAN DOORN, L. J., CAPRILES, I., MAERTENS, G., DELEYS, R., MURRAY, K., KOS, T., SCHELLEKENS, H. & QUINT, W. (1995) Sequence evolution of the hypervariable region in the putative envelope region E2/NS1 of hepatitis C virus is correlated with specific humoral immune responses. J Virol, 69, 773-8.
- VAN KUPPEVELD, F. J., HOENDEROP, J. G., SMEETS, R. L., WILLEMS, P. H., DIJKMAN, H. B., GALAMA, J. M. & MELCHERS, W. J. (1997)
 Coxsackievirus protein 2B modifies endoplasmic reticulum membrane and plasma membrane permeability and facilitates virus release. *Embo J*, 16, 3519-32.
- VANDELLI, C., RENZO, F., ROMANO, L., TISMINETZKY, S., DE PALMA, M., STROFFOLINI, T., VENTURA, E. & ZANETTI, A. (2004) Lack of evidence of sexual transmission of hepatitis C among monogamous couples: results of a 10-year prospective follow-up study. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 99, 855-9.
- VOISSET, C., OP DE BEECK, A., HORELLOU, P., DREUX, M., GUSTOT, T., DUVERLIE, G., COSSET, F. L., VU-DAC, N. & DUBUISSON, J. (2006)

High-density lipoproteins reduce the neutralizing effect of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected patient antibodies by promoting HCV entry. *J Gen Virol*, 87, 2577-81.

- VON HAHN, T., LINDENBACH, B. D., BOULLIER, A., QUEHENBERGER, O., PAULSON, M., RICE, C. M. & MCKEATING, J. A. (2006) Oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein inhibits hepatitis C virus cell entry in human hepatoma cells. *Hepatology*, 43, 932-42.
- WADE, D. P., KNIGHT, B. L. & SOUTAR, A. K. (1988) Hormonal regulation of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor activity in human hepatoma Hep G2 cells. Insulin increases LDL receptor activity and diminishes its suppression by exogenous LDL. *Eur J Biochem*, 174, 213-8.
- WADE, D. P., KNIGHT, B. L. & SOUTAR, A. K. (1989) Regulation of low-densitylipoprotein-receptor mRNA by insulin in human hepatoma Hep G2 cells. *Eur J Biochem*, 181, 727-31.
- WAKITA, T., PIETSCHMANN, T., KATO, T., DATE, T., MIYAMOTO, M., ZHAO, Z., MURTHY, K., HABERMANN, A., KRAUSSLICH, H. G., MIZOKAMI, M., BARTENSCHLAGER, R. & LIANG, T. J. (2005)
 Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat Med*, 11, 791-6.
- WANG, C., SARNOW, P. & SIDDIQUI, A. (1993) Translation of human hepatitis C virus RNA in cultured cells is mediated by an internal ribosome-binding mechanism. J Virol, 67, 3338-44.
- WEDEMEYER, H., HE, X. S., NASCIMBENI, M., DAVIS, A. R., GREENBERG,
 H. B., HOOFNAGLE, J. H., LIANG, T. J., ALTER, H. & REHERMANN, B.
 (2002) Impaired effector function of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol*, 169, 3447-58.
- WEINER, A., ERICKSON, A. L., KANSOPON, J., CRAWFORD, K., MUCHMORE, E., HUGHES, A. L., HOUGHTON, M. & WALKER, C. M. (1995) Persistent hepatitis C virus infection in a chimpanzee is associated with emergence of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 92, 2755-9.
- WEINER, A. J., BRAUER, M. J., ROSENBLATT, J., RICHMAN, K. H., TUNG, J., CRAWFORD, K., BONINO, F., SARACCO, G., CHOO, Q. L., HOUGHTON, M. & ET AL. (1991) Variable and hypervariable domains are found in the regions of HCV corresponding to the flavivirus envelope and NS1 proteins and the pestivirus envelope glycoproteins. *Virology*, 180, 842-8.
- WEINER, A. J., GEYSEN, H. M., CHRISTOPHERSON, C., HALL, J. E., MASON, T. J., SARACCO, G., BONINO, F., CRAWFORD, K., MARION, C. D., CRAWFORD, K. A. & ET AL. (1992) Evidence for immune selection of hepatitis C virus (HCV) putative envelope glycoprotein variants: potential role in chronic HCV infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89, 3468-72.
- WHO (1999a) Global surveillance and control of hepatitis C. Report of a WHO Consultation organized in collaboration with the Viral Hepatitis Prevention Board, Antwerp, Belgium. J Viral Hepat, 6, 35-47.
- WHO (1999b) Weekly Epidemiological Record. N° 49, 10 December 1999.
- WHO (2001) Global database on blood safety summary report 1998-1999. IN <u>HTTP://WWW.WHO.INT/BLOODSAFETY/GLOBAL_DATABASE/EN/SU</u> <u>MREP_ENGLISH.PDF</u> (Ed.).
- WIELAND, S. F. & CHISARI, F. V. (2005) Stealth and cunning: hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses. *J Virol*, 79, 9369-80.

- WINDLER, E. E., KOVANEN, P. T., CHAO, Y. S., BROWN, M. S., HAVEL, R. J. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. (1980) The estradiol-stimulated lipoprotein receptor of rat liver. A binding site that membrane mediates the uptake of rat lipoproteins containing apoproteins B and E. J Biol Chem, 255, 10464-71.
- WUNSCHMANN, S., MEDH, J. D., KLINZMANN, D., SCHMIDT, W. N. & STAPLETON, J. T. (2000) Characterization of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and HCV E2 interactions with CD81 and the low-density lipoprotein receptor. *J Virol*, 74, 10055-62.
- YAGNIK, A. T., LAHM, A., MEOLA, A., ROCCASECCA, R. M., ERCOLE, B. B., NICOSIA, A. & TRAMONTANO, A. (2000) A model for the hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2. *Proteins*, 40, 355-66.
- YANAGI, M., PURCELL, R. H., EMERSON, S. U. & BUKH, J. (1997) Transcripts from a single full-length cDNA clone of hepatitis C virus are infectious when directly transfected into the liver of a chimpanzee. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 8738-43.
- YANAGI, M., ST CLAIRE, M., EMERSON, SU., PURCELL, RH., AND BUKH, J. (1999) In vivo analysis of the 3' untranslated region of the hepatitis C virus after in vitro mutagenesis of an infectious cDNA clone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96, 2291-2295.
- YANG, W., QIU, C., BISWAS, N., JIN, J., WATKINS, S. C., MONTELARO, R. C., COYNE, C. B. & WANG, T. (2008) Correlation of the tight junction-like distribution of Claudin-1 to the cellular tropism of hepatitis C virus. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 8643-53.
- YANO, M., KUMADA, H., KAGE, M., IKEDA, K., SHIMAMATSU, K., INOUE, O., HASHIMOTO, E., LEFKOWITCH, J. H., LUDWIG, J. & OKUDA, K. (1996) The long-term pathological evolution of chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 23, 1334-40.
- YI, M., MA, Y., YATES, J. & LEMON, S. M. (2009) Trans-complementation of an NS2 defect in a late step in hepatitis C virus (HCV) particle assembly and maturation. *PLoS Pathog*, **5**, e1000403.
- ZAMPIERON, A., JAYASEKERA, H., ELSEVIERS, M., LINDLEY, E., DE VOS, J. Y., VISSER, R. & HARRINGTON, M. (2004) European study on epidemiology and the management of HCV in the haemodialysis population--Part 1: centre policy. *Edtna Erca J*, 30, 84-90.
- ZANETTI, A. R., TANZI, E., PACCAGNINI, S., PRINCIPI, N., PIZZOCOLO, G., CACCAMO, M. L., D'AMICO, E., CAMBIE, G. & VECCHI, L. (1995) Mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis C virus. Lombardy Study Group on Vertical HCV Transmission. *Lancet*, 345, 289-91.
- ZEISEL, M. B., KOUTSOUDAKIS, G., SCHNOBER, E. K., HABERSTROH, A., BLUM, H. E., COSSET, F. L., WAKITA, T., JAECK, D., DOFFOEL, M., ROYER, C., SOULIER, E., SCHVOERER, E., SCHUSTER, C., STOLL-KELLER, F., BARTENSCHLAGER, R., PIETSCHMANN, T., BARTH, H. & BAUMERT, T. F. (2007) Scavenger receptor class B type I is a key host factor for hepatitis C virus infection required for an entry step closely linked to CD81. *Hepatology*, 46, 1722-31.
- ZEUZEM, S. (2004) Heterogeneous virologic response rates to interferon-based therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C: who responds less well? *Ann Intern Med*, 140, 370-81.

- ZHANG, J., RANDALL, G., HIGGINBOTTOM, A., MONK, P., RICE, C.M., MCKEATING, J.A. (2004) CD81 is required for hepatitis C virus glycoprotein-mediated viral infection. *Journal of Virology*, 78, 1448-1455.
- ZHONG, J., ET AL. (2005) Robust hepatitis C virus infection in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 102, 9294–9299.
- ZIBERT, A., MEISEL, H., KRAAS, W., SCHULZ, A., JUNG, G. & ROGGENDORF, M. (1997) Early antibody response against hypervariable region 1 is associated with acute self-limiting infections of hepatitis C virus. *Hepatology*, 25, 1245-9.